
  

Department of Economic Development and Planning, 
Industrial Development Agency & Capital Resource Corporation 

9 Park Street, P.O. Box 1500, Fonda, NY 12068 p: 518.853.8334 f: 518.853.8336 www.mcbdc.org 

 

 

 
 

Meeting Notice 
 
 
 
TO:  Board Members 
 
FROM: Andrew Santillo 

 
DATE: March 7, 2022 
 
RE:  Planning Board Meeting 
 
 
 The regular meeting of the Montgomery County Planning Board is scheduled for 
Thursday, March 10, 2022 at 6:30 p.m. at the Montgomery County Business Development 
Center, 9 Park Street, Fonda, NY.  
 
 Please call Karl at (518) 853-8334 between 8:30 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. if you have any 
questions.  
 
 
cc: The Recorder     The Leader Herald 

Montgomery Co. Legislature  Daily Gazette  
DPW 

 
 
 
 

 

http://www.mcbdc.org/


 

Department of Economic Development and Planning, 
Industrial Development Agency & Capital Resource Corporation 

9 Park Street, P.O. Box 1500, Fonda, NY 12068 p: 518.853.8334 f: 518.853.8336  

www.montgomerycountyworks.com 

 

 

 

 

 

MONTGOMERY COUNTY PLANNING BOARD MEETING 

 

 

Thursday, March 10, 2022 

 

  

6:30 PM – Montgomery County Business Development Center 

 

 

 
 

I. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

II. Role Call 

 
III. Adoption of Agenda 

 

IV. Approval of previous meeting minutes 

 

V. Public comments on agenda items (3 minute limit per person)  

 

VI. Town of Florida — Site Plan Review 

 

VII. Town of Glen — Site Plan Review 

 

VIII. Town of Mohawk — Area Variance  

 

IX. Town of Amsterdam — Use Variance   

 

X. City of Amsterdam — Zoning Update   

  
XI. Any other business 

 



Montgomery County Planning Board 

Meeting Minutes  

February 10th, 2022 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT: STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 

Wayne DeMallie, Chairman              Alex Kuttesch, Senior Planner                                                      

Ronald Jemmott, Member              Karl Gustafson Jr., Grant Assistant             

David Wiener, Member                Andrew Santillo, Staff Assistant  

Doug Stahura, Member     

Mark Hoffman, Vice Chair  

Betty Sanders, Alternate  

Irene Collins, Member   

     

  

ABSENT:  OTHERS PRESENT:  

Erin Covey, Member Grant Eggleston- City of Amsterdam  

Angela Frederick, Member Dance Heacock- Tribes Hill Heritage Center 

   

 

I. Call to Order 

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wayne DeMallie at 6:31 p.m. 

 

II. Roll Call  

 

The roll call of board members was done by Chairman DeMallie.  

 

 

 

III. Adoption of the Agenda 

Ron Jemmott made a motion to adopt the agenda, Mark Hoffman seconded. All members 

present were in favor. 

 

IV. Approval of Previous Meeting’s Minutes 

 

Irene Collins made a motion to accept previous meeting minutes, Betty Sanders seconded the 

motion. The previous minutes were approved.   

 

 

V. Public Comment  

 

There was no public comment.  



 

VI. City of Amsterdam- Site Plan Review 

 

Alex Kuttesch explained that this referral is for the new club house at the Amsterdam 

Municipal Golf Course.  Grant Eggleston from the City of Amsterdam stated that the old club 

house has been taken down and the parcel has been sold to a private investor.  Betty Sanders 

asked if there will be a second floor and if the square footage of the building will be bigger 

than the previous club house.  Grant stated that there will be a second floor for offices and 

some storage but the bottom part of the clubhouse will be the main area of the building.  The 

square footage is slightly bigger but will have roughly the same foot print of the previous 

clubhouse.   

 

Mark Hoffman made a motion to approve the referral, seconded by Ron Jemmott.  Irene 

Collins abstained.  The rest of the board were in favor.  

 

The referral was approved.  

 

 

VII. Town of Mohawk- Site Plan Review 

 

Alex Kuttesch stated that this site plan review for the Tribes Hill Heritage Center. Alex 

explained that the project went to the Town of Mohawk Zoning board to see if they would 

need a special use permit or an area variance.  The Zoning Board determined that they did not 

need either. Alex also stated that the project is not making any changes to the building they 

are moving into.  There are no major changes to the site itself.  The town wanted to send it to 

the county to make sure they weren’t missing anything at their level.   Irene Collins asked 

about the parking at the location.  Dance Heacock stated that there is ample parking for what 

they are expecting for visitors.  David Wiener asked if they will have an engineer for the 

interior work being done. Dance Heacock stated that Steven E. Smith will be the architect 

that they are using to design the interior of the building. David Wiener also asked if the code 

enforcement officer will sign off on this project.  Mark Hoffman spoke up and stated that 

Stan Waddle will stay on top of the project to make sure everything is compliant.  

 

Motion was made by Ron Jemmott to approve the referral, seconded by Irene Collins.  Mark 

Hoffman and Betty Sanders Abstained.  The rest of the board was in favor.   

 

The referral was approved.  

 

 

VIII. Other Business  

 

There was no other business.  

 



 

IX. Adjournment 

Betty Sanders made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 6:51 p.m., seconded by Ron Jemmott. 

All were in favor. 

  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

_____________________________ 
Karl Gustafson Jr.  

Economic Development Grant Assistant  









 

Proposed Site Development 
Tax ID: 55.14-2-11 

Daniel Street 

Town of Florida 

Montgomery County, New York 

 

Project Narrative  
December 23, 2021 

 
 
 

The applicant (Structure Development Group, LLC) is proposing to develop an existing 6.8± acre 

vacant lot within the Town of Florida.   
 

The site is bounded by Daniel Street on the north across from R+L Carriers, an Industrial Business 

Park zoned (IBP) parcel.  I-90, The NYS Thruway, is located to the south. To the east is an IBP 

zoned lot containing a parking lot and to the west are Residentially zoned lots containing single 

family homes.  The subject property is within the IBP district after the Town Board approved the 

rezone of the lot on September 20, 2021.  

 

The proposed development consists of constructing a garage for custom truck accessories/ part 

production, modifications which fits into the definition of a Light Assembly Plant and is a principal 

permitted use within the IBP district. 

 

Additional proposed site improvements include associated parking facilities and gravel vehicle 

/storage lots, a new driveway to Daniel Street, proposed screening from the residential neighbors, 

stormwater management ponds, site lighting, and appurtenant utility connections.  

 

Once construction is completed the business will initially employ 9 people with the hope of 

growing to 18 employees. Typical business hours would be from 7am – 5pm, but may expand to 

two full shifts depending on business volume.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



25
24

23
PROP. 25,000 SF BUILDING

PROP. WICHITA BLUE
JUNIPERS (TYP.)

PROP. STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT AREA

PROP. WELL

PROP. GARAGE
DOOR (TYP. OF 14)

GRAVEL
STORAGE LOT

AREA

GRAVEL VEHICLE
STORAGE AREA

W

30' MIN. REARYARD SETBACK

50' MIN. FRONT

YARD SETBACK

20' MIN. SIDE

YARD SETBACK

20' MIN. SIDE

YARD SETBACK

20'
 MIN. S

IDE  Y
ARD SETB

ACK

100.0'

25
0.0

'

75.0'

46.0'

20.0'(TYP.)

APPROXIMATE LIMIT OF
EXISTING WETLANDS

56
.9'

50
.0'

DANIEL STREET

24.0'

35
.0'

POTENTIAL
SEPTIC
SYSTEM

EXISTING BUFFER
AREA TO REMAIN

NYS THRUWAY(1-90)

PROP. RIGHT TURN
ONLY SIGN

25
6' 

±

166' ±

270' ±

1242' ±

188' ±

178' ±

220' ±

342' ±

PROP. EDGE OF
PAVEMENT

PROP. LIMIT
OF GRAVEL (TYP.)

PROP. ASPHALT
PAVEMENT AREA
(TYP. IN HATCH)

9.0
'

(TY
P.)

TOTAL SITE AREA:
6.8 ACRES ±

PROP. SIGN

15
.0'

PROP. DUMPSTER

REVISIONS

REV DATE COMMENT DRAWN BY
CHECKED BY

ORG. DATE - 10/22/2021

DI
SC

LA
IM

ER
Th

is 
dr

aw
ing

 an
d/o

r f
ile

 ha
s b

ee
n p

re
pa

re
d b

y B
oh

ler
  a

t th
e r

eq
ue

st 
of 

the
 P

ro
jec

t O
wn

er
 or

 hi
s R

ep
re

se
nta

tiv
e a

nd
 is

 be
ing

 pr
ov

ide
d s

ole
ly 

as
 a 

co
nv

en
ien

ce
 to

 th
e r

ec
ipi

en
t. B

oh
ler

  m
ak

es
 no

 re
pr

es
en

tat
ion

 re
ga

rd
ing

 th
e s

uit
ab

ilit
y f

or
 th

e i
nte

nd
ed

 us
e b

y t
he

 re
cip

ien
t. F

ur
the

r, 
Bo

hle
r m

ak
es

 noPROJECT No.:
DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:
DATE:
CAD I.D.:

PROJECT:

FOR

P:
\2

1\
B

21
01

13
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S\

C
O

N
C

EP
TS

\B
21

01
13

-C
O

N
C

EP
T 

D
 --

---
>L

A
YO

U
T:

 C
A

-0
1-

C
O

N
C

EP
T

M
L

THIS DRAWING IS INTENDED FOR MUNICIPAL AND/OR AGENCY
REVIEW AND APPROVAL.  IT IS NOT INTENDED AS A CONSTRUCTION

DOCUMENT UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE.

SHEET NUMBER:

SHEET TITLE:

B210113
MDL
CVM

10/22/2021
B210113-CONCEPT D 

PROPOSED SITE
CONCEPT

STRUCTURE
DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED
DEVELOPMENT

MAP 55.14, BLOCK 2, LOT 11
DANIEL STREET

TOWN OF FLORIDA
MONTGOMERY COUNTY, NEW YORK

FOR CONCEPT
PURPOSES ONLY

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER
MASSACHUSETTS LICENSE No. 42644-C

RHODE ISLAND LICENSE No. 7268
CONNECTICUT LICENSE No. 21854

NEW HAMPSHIRE LICENSE No. 10280
MAINE LICENSE No. 9490

NEW YORK LICENSE No. 071284-1
FLORIDA LICENSE No. 66202

W.D. GOEBEL

ALWAYS CALL 811
It's fast. It's free. It's the law.

TM

TH
E 

IN
FO

RM
AT

IO
N,

 D
ES

IG
N 

AN
D 

CO
NT

EN
T 

OF
 T

HI
S 

PL
AN

 A
RE

 P
RO

PR
IE

TA
RY

 A
ND

 S
HA

LL
 N

OT
 B

E 
CO

PI
ED

 O
R 

US
ED

 F
OR

 A
NY

 P
UR

PO
SE

 W
IT

HO
UT

 P
RI

OR
 W

RI
TT

EN
AU

TH
OR

IZ
AT

IO
N 

FR
OM

 B
OH

LE
R.

 O
NL

Y 
AP

PR
OV

ED
, S

IG
NE

D 
AN

D 
SE

AL
ED

 P
LA

NS
 S

HA
LL

 B
E 

UT
ILI

ZE
D 

FO
R 

CO
NS

TR
UC

TI
ON

 P
UR

PO
SE

S
©

SI
TE

 C
IV

IL
 A

N
D

 C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
LA

N
D

 S
U

R
VE

YI
N

G
PR

O
G

R
A

M
 M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T
LA

N
D

SC
A

PE
 A

R
C

H
IT

EC
TU

R
E

SU
ST

A
IN

A
B

LE
 D

ES
IG

N
PE

R
M

IT
TI

N
G

 S
ER

VI
C

ES
TR

A
N

SP
O

R
TA

TI
O

N
 S

ER
VI

C
ES

BO
H

LE
R

17 COMPUTER DRIVE WEST
ALBANY, NY 12205

Phone: (518) 438-9900
Fax:         (518) 438-0900

www.BohlerEngineering.com

CONCEPT LAYOUT PLAN NOTES
1. THIS PLAN HAS BEEN PREPARED BASED ON REFERENCES INCLUDING:

1.1. STATE GIS INFORMATION
1.2. LOCAL GIS INFORMATION

2. EXACT LOCATION OF PROPOSED BUILDING AND IMPROVEMENTS MUST BE
CONFIRMED AND  EVALUATED UPON COMPLETION OF SURVEY.

3. THIS PLAN IS INTENDED FOR CONCEPTUAL REVIEW PURPOSES ONLY. THE EXISTING
CONDITIONS SHOWN HEREON IS BASED UPON INFORMATION THAT WAS SUPPLIED TO
OUR OFFICE AT THE TIME OF PLAN PREPARATION AND MAY BE SUBJECT TO CHANGE
AND MUST BE UPDATED UPON PERFORMANCE OF A SURVEY.

N/A - NOT APPLICABLE
N/S - NOT SPECIFIED
(V) - VARIANCE REQUESTED
(W) - WAIVER REQUESTED
(E) - EXIST. NON-CONFORMANCE

ZONING ANALYSIS TABLE

ZONE CRITERIA REQUIRED EXISTING PROPOSED
MAX. LOT COVERAGE

MIN. FRONT SETBACK

MIN. SIDE SETBACK

MIN. REAR SETBACK

PARKING SPACES

ACCESS. PARKING SPACES

IBP - INDUSTRIAL BUSINESS PARK (1)ZONING DISTRICT
REQUIRED PERMIT LIGHT ASSEMBLY PLANT IS A

PRINCIPAL PERMITTED USE

30%

50 FT

20 FT

30 FT

25 SPACES

N/A 26%

50 FT ±

75 FT ±

56.9 FT ±

25 SPACES

2 2
PARKING STALL CRITERIA
STANDARD: 9 FT x 20 FT

USE/CATEGORY: WHOLESALE , STORAGE, FREIGHT TERMINAL OR UTILITY USE
REQUIRED PARKING: 1 SPACE FOR 1,000 SF GFA
CALCULATION: 25,000 SF * (1 SPACE/ 1,000 SF) = 25 SPACES

W E

S

(1) REZONED THROUGH TOWN BOARD TO IBP REZONE APPROVAL RECEIVED ON 09/20/2021.

1"= 40'

0 40102040 CA-01

CONCEPTUAL
LAYOUT PLAN

LEGEND

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRELIMINARY EXISTING WETLAND LOCATION



Page 1 of 3 

Short Environmental Assessment Form
Part 1 - Project Information

Instructions for Completing

Part 1 – Project Information.  The applicant or project sponsor is responsible for the completion of Part 1.  Responses become part of the 
application for approval or funding, are subject to public review, and may be subject to further verification.  Complete Part 1 based on 
information currently available.  If additional research or investigation would be needed to fully respond to any item, please answer as
thoroughly as possible based on current information.

Complete all items in Part 1. You may also provide any additional information which you believe will be needed by or useful to the 
lead agency; attach additional pages as necessary to supplement any item.

Part 1 – Project and Sponsor Information

Name of Action or Project:

Project Location (describe, and attach a location map):

Brief Description of Proposed Action:

Name of Applicant or Sponsor: Telephone:

E-Mail:
Address:

City/PO: State: Zip Code:

1. Does the proposed action only involve the legislative adoption of a plan, local law, ordinance,
administrative rule, or regulation?

If Yes, attach a narrative description of the intent of the proposed action and the environmental resources that 
may be affected in the municipality and proceed to Part 2.  If no, continue to question 2.

NO YES

2. Does the proposed action require a permit, approval or funding from any other government Agency?
If Yes, list agency(s) name and permit or approval:

NO YES

3. a. Total acreage of the site of the proposed action?     __________ acres
b. Total acreage to be physically disturbed?     __________ acres
c. Total acreage (project site and any contiguous properties) owned

or controlled by the applicant or project sponsor?     __________ acres

Check all land uses that occur on, adjoining  near the proposed actio

Rural (non-agriculture) ndustrial Commercial Residential (suburban)

Forest Agriculture

Parkland

Structure Development - Custom Automotive Assembly Plant

Daniel Street, Town of Florida, NY (Tax ID: 55.14-2-11)

A 6.8 +/- acre vacant lot within the Town of Florida is proposed to be developed with a 25,000 square foot custom automotive assembly plant. An
access is proposed along Daniels Street along with parking, vehicle storage, landscaping, utilities, and storm water management.

Structure Development, LLC c/o Bohler Engineering MA, LLC

518-438-9900

cmlodzianowski@bohlereng.com

17 Computer Drive West

Albany NY 12205

✔

Town of Florida Planning Board, Montgomery County Planning Board,
Town of Florida Building Department, NYSDEC, ✔

6.8
2.5 +/-

6.8

✔

✔ ✔

✔ Highway



Page 2 of 3 

5. Is the proposed action,

a. A permitted use under the zoning regulations?

b. Consistent with the adopted comprehensive plan?

NO YES N/A

6. Is the proposed action consistent with the predominant character of the existing built or natural landscape?
NO YES

7. Is the site of the proposed action located in, or does it adjoin, a state listed Critical Environmental Area?

If Yes, identify: ________________________________________________________________________________

NO YES

a. Will the proposed action result in a substantial increase in traffic above present levels?

Are public transportation services available at or near the site of the proposed action?

Are any pedestrian accommodations or bicycle routes available on or near site of the proposed
action?

NO YES

9. Does the proposed action meet or exceed the state energy code requirements?

If the proposed action will exceed requirements, describe design features and technologies:

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

NO YES

10. Will the proposed action connect to an existing public/private water supply?

If No, describe method for providing potable : _________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

NO YES

11. Will the proposed action connect to existing wastewater utilities?

If No, describe method for providing wastewater treatment: ______________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

NO YES

NO YES

.  Does any portion of the site of the proposed action, or lands adjoining the proposed action, contain
wetlands or other waterbodies regulated by a federal, state or local agency?

Would the proposed action physically alter, or encroach into, any existing wetland or waterbody?

If Yes, identify the wetland or waterbody and extent of alterations in square feet or acres: _____________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

NO YES

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔An on-site well is proposed.

✔An on-site septic system is proposed.

✔

✔

✔

✔





EEAF Mapper Summary Report Monday, November 1, 2021 10:54 AM

Disclaimer: The EAF Mapper is a screening tool intended to assist 
project sponsors and reviewing agencies in preparing an environmental 
assessment form (EAF). Not all questions asked in the EAF are 
answered by the EAF Mapper. Additional information on any EAF 
question can be obtained by consulting the EAF Workbooks.  Although 
the EAF Mapper provides the most up-to-date digital data available to 
DEC, you may also need to contact local or other data sources in order 
to obtain data not provided by the Mapper. Digital data is not a 
substitute for agency determinations.

Part 1 / Question 7  [Critical Environmental 
Area]

No

Part 1 / Question 12a  [National or State 
Register of Historic Places or State Eligible 
Sites]

No

Part 1 / Question 12b  [Archeological Sites] Yes

Part 1 / Question 13a [Wetlands or Other 
Regulated Waterbodies]

Yes - Digital mapping information on local and federal wetlands and 
waterbodies is known to be incomplete. Refer to EAF Workbook.

Part 1 / Question 15 [Threatened or 
Endangered Animal]

No

Part 1 / Question 16 [100 Year Flood Plain] No

Part 1 / Question 20 [Remediation Site] No

1Short Environmental Assessment Form - EAF Mapper Summary Report





















 

 

Town of Glen Planning Board 

7 Erie Street Fultonville, NY. 12072 

February 22, 2022 

Alex Kuttesch Senior Planner 

Montgomery County Planning Board 

9 Park Avenue  

Fonda, NY 12068  

Wayne DeMallie - Chairman 

Chairman DeMallie,  

Pursuant to article 12B of general municipal law requiring the Town Planning Board to submit a referral 

to the County Planning Board involving applications of Special Use Permit and applications being 

situated adjacent to a County Road, we are referring an application known as 411 Reynolds Road Wind 

Turbine. The Applicant; (Borrego) has applied for a special use permit along with site plans to construct a 

640’ (top of blade tip) Wind Turbine on 150 Acres utilizing an actual 5 acres +/- .  To date, the Planning 

Board has reviewed the application and Part 1 of the EAF.  We have declared ourselves Lead Agency in 

the proceeding. A public hearing was held on December 16, 2021 and remained open through January 

17, 2022 to accept written comment relating to the application. The Planning Board has received 

volumes of public comment and concern along with 13 pages of additional questions the public brought 

forward relating to the siting of the wind turbine.  The Planning Board, along with Borrego and Prime AE, 

our engineering firm, have been reviewing and working through these questions. 

The Planning Board continues to review this application while concurrently forwarding the application to 

the County Planning Board for review and comment. Our concentration of review of this application 

centers on the SEQRA Type 1 action and special permit application. The Planning Board believes the 

SEQRA EAF remains vague anticipating a further, more in-depth (EIS) review of this application. As well, 

the special permit request for siting a wind turbine in an Agricultural / Residential Zone, we have no 

precedent to gauge the impact to existing character or to be in harmony with the existing use of 

property and future impacts to the development of the area as noted in the Town of Glen Land Use 

Management Plan Section 6.10, Paragraph 1. 

The Town of Glen Planning Board requests the above considerations of this application be noted and 

vetted when you review this project. 

Thank You,  

 

Sandra Hemstreet 

Secretary   

 

https://www.co.montgomery.ny.us/web/municipal/glen/documents/LandUseManagementOrdinance.pdf


 

7 ERIE STREET, FULTONVILLE, NY 12072 
518-853-3633; TOWN OF GLEN, NY (MONTGOMERY.NY.US)   

Town of Glen Planning Board 

 

Memorandum 

To: Karl Gustafson Jr. 

From: Sandy Hemstreet 

CC: JD Downing, Tim Reilly 

Town of Glen Planning Board Submission for March 2022 

Montgomery County Planning Board Meeting 

Borrego – 411 Reynolds Road Wind Turbine document submission 

1. Referral Letter to County Planning Board 
2. Borrego Wind Cover Letter to TOG Planning Board 
3. Borrego Wind Civil Plans 
4. Borrego Wind SWPPP document 
5. Borrego Wind Flicker Report 
6. Borrego Wind Sound Report 
7. Borrego Wind Draft Transportation Study 
8. Borrego Wind Draft DEC Application 
9. Borrego Wind Avian Field Survey 
10. Borrego Wind Visual Analysis 1 
11. Borrego Wind Visual Analysis 2 
12. Borrego Wind Visual Simulation Part 1 
13. Borrego Wind Visual Simulation Part 2 
14. Borrego Wind Visual Simulation Part 3 
15. Borrego Wind Visual Simulation Part 4 
16. Borrego Wind Decommissioning Plan 
17. TOG Lead Agency Response Letter – DEC 
18. Prime AE Current Comment Letter 1.20.22 
19. 411 Reynolds | Glen NY | Borrego (borregoenergy.com) 

https://www.co.montgomery.ny.us/web/municipal/glen/
https://go.borregoenergy.com/411-reynolds


  

November 23, 2021 
 

Timothy Reilly 
Town of Glen Planning Board 
7 Erie Street 
Fultonville, NY 12072 
 

RE: LEAD AGENCY COORDINATION RESPONSE 
411 Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project 
Borrego Solar 
411 Reynolds Rd, Fultonville 
Town of Glen, Montgomery County 

 
Dear Mr. Reilly: 
 
This letter responds to your correspondence of October 28, 2021, regarding lead agency 
coordination for the project referenced herein, under Article 8 (State Environmental Quality 
Review – SEQR) of the Environmental Conservation Law and 6 NYCRR Part 617.  The New 
York State Department of Environmental Conservation (“DEC” or “Department”) has the 
following interest in this project: 

Name of Action: 411 Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project 

DEC Contact Person: Delaney Martin, Environmental Analyst I 

SEQR Classification:  Type I  Unlisted  Type II 

 
DEC Position: Based on the information provided: 

 DEC has no objection to your agency assuming lead agency status for this action. 
 DEC wishes to assume lead agency status for this action. 
 DEC needs additional information in order to respond (see comments). 
 DEC cannot be lead agency because it has no jurisdiction in this action. 

Possible DEC Permits: 
• Article 11 Incidental Take Permit – If the proposed action will result in a “take” of a 

threatened or endangered species, an Incidental Take Permit will be required.  A “take” 
is defined within ECL §11-0535 regulations as an activity interfering with an essential 
behavior on habitat occupied by threatened or endangered species.   

 
 
 



Delaney Martin 
11/22/2021 

Page 2 
 

 

• Article 15 Protection of Waters Permit – The 876-185 stream, a Class C navigable 
waterbody is located within the project area. If this project results in excavation or fill 
below the mean high-water level, an Article 15 Protection of Waters Permit for Excavation 
and Fill will be required. 

•   Section 401 Water Quality Certification – If this project will impact federally-regulated 
wetlands or waterbodies, which require a Section 404 Permit (Individual or Nationwide 
Permit) from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, a Section 401 Water Quality Certification 
may be required from the Department. 

• SPDES General Permit for Stormwater Discharges from Construction Activity – If this 
project will disturb more than one acre of land, the applicant must comply with the State 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) Phase II regulations for Stormwater 
Discharges Associated with Construction Activities.   

 
Additional Comments: 
Enclosed is a copy of the Department’s jurisdictional map for your reference.  Please note that 
the map is intended to provide an idea as to the approximate size and location of resources; 
actual field conditions may vary from those depicted on the map. Also note that the proposed 
project falls within an Environmental Justice area. 
 
Please feel free to contact me by telephone at (518) 402-8388 or by e-mail at 
delaney.martin@dec.ny.gov if you have any questions. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

 
Delaney Martin 
Environmental Analyst I 
Bureau of Energy Project Management 
 

Enclosure: Jurisdictional Map 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:delaney.martin@dec.ny.gov


Di
vis

ion
 of

 En
vir

on
me

nta
l P

erm
its

    
Pro

jec
tio

n: 
NA

D_
19

83
_U

TM
_Z

on
e_

18
N

±

Disclaimer: This map was prepared by the NYSDEC Division
of Environmental Permits using the most current data
available.   NYSDEC is not responsible for any inaccuracies in
the data and does not necessarily endorse any interpretations
or products derived from the data.  This map may contain
information that is considered sensitive and therefore the
distribution of this map is strictly prohibited.  Additional
resources may be present but not depicted on this map.

Community Wind - Glen
Borrego

Town of Glen,
Montgomery County

Legend
Class 1 Freshwater Wetland

Class 2 Freshwater Wetland

Class 3 Freshwater Wetland

Class 4 Freshwater Wetland

Deed Restrictions

Protected Streams (C(t) and higher)

Class C and D Streams

National Wetlands Inventory

APA Wetlands
Palustrine

Lower perennial riverine

Upper perennial riverine

TE Species

TE Freshwater Mussels

TE Fish

BBA_Grassland_Birds_ET

BBA_Marsh_Birds_ET

Grassland Focus Areas

TE Listed Plant

Threatened or Endangered Mussels

S1 or S2 Freshwater Mussels

ª Oil, Gas, or Other Well

M Plugged Oil or Gas Well

Archaeologically Sensitive Area

National/State Historic Register Site

State Historic Site or Historic Park

Catskill & Adirondack Park Boundaries

State Parks

Primary Aquifers

NYC Watershed Boundary

Local Waterfront Revitalization Program

Coastal Management Area Boundaries

Critical Environmental Areas

Potential EJ Area

Agricultural Districts

Scenic Areas of Statewide Significance

Scenic Byways

DEC Lands

NYS RESOURCES MAP

November 5, 2021

1 inch equals 1,000 feet
0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000

Feet

Approximate
Project Location



  
 

 
 

 

 
 

Albany Office 
100 Great Oaks Boulevard | Suite 114 | Albany, New York 12203 
P: 518.382.1774 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

January 20, 2022 
 
Ms. Sandra Hemstreet, Secretary 
Town of Glen Planning Board 
7 Erie Street 
Fultonville, NY 12072 
 
Re:  Town of Glen 
  Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project 
  Our Project No. 67‐1901 
 
Dear Ms. Hemstreet: 
 
We are  in receipt of the Borrego Letter dated 12/8/2021, 4MW Platform Brochure, Visual  Impact Analysis 
dated 12/8/2021, Visual  Simulations dated 1/5/2022, Avian and Bat Mitigation  (12/8/21), Turbine  Sound 
Standards (11/29/21), Sound Modeling Summary dated 10/21/2021, Wind Sound Report dated 1/12/2022, 
Wind Flicker Report dated 1/12/2022, Preliminary Operations and Maintenance Plan dated 12/8/2021, Draft 
Emergency Action Plan dated 12/8/2021, Civil Plans dated 12/15/2021, Summary of Avian Field Surveys dated 
1/05/2022, Wetland and Stream Delineation Report dated 8/2021, Decommissioning Plan dated 12/14/2021, 
Building  Permit  Application,  Response  to  Comments  letter  dated  12/14/2021,  Borrego  Transportation 
Standards, Communication Tower Study dated 2/4/2021, and Microwave Study dated 2/4/2021 The project 
is located at 411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, New York 12072 and involves the construction of a single 4.3 MW 
wind  turbine, gravel pad, crane pad, and  run of overhead electrical  lines and poles off Reynolds Road on 
approximately 4.64 +/‐ acres of the total 191.60 +/‐ acres (tax map  id 100.‐5‐8).   Based on a review of the 
documents, we have the following comments: (Items with a strike‐through have been addressed, but are kept 
in the letter to maintain consistent numbering between comment letters) 
 
Building Permit Application 

1. Application has been updated to identify the parcel as R‐R Rural Residential. 
 

FEAF Part 1 

1. All previous comments have been satisfied. 
 
Site Use Permit Plans 

1. Applicant acknowledged.  
2. Plans have been revised to include survey information. 
3. Applicant has removed reference to the Town of DeRuyter on this set of the plans.  
4. Item 9 on Sheet C‐0 under erosion and sediment control measures has been revised for clarity. 
5. Applicant acknowledged.  
6. Applicant acknowledged.  
7. External lighting is said to be solely for meeting aircraft warning requirements. Applicant states they will 

not be providing a lighting plan. **  
8. Plans note the color of the turbine as white.** 
9. Applicant states that no advertising signs will be installed on this property. ** 



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 2 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

10. We find response regarding Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) requirement lighting acceptable. ** 
11. Location and types of disturbances are now shown on sheet C‐3.0. 
12. Crane Pad details and dimensions have been provided. Drawings  lack dimensions  for  the  turbine pad. 

Applicant states that the turbine foundation is to be designed by licensed PE based in the geotechnical 
report. These will be submitted as part of the building permit application. We suggest that maximum pad 
dimensions be shown for review purposes.  If these dimensions are exceeded, the project would come 
back to the Planning Board for approval of the increase. 

13. Existing culvert to be replaced has been identified on the revised plans. 
14. Proposed culvert at the site entry‐way on the north side of the proposed access route has been revised 

to protect existing wetlands. 
15. Overhead and underground wires have been identified on plans.  
16. If site survey does not indicate bedrock outcroppings, EAF should be revised to match site specific details.. 

We note that a geotechnical investigation is slated to occur at the site, however, no schedule has been 
provided.  A copy of the geotechnical report will be required to be submitted for review.  

17. Applicant has more clearly identified the “temporary truck route” on the site.  
18. Connection equipment and ground mounted equipment are shown on the updated plans.** 
19. Applicant indicates they will not be planting any landscaping as part of this work apart from seeding done 

as  part  of  site  restoration. With  this  response, we  do  not  believe  the  applicant  needs  to  submit  a 
landscaping plan. 

20. Applicant has provided details for the proposed access road.  
21. Traffic flow patterns in and around the site are shown on sheet C‐3.0. 
22. Filter strips are said to be detailed in the revised SWPPP (SWPPP was not provided for review).  
23. Applicant has verified that no guy wires are proposed for this work. ** 
24. Proposed  setback  from  the  nearest  residence  is  shown  as  1,549’.  This  is  in  compliance  with  the 

recommended requirement of 1,500’ from residences. A dimension has been added to the plans showing 
this setback. ** 

25. Per discussion between Planning Board and applicant at the October 21, 2021 meeting, The Board agreed 
that the applicant should try to get as close to a 1.5x the total height of the wind turbine from the off‐site 
property boundaries and public roads as possible, but realize it may only be 1.2‐1.3x. Submitted Sheet C‐
1.0, received on November 11, 2021, show a setback distance of 1.41x  (918’) the height of the tower 
(650’). Upon further evaluation of the project, it was realized that this put the proposed turbine closer to  
residences on Reynolds Road. Therefore, the turbine was moved back near the original planned location 
where the distance between homes and the turbine would be maximized. The Turbine is now shown 723’ 
from the rear property line. The proposed turbine is closest to a residence on Reynolds Road at a distance 
of 1,549’ which is 2.38x the height of the tower, which exceeds the NYSERDA recommendation.** 

26. A barrier gate has been added across  the access  road at about  station 4+75 on  sheet C‐6.0  to deter 
unauthorized access.** 

27. Subsequent to changing the location of the proposed turbine, an addition 0.01 acres of wetlands will be 
disturbed. Applicant should verify that this is acceptable to Army Corps of Engineers. 

28. Proposed tree clearing has decreased from 3.82 acres to 3.42 acres based on the latest turbine siting. 
29. We note that permanent impervious coverage has decreased from plans dated 9/2/2021 to plans dated 

12/15/2021. The decreased coverage is in the amount of 0.07 acres. 
 
SWPPP (revised version has not been provided for review, so previous comments are repeated below) 

1. Applicant  has  indicated  they  will  revise  the  SWPPP  to  note  80%  vegetation  establishment  prior  to 
removing erosion and sediment control practices. However,  in section 3.1 – removal of all erosion and 



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 3 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

sediment control features should be specific to additional conditions that must be met before removal 
can occur. Applicant should resubmit SWPPP for verification. 

2. Applicant has  indicated  they will  revise  the  SWPPP  to  include maintenance of  erosion  and  sediment 
control practices as required throughout construction. Applicant should resubmit SWPPP for verification. 

3. Applicant has  indicated  that  they will revise  the  last sentence of  the  first paragraph  that  is written as 
follows: “If, at any time, the disturbance drops below the 5‐acre threshold, the Contractor shall advise the 
Regional Office in writing.”. Applicant should resubmit SWPPP for verification. 

4. Applicant has  indicated they will revise plans to show the  lease exclusion zone as  indicated  in SWPPP. 
Applicant should resubmit plans showing this change for verification. 

5. Applicant has indicated they will revise plans to show the anticipated location of filter strip that is planned 
to be the post‐construction stormwater management practice and the details for such practice. Applicant 
should resubmit plans showing this change for verification. 

6. Applicant has indicated they will revise the SWPPP to address the prior comment. Applicant shall resubmit 
SWPPP when revisions are made. 

7. Applicant has  indicated  that  they will  revise  the  SWPPP  to  address  and  clarify  the  following original 
comment: “Channel Protection Volume, Overbank Flood Control, and Extreme Flood Control were not 
designed  for  as  it  is  stated  on  page  6  that  “…this method  of  analysis  is  not  in  accordance with  the 
requirements of the SWDM…” what method of analysis is being described here? If this is in regard to the 
design  of  the  proposed  filter  strips,  that  should  be mentioned  here more  explicitly.” Applicant  shall 
resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

8. Applicant has indicated that Section 3.6 will be revised to cover Operation and Maintenance of all Erosion 
and Sediment Control Practices that will be implemented for this SWPPP. Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP 
when revisions are made. 

9. Applicant  has  indicated  that  Section  4 will  be  revised  to  properly  identify  the  owner  and  operator. 
Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

10. We find the applicant’s response regarding inspection schedule satisfactory. 
11. Applicant has indicated that the standard Construction Duration Inspection from will be made part of the 

SWPPP  Appendices.  This  should  include  all  items  listed  in  Part  IV.C.4  of  the  General  SPDES  Permit. 
Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

12. The applicant has indicated they will revise the Contractor Certification to include specific elements of the 
SWPPP that each contractor will be responsible for implementing. Additionally, a separate subcontractor 
certification form will be copied as needed. Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

13. Applicant has indicated that the size of the proposed filter strips will be included in the revised SWPPP. 
Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

14. The applicant has indicated that Section 2.3 includes language that incorporates the plans as part of the 
SWPPP. The SWPPP will formally include the plans as part of the SWPPP via an appendix. Plans will include 
a site map/construction drawings for the project, including a general location map. At a minimum, the site 
map  shall  show  the  total  site  area;  all  improvements;  areas  of  disturbance;  areas  that  will  not  be 
disturbed;  existing  vegetation;  on‐site  and  adjacent  off‐site  surface  water(s);  floodplain/floodway 
boundaries; wetlands and drainage patterns the could be affected by the construction activity; existing 
and final contours; locations of different soil types with boundaries; material, waste, borrow or equipment 
storage areas  located on adjacent properties; and  location(s) of  the  stormwater discharge(s) per Part 
III.B.1.b. Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

15. Applicant has indicated a schedule identifying the timing of implementation of each erosion and sediment 
control practice and the minimum time frames that each should remain in place or be implemented will 
be included in the revised SWPPP. Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 4 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

16. The  applicant has  indicated  that  the  SWPPP will be  revised  to  reference  specific details  in  the plans 
regarding erosion and sediment control practices. Applicant shall  resubmit SWPPP when  revisions are 
made. 

17. The SWPPP, in Section 3.3 includes a description of the pollution measures that will be used to control 
litter and construction debris, as to prevent it from becoming a pollutant source to stormwater discharge. 
We find this to be acceptable. 

18. Applicant indicates Stormwater Modeling and Analysis Report will be revised to include maps showing pre 
and post development conditions including watershed/subcatchment boundaries, flow paths, routing and 
design points. Applicant shall resubmit SWPPP when revisions are made. 

19. We acknowledge that no soil testing has been performed and is not required for current design.  
 
General Wind Energy Based Comments 

1. Applicant has provided a pre‐construction avian study for the project site. Applicant should continue to 
follow NYSDEC protocol through the duration of the project.  Applicant shall advise if additional state and 
federal permits are needed for the project (above those stated in FEAF Part I) now that the environmental 
studies has progressed and provide the status or timeline for each. ** 

2. We appreciate the applicant’s clarification regarding the location selection for the proposed wind turbine. 
We note that the location selection was made for a variety of reasons including resident setbacks, wind 
productivity, avian habitat consideration, and more. * 

3. We note that communication and microwave studies were performed for this project and results have 
been submitted for review. Applicant shall advise if the study has been submitted to the FCC and what 
their timeline for review and comment is expected to be. * 

4. A  visual  impact  analysis  was  performed  in  accordance  with  Wind  Energy  Guidebook  for  Local 
Governments as prepared by NYSERDA. * Additional visual simulations were provided on 1/5/2022 and 
will be reviewed at the Planning Board meeting. 

5. A  shadow  flicker  analysis  has  been  performed  and  provided.    The model  results  state  that  two  (2) 
receptors (381 Reynolds Rd and 138 Severine Lane) will have between 10 hours and 30 hours of shadow 
flicker per year.  The table in Appendix B should be updated with receptor addresses for clarity.* 

6. A noise analysis has been performed and provided. The table in Appendix B should be updated with 

receptor addresses for clarity.  Existing sound levels at these receptors should be obtained, so that the 

potential impacts from the proposed project can be further assessed.  The NYSDEC document “Assessing 

and Mitigating Noise Impacts” dated 10/6/2000, contains a table with which the change in sound 

pressure can be evaluated.*,** 

7. Applicant has indicated a post construction noise compliance report will be submitted to the Town once 
construction  is complete. Applicant has  indicated that annual certification  is not typical for community 
wind projects, however,  the Town of Glen Planning Board may  require  this as a  condition of project 
approval. ** 

8. It  is understood that this project  is under 25 MW and therefore not required to seek permits through 
Article 10 process, or Office of Renewable Energy Siting through New York State. * 

9. International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) Certification has been noted on plans. *   
10. Applicant has indicated they will post signs on the site that warn of falling ice in applicable areas. We find 

this satisfactory. *  
11. Applicant has agreed to post signs on the site that warn of any danger in regard to electrical equipment 

or other hazard. These signs will include a 24 hr emergency number. We find this satisfactory. *  



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 5 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

12. A  draft  Emergency  Action  Plan  was  submitted  for  review.  Applicant  should  coordinate  with  local 
emergency  response  providers  to  provide  an  emergency  response  plan  and  training.  As  local  fire 
department is volunteer based, applicant should provide site specific training annually. ** 

13. Applicant has supplied manufacturer’s specifications of the proposed turbine model and they are under 
review. **  

14. Applicant has indicated that construction is planned to commence in Fall 2022, with complete operation 
by Summer 2023. The Planning Board  should be notified of any changes  to  the anticipated  schedule. 
Borrego’s Transportation Standards have been provided. These include reference to a traffic analysis with 
a description of the routes to be used by construction and delivery vehicles that will be provided. We 
recommend this be submitted for review before a final decision is made by the Planning Board. ** 

15. Applicant has agreed to provide pre and post construction photos to the Town of the Town’s public road 
system to verify that no damages have occurred.  If damages are  identified by the Town or  it’s agents, 
applicant will be responsible for all repair costs associated with such damages. Borrego’s Transportation 
Standards have been provided. These include references to bonds that will be secured in the case that 
roads are damaged and not properly repaired by applicant. When final agreement and bonds are agreed 
upon by applicant and Town, they should be submitted officially for the record. ** 

16. Applicant  has  indicated  a  transportation  plan  describing  routes  to  be  used  in  delivery  of  project 
components, equipment and building materials and those to be used to provide access to the Site during 
and after construction  is underway and will be provided once complete. This plan should also describe 
any anticipated  improvements  to existing  roads, bridges or other  infrastructure, as well as measures 
which will be taken to restore damaged/disturbed access routes following construction. We recommend 
this  be  submitted  for  review  before  a  final  decision  is  made  by  the  planning  board.  Borrego’s 
Transportation Standards have been provided. These include references to a traffic study and bonds that 
will be secured in the case that roads are damaged and not properly repaired by applicant. When final 
study is conducted, and agreement and bonds are agreed upon by applicant and Town, they should be 
submitted officially for the record.  ** 

17. A preliminary O&M plan has been provided. See comments in the respective section of this letter. ** 
18. Applicant  has  provided  an  assessment  of  potentially  impacted  wetlands,  surface  and  groundwater 

resources (via SWPPP), and the geology and land use of the site (via soil survey data and plans), as well as 
an assessment of construction phase impacts – which they expect to be minimal as it is a much smaller 
scale than a utility wind farm, traffic impacts (which will be forth coming when traffic study is performed) 
and adverse sound impacts that may arise from the project construction (via Sound report).** 

19. Applicant acknowledged. ** 
20. Applicant acknowledged. ** 
21. Applicant acknowledged. ** 
22. Applicant has indicated that there are manual braking and safety features to power down the turbine in 

case of emergency or maintenance. ** 
23. The distance between the ground and any part of the rotor or blade system exceeds 30’. ** 

 
Decommissioning Plan 

1. The Decommissioning Plan has been updated to include the height of the turbine (394’).  The Plan should 
indicate that blade length will be 246’, and at the highest rotation, the overall height will be 640’.  

2. The Decommissioning Plan has been revised to include a general description of the removal process. We 
note  that  the demolition contractor will be  responsible  for actual means and methods at  the  time of 
disassembly.  



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 6 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

3. Applicant has noted that the amount for the surety bond will be based on the Decommissioning costs 
before salvage. 

4. It appears  that the bond  for decommissioning  is proposed to be made  in the amount of $321,559.   A 
detailed analysis of the costs estimates is currently underway by PRIME AE. 

5. The Decommissioning plan and associated costs will be updated every 5 years by a licensed professional 
engineer as per the revised decommissioning plan language. ** 

 
Borrego Transportation Standards 

1. These standards verify that a transportation study will be conducted by a licensed, professional engineer 
when  the  route  for material  transportation has  been  selected.  The  study  should be provided  to  the 
Planning Board.  

2. A road use agreement is outlined to show what is proposed to be included in a formal agreement with 
the Town. A road bond will be described in the formal agreement which provides a level of insurance to 
the Town in the case that the applicant fails to complete work to a certain standard and timescale. 

 
Borrego Wind Turbine Sound Standards 

1. This  document  states  that  Borrego will  comply with  International  Electrotechnical  Commission  (IEC) 
61400‐11  when  evaluating  sound  levels.  “The  adherence  to  this  standard  means  that  overseeing 
authorities can have a high degree of confidence in the published sound levels, and the resulting sound 
modeling.” 

2. Manufacturer will provide a warrantee if the proposed turbine begins to operate outside of the “stated 
Sound Level Performance Standard”, the manufacturer will remedy the situation and ensure the turbine 
performs below the stated standard. 

3. Borrego will have Epsilon Associates perform a Sound Level Modeling Report to minimize sound impacts 
on the community by proper siting of the turbine (see below). 
 

Sound Level Modeling Report & Modeling Summary and Recommended Sound Level Limit Review 

1. The summary and model provided by Epsilon Associates Inc. shows that the proposed turbine will produce 
noise below 50 dBA at all property lines and will be 40 dBA or lower at all nearby residences.  We ask that 
the existing ambient sound levels be measured at the same receptors, so that a comparison of pre and 
post construction sound can be analyzed. 

2. From the report and summary dated 8/31/2021 to new report and summary dated 1/12/2022, hub height 
went from 123 m to 120 m. Which is correct? Is this consistent with all other materials submitted? 

 

Shadow Flicker Modeling Report  

1. A  shadow  flicker  report  was  developed  in  accordance  with  the  Wind  Energy  Guidebook  for  Local 
Governments by NYSERDA. 

2. The shadow flicker report took into consideration 10 locations, most, if not all, being residences. Seven 
(7)  of  the  10  receptors were  found  to  have  no  shadow  flicker.  The methodology  assumed  locations 
consisted of “greenhouses”, meaning they would be made up of windows  in all directions, and that all 
buildings and vegetation that could potentially obscure flicker were nonexistent. These assumptions lead 
to  conservative  results  of  the  report.  The maximum  result  any  property  could  experience  from  the 
proposed turbine would be less than 22 hours of flicker per year, or less than 0.25% of the year. 

 



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 7 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

Preliminary Operations & Maintenance Plan 

1. A preliminary O&M plan has been developed by Borrego and will be used as a basis for their final O&M 
Plan  that will be  implemented once  the project becomes operational and  is based on  typical  industry 
standards. 

2. The  O&M  plan  should,  at  a minimum,  include  regular  periodic maintenance  schedules,  any  special 
maintenance  requirements  and  procedures,  and  notification  requirements  for  restarts  during  icing 
events. We recommend the final O&M plan be submitted for review before a final decision is made by 
the planning board. 

 

Draft Emergency Action Plan 

1. Emergency equipment is stated to be located on a map, but no map was provided. 
2. Emergency contact information should be added to the plan. 
3. Has  local EMS,  including  fire response, been notified of  the proposed  facility? Will  they be  trained on 

potential site specific response activities? 

 

Wetland Report 

1. Applicant should overlay Wetland and Stream Maps developed by LaBella with proposed construction 
maps of the site. 

2. “Any Project‐related filling or disturbances within the delineated boundaries of jurisdictional wetlands (as 
approved by USACE) will require Federal CWA Section 404 authorization through USACE. In addition, such 
activities would also require a CWA Section 401 Water Quality Certification, as administered by NYSDEC. 
Both  authorizations may  be obtained  through  the  Joint  Permit Application process.“   Applicant  shall 
provide a copy of the permit application to the Town. 

 

Facts & Figures of Wind Turbine 

1. No comments. 

 

Communication Tower Study 

1. A communication Tower Study has been performed and results were provided. 
2. This  study  does  not  show  any  site‐specific  recommendations  or  degrees  of  acceptability  based  on 

placement of the proposed turbine in proximity to the existing tower and antennae.  

 

Microwave Study 

1. The study indicates that the 6 total microwave paths within the 2‐mile radius of the proposed turbine will 
not be impacted by the installation of said turbine.  Applicant should advise if the report has been provided 
to the FCC for review. 

 

Visual Impact Analysis 

1. Visual Impact Analysis appears to be in conformance with requirements of the Wind Energy Guidebook 
for  Local  Governments  by  NYSERDA.    The  NYSDEC  document  “Assessing  and Mitigating  Visual  and 



Sandra Hemstreet 
January 20, 2022 
Page 8 

 
 

CONNECTING. CREATING. CONSERVING. COMMUNITY. 
www.primeeng.com 

Aesthetic  Impacts”  dated  12/13/2019 will  be  used  to  aid  in  the  review  of  potential  impacts  to  the 
community. 
 

Avian and Bat Mitigation 

1. This  statement  shows  that Borrego plans  to  comply with all NYSDEC  regulations and will have a pre‐
construction survey performed by EDR to show pre‐construction qualities of the site. Borrego advises that 
they will provide the Town of Glen with documentation and determination from NYSDEC upon completion 
of consultation with NYSDEC on this topic. 

 
Summary of Avian Field Surveys 

1. Two (2) state listed threatened species and three (3) state listed species of special concern were observed 
over the course of the study (Spring, Breeding Season, and Fall) in the site location.  

2. It is believed that one threatened species (northern harrier) occupied breeding habitat on or adjacent to 
the project site. “Project‐related impacts to such habitat could potentially occur depending on locations 
of proposed Project components.” 

3. The document does not mention any state or federal permits that may be required or alternatives for 
mitigation of potential impacts. 

4. Has the study been submitted to NYSDEC Fish and Wildlife or other agency for review and comment? 
 
* ‐ This comment is based on the Wind Energy Guidebook for Local Governments by NYSERDA. 
** ‐ This comment is based on the Town of Duanesburg Wind Energy Facility Law, as the Town of Glen does 
not currently have a local law for wind energy. 

 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
KB Group of NY, Inc. dba PRIME AE Group of NY 
 
 
Douglas P. Cole, P.E. 
Senior Director of Engineering 
 
cc:  Brandon Smith, Borrego Solar 
 
 
 



 
 

Memorandum 
 

  
EDR  217 Montgomery Street, Suite 1100, Syracuse, New York 13202 315.471.0688 www.edrdpc.com 

 

To: Brandon Smith and David Strong (Borrego Solar Systems Inc.) 

From: Environmental Design & Research, D.P.C. (EDR) 

Date: January 5, 2022 

Reference: Glen Wind 1, LLC  
Summary of Avian Field Surveys 

EDR Project No.: 20151 

 
Introduction 
 
This memorandum summarizes avian field surveys conducted by Environmental Design & 
Research, D.P.C. (EDR) on behalf of Glen Wind 1, LLC (the Applicant). Avian field surveys were 
conducted in 2020 and 2021 for a community-scale wind-powered electric generating facility and 
associated infrastructure that is proposed within the Town of Glen in Montgomery County, New 
York (the Project) (see Attachment 1, Figures 1 and 2).  
 
The Project is anticipated to include one wind turbine and associated infrastructure within an 
overall Project Site that totals approximately 191 acres (see Attachment 1, Figure 2). Much of the 
Project Site is composed of deciduous forest, successional shrubland, and successional old field, 
although an open water/emergent wetland feature and disturbed/developed land (in the form of 
roads, driveways, orchard infrastructure, and residential buildings) are also present.  
 
Given its proposed generating capacity, the Project will be reviewed under the State 
Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) process, and the results of the avian field surveys are 
intended to inform the Applicant in the design and development of the Project, and the New York 
State Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC) and the SEQRA Lead Agency in their 
review of the proposed Project.  
 
Summary of Agency Consultations 
 
Consultation with state agencies regarding the potential presence of state-listed threatened or 
endangered avian species within or near the Project Site began in 2020. Correspondence with the 
New York Natural Heritage Program (NYNHP) began with the submittal of a formal request for 
information regarding state and federally-listed endangered and threatened species within and 
adjacent to the Project Site. On October 16, 2020, the Client received a response letter from the 



 Glen Wind 1, LLC 
 January 5, 2022 

 
 Page 2 

  

NYNHP indicating that there were no known records of rare or state-listed animals or plants, or 
significant natural communities, at the Project Site.  
 
EDR also reviewed the NYSDEC Environmental Resource Mapper (ERM) to obtain more detailed 
occurrence records for state-listed species that have been documented within and in the vicinity 
of the Project Site. The ERM Rare Plants or Animals layer indicates no records of rare or state-
listed species within and in the vicinity of the Project Site. 
 
Although the NYSDEC has not identified known occupied habitat for state-listed threatened or 
endangered bird species that overlaps with the Project Site, the Applicant retained EDR to conduct 
fall raptor migration surveys, winter raptor surveys, spring raptor migration surveys, and breeding 
bird surveys to evaluate the potential presence and use of the Project Site by these and other 
avian species. Summaries are provided below for each type of avian field survey completed for 
the Project. 

 
Fall Raptor Migration Surveys 
 

• Fall raptor migration surveys began on September 3, 2020, and were performed once every 
other week until December 9, 2020, for a total of 8 surveys (representing more than 64 
survey-hours). Surveys were conducted from 8:00 a.m. until at least two hours prior to 
sunset, which ranged from approximately 5:45 p.m. at the beginning of the fall season to 
approximately 2:23 p.m. at the end of the survey period. 
 

• During surveys, biologists either sat or stood at a single stationary survey location (see 
Attachment 1, Figure 3) and conducted visual scans of the sky in all directions to detect 
raptors and other birds passing through the Project Site. Biologists recorded detailed 
information for all raptors observed, as well as any state-listed species and large flocks of 
non-raptor birds (defined as 50 or more individuals). 

 
• Data recorded for each survey included observer initials, date, start and end time, weather 

conditions for the previous day, hourly weather conditions, the number of individuals and 
identification of each species observed, the start and end time of each observation, sex 
and age of individuals (if discernable), average flight height and direction, initial distance 
of observation, closest distance of observation, behavior(s), and additional notes. 

 
 
 



 Glen Wind 1, LLC 
 January 5, 2022 

 
 Page 3 

  

• A total of 64 raptor observations were recorded during the survey period. Turkey vulture 
(Cathartes aura) was the most abundant species recorded at the Project Site, with 17 
observations (27% of all raptor observations). One other species—red-tailed hawk (Buteo 
jamaicensis)—was also abundant, with 16 observations (25% of all raptor observations). 
 

• Northern harrier (Circus hudsonius) was the most frequently observed raptor species 
(recorded during five of eight surveys). Red-tailed hawk was the second-most frequently 
observed raptor species (recorded during four surveys). These species were observed 
throughout the day, with observations occurring between approximately 8:00 a.m. and 
4:30 p.m. 
 

• Two state-listed threatened species were observed during the fall migration season: bald 
eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus; five observations) and northern harrier (10 observations).  
 

• The bald eagle observations included mostly single individuals (and one observation of 
two birds) flying high above the ground (150 to 1,000 feet) over the southern and western 
portions of the Project Site. The northern harrier observations included male and female 
adults and unknown juveniles exhibiting flying and foraging behavior in the western 
portion of the Project Site within successional old fields, and in a hayfield located to the 
west of the Project Site across Reynolds Road. Attachment 1, Figure 4 depicts the locations 
and flight paths of these state-listed threatened species observations. Attachment 2 
provides a summary of state-listed species observations. 
 

• Three state-listed species of special concern were observed during the fall migration 
season: osprey (Pandion haliaetus; one observation), red-shouldered hawk (Buteo lineatus; 
two observations), and Cooper’s hawk (Pandion haliaetus; six observations). One osprey 
was observed flying west over the northern portion Project Site at an average height of 
300 feet above the ground. The red-shouldered hawk observations included an unknown 
adult and an unknown juvenile flying over the Project Site high above the ground (150 to 
200 feet) west of the Project Site across Reynolds Road. The Cooper’s hawk observations 
included male and female adults and unknown individuals exhibiting flying and hunting 
behavior in the western portion of the Project Site. Attachment 2 provides a summary of 
state-listed species observations. 

 
 
 
  



 Glen Wind 1, LLC 
 January 5, 2022 

 
 Page 4 

  

Winter Raptor Surveys 
 

• Winter raptor surveys began on January 13, 2021, and were performed once every three 
weeks until March 25, 2021, for a total of six surveys (representing more than nine survey-
hours). Surveys were conducted from one hour prior to sunset until it became too dark to 
observe flying birds (at least 30 minutes after sunset). 
 

• To the greatest extent practicable, surveys were not conducted on days when weather 
conditions would limit visibility (e.g., sustained precipitation, fog, and/or moderate to 
strong winds). Weather forecasts were reviewed regularly in order to select the most 
appropriate survey days.  

 
• During surveys, biologists either sat or stood at a single stationary survey location and 

conducted visual scans of the surrounding habitat in all directions in order to detect 
raptors and other birds passing through the Project Site (see Attachment 1, Figure 3). 
Biologists recorded detailed information for all raptors observed, as well as any state-listed 
species. 
 

• Data recorded for each survey included date, observer initials, start time, sunset time, and 
end time, pertinent weather conditions, the number of individuals and identification of 
each species observed, the start and end time of each observation, sex and age of 
individuals (if discernable), average flight height and direction, behavior(s), and additional 
notes. Perch locations, roost locations, flight paths, and/or foraging areas were 
documented for all state-listed species. 
 

• A total of five raptor observations were recorded during the winter season, representing 
three species: red-tailed hawk (two observations), great-horned owl (Bubo virginianus; two 
observations), and turkey vulture (one observation). No state-listed species were observed 
during the winter raptor surveys. 

 
Spring Raptor Migration Surveys 
 

• Spring raptor migration surveys began on March 10, 2021, and were performed once every 
two weeks until May 19, 2021, for a total of six surveys (representing more than 57 survey-
hours). Surveys were conducted from 8:00 a.m. and until at least two hours prior to sunset, 
which ranged from approximately 3:55 p.m. at the beginning of the spring season to 
approximately 6:17 p.m. at the end of the survey period.  

  



 Glen Wind 1, LLC 
 January 5, 2022 

 
 Page 5 

  

• To the greatest extent practicable, surveys were not conducted on days when weather 
conditions would limit visibility (e.g., sustained precipitation, fog, and/or moderate to 
strong winds). Weather forecasts were reviewed regularly in order to select the most 
appropriate survey days.  

 
• During surveys, biologists either sat or stood at a single stationary survey location and 

conducted visual scans of the sky in all directions in order to detect raptors and other birds 
passing through the Project Site (see Attachment 1, Figure 3). Biologists recorded detailed 
information for all raptors observed, as well as any state-listed species and large flocks of 
non-raptor birds (defined as 50 or more individuals). 
 

• Data recorded for each survey included observer initials, date, start and end time, weather 
conditions for the previous day, hourly weather conditions, the number of individuals and 
identification of each species observed, the start and end time of each observation, sex 
and age of individuals (if discernable), average flight height and direction, behavior(s), and 
additional notes.  
 

• A total of 189 raptor observations were recorded during the survey period. Northern 
harrier was the most abundant species recorded at the Project Site, with 72 observations 
(38% of all raptor observations; many of these were of the same individuals). One other 
species—turkey vulture—was also abundant, with 71 observations (also 38% of all raptor 
observations). 

 
• Adult male and female northern harriers were seen multiple times in the western portion 

of the Project Site, usually flying low over fields and along hedgerows, and to and from 
perch locations. Northern harriers were also observed foraging (three observations), 
carrying food (one observation), and flying to and from a possible nest site (two 
observations) during the survey season. Attachment 1, Figures 5 depicts the locations and 
flight paths of these state-listed threatened species observations. Attachment 2 provides 
a summary of state-listed species observations. 
 

• One state-listed species of special concern, Cooper’s hawk, was observed four times flying 
over the Project Site during the spring migration season.  

  



 Glen Wind 1, LLC 
 January 5, 2022 

 
 Page 6 

  

Breeding Bird Surveys 
 

• Breeding bird surveys were conducted once every two weeks between May 19, 2021 and 
July 15, 2021, for a total of four surveys. Surveys began at first light and continued until 
approximately 10:30 a.m. Three transects spanning 300 meters were identified within the 
Project Site. Point count surveys were conducted every 100 meters along each transect, 
for a total of 12 point count survey locations (see Attachment 1, Figure 3). 
 

• Point count surveys were conducted by scanning the surrounding habitat and listening for 
bird vocalizations for five minutes at each location. Data recorded during surveys included 
the date, observer name, survey location (transect number and point count location ID), 
start and end time, summary of weather conditions (temperature, wind speed, 
precipitation/sky condition), the number and identification of each species observed, and 
behavioral observations (including any possible, probable, or confirmed breeding 
behaviors).  The approximate distance from the observer was also recorded for each bird. 

 
• A total of 353 individual birds representing 43 different species were recorded within 100 

meters of the point count locations. Eastern towhee (Pipilo erythrophthalmus) was the 
most abundant species recorded at the Project Site, with 39 observations (11.05% of all 
observations). Other highly abundant species included common yellowthroat (Geothlypis 
trichas; 34 observations) and gray catbird (Dumetella carolinensis; 30 observations). 
Together, these three species accounted for 29.18% of all observations. 

 
• No state-listed endangered, threatened, or special concern species were observed during 

the breeding season. 
 
Conclusions 
 
Overall, two state-listed threatened species were observed at the Project Site during avian surveys: 
bald eagle and northern harrier. The following state-listed species of special concern were also 
documented: red-shouldered hawk, Cooper’s hawk, and osprey. 

  
Bald eagle and northern harrier were only seen during the spring and fall migration survey periods. 
None of the bald eagle observations included breeding behaviors, and all of these observations 
were relatively brief flyovers. All bald eagles observed flew in direct paths over the Project Site at 
substantial heights, which suggests travel to off-site habitat areas rather than use of on-site areas.  
 



 Glen Wind 1, LLC 
 January 5, 2022 

 
 Page 7 

  

Northern harriers were observed in October, November, and early December 2020, potentially 
suggesting the presence of occupied wintering habitat. However, the lack of observations during 
subsequent winter raptor surveys suggests that occupied wintering habitat may not be present. It 
normal to observe this highly nomadic species traveling significant distances on the way to/from 
suitable wintering or breeding habitat areas. Northern harriers were observed in April and May 
2021 exhibiting essential behaviors on multiple occasions (e.g., foraging, circling above/visiting a 
potential nest site, and carrying food) indicating that a nesting attempt may have been made in 
early May 2021 within or near the site.  
 
Based on the results of the avian surveys conducted, northern harrier occupied breeding habitat 
appears to be present in some open areas located on/adjacent to the Project Site (particularly 
near the southwestern portion), and Project-related impacts to such habitat could potentially 
occur depending on the locations of proposed Project components.  
 
Attachments: Attachment 1: Figures 
  Attachment 2: Summary of State-Listed Species Observations 
 
Copies To: Brandon Smith (Borrego Solar Systems Inc.) 

Dave Strong (Borrego Solar Systems Inc.) 
  Project File 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 

Figures 
  



J:\2
01

51
 41

1 R
ey

no
lds

 Ro
ad

 - 
Gle

n W
ind

\G
rap

hic
s\F

igu
res

\S
um

ma
ry 

of 
Av

ian
 Fi

eld
 St

ud
ies

\M
XD

\20
15

1_
Su

mm
ary

 of
 Av

ian
 Fi

eld
 Su

rve
ys_

Fig
ure

 1_
Re

gio
na

l F
ac

ilit
y L

oc
ati

on
.m

xd
Sheet  of Figure 1. Regional Project Location

0 2 41

Miles

°
Prepared September 22, 2021

Basemap: Esri ArcGIS Online "USGS Topo" map service.

Project Location

Glen Wind 1, LLC
Town of Glen,
Montgomery County, New York

Summary of Avian Field Surveys



J:\2
01

51
 41

1 R
ey

no
lds

 Ro
ad

 - 
Gle

n W
ind

\G
rap

hic
s\F

igu
res

\S
um

ma
ry 

of 
Av

ian
 Fi

eld
 St

ud
ies

\M
XD

\20
15

1_
Su

mm
ary

 of
 Av

ian
 Fi

eld
 Su

rve
ys_

Fig
ure

 2_
Pro

jec
t S

ite
.m

xd
Sheet  of 

&=!

Town of
Charleston

Town of Glen

Figure 2. Project Site

0 1,000 2,000500

Feet

°
Prepared January 5, 2022

Basemap: Esri ArcGIS Online "USGS Topo" map service.

&=! Wind Turbine
Access Road
Project SiteSummary of Avian Field Surveys

Glen Wind 1, LLC
Town of Glen,
Montgomery County, New York



J:\2
01

51
 41

1 R
ey

no
lds

 Ro
ad

 - 
Gle

n W
ind

\G
rap

hic
s\F

igu
res

\S
um

ma
ry 

of 
Av

ian
 Fi

eld
 St

ud
ies

\M
XD

\20
15

1_
Su

mm
ary

 of
 Av

ian
 Fi

eld
 Su

rve
ys_

Fig
ure

 3_
Su

rve
y L

oc
ati

on
s.m

xd
Sheet  of 

&=!

#0#0
1D

1A

2A

2D

3D

3A

1B

1C

2B
2C

3C
3B

Figure 3. Survey Locations

0 500 1,000250

Feet

°
Prepared January 5, 2022

Basemap: NYSDOP 2017 orthoimagery map service.

#0
Fall Raptor
Survey Location

#0
Spring Raptor
Survey Location
Breeding Bird 
Point Count Location

Breeding Bird Survey Transect
Access Road
Project Site

Summary of Avian Field Surveys

Glen Wind 1, LLC
Town of Glen,
Montgomery County, New York



Sheet 1 of 2
J:\2

01
51

 41
1 R

ey
no

lds
 Ro

ad
 - 

Gle
n W

ind
\G

rap
hic

s\F
igu

res
\S

um
ma

ry 
of 

Av
ian

 Fi
eld

 St
ud

ies
\M

XD
\20

15
1_

Su
mm

ary
 of

 Av
ian

 Fi
eld

 Su
rve

ys_
Fig

ure
 4_

T&
E S

pe
cie

s O
bs

erv
ati

on
s (

Fa
ll R

ap
tor

 M
igr

ati
on

 Su
rve

ys)
.m

xd

&=!

#0

[b

[b

Figure 4. T&E Species Observations (Fall Raptor Migration Surveys)

0 500 1,000250

Feet

°
Prepared January 5, 2022

Basemap: NYSDOP 2017 orthoimagery map service.

#0 Fall Raptor Survey Location
[b Northern Harrier Perch Location

Bald Eagle Flight Path
Northern Harrier Flight Path

Access Road
Project Site

Summary of Avian Field Surveys

Glen Wind 1, LLC
Town of Glen,
Montgomery County, New York



Sheet 1 of 2
J:\2

01
51

 41
1 R

ey
no

lds
 Ro

ad
 - 

Gle
n W

ind
\G

rap
hic

s\F
igu

res
\S

um
ma

ry 
of 

Av
ian

 Fi
eld

 St
ud

ies
\M

XD
\20

15
1_

Su
mm

ary
 of

 Av
ian

 Fi
eld

 Su
rve

ys_
Fig

ure
 5_

T&
E S

pe
cie

s O
bs

erv
ati

on
s (

Sp
rin

g R
ap

to
r M

igr
ati

on
 Su

rve
ys)

.m
xd

&=!

#0

[b

[b

[b

[b

Figure 5. T&E Species Observations (Spring Raptor Migration Surveys)

0 500 1,000250

Feet

°
Prepared January 5, 2022

Basemap: NYSDOP 2017 orthoimagery map service.

#0 Spring Raptor Survey Location
[b Northern Harrier Perch Location

Northern Harrier Flight Path

Access Road
Project Site

Summary of Avian Field Surveys

Glen Wind 1, LLC
Town of Glen,
Montgomery County, New York



  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 
 

Summary of State-Listed Species Observations 
 
 



Summary of State-Listed Species Observations

Species Common Name Species Scientific Name Conservation Status
1 Number of 

Observations
Date(s) Observed Survey Type(s) Sex/Age Behavior(s) Description

Bald Eagle Haliaeetus leucocephalus Threatened 4 9/15/2020 Fall Raptor

Adult Male; 

Unknown Adult; 

Unknown Juvenile

Flying

Observed flying over the Project Site (and 

areas north and west of the Project Site), with 

flight heights ranging from approximately 150 

to 400 feet above the ground.

Northern Harrier Circus hudsonius Threatened 74

10/1/2020

10/12/2020

10/29/2020

11/9/2020

11/24/2020

12/9/2020

4/7/2021

4/20/2021 

5/7/2021 

5/19/2021

Fall Raptor

Spring Raptor

Adult Male; Adult 

Female; Unknown 

Adult; Unknown 

Flying; 

Foraging; 

Perching

Observed during the spring and fall migration 

seasons flying over the Project Site, with flight 

heights ranging from approximately 5 to 100 

feet above the ground, perching, foraging, 

flying to and from a potential nest site, and 

carrying food.

Red-shouldered Hawk Buteo lineatus Special Concern 2 10/12/2020 Fall Raptor
Unknown Adult; 

Unknown Juvenile
Flying

Observed flying over the Project Site, with 

flight heights ranging from approximately 150 

to 200 feet above the ground.

Cooper's Hawk Accipiter cooperii Special Concern 4

9/15/2020

10/12/2020

4/7/2021

Fall Raptor

Spring Raptor

Adult Male; Adult 

Female; Unknown
Flying; Hunting

Observed flying over the Project Site, with 

flight heights ranging from approximately 30 

to 150 feet above the ground as well as flying 

low to the ground and hunting during the fall 

migration season.

Osprey Pandion haliaetus Special Concern 1 9/15/2020 Fall Raptor Unknown Flying
Observed flying over the Project Site at a 

height of approximately 300 feet.

1 
Highest conservation status based on the List of Endangered, Threatened and Special Concern Fish & Wildlife Species of New York State (https://www.dec.ny.gov/animals/7494.html).



 
MEMORANDUM 
   
 

2 Winners Circle Page 1 of 5 518.446.0396 
Albany, NY 12205  www.cmellp.com 

Date: December 15, 2021  
 
To: Lydia Lake, P.E. – Borrego  
From: Matthew Van Wie, IE | Dan Berkowsky, P.E. – Creighton Manning Engineering 
cc: Don Adams, P.E. – Creighton Manning Engineering 
 

Project: Wind Transport Studies – 411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, NY 

Re:   Field Visit Summary Memo 
 

 

Creighton Manning Engineering (CM) was retained by Borrego Solar Systems (Borrego) to assess road conditions 
between a proposed wind turbine installation in Fultonville, New York and the proximate interstate highway. 
The address of record for this project is 411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, New York. The purpose of this 
assessment was to develop and recommend feasible delivery routes for delivery of oversized turbines and other 
components. Delivery routes were selected to prioritize NY State roadways, avoid underpasses and overhead 
obstructions, and minimize acute angle turns. Two potential delivery route alternatives were identified using 
these criteria and with use of aerial- and street-level-imagery.  
 
To confirm feasibility, identify potential road obstructions or features not readily apparent on satellite imagery, 
and document potential temporary roadway improvements and/or widening required to accommodate large 
delivery vehicles, a field visit was conducted by CM staff Engineers on December 10, 2021. The observations and 
data collected was then used to further analyze and refine the routing alternatives, confirm vehicle 
maneuverability, and provide Borrego with further insight into potential temporary improvements that would 
be required along each.  
 
Delivery Vehicles 

Borrego provided CM the dimensions of the various delivery vehicles to be used to transport turbine 

components to the site. The dimensions of the largest of these delivery vehicles are described and illustrated in 

Figure 1 below. 

 Maximum Length – 267’ 

 Maximum Height – 15’-6” 

 Maximum Width – 14’ 

 
Figure 1 - Preliminary Delivery Vehicle and Largest Anticipated Delivery Load 

DRAFT



 

MEMORANDUM 
411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, NY – Field Visit Summary Memo 
December 15, 2021 
 

 Page 2 of 5 
   

Based on the above delivery vehicle dimensions and CM’s previous experience with turbine delivery vehicles, an 

assumed 165’ inside turning radius and a 290’ outside overhang radius was utilized to verify intersection 

geometry and any potential improvements needed. Above-ground street furniture and other obstructions 

located within the 290’ outside radius may require temporary removal or relocation to provide necessary 

clearance of rigid-body turbines as the vehicle navigates through turns at intersections. 

Routing Alternatives Evaluated 

Prior to the field visit, two initial delivery route alternatives were developed for the delivery vehicles to access 

411 Reynolds Road from Interstate I-90. The routes developed and evaluated during the field visit are as follows: 

A. I-90 Exit 28, to NY-920P eastbound, to NY-5S eastbound, to CR-164 southbound, to NY-161 westbound, 

to NY-30A southbound, to Reynolds Road 

B. I-90 Exit 27, to NY-30 southbound, to NY-161 westbound, to NY-30A southbound, to Reynolds Road 

A map illustrating these route alternatives is attached to this memo for reference. 

Field Visit Findings 

Prior to the field visit, figures of each intersection along alternative delivery routes were created which overlayed 

the inside and outside turn radii. These figures were then referenced in the field to identify potential 

improvements or other obstructions that would need to be relocated or removed. The general roadway 

condition along each route was also evaluated to identify and avoid segments with significant asphalt 

deterioration, culverts, or other conditions that may be unfavorable to oversized and overweight vehicles. 

Further, existing utilities, roadside drainage and other potential conflicts visible during the field visit were noted. 

As shown in the attached figures and described below, both alternatives proposed would not require any 

roadway improvements or widening. There are limited locations and intersections at which some clearing 

beyond the edge of pavement may be required in order to accommodate the overhang of the delivery vehicles. 

Alternative A: I-90 Exit 28 Alternative (Blue Route) 

Alternative A utilizes I-90 Exit 28 from either the eastbound or westbound directions. From I-90 Exit 28, delivery 

vehicles would travel on NY-920P eastbound, to NY-5S eastbound, to CR-164 southbound, to NY-161 westbound, 

to NY-30A southbound, to 411 Reynolds Road. The field data collected for this alternative is shown in the 

attached intersection figures and the following items were identified: 

Improvements Anticipated: 

 In the attached intersection figure labeled B1, the southeast corner of the intersection of the I-90 Exit 28 

and NY-920P will require some clearing beyond the edge of pavement in order to accommodate the 

overhang of the delivery vehicles. However, based on the data collected during the field visit to this 

intersection, it appears the only obstructions in this area are street signs which could be unbolted from their 

bases and temporarily removed to allow the delivery vehicle to traverse through the intersection. Temporary 

sign relocations in this area will be of minimal effort and would likely not pose complications towards 

obtaining approvals. Temporary sign removals are typically done just before the delivery vehicles travels 

through the intersection and reinstalled immediately after. 

DRAFT



 

MEMORANDUM 
411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, NY – Field Visit Summary Memo 
December 15, 2021 
 

 Page 3 of 5 
   

 In the attached intersection figure labeled B4, the southwest corner of the intersection of NY-5S and CR-164 

(Noeltner Road) may require some clearing beyond the edge of pavement in order to accommodate the 

overhang of the delivery vehicles. Field observations at this intersection indicates this clearing will only entail 

the removal of some tree branches from some trees near the intersection. Therefore, based on the above, 

it is anticipated that this tree trimming will be of minimal complications. 

 In the attached intersection figure labeled B8/G8, the northeast corner of NY-30A and CR-121 (Reynolds 

Road) may require some clearing beyond the edge of pavement to accommodate the overhang of the 

delivery vehicles through this intersection. However, based on the data collected during the field visit to this 

intersection, it appears that a single stop sign is the only obstruction in this area. Temporary removal of this 

sign could be performed by unbolting the sign from its base. As with the example above, temporary removal 

of road control signage is a routine exercise and should not present a challenge towards approvals or route 

feasibility. 

Other Notable Features: 

 Just south of the intersection of NY-5S, a segment of CR-164 (Noeltner Road) enters a relatively long uphill 

incline. It is not anticipated that this incline will be of concern for delivery vehicles, but travel in this section 

may be slower than others. 

Overall, routing alternative A appears to be feasible with no roadway widening required. Only temporary 

removal of road signage is anticipated at two intersections and one intersection will require light tree trimming 

to accommodate the overhang of delivery vehicles. These actions are anticipated to be of minimal complications 

and may be able to be completed just before the delivery vehicle travels through the intersection. 

Alternative B: I-90 Exit 27 Alternative (Green Route) 

Routing Alternative B utilizes I-90 Exit 27 from either the eastbound or westbound directions. From I-90 Exit 27, 

delivery vehicles would travel on NY-30 westbound, to NY-161 westbound, to NY-30A southbound, to Reynolds 

Road. The field data collected for this alternative is shown in the attached intersection figures and the following 

items were identified: 

Improvements Anticipated: 

 Except for the intersection of NY-30A and Reynolds Road, as shown on the attached figure labeled B8/G8 

and as previously discussed above, no roadway widening or clearing beyond the edge of pavement would 

be required for this routing alternative. 

Notable Features: 

 The intersection of I-90 Exit 27 and NY-30 contains a traffic signal span wires that may require temporary 

raising as the delivery vehicle passes. 

Overall, routing alternative B appears to be feasible with no roadway widening required. There is one 

intersection along this route that will require the temporary removal of signs in order to accommodate the 

overhang of delivery vehicles, however this action is anticipated to be of minimal complications and may be able 

to be completed just before the delivery vehicles travels through the intersection. 

DRAFT



 

MEMORANDUM 
411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, NY – Field Visit Summary Memo 
December 15, 2021 
 

 Page 4 of 5 
   

Based on these findings, both alternative A and alternative B are feasible with light tree trimming and temporary 

sign removal, which is viewed as minimally complicated from a constructability standpoint. Therefore, the 

preferred alternative selected may not be a matter of the improvements needed, but may be a function of local 

input and the direction in which delivery vehicles will be coming from. As such, CM does not have a preference 

on which alternative is preferred. 

Next Steps – Permitting and Coordination 

The two routing alternatives include utilizing a variety of roadways that are each owned and maintained by  

different agencies. The tables below provides a summary of roadways utilized for each route and the agencies 

that own and maintain each roadway segment utilized. Overhead utilities and/or span wires may need to be 

temporarily relocated / removed in order to facilitate the transport of turbine components. This work may 

require work agreements and coordinating with the utilities impacted. Upon selection of the preferred routing 

alternative, further coordination will be required in order to determine the extent of permits and coordination 

actually required to facilitate the transport of turbine components. 

Alternative A: I-90 Exit 28 Alternative (Blue Route) 

Road Name Start Point End Point 
Maintenance 
Jurisdiction 

NY-920P 
(Riverside Road) 

I-90 Exit 28 NY-5S 
NYS Department 
of Transportation 

NY-5S 
NY-920P 
(Riverside Road) 

CR-164 (Noeltner 
Road) 

NYS Department 
of Transportation 

CR-164 (Noeltner 
Road) 

NY-5S 
NY-161 (Mill Point 
Road) 

Montgomery 
County 

NY-161 (Mill Point 
Road) 

CR-164 (Noeltner 
Road) 

NY-30A (Oak 
Ridge Road) 

NYS Department 
of Transportation 

NY-30A (Oak 
Ridge Road) 

NY-161 (Mill Point 
Road) 

CR-121 (Reynolds 
Road) 

NYS Department 
of Transportation 

CR-121 (Reynolds 
Road) 

NY-30A (Oak 
Ridge Road) 

411 Reynolds 
Road 

Montgomery 
County 

 

  

DRAFT



 

MEMORANDUM 
411 Reynolds Road, Fultonville, NY – Field Visit Summary Memo 
December 15, 2021 
 

 Page 5 of 5 
   

Alternative B: I-90 Exit 27 Alternative (Green Route) 

Road Name Start Point End Point 
Maintenance 
Jurisdiction 

NY-30 (Minaville 
Road) 

I-90 Exit 27 
NY-161 (Mill Point 
Road) 

NYS Department 
of Transportation 

NY-161 (Mill Point 
Road) 

NY-30 (Minaville 
Road) 

NY-30A (Oak 
Ridge Road) 

NYS Department 
of Transportation 

NY-30A (Oak 
Ridge Road) 

NY-161 (Mill Point 
Road) 

CR-121 (Reynolds 
Road) 

NYS Department 
of Transportation 

CR-121 (Reynolds 
Road) 

NY-30A (Oak 
Ridge Road) 

411 Reynolds 
Road 

Montgomery 
County 

 

DRAFT



Irish Creek

Mohawk River

Moh
aw

k R
ive

r

Lakes
Youngs

Island
Pepper

Van Epps Rd

Argersinger Rd

Mile Level R
d

Fisher Rd

G
etm

an R
d

Ingersoll Rd

Auriesvi
lle

 R
d

Eg
el

st
on

 R
d

Guy Park Ave

Queen Anne St

M
cG

raw Rd

Florida Ave

D
ev

e n
do

rf
 R

d

Dunlap Rd

Denice Rd

Sno
ok

s C
or

ne
rs 

Rd

Belldons Rd

Simcer Rd

Fuller R
d

Bullshead R d

Lo
gt

ow
n 

Rd

Hyney Hill Rd

C
o-D

augh-R
i-Ty Rd

Fort Hunter Rd

Belldons R
d

Langley Rd

State Highway 5S

State Highway 5S

Moh
aw

k D
r

M
ar

ke
t S

t

W Main St

5

30A

5

5

5

30

5S
5

Club
Country

Crossing
Schoharie

FONDA

TRIBES HILL

HUNTER
FORT

AURIESVILLE

GLEN

WELLSVILLE

JOHNSON

AMSTERDAM
SOUTH

MINAVILLE

BUSH
SCOTCH

AMSTERDAM

FULTONVILLE

No
el

tn
er

 R
d

161

30

30

30

161

161

161

161

5S

5S
5S

5

5
5

5

30A

30A

920P

920P

143

164

M
in

av
ille

 R
d

M
in

av
ille

 R
d

Mill P
oint Rd

Mill P
oint Rd

Bean Hill Rd

Bean Hill Rd

YMCA RdYMCA Rd

Youngs Corner Rd 
Youngs Corner Rd 

Mill Point Rd
Mill Point Rd

Riverside Dr

Riverside Dr

Reynolds Rd

Noeltn
er

 R
d

Noeltn
er

 R
d

ROUTE A (from I-90 WB or EB) 
Take I-90 Exit 28 - NY 30A/Fultonville/Fonda
Turn right onto NY-920P/Riverside Dr
Turn left onto NY-5S
Turn right onto CR-164/Noeltner Rd
Turn right onto NY-161
Turn left onto NY-30A
Turn left onto Reynolds Rd

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

ROUTE B (from I-90 WB or EB) 
Take I-90 Exit 27 - NY-30/Amsterdam
Turn left onto NY-30/Minaville Rd
Continue onto NY-161/Mill Point Rd
Turn left onto NY-30A
Turn left onto Reynolds Rd

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Route A

Route B

LEGEND

PROJECT SITE
411 Reynolds Rd
PROJECT SITE

411 Reynolds Rd

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

Truck Routing Exhibit
411 Reynolds Rd, Fultonville, NY

December 2021

Wind Transport Study
Borrego Solar Systems
CM Project No. 121-310



LEGEND

LEG

MAILBOXLMB

TREE, DECIDUOUSLTD

SHRUB, DECIDUOUSLSHD

S SINGLE POST

TCSP SIGNAL POLE

WATER, FIRE HYDRANTUWFH

UTP

UP

GAS, LINE MARKERUGLMG

LIGHTING, POLEULP

POLE, WITH UTILITY

UPGW POLE, GUY WIRE

UEO ELECTRIC LINE, OVERHEAD

GUIDE RAIL, BOX BEAMRGB

LWS WALL, STONE

DCP CULVERT PIPE

SIGNAL, SPAN WIRETCSW

DD DRAINAGE DITCH

LEGEND

T TELEPHONE, PEDESTAL

 

 

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
le

g
_
0
1
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 



B1

AT NYS THRUWAY EXIT 28

NYS ROUTE 920P (PINE RIDGE ROAD) 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

NYS RTE 920P (PINE RIDGE RD)
N
Y
S
 
T
H

R
U

W
A
Y
 
E

X
IT
 
2
8

2
9
0
.0
'

R

1
6
5
.0
'

R

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
1
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



B2

(PINE RIDGE RD) AND CLARK DRIVE

NYS ROUTE 5S AT NYS RTE 920P 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

EV
IR

D
 K

RA
L

C

N
YS
 
R
T
E
 
92

0
P
 
(P
IN

E
 
R
ID

G
E
 
R
D
)

NYS RTE 5S

29
0.
0'

R

16
5.
0'

R

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
2
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



B3

(AURIESVILLE RD)

NYS ROUTE 5S AT CR 122  

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

NYS RTE 5S
C
R
 
12
2
 
(A

U
R
IE

S
V
IL

LE
 
R

D
)

T

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
3
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



B4

NYS ROUTE 5S AT CR 164 (NOELTNER ROAD)

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

NYS RTE 5S

C
R
 
16
4
 
(N

O
E
LT

N
E

R
 

R
O
A
D
)

2
9
0
.0
'

R

1
6
5
.0
'

R

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
4
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



B5

CR 120 (CO-DAUGH-RI-TY ROAD)

CR 164 (NOELTNER ROAD) AT

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

C
R
 
16
4
 
(N

O
E
LT

N
E

R
 

R
O
A
D
)

CR 120 (CO-DAUGH-RI-TY ROAD)

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
5
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



B6

NYS ROUTE 161 AT CR 164 (NOELTNER ROAD)

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

)DAOR RENTLEON( 461 RC

NYS ROUTE 161

6
4
0
.0
'

R

T

T

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
6
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



B7/G7

CR 110 (LOGTOWN ROAD), AND CR 122 (AURIESVILLE ROAD)

NYS ROUTE 30A AT NYS ROUTE 161,

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

N
YS
 
R
O
U
T
E
 
3
0
A

C
R
 
12
2
 
(A

U
R
IE

S
VI

LL
E
 
R
O
A
D
)

NYS ROUTE 30A 

CR 1
10 (

LOGTOWN R
OAD)

NYS 
ROUTE 1

61 

2
9
0
.0
'

R

1
6
5
.0
'

R

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
7

G
7
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



AT CR 121 (REYNOLDS ROAD)

NYS ROUTE 30A (OAK RIDGE ROAD) 

B8/G8

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

N
Y
S
 

R
O
U
T
E
 
3
0
A
 
(O

A
K
 

R
ID

G
E
 

R
O
A
D
)

CR 121 (REYNOLDS ROAD)

29
0.0
'

R

16
5.
0'

R

T

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

B
8

G
8
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



G1

NYS THRUWAY EXIT 27

NYS ROUTE 30 (MINAVILLE ROAD) AT 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

N
YS
 
R
O
U
T
E
 
3
0
 
(M
IN

A
VI

LL
E
 
R
O
A
D
)

NYS THRUWAY EXIT 27

2
9
0
.0
'

R

165.0'

R

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

G
1
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



G2

CR 147 (BELLDONS ROAD),  AND THRUVIEW DRIVE

NYS ROUTE 30 (MINAVILLE ROAD) AT 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

CR 147 (BELLDONS ROAD)

THRUVIEW DRIVE

NY
S 

ROU
TE
 3

0 
(M
IN

AV
IL
LE
 R

OA
D)

T

T

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

G
2
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



G3

NYS ROUTE 30 AT NYS ROUTE 161 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

NYS
 R

OU
TE
 1
61

N
YS
 
R

O
U
T
E
 
3
0

NYS
 R

OU
TE
 3

0

T

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

G
3
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



G4

NYS ROUTE 161 AT CR 145 (FORT HUNTER ROAD)

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

NYS
 R

OU
TE
 1
61

CR 145 (FORT HUNTER ROAD)

N
YS
 
R
OU

T
E
 
16
1

CR 145 (FORT HUNTER ROAD)

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

G
4
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



G5

AND DENICE ROAD

NYS ROUTE 161 AT CR 143 (YOUNGS CORNERS ROAD) 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

D
E
N
ICE
 
R
OAD

NYS
 R

OUT
E 

161

CR
 
143
 
(YOU

N
GS
 
COR

N
E
R
S
 
R
OAD

)

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

G
5
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



G6

AND LANG DRIVE

NYS ROUTE 161 AT CR 120 (CO-DAUGH-RI-TY ROAD) 

LEGEND

AREA OF ROAD WIDENING

AREA OF GROUND CLEARANCE

VEHICLE PATH

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL

NYS ROUTE 161

LA
NG 

DRI
VE

CR
 1
20
 (

CO
-D

AU
GH
-R
I-T

Y 
ROA

D)

T

T

 

 

0 40 80 120 160'40

1" = 80'

N
:\

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\

2
0
2
1
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
 

B
o
r
r
e

g
o
 

S
o
la
r
 
-
 

W
in

d
 

T
r
a
n
s
p
o
r
t
 

S
t
u
d
ie

s
\

W
o
r
k
in

g
\

C
A

D
D
\

4
1
1
 

R
e

y
n

o
ld

s
 

R
o
a
d
\

d
g
n
\
f
ig

u
r
e
s
\

1
2
1
-
3
1
0
_
f
ig

_
in
t
_

G
6
.d

g
n

PROJECT: DATE: FIGURE:  
411 REYNOLDS RD FULTONVILLE, NY

BORREGO - WIND TURBINE ROUTING STUDY

121-310 12/2021

 

N



T-1
TITLE PAGE

PROJECT DIRECTORY

PROJECT SCOPEGENERAL NOTES

GENERAL ABBREVIATIONS

LOCATION MAP

AERIAL VIEW

APPLICABLE CODES AND STANDARDS

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

DRAWING LIST

411 REYNOLDS RD, FULTONVILLE, NY 12072
5.0MW WIND PROJECT

SITE USE PERMIT SET

BASIS OF DESIGN

SYSTEM DESCRIPTION



C-0.0
CIVIL NOTES

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

GENERAL CIVIL NOTES

LEGEND

ABBREVIATIONS

SF SF



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9 10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN
C-1.0

EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20



REYNOLDS ROAD

REYNOLDS ROAD

O  H  W

O  H  W

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

TREE CLEARING PLAN
C-2.0

TREE CLEARING PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.



REYNOLDS ROAD

REYNOLDS ROAD

(ASPHALT SURFACE)

O  H  W

O  H  W

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS PLAN
C-3.0

LAYOUT AND MATERIALS
PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

ENLARGED PERMANENT PLAN



REYNOLDS ROAD

REYNOLDS ROAD

O  H  W

O  H  W

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

EROSION CONTROL PLAN
C-4.0

EROSION CONTROL PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.



REYNOLDS ROAD

REYNOLDS ROAD

O  H  W

O  H  W

O  H  W

O  H  W

O  H  WO  H  W

M  V

M  V

M  V
M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

GRADING AND DRAINAGE PLAN
C-5.0

GRADING AND DRAINAGE
PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.MATCHLINE SEE DRAWING C-5.1



M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

GRADING AND DRAINAGE PLAN
C-5.1

GRADING AND DRAINAGE
PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

MATCHLINE SEE DRAWING C-5.0



REYNOLDS ROAD

O  H  W

O  H  W

O  H  W

O  H  W

O  H  WO  H  W

M  V

M  V

M  V
M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

M  V

REYNOLDS ROAD

ACCESS ROAD PLAN
C-6.0

ACCESS ROAD PLAN

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.



11
09
.80

11
11
.02

6+00

11
11
.89

11
12
.69

7+00

11
13
.48

6+00 7+00

10
94
.78

10
95
.56

1+00

10
96
.90

10
98
.52

2+00

11
00
.14

11
01
.76

3+00

11
03
.37

11
04
.99

4+00

11
06
.61

1+00 2+00 3+00 4+00

ACCESS ROAD PROFILES
C-7.0

ACCESS ROAD PROFILES

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.



1+00 2+00 3+00

6+005+004+00

7+00

ACCESS ROAD SECTIONS
C-7.1

ACCESS ROAD SECTIONS

PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.



PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

C-8.0
CIVIL DETAILS NY

1

2

3

4

5

6

79

10

11 SILT FENCE DETAIL CONCRETE WASHOUT BASINS

COMPOST SILT SOCK STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT

NOTES:

1. STONE SIZE - USE NYSDOT 703-0201 SIZE DESIGNATION #3 STONE, OR RECLAIMED OR RECYCLED CONCRETE EQUIVALENT.
2. LENGTH- NOT LESS THAN 50 FEET.
3. THICKNESS-NOT LESS THAN 6 INCHES.
4. WIDTH-NOT LESS THAN 12 FEET WHERE MORE THAN ONE (1) ACCESS POINT TO THE SITE.  WHERE ONE (1) ACCESS POINT A MINIMUM OF 24 FEET IS REQUIRED.
5. GEOTEXTILE-SHALL BE PLACED OVER THE ENTIRE AREA PRIOR TO PLACING OF STONE.
6. SURFACE WATER-SURFACE WATER FLOWING OR DIVERTED TOWARD CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE SHALL BE PIPED BENEATH THE ENTRANCE.  IF PIPING IS IMPRACTICAL, A MOUNTABLE
BERM WITH 5: 1 SLOPES WILL BE PERMITTED.
7. MAINTENANCE-THE ENTRANCE SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN A CONDITION WHICH WILL PREVENT TRACKING OR FLOWING OF SEDIMENT ONTO PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY, ALL SEDIMENT
SPILLED, DROPPED, WASHED OR TRACKED ONTO PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY SHALL BE REMOVED IMMEDIATELY.
8. WHEN WHEEL WASHING IS REQUIRED, IT SHALL BE DONE ON AN AREA STABILIZED WITH STONE AND WHICH DRAINS INTO AN APPROVED SEDIMENT TRAPPING DEVICE.
9. PERIODIC INSPECTION AND NEEDED MAINTENANCE SHALL BE PROVIDED AFTER EACH RAIN.

GRAVEL ACCESS ROAD / CRANE PAD

CHECK DAM

GRASS LINED SWALE OPTION 3

GRASS LINED SWALE OPTION 1LEVEL SPREADER DETAIL

GRASS LINED SWALE OPTION 28

RIP-RAP OUTLET PROTECTION



PL
AN

 SE
T

41
1 R

EY
NO

LD
S R

D
41

1 R
EY

NO
LD

S R
D, F

UL
TO

NV
ILL

E, 
NY

 12
07

2

285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500
Buffalo NY 14202 USA
T 1 716 856 2142  W www.ghd.com

GHD Consulting Services Inc.

C-8.1
CIVIL DETAILS NY

12 BARRIER GATE



 

 

SOUND LEVEL MODELING REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 

Reynolds Road Wind Project 
Montgomery County, New York 

 

  

 

 

  

Prepared for: 

Borrego Solar Systems, Inc 
30 Century Hill Drive, Suite 301 

Latham, NY 12110 
 

 

Prepared by: 

 

 

Epsilon Associates, Inc. 
3 Mill & Main Place, Suite 250 

Maynard, MA  01754 
 

February 10, 2022 

 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx i Table of Contents 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1-1 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 2-1 

3.0 SOUND TERMINOLOGY 3-1 

4.0 MODELED SOUND LEVELS 4-1 
4.1 Sound Sources 4-1 

4.1.1 Project Wind Turbine 4-1 
4.2 Modeling Methodology 4-1 
4.3 Sound Level Modeling Results 4-4 

4.3.1  Project Only Results 4-4 
 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

Appendix A Wind Turbine Coordinates 
  
Appendix B Project Only Sound Level Modeling Results at Discrete Points 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 2-1 Aerial Locus 2-2 

Figure 3-1 Common Indoor and Outdoor Sound Levels 3-3 

Figure 4-1 Sound Level Modeling Locations 4-3 
Figure 4-2 Project Only Sound Level Modeling Results 4-5 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 1-1 Executive Summary 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Reynolds Road Wind Project (the Project) is a proposed wind power generation facility 
expected to consist of one (1) wind turbine in the Town of Glen, Montgomery County, New York.  
The Project is being developed by Borrego Solar Systems, Inc (Borrego).  Epsilon Associates Inc. 
(Epsilon) has been retained by Borrego to conduct a sound level modeling study for this Project.  
This report presents results of the sound level modeling from the proposed wind turbine in the 
Town of Glen, NY. 

This sound level assessment includes computer modeling to predict worst-case future Leq sound 
levels from the Project.  The analysis includes one (1) Vestas V150-4.3 wind turbine. 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 2-1 Introduction 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 

The proposed Project will consist of one (1) wind turbine.  The proposed wind turbine is a Vestas 
V150-4.3 unit with a hub height of 120 meters.  Figure 2-1 shows the location of the wind turbine 
in Montgomery County over aerial imagery. 

A detailed discussion of sound from wind turbines is presented in a white paper prepared by the 
Renewable Energy Research Laboratory.1  A few points are repeated herein.  Wind turbine sound 
can originate from two different sources: mechanical sound from the interaction of turbine 
components, and aerodynamic sound produced by the flow of air over the rotor blades.  Prior to 
the 1990’s, both were significant contributors to wind turbine sound.  However, recent advances 
in wind turbine design have greatly reduced the contribution of mechanical sound.  Aerodynamic 
sound has also been reduced from modern wind turbines due to slower rotational speeds and 
changes in materials of construction.  Aerodynamic sound, in general, is broadband (has 
contributions from a wide range of frequencies).  It originates from encounters of the wind turbine 
blades with localized airflow inhomogeneities and wakes from other turbine blades and from 
airflow across the surface of the blades, particularly the front and trailing edges.  Aerodynamic 
sound generally increases with increasing wind speed up to a certain point, then typically remains 
constant, even with higher wind speeds.  However, sound levels in general also increase with 
increasing wind speed with or without the presence of wind turbines. 

This report presents the findings of a sound level modeling analysis for the Project.  The Project 
wind turbine was modeled in CadnaA using sound data from Vestas technical reports.  The results 
of this analysis are found within this report. 

  

 

1  Renewable Energy Research Laboratory, Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering, University of 
Massachusetts at Amherst, Wind Turbine Acoustic Noise, June 2002, amended January 2006. 



#*

Glen

")121

ROUND BARN RD

TY
LU

TK
I

RD

MCD
UF

FE
E R

D

RAYM RD

SEVERINE LA

LANG DR

SEV
ER

INE LA

REYNOLDS RD

Figure 2-1
Aerial Locus

411 Reynolds Road Wind     Montgomery County, New York

G:\Projects2\NY\6257\MXD\Fig 2-1_Aerial_Locus_20220104.mxd

Basemap: 2017 World Imagery, Esri

LEGEND
#* Proposed Vestas V150-4.3 120 HH Wind Turbine

Project Boundary
City/Town Boundary

°0 300 600
Feet1 inch = 600 feet

Scale 1:7,200



6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 3-1 Sound Terminology 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

3.0 SOUND TERMINOLOGY 

There are several ways in which sound levels are measured and quantified.  All of them use the 
logarithmic decibel (dB) scale.  The following information defines the sound level terminology 
used in this analysis. 

The decibel scale is logarithmic to accommodate the wide range of sound intensities found in the 
environment.  A property of the decibel scale is that the sound pressure levels of two or more 
separate sounds are not directly additive.  For example, if a sound of 50 dB is added to another 
sound of 50 dB, the total is only a 3-decibel increase (53 dB), which is equal to doubling in sound 
energy, but not equal to a doubling in decibel quantity (100 dB).  Thus, every 3-dB change in sound 
level represents a doubling or halving of sound energy.   The human ear does not perceive changes 
in the sound pressure level as equal changes in loudness.  Scientific research demonstrates that 
the following general relationships hold between sound level and human perception for two 
sound levels with the same or very similar frequency characteristics2: 

♦ 3 dBA increase or decrease results in a change in sound that is just perceptible to the 
average person, 

♦ 5 dBA increase or decrease is described as a clearly noticeable change in sound level, and 

♦ 10 dBA increase or decrease is described as twice or half as loud. 

Another mathematical property of decibels is that if one source of sound is at least 10 dB louder 
than another source, then the total sound level is simply the sound level of the higher-level 
source.  For example, a sound source at 60 dB plus another sound source at 47 dB is equal to 
60 dB.   

A sound level meter (SLM) that is used to measure sound is a standardized instrument.3  It 
contains “weighting networks” (e.g., A-, C-, Z-weightings) to adjust the frequency response of the 
instrument.  Frequencies, reported in Hertz (Hz), are detailed characterizations of sounds, often 
addressed in musical terms as “pitch” or “tone”.  The most commonly used weighting network is 
the A-weighting because it most closely approximates how the human ear responds to sound at 
various frequencies.  The A-weighting network is the accepted scale used for community sound 
level measurements; therefore, sounds are frequently reported as detected with a sound level 
meter using this weighting.  A-weighted sound levels emphasize middle frequency sounds (i.e., 
middle pitched – around 1,000 Hz), and de-emphasize low and high frequency sounds.  These 
sound levels are reported in decibels designated as “dBA”.  The C-weighting network has a nearly 
flat response for frequencies between 63 Hz and 4,000 Hz and is noted as dBC.  Z-weighted sound 

 

2 Bies, David, and Colin Hansen. 2009. Engineering Noise Control: Theory and Practice, 4th Edition.  New York: 
Taylor and Francis. 

3  American National Standard Specification for Sound Level Meters, ANSI S1.4-1983 (R2006), published by the 
Standards Secretariat of the Acoustical Society of America, Melville, NY. 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 3-2 Sound Terminology 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

levels are measured sound levels without any weighting curve and are otherwise referred to as 
“unweighted”.  Sound pressure levels for some common indoor and outdoor environments are 
shown in Figure 3-1. 

Because the sounds in our environment vary with time they cannot simply be described with a 
single number.  Two methods are used for describing variable sounds.  These are exceedance 
levels and the equivalent level, both of which are derived from some number of moment-to-
moment A-weighted sound level measurements.  Exceedance levels are values from the 
cumulative amplitude distribution of all of the sound levels observed during a measurement 
period.  Exceedance levels are designated Ln, where n can have a value between 0 and 100 in 
terms of percentage.  Several sound level metrics that are commonly reported in community 
sound level monitoring are described below. 

♦ L10 is the sound level exceeded only 10 percent of the time.  It is close to the maximum 
level observed during the measurement period.  The L10 is sometimes called the intrusive 
sound level because it is caused by occasional louder sounds like those from passing 
motor vehicles. 

♦ L50 is the sound level exceeded 50 percent of the time.  It is the median level observed 
during the measurement period.  The L50 is affected by occasional louder sounds like those 
from passing motor vehicles; however, it is often found comparable to the equivalent 
sound level under relatively steady sound level conditions. 

♦ L90 is the sound level exceeded 90 percent of the time during the measurement period.  
The L90 is close to the lowest sound level observed.  It is essentially the same as the 
residual sound level, which is the sound level observed when there are no obvious nearby 
intermittent sound sources. 

♦ Leq, the equivalent level, is the level of a hypothetical steady sound that would have the 
same energy (i.e., the same time-averaged mean square sound pressure) as the actual 
fluctuating sound observed.  The equivalent level is designated Leq and is typically A-
weighted.  The equivalent level represents the time average of the fluctuating sound 
pressure, but because sound is represented on a logarithmic scale and the averaging is 
done with linear mean square sound pressure values, the Leq is mostly determined by loud 
sounds if there are fluctuating sound levels.   



120

110

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

                                              Figure 3-1     
Common Indoor and Outdoor Sound Levels

References:

1. Harris, Cyril, "Handbook of Noise Acoustical Measurements and 

Noise Control", p 1-10., 1998

2. "Controlling Noise", USAF, AFMC, AFDTC, Elgin AFB, Fact Sheet, August 1996

3. California Dept. of Trans., "Technical Noise Supplement", Oct, 1998

COMMON INDOOR SOUNDS COMMON OUTDOOR SOUNDS
Sound Pressure

Level, dBA

Jet takeoff at 300 feet

Jet flyover at 1,000 feet

Gas lawnmower at 3 feet

Heavy truck at 50 feet

Noisy urban daytime

Gas lawnmower at 100 feet

Auto (60 mph) at 100 feet

Heavy traffic at 300 feet

North rim of Grand Canyon
Quiet rural nighttime

Rock band

Inside subway train (NYC)

Food blender at 3 feet

Garbage disposal at 3 feet

Shouting at 3 feet

Vacuum cleaner at 10 feet

Normal speech at 3 feet

Quiet speech at 3 feet

Dishwasher next room

Soft whisper at 3 feet

Library

Bedroom at night

Broadcast and recording studio

Threshold of hearing

Small town residence



 

6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 4-1 Sound Terminology 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 
 

4.0 MODELED SOUND LEVELS 

4.1 Sound Sources 

4.1.1 Project Wind Turbine 

The sound level analysis for the Project includes one (1) wind turbine.  The Project will consist of 
one Vestas V150-4.3 unit with Serrated Trailing Edge (STE) blades.  

The V150-4.3 wind turbine has a rotor diameter of 150 meters.  The wind turbine has a hub height 
of 120 meters.  A technical report from Vestas4 was provided to Epsilon which documented the 
expected sound power levels associated with the V150-4.3 under normal operation.   

4.2 Modeling Methodology 

The sound impacts associated with the proposed wind turbine was predicted using the CadnaA 
sound level calculation software developed by DataKustik GmbH.  This software uses the ISO 
9613-2 international standard for sound propagation.5  The benefits of this software are a more 
refined set of computations due to the inclusion of topography, ground attenuation, multiple 
building reflections (if applicable), drop-off with distance, and atmospheric absorption.  The 
CadnaA software allows for octave band calculation of sound from multiple sources as well as 
computation of diffraction. 

Inputs and significant parameters employed in the model are described below. 

♦ Project Layout:  This analysis is for the wind turbine location was provided to Epsilon by 
Borrego.  The proposed Project layout is identified in Figure 4-1 and location coordinates 
are provided in Appendix A.   

♦ Modeling Receptor Locations:  a modeling receptor dataset including 10 receptors was 
provided by Borrego and input into the sound level model.  All modeling receptors were 
input as discrete points at a height of 1.5 meters above ground level to mimic the ears of 
a typical standing person. 

  

 

4  Restricted V150-4.3 MW Third Octave Noise Emission, 11-11-2020. 
5  Acoustics – Attenuation of sound during propagation outdoors – Part 2: General method of calculation, 

International Standard ISO 9613-2:1996 (International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland, 
1996). 



 

6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 4-2 Sound Terminology 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 
 

♦ Modeling Grid: A modeling grid with 20-meter spacing was calculated for the entire 
Project Area and the surrounding region.  The grid was modeled at a height of 1.5 meters 
above ground level for consistency with the discrete modeling points.  This modeling grid 
allowed for the creation of sound level isolines. 

♦ Terrain Elevation: Elevation contours for the modeling domain were directly imported 
into CadnaA which allowed for consideration of terrain shielding where appropriate.  The 
terrain height contour elevations for the modeling domain were generated from 
elevation information derived from the National Elevation Dataset (NED) developed by 
the U.S. Geological Survey.   

♦ Source Sound Levels:  Sound power levels used in the modeling were described in Section 
4.1.  Documentation from Vestas provided levels that represent “worst-case” operational 
sound level emissions for the Project’s proposed wind turbine. 

♦ Meteorological Conditions:  A temperature of 10°C (50°F) and a relative humidity of 70% 
was assumed in the model. 

♦ Ground Attenuation:  Spectral ground absorption was calculated using a G-factor of 0 
which corresponds to “hard ground” consisting of a hard ground surface.  The model, 
consistent with the standard, allows inputs between 0 (hard ground) and 1 (porous 
ground).  This is a conservative approach as the vast majority of the area is actually 
agricultural. 

Octave band sound power levels corresponding to the highest available wind turbine broadband 
sound power level for the wind turbine were input into CadnaA to model wind turbine generated 
broadband sound pressure levels during conditions when worst-case sound power levels are 
expected.  Sound pressure levels were modeled at 10 receptors within the vicinity of the Project.  
In addition to modeling at discrete points, sound levels were also modeled throughout a large grid 
of points, each spaced 20 meters apart to allow for the generation of sound level isolines. 

Several modeling assumptions inherent in the ISO 9613-2 calculation methodology, or selected as 
conditional inputs by Epsilon, were implemented in the CadnaA model to ensure conservative 
results (i.e., higher sound levels), and are described below: 

♦ All modeled sources were assumed to be operating simultaneously and at the design wind 
speed corresponding to the greatest sound level impacts. 

♦ As per ISO 9613-2, the model assumed favorable conditions for sound propagation, 
corresponding to a moderate, well-developed ground-based temperature inversion, as 
might occur on a calm, clear night or equivalently downwind propagation. 

♦ Meteorological conditions assumed in the model (T=10℃/RH=70%) were selected to 
minimize atmospheric attenuation in the 500 Hz and 1 kHz octave bands where the 
human ear is most sensitive. 

♦ No additional attenuation due to tree shielding, air turbulence, or wind shadow effects 
was considered in the model.  



#*

"/

"/

"/
"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

Charleston

Glen

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

")121

¬«30A

ROUND BARN RD

MCD
UF

FE
E R

D

FU
RM

ER
RD

RAYM RD

LANG DR

RE
YN

OL
DS

 R
D

LATHERS RD

TY
LU

TK
I R

D

SEVERINE LA

Figure 4-1
Sound Modeling Locations

411 Reynolds Road Wind     Montgomery County, New York

G:\Projects2\NY\6257\MXD\Fig 4-1_Sound_Modeling_Locations_20220104.mxd

Basemap: 2017 World Imagery, Esri

LEGEND
"/ Receptor
#* Proposed Vestas V150-4.3 120 HH Wind Turbine

Project Boundary
City/Town Boundary
County Road
State Route

°0 400 800
Feet1 inch = 800 feet

Scale 1:9,600



 

6257 Reynolds Road Wind Sound Report - 220210.docx 4-4 Sound Terminology 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 
 

4.3 Sound Level Modeling Results 

All modeled sound levels, as output from CadnaA are A-weighted equivalent sound levels (Leq, 
dBA).  Calculations were conducted at the 10 receptors modeled within the project area.  In 
addition to the discrete modeling points, sound level isolines were generated from the modeling 
grid. 

4.3.1  Project Only Results 

Table B-1 in Appendix B shows the predicted “Project Only” broadband (Leq, dBA) sound levels at 
the 10 receptors modeled in the vicinity of the Project.  These broadband sound levels range from 
24 to 40 dBA and represent the worst-case sound levels produced solely by the Project.  The 
highest predicted sound level of 40 dBA occurs at receptor #8 (351 Reynolds Road).  In addition 
to the discrete modeling points, sound level isolines generated from the modeling grid are 
presented in Figure 4-2. 

 

  



#*

"/

"/

"/
"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

Charleston

Glen

1

2

34

5

6

7

8

9

10

")121

¬«30A

ROUND BARN RD

ZARCARCO RDMCD
UF

FE
E R

D

RAYM RD

REYNOLDS RD

KNAPIK RD

REEDHILLRD

LATHERS RD

LANG DR

TY
LU

TK
I R

D

SEVERINELA

Figure 4-2
Project Only Sound Level Modeling Results

411 Reynolds Road Wind     Montgomery County, New York

G:\Projects2\NY\6257\MXD\Fig 4-2_Project_Only_Sound_Level_Modeling_Results_20220104.mxd

Basemap: 2017 World Imagery, Esri

LEGEND
"/ Receptor
#* Proposed Vestas V150-4.3 120 HH Wind Turbine

Project Boundary
City/Town Boundary
County Road
State Route

°0 500 1,000
Feet1 inch = 1,000 feet

Scale 1:12,000

Sound Level Modeling Results (dBA)
30
35

40
45

50



 

 

Appendix A 
Wind Turbine Coordinates 

 

  



Table A-1: Wind Turbine Coordinates

X (Easting) Y (Northing)
1 V150-4.3 120 555303.89 4747029.76

Wind 
Turbine ID

Wind Turbine Type Hub Height (m)
Coordinates NAD83 UTM Zone 18N 

(meters)

Page 1 of 1



 

 

  Appendix B 
Project Only Sound Level Modeling Results at Discrete Points 

 

 
 



Table B-1: Sound Level Modeling Results Sorted by Receptor ID

X
(m)

Y
(m)

1 196 Severine Ln 556166.39 4746403.45 24
2 219 Severine Ln 556103.25 4746169.25 32
3 253 Severine Ln 555901.89 4745928.07 31
4 286 Severine Ln 555610.84 4745899.19 32
5 487 Reynolds Rd 555213.74 4746130.72 35
6 460 Reynolds Rd 554929.31 4746270.69 35
7 128 Raym Rd 554754.25 4746564.91 37
8 351 Reynolds Road 554795.97 4747216.38 40
9 138 Severine Ln 556223.27 4746893.28 34

10 314 Lang Dr 555659.87 4747776.29 35

Receptor ID

Coordinates
UTM NAD83 Zone 18N

Source Only 
Leq Broadband 

Sound Level
(dBA)

Address

Page 1 of 1



 
 

SHADOW FLICKER MODELING REPORT 

 
 
 
 
 

Reynolds Road Wind Project 
Montgomery County, New York 

 

  

 

 

  

Prepared for: 

Borrego Solar Systems, Inc 
30 Century Hill Drive, Suite 301 

Latham, NY 12110 
 

 

Prepared by: 

 

 

Epsilon Associates, Inc. 
3 Mill & Main Place, Suite 250 

Maynard, MA  01754 
 

February 10, 2022 

 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx i Table of Contents 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1-1 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 2-1 

3.0 SHADOW FLICKER MODELING 3-1 
3.1 Modeling Methodology 3-1 
3.2 Shadow Flicker Modeling Results 3-6 
 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

Appendix A Wind Turbine Coordinates 

Appendix B Shadow Flicker Modeling Results:  Modeling Receptors 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 2-1 Aerial Locus 2-2 

Figure 3-1 Shadow Flicker Modeling Locations 3-4 

 
LIST OF TABLES 

Table 3-1 Monthly Percent of Possible Sunshine 3-5 
Table 3-2 Operational Hours per Wind Direction Sector 3-5 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 1-1 Executive Summary 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Reynolds Road Wind Project (the Project) is a proposed wind power generation facility 
expected to consist of one (1) wind turbine in Montgomery County, New York.  The Project is 
being developed by Borrego Solar Systems, Inc. (Borrego).  Epsilon Associates Inc. (Epsilon) has 
been retained by Borrego to conduct a shadow flicker modeling study for this Project.  This report 
presents results of the shadow flicker modeling of the proposed wind turbine in Montgomery 
County. 

Shadow flicker modeling was conducted for one Vestas wind turbine.  The purpose of this analysis 
is to predict the annual durations of wind turbine shadow flicker at nearby receptors. 

The maximum expected annual duration of shadow flicker at a modeling receptor resulting from 
the operation of the proposed wind turbine is 21 hours, 18 minutes.  The modeling results are 
conservative in that modeling receptors were treated as “greenhouses” (i.e. having windows on 
all sides) and the surrounding area was assumed to be without vegetation or structures (“bare 
earth”).   



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 2-1 Introduction 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 

The proposed Project will consist of one (1) wind turbine.  The proposed wind turbine is a Vestas 
V150-4.3 unit with a hub height of 120 meters.  Figure 2-1 shows the locations of the wind turbine 
in Montgomery County over aerial imagery.   

Shadow flicker can be defined as an intermittent change in the intensity of light in a given area 
resulting from the operation of a wind turbine due to its interaction with the sun.  An indoor 
observer experiences repeated changes in the brightness of the room as shadows cast from the 
wind turbine blades briefly pass by windows as the blades rotate.  In order for this to occur, the 
wind turbine must be operating, the sun must be shining, and the window must be within the 
shadow region of the wind turbine, otherwise there is no shadow flicker.  A stationary wind 
turbine only generates a stationary shadow similar to any other structure. 

This report presents the findings of a shadow flicker modeling study for the Project.  The wind 
turbine was modeled with the WindPRO software package using information provided by 
Borrego.  The expected annual duration of shadow flicker was calculated at modeling receptors.  
The results of the modeling are found within this report. 



#*

Glen

")121

ROUND BARN RD

TY
LU

TK
I

RD

MCD
UF

FE
E R

D

RAYM RD

SEVERINE LA

LANG DR

SEV
ER

INE LA

REYNOLDS RD

Figure 2-1
Aerial Locus

411 Reynolds Road Wind     Montgomery County, New York

G:\Projects2\NY\6257\MXD\Fig 2-1_Aerial_Locus_20220104.mxd

Basemap: 2017 World Imagery, Esri

LEGEND
#* Proposed Vestas V150-4.3 120 HH Wind Turbine

Project Boundary
City/Town Boundary

°0 300 600
Feet1 inch = 600 feet

Scale 1:7,200



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 3-1 Shadow Flicker Modeling 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

3.0 SHADOW FLICKER MODELING 

3.1 Modeling Methodology 

Shadow flicker was modeled using a software package, WindPRO version 3.4.  WindPRO is a 
software suite developed by EMD International A/S and is used for assessing potential 
environmental impacts from wind turbines.  Using the Shadow module within WindPRO, worst-
case shadow flicker in the area surrounding the wind turbine was calculated based on data inputs 
including: location of the wind turbine, location of discrete receptor points, wind turbine 
dimensions, flicker calculation limits, and terrain data.  Based on these data, the model was able 
to incorporate the appropriate sun angle and maximum daily sunlight for this latitude into the 
calculations.  The resulting worst-case calculations assume that the sun is always shining during 
daylight hours and that the wind turbine is always operating.  The WindPRO Shadow module can 
be further refined by incorporating sunshine probabilities and wind turbine operational estimates 
by wind direction over the course of a year.  The values produced by this further refinement are 
known as the “expected” shadow flicker.  The expected annual shadow flicker durations are 
presented in this section. 

The location of the wind turbine is shown in Figure 3-1 and the coordinates are provided in 
Appendix A.  The wind turbine is a Vestas V150-4.3 unit with a 150-meter rotor diameter and a 
hub height of 120 meters.  The wind turbine has the following characteristics based on the 
technical data provided by Borrego: 

     V150-4.3  
♦ Rated Power  = 4,300 kW  
♦ Hub Height  = 120 meters  
♦ Rotor Diameter  = 150 meters  
♦ Cut-in Wind Speed = 3 m/s   
♦ Cut-out Wind Speed = 24.5 m/s  

 
To-date, there are no federal, state, or local regulations regarding the maximum radial distance 
from a wind turbine to which shadow flicker should be analyzed applicable to this Project.  In the 
United States, shadow flicker is commonly evaluated out to a distance of ten times the rotor 
diameter.  According to the Massachusetts Model Bylaw for wind energy facilities, shadow flicker 
impacts are minimal at and beyond a distance of ten rotor diameters.1  Defining the shadow flicker 
calculation area has also been addressed in Europe where the ten times rotor diameter approach 
has been accepted in multiple European countries.2  Some jurisdictions conservatively require a 

 

1  Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources, “Model As-of-Right Zoning Ordinance or Bylaw: Allowing Use 
of Wind Energy Facilities” 2009. 

2  Parsons Brinckerhoff, “Update of UK Shadow Flicker Evidence Base” Prepared for Department of Energy and 
Climate Change, 2011. 



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 3-2 Shadow Flicker Modeling 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

larger calculation area.  The New Hampshire Site Evaluation Committee through rulemaking 
docket 2014-04 adopted rules on December 15, 2015 outlining application requirements and 
criteria for energy facilities, including wind energy facilities.  As part of these revised regulations, 
Site 301.08(a)(2) requires an evaluation distance of at least 1 mile from a wind turbine.3  Section 
16-50j-94, part (g), of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies identifies the components 
required in a shadow flicker evaluation report which includes the calculation of shadow flicker 
from each proposed wind turbine to any off-site occupied structure within a 1.25 mile radius.4  
For this Project, ten times the largest rotor diameter of the proposed wind turbine corresponds 
to a distance of 0.93 miles (1,500 m).  Conservatively, this analysis includes shadow flicker 
calculations out to 1.25 miles (2,012 m) from each wind turbine in the model for the proposed 
layout. 

A modeling receptor kmz dataset was provided by Borrego.  This dataset included 10 receptors 
which were input into the WindPRO model.  Each modeling point was assumed to have a window 
facing all directions (“greenhouse” mode) which yields conservative results.  All modeling 
receptors are identified in Figure 3-1.  The model was set to limit calculations to 2,012 meters 
from a wind turbine, the equivalent of 1.25 miles.  Consequently, shadow flicker at any of the 10 
modeling receptors greater than the corresponding limitation distance from a wind turbine was 
zero.   

The terrain height contour elevations for the modeling domain were generated from elevation 
information derived from the National Elevation Dataset (NED) developed by the U.S. Geological 
Survey.  Conservatively, obstacles, i.e. buildings and vegetation, were excluded from the analysis.  
This is effectively a “bare earth” scenario which is conservative.  When accounted for in the 
shadow flicker calculations, such obstacles may significantly mitigate or eliminate the flicker effect 
depending on their size, type, and location.  In addition, shadow flicker durations were calculated 
only when the angle of the sun was at least 3° above the horizon. 

Monthly sunshine probability values were input for each month from January to December.  These 
numbers were obtained from a publicly available historical dataset for Albany, New York from the 
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration’s (NOAA) National Centers for Environmental 
Information (NCEI).5  Table 3-1 shows the percentage of sunshine hours by month used in the 
shadow flicker modeling.  These values are the percentages that the sun is expected to be shining 
during daylight hours. 

 

3  State of New Hampshire Site Evaluation Committee Site 300 Rules (2015), available at 
http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/site100-300.html Accessed in November 2021. 

4  State of Connecticut CSC Wind Regulations (2014), available at 
https://eregulations.ct.gov/eRegsPortal/Browse/RCSA?id=Title_16Subtitle_16-50jSection_16-50j-
94&content=shadow%20flicker/ Accessed in November 2021.   

5  NCEI (formerly NCDC), http://www1.ncdc.noaa.gov/pub/data/ccd-data/pctpos15.dat.  Accessed in November 
2021. 

http://www.gencourt.state.nh.us/rules/state_agencies/site100-300.html
https://eregulations.ct.gov/eRegsPortal/Browse/RCSA?id=Title_16Subtitle_16-50jSection_16-50j-94&content=shadow%20flicker/
https://eregulations.ct.gov/eRegsPortal/Browse/RCSA?id=Title_16Subtitle_16-50jSection_16-50j-94&content=shadow%20flicker/


6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 3-3 Shadow Flicker Modeling 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

The number of hours the wind turbine is expected to operate for the 16 cardinal wind directions 
was input into the model.  An hourly dataset for a one year period of wind directions and scaled 
wind speed was provided by Borrego for a height of 120 meters.  Epsilon used this data to 
calculate the typical annual number of operational hours per wind direction sector.  These hours 
per wind direction sector are used by WindPRO to estimate the “wind direction” and “operation 
time” reduction factors.  Based on this dataset, the wind turbine would operate 87% of the year.  
Table 3-2 shows the distribution of operational hours for the 16 wind directions. 

 



#*

"/

"/

"/
"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

"/

Charleston

Glen

1

2

3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

")121

¬«30A

ROUND BARN RD

MCD
UF

FE
E R

D

FU
RM

ER
RD

RAYM RD

LANG DR

RE
YN

OL
DS

 R
D

LATHERS RD

TY
LU

TK
I R

D

SEVERINE LA

Figure 3-1
Shadow Flicker Modeling Locations

411 Reynolds Road Wind     Montgomery County, New York

G:\Projects2\NY\6257\MXD\Fig 3-1_Shadow_Flicker_Modeling_Locations_20220104.mxd

Basemap: 2017 World Imagery, Esri

LEGEND
"/ Receptor
#* Proposed Vestas V150-4.3 120 HH Wind Turbine

Project Boundary
City/Town Boundary
County Road
State Route

°0 400 800
Feet1 inch = 800 feet

Scale 1:9,600



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 3-5 Shadow Flicker Modeling 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

Table 3-1 Monthly Percent of Possible Sunshine 

Month Possible Sunshine 
January 46% 

February 52% 
March 51% 
April 55% 
May 53% 
June 55% 
July 62% 

August 58% 
September 54% 

October 46% 
November 33% 
December 36% 

 

Table 3-2 Operational Hours per Wind Direction Sector 

Wind Sector Operational Hours 
N 89 

NNE 112 

NE 271 

ENE 397 

E 326 

ESE 250 

SE 259 

SSE 265 

S 215 

SSW 251 

SW 428 

WSW 661 

W 1692 

WNW 1817 

NW 436 

NNW 149 

Annual 7618 

 

  



6257 Reynolds Road Wind-FlickerReport220210.docx 3-6 Shadow Flicker Modeling 
  Epsilon Associates, Inc. 

3.2 Shadow Flicker Modeling Results 

Following the modeling methodology outlined in Section 3.1, WindPRO was used to calculate 
shadow flicker at the 10 discrete modeling receptor points.  Table B-1 in Appendix B presents the 
expected flicker at each modeling receptor.   

The predicted expected annual shadow flicker duration ranged from 0 hours, 0 minutes per year 
to 21 hours, 18 minutes per year for all 10 receptors.  The maximum expected flicker modeled 
occurs at receptor #8 (351 Reynolds Road).  Seven of the ten receptors were predicted to 
experience no annual shadow flicker.  One receptor was predicted to experience some shadow 
flicker but less than 10 hours per year.  The modeling results showed that two receptors would 
be expected to have between 10 hours and 30 hours of shadow flicker per year.  Zero (0) receptors 
are expected to have over 30 hours of flicker per year.  

 

 

 



 

Appendix A 
Wind Turbine Coordinates 



Table A-1: Wind Turbine Coordinates

X (Easting) Y (Northing)
1 V150-4.3 120 555303.89 4747029.76

Wind 
Turbine ID

Wind Turbine Type Hub Height (m)
Coordinates NAD83 UTM Zone 18N 

(meters)

Page 1 of 1



 

Appendix B 
Shadow Flicker Modeling Results:  Modeling Receptors 

 



Table B-1: Shadow Flicker Modeling Results at Discrete Points - Sorted by Receptor ID

X (Easting) Y (Northing) (HH:MM/year)
1 196 Severine Ln 556166.39 4746403.45 0:00
2 219 Severine Ln 556103.25 4746169.25 0:00
3 253 Severine Ln 555901.89 4745928.07 0:00
4 286 Severine Ln 555610.85 4745899.19 0:00
5 487 Reynolds Rd 555213.74 4746130.72 0:00
6 460 Reynolds Rd 554929.31 4746270.69 0:00
7 128 Raym Rd 554754.25 4746564.91 0:00
8 351 Reynolds Rd 554795.97 4747216.38 21:18
9 138 Severine Ln 556223.27 4746893.28 10:47

10 314 Lang Dr 555659.87 4747776.29 0:35

Receptor ID
Coordinates UTM NAD83 Zone 18N 

(meters)
Expected Shadow 

Flicker Hours per Year Address

Page 1 of 1



 

 
 

 

Stormwater Pollution 
Prevention Plan 
411 Reynolds Road Glen Wind Energy 
Project 

Borrego Solar 

31 January 2022 
 

  

   The Power of Commitment 



  The Power of Commitment 
 

 

 

 

GHD Consulting Services, Inc.  
285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500 
Buffalo, NY 14202, USA 
T  716-856-2142  |  F 716-856-2160  |  ghd.com 
 

Printed date 1/31/2022 11:01:00 AM 

Last saved date 31 January 2022   11:01 AM 

File name 11227527-RPT-5 SWPPP Rev 1.docx 

Author Camie Jarrell 

Project manager Camie Jarrell 

Client name Borrego Solar 

Project name Borrego Solar Wind Project 

Document title Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan |  411 Reynolds Road Glen Wind Energy Project 

Revision version Rev 1 

Project number 11227527 (5) 

  

Document status 

Status 
Code 

Revision Author Reviewer Approved for issue  

Name Signature Name Signature  Date 

S4  Camie Jarrell D. Britton 
 

D. Britton 
 

8/31/21 

S4 Rev. 1 Camie Jarrell D. Britton 
 

D. Britton 
 

1/31/22 

        

        

        
 

© GHD 2022 

This document is and shall remain the property of GHD. The document may only be used for the purpose for which it 
was commissioned and in accordance with the Terms of Engagement for the commission. Unauthorized use of this 
document in any form whatsoever is prohibited. 

http://www.ghd.com/


  The Power of Commitment i 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
Preparer’s Certification 

I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments/appendices were prepared under my direction 
or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gathered and 
evaluated the information submitted.  Based on the inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or 
those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete.  I am aware that false statements made herein are punishable 
as a Class A misdemeanor pursuant to Section 210.45 of Penal Law. 

Signature: Date: January 31, 2022 

David M. Britton, P.E.  
NY License No. 075722 
GHD Consulting Services Inc. 



  The Power of Commitment ii 
 

Table of Contents 

1. Purpose and Objectives 1 
2. Background 1 

2.1 Project Background 1 
2.2 Existing Conditions 1 
2.3 Project Description 2 
2.4 Involved Parties 2 
2.5 Geology 2 

3. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 3 
3.1 Construction Sequence 3 
3.2 Best Management Practices 4 
3.3 Pollution Prevention Controls 4 
3.4 Allowable Non-Stormwater Discharges 5 
3.5 Post-Construction Stormwater Practices 5 
3.6 Maintenance 8 

4. Inspection 8 
4.1 Owner or Operator Maintenance Inspection Requirements 9 
4.2 Qualified Inspector Requirements 9 

5. Project Certification and Closeout 11 
6. Recordkeeping 11 
7. References 11 

Table index 
Table 1 Pre-Development 1-year, 24-hour event 7 
Table 2 Pre-Development 1-year, 24-hour event 7 
Table 3 Pre-Development Peak Flow 7 
Table 4 Post-Development Peak Flow 8 
Table 5                Percent Increase in Peak Flow          8 
      

Figure index 
Figure 1 Location Map 

  



  The Power of Commitment iii 
 

Appendices 
Appendix A SPDES General Permit for Stormwater Discharges from Construction Activities GP-0-20-001 

Appendix B Notice of Intent 

Appendix C NYSDEC Acknowledgement Letter (to be added upon receipt) 

Appendix D County Soil Reports 

Appendix E Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan Certifications 

Appendix F Stormwater Calculations and Modeling Results 

Appendix G Construction Duration Inspection Form 

Appendix H Notice of Termination 

Appendix I Project Drawings (11 x 17)



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 1 
 

1. Purpose and Objectives 
GHD Consulting Services, Inc. (GHD) has prepared this Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) on behalf 
of Borrego Solar for the Glen Wind Energy Project, a single 4.3 MW wind turbine, located at 411 Reynolds Road, 
Town of Glen, New York.   

This SWPPP has been prepared in compliance with the New York State Department of Environmental 
Conservation (NYSDEC) State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) General Permit for Stormwater 
Discharges from Construction Activity (GP-0-20-001), which is included in Appendix A.  The design standards and 
practices outlined herein are based on guidelines in the New York State Standards and Specifications for Erosion 
and Sediment Control (NYS Standards) and the New York State Stormwater Management Design Manual.  
The objective of the SWPPP is to establish mitigation measures and to minimize the number of pollutants in the 
stormwater runoff from the project area in order to protect the waters of the United States from the adverse impact 
of stormwater runoff.  The selection of Best Management Practices (BMPs) for this project follows an approach to 
develop a Site design that regulates stormwater discharges, reduces impacts of stormwater runoff, and provides a 
maximum level of treatment given the project constraints. 

An owner or operator of a construction activity that is eligible for coverage under this general permit must obtain 
coverage prior to commencement of construction activity.  A copy of the Notice of Intent (NOI) can be found in 
Appendix B.  The owner or operator shall submit electronically the NOI to the NYSDEC.  Permit coverage shall 
begin five (5) business days following receipt of the NOI.  The NYSDEC shall provide a Letter of Acknowledgment, 
and it shall be made part of this SWPPP in Appendix C. 

The following sections outline the project background and existing Site conditions, the general project 
requirements, a description of construction activities, the erosion and sedimentation control requirements, post-
construction stormwater practices, and maintenance and inspection requirements. 

2. Background 

2.1 Project Background 
Borrego Solar has negotiated a lease agreement with a property owner on the east side of Reynolds Road, a 
Town roadway, in the Town of Glen, Montgomery County, for a single wind turbine project.  All permitting of the 
Site is within the Glen jurisdiction.  The standards and procedures for siting of wind projects is outlined in the Town 
of Glen Land Use Management Ordinance, which generally involved a Site plan review process to the Town 
Planning Board with issuance of a Special Use Permit (upon approval).  The parcel is located within Montgomery 
County Agricultural District 3. 

All project features will be leased, operated, and maintained by Borrego Solar.  The project is located on private 
property and is not located within a regulated jurisdictional municipal separate storm system (MS4); therefore, 
SPDES permitting will be under the authority of the NYSDEC. 

A location map of the Glen Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project is provided as Figure 1. 

2.2 Existing Conditions  
The property of interest, 411 Reynolds Road, is a privately owned, single parcel of approximately 191 acres in 
size.  Along the property, Reynolds Road travels southeast and turns to the southwest creating a roadway bend at 
the property.  The Site is a vacant lot along Reynolds Road right-of-way but becomes heavily wooded towards the 
east and the higher elevations where the turbine is proposed.  Several wetlands were delineated on the Site, as 
well as a stream, that were found to be federal jurisdictional.  There is also a former farm road off Reynolds Road 
with an existing 10” culvert crossing at the junction between the start of the stream and the wetlands.  The lease 
area of the Site is limited to the northeast portion of the project, which is also the location of the farm road.  



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 2 
 

Therefore, project impacts to wetlands have been minimized to the extent practical, but a disturbance of 0.25 
acres is anticipated, and a joint application for permit is required.   

The Site generally drains in three watersheds.  The west side will drain towards Reynolds Road, where it splits to 
the north and south.  In the center of the property, the grades will direct any runoff towards the stream and 
wetlands.  Finally, to the far east, the site elevations peek and then drops dramatically to continue east.   

The neighboring properties include some isolated rural residences, some farmlands (active and inactive), and 
some vacant, undisturbed parcels similar to the project parcel.     

There is no floodplain on the property. 

2.3 Project Description  
The project involves the construction of a single wind turbine and associated features and infrastructure.  At the 
time of preparation of this SWPPP, the model anticipated for the project is the Vestas V150, 4.3 MW turbine, which 
has a tip height of 649 feet.  The turbine foundation is anticipated to be a spread footer that will predominately be 
underground leaving an 18-foot concrete pedestal aboveground.  Permanent features of the project shall include a 
gravel access road off Reynolds Road, a gravel pad around the turbine, a crane pad, and a small run of overhead 
electrical lines and poles off Reynolds Road, while the remaining electrical lines will be underground.  Other 
temporary features needed during construction include construction staging area, stockpile, blade laydown area, 
and truck route around turbine.  The staging area and truck route will be constructed of gravel, but following the 
turbine installation, the stone will be removed and the area de-compacted and restored with topsoil and seeding.  
The remaining areas will remain pervious but will require decompaction and reseeding following turbine 
construction. 

There is no substation or other interconnection features required for the project.  The project shall directly connect 
to the local electrical system. 

The project will result in a soil disturbance of 4.26 acres of which 1.09 acres of new impervious area.  Erosion and 
sediment control information is included on the Project Drawings, which are included as Appendix I of the SWPPP. 

2.4 Involved Parties  
The following are the involved parties for the project concerning stormwater pollution prevention: 

Operator:  Borrego Solar 
Address: 55 Technology Dr, Suite 102, Lowell MA 01851 
Contact Person:  Brandon Smith 
Phone Number:  603-819-9693 

Design Engineer:  GHD Consulting Services, Inc.  
Address:  285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500, Buffalo, NY 14202 
Contact Person:  David M. Britton 
Phone Number:  (716) 362-8815 

NYSDEC Regional Office:  Region 7 
Address:  615 Erie Boulevard West, Syracuse NY 13204 
Phone Number:  (315) 426-7400 

2.5 Geology  
The soils in the United States are assigned to four Hydrologic Soils Groups (A, B, C, and D) and three dual 
classes (A/D, B/D, and C/D).  The groups are defined as follows: 

HSG A:  Soils having a high infiltration rate (low runoff potential) when thoroughly wet.  These consist mainly of 
deep, well drained to excessively drained sands or gravelly sands.  These soils have a high rate of water 
transmission. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 3 
 

HSG B:  Soils having a moderate infiltration rate when thoroughly wet.  These consist chiefly of moderately deep 
or deep, moderately well drained, or well-drained soils that have moderately fine texture to moderately coarse 
texture.  These soils have a moderate rate of water transmission. 

HSG C:  Soils having a slow infiltration rate when thoroughly wet.  These consist chiefly of soils having a layer that 
impedes the downward movement of water or soils of moderately fine texture or fine texture.  These soils have a 
slow rate of water transmission. 

HSG D:  Soils having a very slow infiltration rate (high runoff potential) when thoroughly wet.  These consist chiefly 
of clays that have a high shrink-swell potential, soils that have a high water table, soils that have a clay pan or clay 
layer at or near the surface, and soils that are shallow over nearly impervious material.  These soils have a very 
slow rate of water transmission. 

If a soil is assigned to a dual hydrologic group (A/D, B/D, or C/D), the first letter is for drained areas and the 
second is for undrained areas.  Only the soils, which are in their natural condition in Group D, are assigned to dual 
classes. 

The project site is mostly Arnot-Angola channery silt loams (AvB), with slopes from 3 percent to 8 percent, which is 
hydrologic group D and well drained with a deep water table.  The turbine foundation will likely encounter bedrock.  
Other soil types are not present in significant portions of the site.  The County Soil Reports are included in 
Appendix D. 

3. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 

3.1 Construction Sequence 
The project shall be constructed in a single phase of approximately 3 months.  The following typical construction 
sequence will generally be followed: 

– Mobilization of construction equipment and materials to the Site. 
– Installation of temporary stabilized construction entrance to the Site. 
– Contractor shall minimal clearing necessary to install silt fence/silt sock as shown on the Drawings, prior to 

completion of remaining site clearing. 
– Establishment of staging area and concrete washout area. 
– Maintenance of erosion and sediment controls shall be ongoing throughout construction. 
– Rough grading of access road and replacement culvert crossing with larger pipe and riprap. 
– Rough grading of turbine area and crane/laydown areas and stockpiling of materials as needed with perimeter 

protection. 
– Installation of gravel access road, which will replace temporary construction entrance, temporary loop road 

and crane pad. 
– Excavation and construction of turbine foundation and installation grounding and electrical service. 
– Backfill of foundation. 
– Delivery and assembly of crane and turbine components. 
– Installation of poles and overhead electrical connection. 
– Removal of temporary staging area and loop road. 
– Fine grading and restoration and seeding of all disturbed areas. 
– Removal of erosion and sediment control features upon minimum 80% establishment of grass cover and 

completion of plantings. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 4 
 

3.2 Best Management Practices  
As stated above, the project shall be constructed in a single phase of an approximate 3-month period.  The project 
will not require the disturbance of greater than 5 acres at any one time.  If at any time that changes, the Contractor 
must request, in writing, authorization from the Regional Office of the NYSDEC for the disturbance and meet all 
SPDES Permit requirements.  Following authorization for greater than 5 acres of disturbance, when the 
disturbance drops below the 5-acre threshold, the Contractor must also notify the Regional Office in writing. 

The Contractor will be responsible for dust control and removal of any sediment buildup on the adjacent roadway.  
The Contractor will be required to protect existing and new inlets and ditches throughout construction.  All erosion 
and sediment control measures have been designed in general compliance with the NYS Standards. 

The Contractor shall be responsible for installation and maintenance of BMPs on the Site.  The Contractor shall 
sign the certification statements made part of the SWPPP in Appendix E.  In addition, any subcontractors will be 
required to respect and protect these BMPs against disturbance due to their operations, therefore, will be required 
to sign the SWPPP as well.   

The BMPs, which will be incorporated in the construction phase, are detailed on the Project Drawings (Appendix I) 
and include: 

– Stabilized Construction Entrance: Reynolds Road is currently an asphalt Town roadway.  Based on haul route 
analysis, the roadway may need to be improved and widened, as necessary, to accommodate construction 
vehicles and minimize sediment transportation off the Site.  A stabilized construction entrance shall be 
installed at the Site entrance from the public roadway.  The entrance shall help control sediment 
transportation by vehicles entering and exiting the Site.  The entrance shall be installed in accordance with 
details and be maintained should sediment build up on the surface, as needed, and until the permanent 
gravel access road is installed. 

– Silt Sock/Fence:  As a measure to prevent off-Site sediment transportation to the drainage ditches and pond, 
silt sock or silt fence shall be installed along the slopes to prevent sediment-laden runoff from exiting the work 
areas, as shown on the Drawings.  Sediment buildup on silt fence or silt sock shall be removed if it reaches 
50% of the capacity and any damaged sections shall be replaced. 

– Check Dams/Riprap:  Stone check dams are intended to control potential sediment along swales and 
drainage ditches.  The Contractor will be required to install stone check dams as shown on Drawings and as 
needed.  The project will require the replacement of the culvert pipe at the start of the stream.  The culvert 
pipe shall end sections and riprap as shown on the details to control erosion and sediment.  These measures 
shall be inspected regularly and accumulated sediment removed from stones. 

– Stockpile Stabilization:  Spoil materials from excavation shall be stockpiled for reuse in wetland habitat 
plantings area or as backfill and excess spoils shall be removed from the Site.  Topsoil material may be 
segregated from backfill and reused for stabilization.  At no time shall stockpiled materials be placed in 
drainage pathways or waterways.  The Contractor shall install perimeter protection around all stockpiles. 

– Soil Stabilization:  The project pervious surfaces around the turbine shall be lawn areas and will be stabilized 
using topsoil and seeding.  Straw mulch may be used to stabilize the areas until grass growth is established.  
In areas where soil disturbance activity has been temporarily or permanently ceased, temporary and/or 
permanent soil stabilization measures shall be installed and/or implemented within 14 days (7 days if greater 
than 5 acres disturbed) from the date the soil disturbance activity ceased.  The soil stabilization measures 
selected shall be in conformance with the most current version of the technical standards, NYS Standards. 

All temporary stormwater control measures shall remain in place, and well maintained, until a qualified 
professional determines that final stabilization has been reached. 

3.3 Pollution Prevention Controls  
The Contractor and all subcontractors shall be responsible for implementation of pollution prevention controls.  
Pollution prevention controls shall include: 

– Dust Control:  Contractors shall incorporate standard practices for the control of dust from construction.  Such 
controls shall include, but not be limited to, stabilized construction entrance, temporary stabilization of inactive 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 5 
 

areas and stockpiles, Site watering, and vehicle washing.  The Contractor will be responsible for designating 
vehicle wash areas and providing proper facilities for such activities. 

– Sanitary Facilities:  Contractors shall comply with state and local sanitary regulations.  Temporary sanitary 
facilities shall be provided at the Site throughout the construction phase.  They must be utilized by all 
construction personnel and shall be serviced by a commercial operator.  

– Waste Disposal and Construction Debris:  All materials used on the Site will be properly stored, handled, and 
dispensed following applicable label directions.  No solid waste materials are allowed to be exposed to or 
discharged from the Site with stormwater.  Each Contractor and his subcontractors shall be responsible for 
proper containment and disposal of garbage and debris from construction activities. Contractors shall be 
responsible for coordinating garbage and debris removal or pickup if necessary.   

– Concrete Truck Washout:  If necessary, a designated truck washout area will be provided within the work 
area in order to ensure concrete materials are not impacted by stormwater.  

– Vehicle Fueling: Temporary on-Site fuel tanks or trucks for construction vehicles shall meet all state and 
federal regulations and have approved spill containment.  Emergency spill containment materials must also 
be kept on Site and accessible in case of spills.  

– Spill Prevention and Control:  All Contractors shall incorporate spill prevention planning, secondary 
containment, and spill cleanup procedures as required by OSHA and NYSDEC for all products present on the 
Site. 

– Hazardous Materials:  No hazardous materials are anticipated on the Site or as part of the project.  If any 
hazardous or potentially hazardous waste is found at the Site, it will be properly handled in order to reduce 
the potential of stormwater impacts. 

3.4 Allowable Non-Stormwater Discharges 
The following non-stormwater discharges are allowed as indicated in the SPDES Permit: 

– Discharges from firefighting activities only when firefighting activities are emergencies/unplanned. 
– Waters to which other components have not been added that are used to control dust. 
– Uncontaminated discharges from construction dewatering operations. 

3.5 Post-Construction Stormwater Practices 
The project was analyzed in accordance with the New York State Stormwater Design Manual (SWDM).  All 
calculations were performed using the standard worksheets provided by the NYSDEC and are found in     
Appendix F.  As required by the SWDM, Chapter 3, Stormwater Management Planning, there are six steps to 
developing a SWPPP. 

Step 1: Site Planning 

Step 2: Determine Water Quality Treatment Volume (WQv) 

Step 3: Apply Runoff Reduction Techniques (RRv) 

Step 4: Determine the minimum RRv required 

Step 5: Apply Standard Stormwater Management Practices 

Step 6: Apply Volume and Peak Rate Control Practices 

The project design began with Step 1 and the following criteria was examined:  

Preservation of Natural Resources  
a. Preservation of Undisturbed Areas – The project is designed to limit disturbance of the property 

specifically the wetlands. The landowner also identified an exclusion area that no project features are 
permitted. 

b. Preservation of Buffers – The project disturbance has been limited to the extent practical. 
c. Reduction of Clearing and Grading – The project will limit clearing and grading as needed to level the 

necessary area for the turbine and access road. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 6 
 

d. Locating Development in Less Sensitive Areas – The project is located on a privately owned undisturbed 
parcel. 

e. Open Space Design – This does not apply to the project. 
f. Soil Restoration – All surfaces within the agricultural district shall be restored in accordance with New 

York State Department of Agriculture and Markets, Guidelines for Agricultural Mitigation for Wind Power 
Projects.  All surfaces shall be decompacted and restored with topsoil and seed in accordance with Soil 
Restoration standard from the NYS Standards and Specifications for Erosion and Sediment Control, 
latest revision. 

Reduction in Impervious Cover 
a. Roadway Reduction – The access road will be installed to the minimum size needed for the installation 

and operation of a wind turbine. 
b. Sidewalk Reduction – This does not apply to the project. 
c. Driveway Reduction – This does not apply to the project. 
d. Cul-de-sac Reduction – This does not apply to the project. 
e. Building Footprint Reduction – This does not apply to the project.  A single wind turbine has a fairly small 

footprint. 
f. Parking Reduction – This does not apply to the project.  No on-site parking is provided. 

For Step 2, the Water Quality Volume (WQv) is calculated based on the formula is the SWDM, Chapter 4.  For this 
project, the WQv required is 4,334 cf.  Then under Step 3, runoff reduction techniques are considered, analyzed 
and applied as follows. 

Runoff Reduction Techniques 
a. Conservation of Natural Areas – The project will only impact areas as needed for project features.  
b. Sheet flow to Riparian Buffers or Filter Strips – The project will utilize natural buffer areas and filter strips 

to provide stormwater treatment for the new impervious areas as shown below. 
c. Vegetated Swale – No vegetated swale was incorporated into the project. 
d. Tree Planting/Tree Pit – Tree planting is not feasible for a wind turbine project. 
e. Disconnection of Rooftop Runoff – This does not apply to the project. 
f. Stream Daylighting – The project will limit impact to the on-site stream to the location of an existing 

culvert. 
g. Rain Garden – This practice is not recommended with the C or D soils. 
h. Green Roofs – This does not apply to the project. 
i. Stormwater Planters – This does apply to the project.  
j. Rain Barrels and Cisterns – This does not apply to the project. 
k. Porous Pavement – This does not apply to the project. 

The following is an analysis of all runoff reduction techniques that supports the above determination for this 
project.  Undisturbed natural areas, such as forested conservation areas and stream buffers or vegetated filter 
strips and riparian buffers, can be used to treat and control stormwater runoff from some areas of a development 
project.  To meet requirements of sheetflow to riparian buffers or filter strips, the following analysis must be 
performed: 

a. The areas must be undisturbed and protected against soil compaction by heavy equipment. 
b. Maximum contributing lengths shall be 150 feet for pervious and 75 feet for impervious. 
c. Runoff shall enter as overland sheet flow or a flow spreader shall be supplied. 
d. Minimum width shall be 50 feet for slopes of 0% to 8%, 75 feet for 8% to 12%, and 100 feet for slopes 

12% to 15%. 
e. For HSG D soils, the buffer length should be increased 20%. 

The project will not only meet these criteria, but the length of filter strips and buffer areas shall be greater than 
required due to the size of adjacent undisturbed property within the site. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 7 
 

Once these techniques are applied to the project in accordance with Chapter 5.3, the areas are decreased and the 
WQv required becomes 1,448 cf.  

Step 4 requires the calculation of the minimum Runoff Reduction Volume (RRv), which is the reduction of the total 
WQv by application of green infrastructure techniques.  In accordance with the formula in Chapter 4.3, and due to 
the soil type D, the minimum RRv required is 752 cf.  This will be met on the project by use of dry swales. 

The WQv provided for the project is 3,870 cf and RRv provided equals 812 cf, which is greater than the required 
volumes.  Therefore, Step 5 will not apply to the project as the above steps meet the WQv and RRv requirements. 

Finally, Step 6, volume controls for the 1-year, 10-year, and 100-year storm events must be shown to have no 
impact post-development.  This is presented in the SWDM as the Channel Protection Volume (CPv), the Overbank 
Flood Control Criteria (Qp), and the Extreme Flood Control Criteria (Qf).  CPv requires the storage of the 1-year, 
24-hour storm event while Qp and Qf are the pre and post-development 10-year and 10-year storm events 
respectively. 

For analysis, the project site catchment area is divided into three watersheds, draining towards the northeast (NE), 
northwest (NW), and southwest (SW). The NE portion of the site is part of a 30-acre watershed, the NW portion of 
the site is part of a 39-acre watershed, and the SW portion of the site is part of a 30-acre watershed.  Only NW 
and SW catchments land use are affected by the project as shown on Figure 2. 
 
CPv is calculated as the 1-year, 24-year storm event volume.  The required CPv is 6,970 cf (0.16 ac-ft).  The dry 
swales provide 7,025 cf (0.16 ac-ft), so the project meets the requirement.  The Qp and Qf peak flows are shown 
in the tables below. 

A pre-construction and post-construction stormwater model were created.  The results are shown in Appendix F 
and summarized in the tables below.  The project will meet the requirements of the SWDM and SPDES permit. 

Table 1 Pre-Development 1-year, 24-hour event 

Catchment 
Area 

Area 
(ac) 

Pre-Development 
Runoff (in) 

Pre-Development 
Runoff (ac-ft) 

1 yr 1 yr 
SW 20.99 0.86 1.50 
NW 38.97 0.76 2.46 
NE 30.05 0.76 1.89 

Table 2 Pre-Development 1-year, 24-hour event 

Catchment 
Area 

Area 
(ac) 

Post-Development 
Runoff (in) 

Post-Development 
Runoff (ac-ft) 

1 yr 1 yr 
SW 20.99 0.86 1.50 
NW 38.97 0.81 2.62 
NE 30.05 0.76 1.89 

Table 3 Pre-Development Peak Flow 

Pre-Development Peak Flows (cfs) 
Watershed CN 1 yr 10 yr 100 yr 
SW 84 19.56 49.73 106.87 
NW 82 26.54 64.71 136.18 
NE 82 33.29 79.21 163.97 

 

  



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 8 
 

Table 4 Post-Development Peak Flow 

Post-Development Peak Flows (cfs) 
Watershed CN 1 yr 10 yr 100 yr 
SW 84 19.56 49.73 106.87 
NW 82 26.35 64.39 135.25 
NE 82 33.29 9.21 163.97 

Table 5 Percent Increase in Peak Flow 

Percentage Increase 
Watershed 1 yr 10 yr 100 yr 
SW 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
NW -0.7% -0.5% -0.7% 
NE 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
Averaged -0.2% -0.2% -0.2% 

3.6 Maintenance  
The Contractor is responsible for the condition and maintenance of the Site during construction.  This shall include 
the maintenance of all erosion and sediment controls and pollution prevention measures during construction.  The 
Contractor and their subcontractors shall sign the certification statement as referenced in Appendix E.  
Maintenance guidelines for each practice shall be in accordance with NYS Standards and as follows. 

As discussed in Section 3.2 and the NYS Standards, the silt fence and silt sock must be checked for any damaged 
or bulges and replaced as necessary.  In addition, sediment shall be removed from area adjacent to perimeter 
protections when it reaches half the capacity.  Stone check dams shall be inspected for condition of the stone and 
sediment accumulation.  Additional stone shall be added if needed and any significant sediment or vegetation 
growth shall be removed if it is affecting the performance of the dams.  The stabilized construction entrance must 
be kept in working condition.  If sediment tracking is occurring off the site, the stone shall be cleaned or replaced 
as needed.   

Section 3.3 outlines the pollution prevention measures for construction.  If the site construction utilizes a concrete 
washout area, the area will be checked regularly as part of weekly inspections.  As necessary, the area will be 
cleaned out and concrete materials sent to an appropriate facility for disposal.  The site staging area shall also be 
inspected to ensure all materials and facilities are properly stored and kept in good condition. 

Each Contractor and subcontractor shall identify at least one person from their company that will be responsible 
for implementation of the SWPPP.  This person shall be known as the trained contractor, as defined in the SPDES 
permit.  The trained contractor shall conduct daily inspection of the Site including all BMPs and erosion and 
sediment controls and perform any maintenance required.   

The long-term maintenance of the Site, and all features, is the responsibility of Borrego as the operator of the wind 
turbine.  It is anticipated that a Borrego representative will make periodic inspections of the Site and the project 
facilities.  At that time, the gravel access road will be inspected for any issues, the filter strips area will be 
inspected for loss of vegetation, and the culvert and riprap shall be inspected and cleaned as needed. 

4. Inspection 
In accordance with the SPDES permit for stormwater discharges from construction activities, the owner or operator 
of the Site must ensure that all erosion and sediment control practices, and all post-construction stormwater 
management practices identified in the SWPPP are maintained in effective operating condition at all times.  
Borrego, as owner/operator, shall engage a qualified inspector, as required, in the following sections.  The 
Contractor shall engage a trained contractor as defined by the permit throughout construction.  The trained 
contractor shall be responsible for the day-to-day implementation of the SWPPP.   



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 9 
 

The following sections contain additional information taken directly from the SPDES permit. 

4.1 Owner or Operator Maintenance Inspection 
Requirements 

The owner or operator shall inspect, in accordance with the requirements in the most current version of the 
technical standard, NYS Standards, the erosion and sediment control measures identified in the SWPPP to ensure 
that they are being maintained in effective operating condition at all times. 

For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been temporarily suspended (e.g., winter shutdown) 
and temporary stabilization measures have been applied to all disturbed areas, the owner or operator can stop 
conducting the maintenance inspections.  The owner or operator shall begin conducting the maintenance 
inspections as soon as soil disturbance activities resume. 

For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been shut down with partial project completion, the 
owner or operator can stop conducting the maintenance inspections if all areas disturbed as of the project 
shutdown date have achieved final stabilization and all post-construction stormwater management practices 
required for the completed portion of the project have been constructed in conformance with the SWPPP and are 
operational. 

4.2 Qualified Inspector Requirements 
The owner or operator shall have a qualified inspector conduct Site inspections in conformance with the following 
requirements:  

Note:  The trained contractor identified cannot conduct the qualified inspector site inspections unless they meet the 
qualified inspector qualifications in the permit.  In order to perform these inspections, the trained contractor would 
have to be one of the following: 

– Licensed Professional Engineer. 
– Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC). 
– Registered Landscape Architect. 
– Someone working under the direct supervision of, and at the same company as, the licensed Professional 

Engineer or Registered Landscape Architect, provided they have received 4 hours of Department-endorsed 
training in proper erosion and sediment control principles from a Soil and Water Conservation District or other 
Department-endorsed entity. 

Unless otherwise notified by the Department, the qualified inspector shall conduct site inspections in accordance 
with the following timetable: 

– For construction sites where soil disturbance activities are ongoing, the qualified inspector shall conduct a site 
inspection at least once every 7 calendar days. 

– For construction sites where soil disturbance activities are ongoing and the owner or operator has received 
authorization to disturb greater than 5 acres of soil at any one time, the qualified inspector shall conduct at 
least two site inspections every 7 calendar days.  The two inspections shall be separated by a minimum of     
2 full calendar days. 

– For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been temporarily suspended (e.g., winter 
shutdown) and temporary stabilization measures have been applied to all disturbed areas, the qualified 
inspector shall conduct a site inspection at least once every 30 calendar days.  The owner or operator shall 
notify the Regional Office stormwater contact, in writing, prior to reducing the frequency of inspections. 

– For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been shut down with partial project completion, 
the qualified inspector can stop conducting inspections if all areas disturbed, as of the project shutdown date, 
have achieved final stabilization and all post-construction stormwater management practices required for the 
completed portion of the project have been constructed in conformance with the SWPPP and are operational.  
The owner or operator shall notify the Region 9 stormwater contact person in writing prior to the shutdown.  If 
soil disturbance activities are not resumed within 2 years from the date of shutdown, the owner or operator 
shall have the qualified inspector perform a final inspection and certify that all disturbed areas have achieved 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 10 
 

final stabilization, and all temporary, structural erosion, and sediment control measures have been removed; 
and that all post-construction stormwater management practices have been constructed in conformance with 
the SWPPP by signing the "Final Stabilization" and "Post-Construction Stormwater Management Practice" 
certification statements on the Notice of Termination (NOT).  The owner or operator shall then submit the 
completed NOT form to the NYS DEC, Bureau of Water Permits, 625 Broadway, 4th Floor, Albany, NY 
12233-3505. 

At a minimum, the qualified inspector shall inspect all erosion and sediment control practices to ensure integrity 
and effectiveness, all post-construction stormwater management practices under construction to ensure that they 
are constructed in conformance with the SWPPP, all areas of disturbance that have not achieved final 
stabilization, all points of discharge to natural surface waterbodies located within, or immediately adjacent to, the 
property boundaries of the construction Site, and all points of discharge from the construction Site. 

The qualified inspector shall prepare an inspection report subsequent to each and every inspection.  At a 
minimum, the inspection report shall include and/or address the following: 

– Date and time of inspection. 
– Name and title of person(s) performing inspection. 
– A description of the weather and soil conditions (e.g., dry, wet, saturated) at the time of the inspection. 
– A description of the condition of the runoff at all points of discharge from the construction Site.  This shall 

include identification of any discharges of sediment from the construction Site.  Include discharges from 
conveyance systems (i.e., pipes, culverts, ditches, etc.) and overland flow. 

– A description of the condition of all natural surface waterbodies located within, or immediately adjacent to, the 
property boundaries of the construction Site, which receive runoff from disturbed areas. This shall include 
identification of any discharges of sediment to the surface waterbody. 

– Identification of all erosion and sediment control practices that need repair or maintenance. 
– Identification of all erosion and sediment control practices that were not installed properly or are not 

functioning as designed and need to be reinstalled or replaced. 
– Description and sketch of areas that are disturbed at the time of the inspection and areas that have been 

stabilized (temporary and/or final) since the last inspection. 
– Current phase of construction of all post-construction stormwater management practices and identification of 

all construction that is not in conformance with the SWPPP and technical standards. 
– Corrective action(s) that must be taken to install, repair, replace or maintain erosion and sediment control 

practices; and to correct deficiencies identified with the construction of the post-construction stormwater 
management practice(s). 

– Digital photographs with date stamp that clearly show the condition of all practices that have been identified 
as needing corrective actions.  The qualified inspector shall attach paper color copies of the digital 
photographs to the inspection report being maintained on Site within 7 calendar days of the date of the 
inspection.  The qualified inspector shall also take digital photographs, with date stamp, that clearly show the 
condition of the practice(s) after the corrective action has been completed.  The qualified inspector shall 
attach paper color copies of the digital photographs to the inspection report that documents the completion of 
the corrective action work within 7 calendar days of that inspection. 

Within 1 business day of the completion of an inspection, the qualified inspector shall notify the owner or operator 
and appropriate contractor or subcontractor of any corrective actions that need to be taken.  The Contractor or 
subcontractor shall begin implementing the corrective actions within 1 business day of this notification and shall 
complete the corrective actions in a reasonable timeframe. 

All inspection reports shall be signed by the qualified inspector.  Pursuant to the permit, the inspection reports shall 
be maintained on Site with the SWPPP. 

A blank example of a weekly inspection report has been included in Appendix G.  The NYSDEC shall have the 
authority to inspect the Site and required documentation at any time during normal business hours. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 11 
 

5. Project Certification and Closeout 
Borrego, as the Site operator, and the Contractor shall sign the SWPPP certifications in Appendix E.   

Borrego shall submit the NOI to the NYSDEC in order to obtain permit coverage.  This will be in the form of a 
NYSDEC Acknowledgment Letter and made part of the SWPPP in Appendix C.  Timelines for submittal of NOI are 
provided in the SPDES permit. 

Upon establishment of final cover, a final inspection shall be conducted by the qualified inspector who will sign off 
on the final stabilization and post-construction stormwater management practices of the Site on the NOT, which is 
included in Appendix H.  Then, Borrego shall sign and submit the NOT to the NYSDEC for closure of the SPDES 
permit. 

6. Recordkeeping 
During Construction:  The Contractor shall maintain for the duration of construction and in a secure location on 
Site, copies of the signed SWPPP, the NOI, the SPDES General Permit, and NYSDEC Acknowledgment Letter.  
Copies of inspection reports shall be made a part of the SWPPP.  These reports shall be kept on Site during 
construction and be made available to the NYSDEC during inspection.  During normal working hours, the 
documents shall be available for viewing. 

Record Retention:  The owner or operator shall retain a copy of the NOI, MS4 SWPPP Acceptance Form, 
NYSDEC Acknowledgment Letter, SWPPP, and any inspection reports that were prepared in conjunction with this 
permit for a period of at least 5 years from the date that the Site achieves final stabilization.  This period may be 
extended by the NYSDEC, in its sole discretion, at any time upon written notification. 

Addresses:  With the exception of the NOI and NOT, all written correspondence requested by the NYSDEC, 
including individual permit applications, shall be sent to the address of the Region 4 Office, Bureau of Water 
Permits. 

7. References 
– New York State Standards and Specifications for Erosion and Sediment Control (November 2016).  
– New York State Stormwater Management Design Manual (January 2015). 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 12 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 1 
Location Map 

  



Date
Project No.

Filename: N:\US\Buffalo\Projects\564\11227527\Digital_Design\ACAD 2020\Figures\Reynolds Rd Site Location\11227527-FIG001.dwg
Plot Date: 30 August 2021 9:56 AM

11227527BORREGO SOLAR
411 REYNOLDS RD August 21

FIGURE 1
SITE LOCATION MAP

Data Source

N0 2,000'

SITE

SOURCE: USGS 7.5 MINUTE TOPOGRAPHIC QUADRANGLE, ESPERANCE AND TRIBES HILL, NY 2019



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 13 
 

   Figure 2 
    NW and SW Catchments Land Use 

 
 

 
 

 
  



Date
Project No.

Filename: \\ghdnet\ghd\US\Buffalo\Projects\564\11227527\Digital_Design\ACAD 2020\Figures\Reynolds Rd SWPPP\11227527-FIG002.dwg
Plot Date: 14 January 2022 1:10 PM

11227527BORREGO SOLAR
411 REYNOLDS RDN January 22

FIGURE 2DRAINAGE AREAS
Data Source



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 14 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A  
SPDES General Permit for Stormwater 
Discharges from Construction Activities 
GP-0-20-001 
 



þ{ËìûtYsËK
$TÅTåOT
TPPO&TIJNITY

Ðepartnnent *f
Hnvlranmantat
tsnseruatiðn

NEW YORK STATE
DEPARTMENT OF ENVI RONMENTAL CONSERVATION

SPDES GENERAL PERMIT
FOR STORMWATER D¡SCHARGES

From

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY

Permit No. GP- 0-20-001

lssued Pursuant to Article 17, Titles 7, I and Article 70

of the Environmental Conservation Law

Effective Date: January 29,2020 Expiration Date: January 28,2025

John J. Ferguson

Chief Permit Administrator

/^ zZ -Z-ö

uthorized Signature Date

Address: NYS DEC
Division of Environmental Permits
625 Broadway, 4th Floor
Albany, N.Y. 12233-1750



 

I 
 

PREFACE 

 

 Pursuant to Section 402 of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), stormwater discharges 
from certain construction activities are unlawful unless they are authorized by a National 
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit or by a state permit program. 
New York administers the approved State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
(SPDES) program with permits issued in accordance with the New York State 
Environmental Conservation Law (ECL) Article 17, Titles 7, 8 and Article 70. 
 
 

An owner or operator of a construction activity that is eligible for coverage under 

this permit must obtain coverage prior to the commencement of construction activity. 

Activities that fit the definition of “construction activity”, as defined under 40 CFR 

122.26(b)(14)(x), (15)(i), and (15)(ii), constitute construction of a point source and 

therefore, pursuant to ECL section 17-0505 and 17-0701, the owner or operator must 

have coverage under a SPDES permit prior to commencing construction activity. The 

owner or operator cannot wait until there is an actual discharge from the construction site 

to obtain permit coverage.  

 

*Note: The italicized words/phrases within this permit are defined in Appendix A.  



 

I 
 

NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION 
SPDES GENERAL PERMIT FOR STORMWATER DISCHARGES FROM 

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Part 1. PERMIT COVERAGE AND LIMITATIONS ............................................................. 1 

A. Permit Application ................................................................................................. 1 

B. Effluent Limitations Applicable to Discharges from Construction Activities ........... 1 
C. Post-construction Stormwater Management Practice Requirements .................... 4 
D. Maintaining Water Quality ..................................................................................... 8 
E. Eligibility Under This General Permit ..................................................................... 9 

F. Activities Which Are Ineligible for Coverage Under This General Permit .............. 9 
Part II. PERMIT COVERAGE ........................................................................................... 12 

A. How to Obtain Coverage ..................................................................................... 12 

B. Notice of Intent (NOI) Submittal .......................................................................... 13 
C. Permit Authorization ............................................................................................ 13 

D. General Requirements For Owners or Operators With Permit Coverage ........... 15 
E. Permit Coverage for Discharges Authorized Under GP-0-15-002 ....................... 17 
F. Change of Owner or Operator ............................................................................. 17 

Part III. STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP) ........................... 18 
A. General SWPPP Requirements .......................................................................... 18 

B. Required SWPPP Contents ................................................................................ 20 
C. Required SWPPP Components by Project Type ................................................. 24 

Part IV. INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS ..................................... 24 
A. General Construction Site Inspection and Maintenance Requirements .............. 24 

B. Contractor Maintenance Inspection Requirements ............................................. 24 
C. Qualified Inspector Inspection Requirements ...................................................... 25 

Part V. TERMINATION OF PERMIT COVERAGE ........................................................... 29 

A. Termination of Permit Coverage ......................................................................... 29 
Part VI. REPORTING AND RETENTION RECORDS ...................................................... 31 

A. Record Retention ................................................................................................ 31 

B. Addresses ........................................................................................................... 31 
Part VII. STANDARD PERMIT CONDITIONS .................................................................. 31 

A. Duty to Comply .................................................................................................... 31 
B. Continuation of the Expired General Permit ........................................................ 32 
C. Enforcement ........................................................................................................ 32 

D. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense................................................... 32 
E. Duty to Mitigate ................................................................................................... 33 

F. Duty to Provide Information ................................................................................. 33 
G. Other Information ................................................................................................ 33 
H. Signatory Requirements ...................................................................................... 33 
I. Property Rights ................................................................................................... 35 
J. Severability.......................................................................................................... 35 



   

 

K. Requirement to Obtain Coverage Under an Alternative Permit ........................... 35 

L. Proper Operation and Maintenance .................................................................... 36 
M. Inspection and Entry ........................................................................................... 36 
N. Permit Actions ..................................................................................................... 37 
O. Definitions ........................................................................................................... 37 
P. Re-Opener Clause .............................................................................................. 37 

Q. Penalties for Falsification of Forms and Reports ................................................. 37 
R. Other Permits ...................................................................................................... 38 

APPENDIX A – Acronyms and Definitions ....................................................................... 39 
Acronyms ...................................................................................................................... 39 
Definitions ..................................................................................................................... 40 

APPENDIX B – Required SWPPP Components by Project Type .................................... 48 

Table 1.......................................................................................................................... 48 
Table 2.......................................................................................................................... 50 

APPENDIX C – Watersheds Requiring Enhanced Phosphorus Removal ........................ 52 

APPENDIX D – Watersheds with Lower Disturbance Threshold ..................................... 58 
APPENDIX E – 303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) ........... 59 
APPENDIX F – List of NYS DEC Regional Offices .......................................................... 65 

 

 



(Part I) 

1 

Part 1. PERMIT COVERAGE AND LIMITATIONS 

 

A. Permit Application 

 

This permit authorizes stormwater discharges to surface waters of the State from 

the following construction activities identified within 40 CFR Parts 122.26(b)(14)(x), 

122.26(b)(15)(i) and 122.26(b)(15)(ii), provided all of the eligibility provisions of this 

permit are met: 

 

1. Construction activities involving soil disturbances of one (1) or more acres; 

including disturbances of less than one acre that are part of a larger common 

plan of development or sale that will ultimately disturb one or more acres of 

land; excluding routine maintenance activity that is performed to maintain the 

original line and grade, hydraulic capacity or original purpose of a facility; 

 

2. Construction activities involving soil disturbances of less than one (1) acre 

where the Department has determined that a SPDES permit is required for 

stormwater discharges based on the potential for contribution to a violation of a 

water quality standard or for significant contribution of pollutants to surface 

waters of the State. 

 

3. Construction activities located in the watershed(s) identified in Appendix D that 

involve soil disturbances between five thousand (5,000) square feet and one 

(1) acre of land. 

 

B. Effluent Limitations Applicable to Discharges from Construction Activities  

 
Discharges authorized by this permit must achieve, at a minimum, the effluent 

limitations in Part I.B.1. (a) – (f) of this permit. These limitations represent the degree of 

effluent reduction attainable by the application of best practicable technology currently 

available.  

1. Erosion and Sediment Control Requirements - The owner or operator must 

select, design, install, implement and maintain control measures to minimize 

the discharge of pollutants and prevent a violation of the water quality 

standards. The selection, design, installation, implementation, and 

maintenance of these control measures must meet the non-numeric effluent 

limitations in Part I.B.1.(a) – (f) of this permit and be in accordance with the 

New York State Standards and Specifications for Erosion and Sediment 

Control, dated November 2016, using sound engineering judgment. Where 

control measures are not designed in conformance with the design criteria 

included in the technical standard, the owner or operator must include in the 

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”) the reason(s) for the 



(Part I.B.1) 

2 

deviation or alternative design and provide information which demonstrates that 

the deviation or alternative design is equivalent to the technical standard. 

  

a. Erosion and Sediment Controls. Design, install and maintain effective 

erosion and sediment controls to minimize the discharge of pollutants and 

prevent a violation of the water quality standards. At a minimum, such 

controls must be designed, installed and maintained to: 

 

(i) Minimize soil erosion through application of runoff control and soil 

stabilization control measure to minimize pollutant discharges; 

 

(ii) Control stormwater discharges, including both peak flowrates and total 

stormwater volume, to minimize channel and streambank erosion and 

scour in the immediate vicinity of the discharge points; 

 

(iii) Minimize the amount of soil exposed during construction activity; 

 

(iv) Minimize the disturbance of steep slopes; 

 

(v) Minimize sediment discharges from the site; 

 

(vi) Provide and maintain natural buffers around surface waters, direct 

stormwater to vegetated areas and maximize stormwater infiltration to 

reduce pollutant discharges, unless infeasible;  

 

(vii) Minimize soil compaction. Minimizing soil compaction is not required 

where the intended function of a specific area of the site dictates that it 

be compacted;  

 

(viii) Unless infeasible, preserve a sufficient amount of topsoil to complete 

soil restoration and establish a uniform, dense vegetative cover; and 

 

(ix) Minimize dust. On areas of exposed soil, minimize dust through the 

appropriate application of water or other dust suppression techniques 

to control the generation of pollutants that could be discharged from 

the site. 

 

b. Soil Stabilization. In areas where soil disturbance activity has temporarily 

or permanently ceased, the application of soil stabilization measures must 

be initiated by the end of the next business day and completed within 

fourteen (14) days from the date the current soil disturbance activity ceased. 

For construction sites that directly discharge to one of the 303(d) segments



(Part I.B.1.b) 

3 

 listed in Appendix E or is located in one of the watersheds listed in 

Appendix C, the application of soil stabilization measures must be initiated 

by the end of the next business day and completed within seven (7) days 

from the date the current soil disturbance activity ceased. See Appendix A 

for definition of Temporarily Ceased. 

 

c. Dewatering. Discharges from dewatering activities, including discharges 

from dewatering of trenches and excavations, must be managed by 

appropriate control measures. 

 

d. Pollution Prevention Measures. Design, install, implement, and maintain 

effective pollution prevention measures to minimize the discharge of 

pollutants and prevent a violation of the water quality standards. At a 

minimum, such measures must be designed, installed, implemented and 

maintained to: 

 

(i) Minimize the discharge of pollutants from equipment and vehicle 

washing, wheel wash water, and other wash waters. This applies to 

washing operations that   use clean water only. Soaps, detergents and 

solvents cannot be used; 

 

(ii) Minimize the exposure of building materials, building products, 

construction wastes, trash, landscape materials, fertilizers, pesticides, 

herbicides, detergents, sanitary waste, hazardous and toxic waste, and 

other materials present on the site to precipitation and to stormwater. 

Minimization of exposure is not required in cases where the exposure 

to precipitation and to stormwater will not result in a discharge of 

pollutants, or where exposure of a specific material or product poses 

little risk of stormwater contamination (such as final products and 

materials intended for outdoor use) ; and 

 

(iii) Prevent the discharge of pollutants from spills and leaks and 

implement chemical spill and leak prevention and response 

procedures. 

 

e. Prohibited Discharges. The following discharges are prohibited: 

 

(i) Wastewater from washout of concrete; 

 

(ii) Wastewater from washout and cleanout of stucco, paint, form release 

oils, curing compounds and other construction materials;



(Part I.B.1.e.iii) 

4 

(iii) Fuels, oils, or other pollutants used in vehicle and equipment operation 

and maintenance; 

 

(iv) Soaps or solvents used in vehicle and equipment washing; and 

 

(v) Toxic or hazardous substances from a spill or other release. 

 

f. Surface Outlets. When discharging from basins and impoundments, the 

outlets shall be designed, constructed and maintained in such a manner 

that sediment does not leave the basin or impoundment and that erosion at 

or below the outlet does not occur.    

C. Post-construction Stormwater Management Practice Requirements 
 

1. The owner or operator of a construction activity that requires post-construction 

stormwater management practices pursuant to Part III.C. of this permit must 

select, design, install, and maintain the practices to meet the performance 

criteria in the New York State Stormwater Management Design Manual 

(“Design Manual”), dated January 2015, using sound engineering judgment. 

Where post-construction stormwater management practices (“SMPs”) are not 

designed in conformance with the performance criteria in the Design Manual, 

the owner or operator must include in the SWPPP the reason(s) for the 

deviation or alternative design and provide information which demonstrates that 

the deviation or alternative design is equivalent to the technical standard. 

 

2. The owner or operator of a construction activity that requires post-construction 

stormwater management practices pursuant to Part III.C. of this permit must 

design the practices to meet the applicable sizing criteria in Part I.C.2.a., b., c. 

or d. of this permit.  

 

a. Sizing Criteria for New Development  

 

(i) Runoff Reduction Volume (“RRv”):  Reduce the total Water Quality 

Volume (“WQv”) by application of RR techniques and standard SMPs 

with RRv capacity. The total WQv shall be calculated in accordance 

with the criteria in Section 4.2 of the Design Manual. 

 

(ii) Minimum RRv and Treatment of Remaining Total WQv: Construction 

activities that cannot meet the criteria in Part I.C.2.a.(i) of this permit 

due to site limitations shall direct runoff from all newly constructed 

impervious areas to a RR technique or standard SMP with RRv 

capacity unless infeasible. The specific site limitations that prevent the 

reduction of 100% of the WQv shall be documented in the SWPPP.



(Part I.C.2.a.ii) 

5 

For each impervious area that is not directed to a RR technique or 

standard SMP with RRv capacity, the SWPPP must include 

documentation which demonstrates that all options were considered 

and for each option explains why it is considered infeasible.  

In no case shall the runoff reduction achieved from the newly 

constructed impervious areas be less than the Minimum RRv as 

calculated using the criteria in Section 4.3 of the Design Manual. 

The remaining portion of the total WQv that cannot be reduced shall be 

treated by application of standard SMPs. 

(iii) Channel Protection Volume (“Cpv”): Provide 24 hour extended 

detention of the post-developed 1-year, 24-hour storm event; 

remaining after runoff reduction. The Cpv requirement does not apply 

when: 

(1) Reduction of the entire Cpv is achieved by application of runoff 

reduction techniques or infiltration systems, or 

(2) The site discharges directly to tidal waters, or fifth order or larger 

streams.  

 

(iv) Overbank Flood Control Criteria (“Qp”): Requires storage to attenuate 

the post-development 10-year, 24-hour peak discharge rate (Qp) to 

predevelopment rates. The Qp requirement does not apply when: 

(1) the site discharges directly to tidal waters or fifth order or larger 

streams, or 

(2) A downstream analysis reveals that overbank control is not 

required. 

 

(v) Extreme Flood Control Criteria (“Qf”): Requires storage to attenuate 

the post-development 100-year, 24-hour peak discharge rate (Qf) to 

predevelopment rates. The Qf requirement does not apply when: 

(1) the site discharges directly to tidal waters or fifth order or larger 

streams, or 

(2) A downstream analysis reveals that overbank control is not 

required. 

 

b. Sizing Criteria for New Development in Enhanced Phosphorus 

Removal Watershed  

 

(i) Runoff Reduction Volume (RRv):  Reduce the total Water Quality 

Volume (WQv) by application of RR techniques and standard SMPs 

with RRv capacity. The total WQv is the runoff volume from the 1-year, 

24 hour design storm over the post-developed watershed and shall be



(Part I.C.2.b.i) 

6 

calculated in accordance with the criteria in Section 10.3 of the Design 

Manual. 

 

(ii) Minimum RRv and Treatment of Remaining Total WQv: Construction 

activities that cannot meet the criteria in Part I.C.2.b.(i) of this permit 

due to site limitations shall direct runoff from all newly constructed 

impervious areas to a RR technique or standard SMP with RRv 

capacity unless infeasible. The specific site limitations that prevent the 

reduction of 100% of the WQv shall be documented in the SWPPP. 

For each impervious area that is not directed to a RR technique or 

standard SMP with RRv capacity, the SWPPP must include 

documentation which demonstrates that all options were considered 

and for each option explains why it is considered infeasible.  

In no case shall the runoff reduction achieved from the newly 
constructed impervious areas be less than the Minimum RRv as 
calculated using the criteria in Section 10.3 of the Design Manual. 
The remaining portion of the total WQv that cannot be reduced shall be 
treated by application of standard SMPs.  
 

(iii) Channel Protection Volume (Cpv): Provide 24 hour extended detention 

of the post-developed 1-year, 24-hour storm event; remaining after 

runoff reduction. The Cpv requirement does not apply when: 

(1) Reduction of the entire Cpv is achieved by application of runoff 

reduction techniques or infiltration systems, or 

(2) The site discharges directly to tidal waters, or fifth order or larger 

streams. 

 

(iv) Overbank Flood Control Criteria (Qp): Requires storage to attenuate 

the post-development 10-year, 24-hour peak discharge rate (Qp) to 

predevelopment rates. The Qp requirement does not apply when: 

(1) the site discharges directly to tidal waters or fifth order or larger 

streams, or 

(2) A downstream analysis reveals that overbank control is not 

required. 

 

(v) Extreme Flood Control Criteria (Qf): Requires storage to attenuate the 

post-development 100-year, 24-hour peak discharge rate (Qf) to 

predevelopment rates. The Qf requirement does not apply when: 

(1) the site discharges directly to tidal waters or fifth order or larger 

streams, or 

(2) A downstream analysis reveals that overbank control is not 

required.



(Part I.C.2.c) 

7 

c. Sizing Criteria for Redevelopment Activity  

 

(i) Water Quality Volume (WQv): The WQv treatment objective for 

redevelopment activity shall be addressed by one of the following 

options. Redevelopment activities located in an Enhanced Phosphorus 

Removal Watershed (see Part III.B.3. and Appendix C of this permit) 

shall calculate the WQv in accordance with Section 10.3 of the Design 

Manual. All other redevelopment activities shall calculate the WQv in 

accordance with Section 4.2 of the Design Manual.   

(1) Reduce the existing impervious cover by a minimum of 25% of the 
total disturbed, impervious area. The Soil Restoration criteria in 
Section 5.1.6 of the Design Manual must be applied to all newly 
created pervious areas, or 

(2) Capture and treat a minimum of 25% of the WQv from the disturbed, 
impervious area by the application of standard SMPs; or reduce 25%  
of the WQv from the disturbed, impervious area by the application of 
RR techniques or standard SMPs with RRv capacity., or 

(3) Capture and treat a minimum of 75% of the WQv from the disturbed, 
impervious area as well as any additional runoff from tributary areas 
by application of the alternative practices discussed in Sections 9.3 
and 9.4 of the Design Manual., or 

(4) Application of a combination of 1, 2 and 3 above that provide a 
weighted average of at least two of the above methods. Application 
of this method shall be in accordance with the criteria in Section 
9.2.1(B) (IV) of the Design Manual. 
 

If there is an existing post-construction stormwater management 
practice located on the site that captures and treats runoff from the 
impervious area that is being disturbed, the WQv treatment option 
selected must, at a minimum, provide treatment equal to the treatment 
that was being provided by the existing practice(s) if that treatment is 
greater than the treatment required by options 1 – 4 above.  
 

(ii) Channel Protection Volume (Cpv):  Not required if there are no 

changes to hydrology that increase the discharge rate from the project 

site. 

 

(iii) Overbank Flood Control Criteria (Qp): Not required if there are no 

changes to hydrology that increase the discharge rate from the project 

site.  

 

(iv) Extreme Flood Control Criteria (Qf): Not required if there are no 
changes to hydrology that increase the discharge rate from the project 
site



(Part I.C.2.d) 

8 

d. Sizing Criteria for Combination of Redevelopment Activity and New 

Development 

Construction projects that include both New Development and Redevelopment 

Activity shall provide post-construction stormwater management controls that 

meet the sizing criteria calculated as an aggregate of the Sizing Criteria in Part 

I.C.2.a. or b. of this permit for the New Development portion of the project and 

Part I.C.2.c of this permit for Redevelopment Activity portion of the project. 

 

D. Maintaining Water Quality 

 
The Department expects that compliance with the conditions of this permit will control 

discharges necessary to meet applicable water quality standards. It shall be a violation 

of the ECL for any discharge to either cause or contribute to a violation of water quality 

standards as contained in Parts 700 through 705 of Title 6 of the Official Compilation of 

Codes, Rules and Regulations of the State of New York, such as: 

1. There shall be no increase in turbidity that will cause a substantial visible contrast 

to natural conditions; 

 

2. There shall be no increase in suspended, colloidal or settleable solids that will 

cause deposition or impair the waters for their best usages; and 

 

3. There shall be no residue from oil and floating substances, nor visible oil film, nor 
globules of grease. 

 
If there is evidence indicating that the stormwater discharges authorized by this permit 
are causing, have the reasonable potential to cause, or are contributing to a violation of 
the water quality standards; the owner or operator must take appropriate corrective 
action in accordance with Part IV.C.5. of this general permit and document in 
accordance with Part IV.C.4. of this general permit. To address the water quality 
standard violation the owner or operator may need to provide additional information, 
include and implement appropriate controls in the SWPPP to correct the problem, or 
obtain an individual SPDES permit. 
 
If there is evidence indicating that despite compliance with the terms and conditions of 
this general permit it is demonstrated that the stormwater discharges authorized by this 
permit are causing or contributing to a violation of water quality standards, or if the 
Department determines that a modification of the permit is necessary to prevent a 
violation of water quality standards, the authorized discharges will no longer be eligible 
for coverage under this permit.  The Department may require the owner or operator to 
obtain an individual SPDES permit to continue discharging.



(Part I.E) 

9 

E. Eligibility Under This General Permit 
 

1. This permit may authorize all discharges of stormwater from construction 

activity to surface waters of the State and groundwaters except for ineligible 

discharges identified under subparagraph F. of this Part. 

 

2. Except for non-stormwater discharges explicitly listed in the next paragraph, 

this permit only authorizes stormwater discharges; including stormwater runoff, 

snowmelt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage, from construction activities. 

 

3. Notwithstanding paragraphs E.1 and E.2 above, the following non-stormwater 

discharges are authorized by this permit:  those listed in 6 NYCRR 750-

1.2(a)(29)(vi), with the following exception: “Discharges from firefighting 

activities are authorized only when the firefighting activities are 

emergencies/unplanned”; waters to which other components have not been 

added that are used to control dust in accordance with the SWPPP; and 

uncontaminated discharges from construction site de-watering operations. All 

non-stormwater discharges must be identified in the SWPPP.  Under all 

circumstances, the owner or operator must still comply with water quality 

standards in Part I.D of this permit. 

 

4. The owner or operator must maintain permit eligibility to discharge under this 
permit.  Any discharges that are not compliant with the eligibility conditions of 
this permit are not authorized by the permit and the owner or operator must 
either apply for a separate permit to cover those ineligible discharges or take 
steps necessary to make the discharge eligible for coverage.  

 
F. Activities Which Are Ineligible for Coverage Under This General Permit 

 
All of the following are not authorized by this permit: 

1. Discharges after construction activities have been completed and the site has 

undergone final stabilization; 

 

2. Discharges that are mixed with sources of non-stormwater other than those 

expressly authorized under subsection E.3. of this Part and identified in the 

SWPPP required by this permit; 

 

3. Discharges that are required to obtain an individual SPDES permit or another 

SPDES general permit pursuant to Part VII.K. of this permit; 

 

4. Construction activities or discharges from construction activities that may 

adversely affect an endangered or threatened species unless the owner or



(Part I.F.4) 

10 

operator has obtained a permit issued pursuant to 6 NYCRR Part 182 for the 

project or the Department has issued a letter of non-jurisdiction for the project. 

All documentation necessary to demonstrate eligibility shall be maintained on 

site in accordance with Part II.D.2 of this permit; 

 

5. Discharges which either cause or contribute to a violation of water quality 

standards adopted pursuant to the ECL and its accompanying regulations; 

 

6. Construction activities for residential, commercial and institutional projects: 

 

a. Where the discharges from the construction activities are tributary to waters 

of the state classified as AA or AA-s; and 

 

b. Which are undertaken on land with no existing impervious cover; and  

 

c. Which disturb one (1) or more acres of  land designated   on the current 

United States Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) Soil Survey  as Soil 

Slope Phase “D”, (provided the map unit name is inclusive of slopes greater 

than 25%), or Soil Slope Phase “E” or “F” (regardless of the map unit 

name), or a combination of the three designations.  

 

7. Construction activities for linear transportation projects and linear utility 

projects: 

 

a. Where the discharges from the construction activities are tributary to waters 

of the state classified as AA or AA-s; and 

 

b. Which are undertaken on land with no existing impervious cover; and 

 

c. Which disturb two (2) or more acres of land designated on the current USDA 

Soil Survey as Soil Slope Phase “D” (provided the map unit name is inclusive of 

slopes greater than 25%), or Soil Slope Phase “E” or “F” (regardless of the map 

unit name), or a combination of the three designations. 



(Part I.F.8) 

11 

8. Construction activities that have the potential to affect an historic property, 

unless there is documentation that such impacts have been resolved. The 

following documentation necessary to demonstrate eligibility with this 

requirement shall be maintained on site in accordance with Part II.D.2 of this 

permit and made available to the Department in accordance with Part VII.F of 

this permit: 

 

a. Documentation that the construction activity is not within an archeologically 

sensitive area indicated on the sensitivity map, and that the construction 

activity is not located on or immediately adjacent to a property listed or 

determined to be eligible for listing on the National or State Registers of 

Historic Places, and that there is no new permanent building on the 

construction site within the following distances from a building, structure, or 

object that is more than 50 years old, or if there is such a new permanent 

building on the construction site within those parameters that NYS Office of 

Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation (OPRHP), a Historic 

Preservation Commission of a Certified Local Government, or a qualified 

preservation professional has determined that the building, structure, or 

object more than 50 years old is not historically/archeologically significant. 

 

▪ 1-5 acres of disturbance - 20 feet 

▪ 5-20 acres of disturbance - 50 feet 

▪ 20+ acres of disturbance - 100 feet, or        

 

b. DEC consultation form sent to OPRHP, and copied to the NYS DEC Agency 

Historic Preservation Officer (APO), and  

(i) the State Environmental Quality Review (SEQR) Environmental 

Assessment Form (EAF) with a negative declaration or the Findings 

Statement, with documentation of OPRHP’s agreement with the 

resolution; or 

(ii) documentation from OPRHP that the construction activity will result in 

No Impact; or 

(iii) documentation from OPRHP providing a determination of No Adverse 

Impact; or 

(iv) a Letter of Resolution signed by the owner/operator, OPRHP and the 

DEC APO which allows for this construction activity to be eligible for 

coverage under the general permit in terms of the State Historic 

Preservation Act (SHPA); or 

 

c. Documentation of satisfactory compliance with Section 106 of the National 

Historic Preservation Act for a coterminous project area:



(Part I.F.8.c) 

12 

(i) No Affect 

(ii) No Adverse Affect 

(iii) Executed Memorandum of Agreement, or   

 

d. Documentation that: 

 

(i) SHPA Section 14.09 has been completed by NYS DEC or another state 

agency. 

 

9. Discharges from construction activities that are subject to an existing SPDES 

individual or general permit where a SPDES permit for construction activity has 

been terminated or denied; or where the owner or operator has failed to renew 

an expired individual permit. 

 

Part II. PERMIT COVERAGE 
 

A. How to Obtain Coverage 
 

1. An owner or operator of a construction activity that is not subject to the 

requirements of a regulated, traditional land use control MS4 must first prepare 

a SWPPP in accordance with all applicable requirements of this permit and 

then submit a completed Notice of Intent (NOI) to the Department to be 

authorized to discharge under this permit.  

 

2. An owner or operator of a construction activity that is subject to the 

requirements of a regulated, traditional land use control MS4 must first prepare 

a SWPPP in accordance with all applicable requirements of this permit and 

then have the SWPPP reviewed and accepted by the regulated, traditional land 

use control MS4 prior to submitting the NOI to the Department. The owner or 

operator shall have the “MS4 SWPPP Acceptance” form signed in accordance 

with Part VII.H., and then submit that form along with a completed NOI to the 

Department.  

 

3. The requirement for an owner or operator to have its SWPPP reviewed and 
accepted by the regulated, traditional land use control MS4 prior to submitting 
the NOI to the Department does not apply to an owner or operator that is 
obtaining permit coverage in accordance with the requirements in Part II.F. 
(Change of Owner or Operator) or where the owner or operator of the 
construction activity is the regulated, traditional land use control MS4 .  This 
exemption does not apply to construction activities subject to the New York City 
Administrative Code.   



(Part II.B) 

13 

B. Notice of Intent (NOI) Submittal 
 

1. Prior to December 21, 2020, an owner or operator shall use either the 
electronic (eNOI) or paper version of the NOI that the Department prepared. 
Both versions of the NOI are located on the Department’s website 
(http://www.dec.ny.gov/ ). The paper version of the NOI shall be signed in 
accordance with Part VII.H. of this permit and submitted to the following 
address:  

 
NOTICE OF INTENT 
NYS DEC, Bureau of Water Permits 
625 Broadway, 4th Floor 
Albany, New York 12233-3505 

 
2. Beginning December 21, 2020 and in accordance with EPA’s 2015 NPDES 

Electronic Reporting Rule (40 CFR Part 127), the owner or operator must submit 
the NOI electronically using the Department’s online NOI. 

 
3. The owner or operator shall have the SWPPP preparer sign the “SWPPP 

Preparer Certification” statement on the NOI prior to submitting the form to the 
Department. 

 

4. As of the date the NOI is submitted to the Department, the owner or operator 
shall make the NOI and SWPPP available for review and copying in accordance 
with the requirements in Part VII.F. of this permit. 

 

C. Permit Authorization 
 

1. An owner or operator shall not commence construction activity until their 

authorization to discharge under this permit goes into effect. 

 

2. Authorization to discharge under this permit will be effective when the owner or 

operator has satisfied all of the following criteria: 

 

a. project review pursuant to the State Environmental Quality Review Act 

(“SEQRA”) have been satisfied, when SEQRA is applicable. See the 

Department’s website (http://www.dec.ny.gov/) for more information, 

 

b. where required, all necessary Department permits subject to the Uniform 

Procedures Act (“UPA”) (see 6 NYCRR Part 621), or the equivalent from 

another New York State agency, have been obtained, unless otherwise 

notified by the Department pursuant to 6 NYCRR 621.3(a)(4). Owners or 

operators of construction activities that are required to obtain UPA permits

http://www.dec.ny.gov/
http://www.dec.ny.gov/


(Part II.C.2.b) 

14 

must submit a preliminary SWPPP to the appropriate DEC Permit 

Administrator at the Regional Office listed in Appendix F at the time all other 

necessary UPA permit applications are submitted. The preliminary SWPPP 

must include sufficient information to demonstrate that the construction 

activity qualifies for authorization under this permit, 

 

c. the final SWPPP has been prepared, and 

 

d. a complete NOI has been submitted to the Department in accordance with 

the requirements of this permit. 

 

3. An owner or operator that has satisfied the requirements of Part II.C.2 above 

will be authorized to discharge stormwater from their construction activity in 

accordance with the following schedule: 

 

a. For construction activities that are not subject to the requirements of a 

regulated, traditional land use control MS4: 

 

(i) Five (5) business days from the date the Department receives a 

complete electronic version of the NOI (eNOI) for construction activities 

with a SWPPP that has been prepared in conformance with the design 

criteria in the technical standard referenced in Part III.B.1 and the 

performance criteria in the technical standard referenced in Parts III.B., 

2 or 3, for construction activities that require post-construction 

stormwater management practices pursuant to Part III.C.; or  

 

(ii) Sixty (60) business days from the date the Department receives a 

complete NOI (electronic or paper version) for construction activities 

with a SWPPP that has not been prepared in conformance with the 

design criteria in technical standard referenced in Part III.B.1. or, for 

construction activities that require post-construction stormwater 

management practices pursuant to Part III.C., the performance criteria 

in the technical standard referenced in Parts III.B., 2 or 3, or; 

 

(iii) Ten (10) business days from the date the Department receives a 

complete paper version of the NOI for construction activities with a 

SWPPP that has been prepared in conformance with the design 

criteria in the technical standard referenced in Part III.B.1 and the 

performance criteria in the technical standard referenced in Parts III.B., 

2 or 3, for construction activities that require post-construction 

stormwater management practices pursuant to Part III.C.



(Part II.C.3.b) 

15 

b. For construction activities that are subject to the requirements of a 

regulated, traditional land use control MS4:  

 

(i) Five (5) business days from the date the Department receives both a 

complete electronic version of the NOI (eNOI) and signed “MS4 

SWPPP Acceptance” form, or 

 

(ii) Ten (10) business days from the date the Department receives both a 
complete paper version of the NOI and signed “MS4 SWPPP 
Acceptance” form. 
 

4. Coverage under this permit authorizes stormwater discharges from only those 
areas of disturbance that are identified in the NOI. If an owner or operator 
wishes to have stormwater discharges from future or additional areas of 
disturbance authorized, they must submit a new NOI that addresses that phase 
of the development, unless otherwise notified by the Department. The owner or 
operator shall not commence construction activity on the future or additional 
areas until their authorization to discharge under this permit goes into effect in 
accordance with Part II.C. of this permit. 

 

D. General Requirements For Owners or Operators With Permit Coverage 

 
1. The owner or operator shall ensure that the provisions of the SWPPP are 

implemented from the commencement of construction activity until all areas of 

disturbance have achieved final stabilization and the Notice of Termination 

(“NOT”) has been submitted to the Department in accordance with Part V. of 

this permit. This includes any changes made to the SWPPP pursuant to Part 

III.A.4. of this permit. 

 

2. The owner or operator shall maintain a copy of the General Permit (GP-0-20-

001), NOI, NOI Acknowledgment Letter, SWPPP, MS4 SWPPP Acceptance 

form, inspection reports, responsible contractor’s or subcontractor’s certification 

statement (see Part III.A.6.), and all documentation necessary to demonstrate 

eligibility with this permit at the construction site until all disturbed areas have 

achieved final stabilization and the NOT has been submitted to the Department. 

The documents must be maintained in a secure location, such as a job trailer, 

on-site construction office, or mailbox with lock. The secure location must be 

accessible during normal business hours to an individual performing a 

compliance inspection. 

 

3. The owner or operator of a construction activity shall not disturb greater than 
five (5) acres of soil at any one time without prior written authorization from the 
Department or, in areas under the jurisdiction of a regulated, traditional land 



(Part II.D.3) 

16 

use control MS4, the regulated, traditional land use control MS4 (provided the 
regulated, traditional land use control MS4 is not the owner or operator of the 
construction activity). At a minimum, the owner or operator must comply with 
the following requirements in order to be authorized to disturb greater than five 
(5) acres of soil at any one time: 

 
a. The owner or operator shall have a qualified inspector conduct at least two 

(2) site inspections in accordance with Part IV.C. of this permit every seven 

(7) calendar days, for as long as greater than five (5) acres of soil remain 

disturbed. The two (2) inspections shall be separated by a minimum of two 

(2) full calendar days. 

 

b. In areas where soil disturbance activity has temporarily or permanently 

ceased, the application of soil stabilization measures must be initiated by 

the end of the next business day and completed within seven (7) days from 

the date the current soil disturbance activity ceased. The soil stabilization 

measures selected shall be in conformance with the technical standard, 

New York State Standards and Specifications for Erosion and Sediment 

Control, dated November 2016. 

 

c. The owner or operator shall prepare a phasing plan that defines maximum 

disturbed area per phase and shows required cuts and fills. 

 

d. The owner or operator shall install any additional site-specific practices 

needed to protect water quality. 

 

e. The owner or operator shall include the requirements above in their 
SWPPP. 
 

4. In accordance with statute, regulations, and the terms and conditions of this 

permit, the Department may suspend or revoke an owner’s or operator’s 

coverage under this permit at any time if the Department determines that the 

SWPPP does not meet the permit requirements or consistent with Part VII.K.. 

 

5. Upon a finding of significant non-compliance with the practices described in the 

SWPPP or violation of this permit, the Department may order an immediate 

stop to all activity at the site until the non-compliance is remedied. The stop 

work order shall be in writing, describe the non-compliance in detail, and be 

sent to the owner or operator. 

 

6. For construction activities that are subject to the requirements of a regulated, 
traditional land use control MS4, the owner or operator shall notify the 



(Part II.D.6) 

17 

regulated, traditional land use control MS4 in writing of any planned 
amendments or modifications to the post-construction stormwater management 
practice component of the SWPPP required by Part III.A. 4. and 5. of this 
permit. Unless otherwise notified by the regulated, traditional land use control 
MS4, the owner or operator shall have the SWPPP amendments or 
modifications reviewed and accepted by the regulated, traditional land use 
control MS4 prior to commencing construction of the post-construction 
stormwater management practice. 

 

E. Permit Coverage for Discharges Authorized Under GP-0-15-002 

 

1. Upon renewal of SPDES General Permit for Stormwater Discharges from 

Construction Activity (Permit No. GP-0-15-002), an owner or operator of a 

construction activity with coverage under GP-0-15-002, as of the effective date 

of GP- 0-20-001, shall be authorized to discharge in accordance with GP- 0-20-

001, unless otherwise notified by the Department. 

 

An owner or operator may continue to implement the technical/design 
components of the post-construction stormwater management controls 
provided that such design was done in conformance with the technical 
standards in place at the time of initial project authorization. However, they 
must comply with the other, non-design provisions of GP-0-20-001.  

 
F. Change of Owner or Operator 

 
1. When property ownership changes or when there is a change in operational 

control over the construction plans and specifications, the original owner or 

operator must notify the new owner or operator, in writing, of the requirement to 

obtain permit coverage by submitting a NOI with the Department. For 

construction activities subject to the requirements of a regulated, traditional 

land use control MS4, the original owner or operator must also notify the MS4, 

in writing, of the change in ownership at least 30 calendar days prior to the 

change in ownership. 

 

2. Once the new owner or operator obtains permit coverage, the original owner or 

operator shall then submit a completed NOT with the name and permit 

identification number of the new owner or operator to the Department at the 

address in Part II.B.1. of this permit. If the original owner or operator maintains 

ownership of a portion of the construction activity and will disturb soil, they must 

maintain their coverage under the permit.  

 

3. Permit coverage for the new owner or operator will be effective as of the date 

the Department receives a complete NOI, provided the original owner or 



(Part II.F.3) 

18 

operator was not subject to a sixty (60) business day authorization period that 

has not expired as of the date the Department receives the NOI from the new 

owner or operator. 

 

Part III. STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN (SWPPP)  

 

A. General SWPPP Requirements 

 
1. A SWPPP shall be prepared and implemented by the owner or operator of 

each construction activity covered by this permit. The SWPPP must document 

the selection, design, installation, implementation and maintenance of the 

control measures and practices that will be used to meet the effluent limitations 

in Part I.B. of this permit and where applicable, the post-construction 

stormwater management practice requirements in Part I.C. of this permit. The 

SWPPP shall be prepared prior to the submittal of the NOI. The NOI shall be 

submitted to the Department prior to the commencement of construction 

activity. A copy of the completed, final NOI shall be included in the SWPPP. 

 

2. The SWPPP shall describe the erosion and sediment control practices and 

where required, post-construction stormwater management practices that will 

be used and/or constructed to reduce the pollutants in stormwater discharges 

and to assure compliance with the terms and conditions of this permit. In 

addition, the SWPPP shall identify potential sources of pollution which may 

reasonably be expected to affect the quality of stormwater discharges. 

 

3. All SWPPPs that require the post-construction stormwater management 

practice component shall be prepared by a qualified professional that is 

knowledgeable in the principles and practices of stormwater management and 

treatment. 

 

4. The owner or operator must keep the SWPPP current so that it at all times 

accurately documents the erosion and sediment controls practices that are 

being used or will be used during construction, and all post-construction 

stormwater management practices that will be constructed on the site.  At a 

minimum, the owner or operator shall amend the SWPPP, including 

construction drawings: 

 

a. whenever the current provisions prove to be ineffective in minimizing 

pollutants in stormwater discharges from the site;



(Part III.A.4.b) 

19 

b. whenever there is a change in design, construction, or operation at the 

construction site that has or could have an effect on the discharge of 

pollutants;  

 

c. to address issues or deficiencies identified during an inspection by the 

qualified inspector, the Department or other regulatory authority; and 

 

d. to document the final construction conditions. 

 

5. The Department may notify the owner or operator at any time that the SWPPP 

does not meet one or more of the minimum requirements of this permit. The 

notification shall be in writing and identify the provisions of the SWPPP that 

require modification. Within fourteen (14) calendar days of such notification, or 

as otherwise indicated by the Department, the owner or operator shall make 

the required changes to the SWPPP and submit written notification to the 

Department that the changes have been made. If the owner or operator does 

not respond to the Department’s comments in the specified time frame, the 

Department may suspend the owner’s or operator’s coverage under this permit 

or require the owner or operator to obtain coverage under an individual SPDES 

permit in accordance with Part II.D.4. of this permit. 

 

6. Prior to the commencement of construction activity, the owner or operator must 

identify the contractor(s) and subcontractor(s) that will be responsible for 

installing, constructing, repairing, replacing, inspecting and maintaining the 

erosion and sediment control practices included in the SWPPP; and the 

contractor(s) and subcontractor(s) that will be responsible for constructing the 

post-construction stormwater management practices included in the SWPPP. 

The owner or operator shall have each of the contractors and subcontractors 

identify at least one person from their company that will be responsible for 

implementation of the SWPPP. This person shall be known as the trained 

contractor. The owner or operator shall ensure that at least one trained 

contractor is on site on a daily basis when soil disturbance activities are being 

performed. 

 

The owner or operator shall have each of the contractors and subcontractors 

identified above sign a copy of the following certification statement below 

before they commence any construction activity: 

 

"I hereby certify under penalty of law that I understand and agree to comply 

with the terms and conditions of the SWPPP and agree to implement any 

corrective actions identified by the qualified inspector during a site 

inspection.  I also understand that the owner or operator must comply with 



(Part III.A.6) 

20 

the terms and conditions of the most current version of the New York State 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("SPDES") general permit for 

stormwater discharges from construction activities and that it is unlawful for 

any person to cause or contribute to a violation of water quality standards. 

Furthermore, I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting 

false information, that I do not believe to be true, including the possibility of 

fine and imprisonment for knowing violations" 

 

In addition to providing the certification statement above, the certification page 

must also identify the specific elements of the SWPPP that each contractor and 

subcontractor will be responsible for and include the name and title of the 

person providing the signature; the name and title of the trained contractor 

responsible for SWPPP implementation; the name, address and telephone 

number of the contracting firm; the address (or other identifying description) of 

the site; and the date the certification statement is signed. The owner or 

operator shall attach the certification statement(s) to the copy of the SWPPP 

that is maintained at the construction site. If new or additional contractors are 

hired to implement measures identified in the SWPPP after construction has 

commenced, they must also sign the certification statement and provide the 

information listed above.  

 

7. For projects where the Department requests a copy of the SWPPP or 

inspection reports, the owner or operator shall submit the documents in both 

electronic (PDF only) and paper format within five (5) business days, unless 

otherwise notified by the Department.  

 

B. Required SWPPP Contents 

 
1. Erosion and sediment control component - All SWPPPs prepared pursuant to 

this permit shall include erosion and sediment control practices designed in 

conformance with the technical standard, New York State Standards and 

Specifications for Erosion and Sediment Control, dated November 2016. Where 

erosion and sediment control practices are not designed in conformance with 

the design criteria included in the technical standard, the owner or operator 

must demonstrate equivalence to the technical standard. At a minimum, the 

erosion and sediment control component of the SWPPP shall include the 

following: 

 

a. Background information about the scope of the project, including the 

location, type and size of project



(Part III.B.1.b) 

21 

b. A site map/construction drawing(s) for the project, including a general 

location map. At a minimum, the site map shall show the total site area; all 

improvements; areas of disturbance; areas that will not be disturbed; 

existing vegetation; on-site and adjacent off-site surface water(s); 

floodplain/floodway boundaries; wetlands and drainage patterns that could 

be affected by the construction activity; existing and final contours ; 

locations of different soil types with boundaries; material, waste, borrow or 

equipment storage areas located on adjacent properties; and location(s) of 

the stormwater discharge(s); 

 

c. A description of the soil(s) present at the site, including an identification of 

the Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG); 

 

d. A construction phasing plan and sequence of operations describing the 

intended order of construction activities, including clearing and grubbing, 

excavation and grading, utility and infrastructure installation and any other 

activity at the site that results in soil disturbance; 

 

e. A description of the minimum erosion and sediment control practices to be 

installed or implemented for each construction activity that will result in soil 

disturbance. Include a schedule that identifies the timing of initial placement 

or implementation of each erosion and sediment control practice and the 

minimum time frames that each practice should remain in place or be 

implemented; 

 

f. A temporary and permanent soil stabilization plan that meets the 

requirements of this general permit and the technical standard, New York 

State Standards and Specifications for Erosion and Sediment Control, dated 

November 2016, for each stage of the project, including initial land clearing 

and grubbing to project completion and achievement of final stabilization; 

 

g. A site map/construction drawing(s) showing the specific location(s), size(s), 

and length(s) of each erosion and sediment control practice; 

 

h. The dimensions, material specifications, installation details, and operation 

and maintenance requirements for all erosion and sediment control 

practices. Include the location and sizing of any temporary sediment basins 

and structural practices that will be used to divert flows from exposed soils; 

 

i. A maintenance inspection schedule for the contractor(s) identified in Part 

III.A.6. of this permit, to ensure continuous and effective operation of the 

erosion and sediment control practices. The maintenance inspection 



(Part III.B.1.i) 

22 

schedule shall be in accordance with the requirements in the technical 

standard, New York State Standards and Specifications for Erosion and 

Sediment Control, dated November 2016; 

 

j. A description of the pollution prevention measures that will be used to 

control litter, construction chemicals and construction debris from becoming 

a pollutant source in the stormwater discharges; 

 

k. A description and location of any stormwater discharges associated with 

industrial activity other than construction at the site, including, but not limited 

to, stormwater discharges from asphalt plants and concrete plants located 

on the construction site; and 

 

l. Identification of any elements of the design that are not in conformance with 

the design criteria in the technical standard, New York State Standards and 

Specifications for Erosion and Sediment Control, dated November 2016. 

Include the reason for the deviation or alternative design and provide 

information which demonstrates that the deviation or alternative design is 

equivalent to the technical standard. 

 

2. Post-construction stormwater management practice component – The owner or 

operator of any construction project identified in Table 2 of Appendix B as 

needing post-construction stormwater management practices shall prepare a 

SWPPP that includes practices designed in conformance with the applicable 

sizing criteria in Part I.C.2.a., c. or d. of this permit and the performance criteria 

in the technical standard, New York State Stormwater Management Design 

Manual dated January 2015 

 

Where post-construction stormwater management practices are not designed 

in conformance with the performance criteria in the technical standard, the 

owner or operator must include in the SWPPP the reason(s) for the deviation or 

alternative design and provide information which demonstrates that the 

deviation or alternative design is equivalent to the technical standard. 

 

The post-construction stormwater management practice component of the 

SWPPP shall include the following: 

 

a. Identification of all post-construction stormwater management practices to 

be constructed as part of the project. Include the dimensions, material 

specifications and installation details for each post-construction stormwater 

management practice;



(Part III.B.2.b) 

23 

b. A site map/construction drawing(s) showing the specific location and size of 

each post-construction stormwater management practice; 

 

c. A Stormwater Modeling and Analysis Report that includes: 

(i) Map(s) showing pre-development conditions, including 

watershed/subcatchments boundaries, flow paths/routing, and design 

points; 

 

(ii) Map(s) showing post-development conditions, including 

watershed/subcatchments boundaries, flow paths/routing, design 

points and post-construction stormwater management practices; 

 

(iii) Results of stormwater modeling (i.e. hydrology and hydraulic analysis) 

for the required storm events. Include supporting calculations (model 

runs), methodology, and a summary table that compares pre and post-

development runoff rates and volumes for the different storm events; 

 

(iv) Summary table, with supporting calculations, which demonstrates that 

each post-construction stormwater management practice has been 

designed in conformance with the sizing criteria included in the Design 

Manual; 

 

(v) Identification of any sizing criteria that is not required based on the 

requirements included in Part I.C. of this permit; and 

 

(vi) Identification of any elements of the design that are not in conformance 

with the performance criteria in the Design Manual.  Include the 

reason(s) for the deviation or alternative design and provide 

information which demonstrates that the deviation or alternative design 

is equivalent to the Design Manual; 

 

d. Soil testing results and locations (test pits, borings); 

 

e. Infiltration test results, when required; and 

 

f. An operations and maintenance plan that includes inspection and 

maintenance schedules and actions to ensure continuous and effective 

operation of each post-construction stormwater management practice. The 

plan shall identify the entity that will be responsible for the long term 

operation and maintenance of each practice.



(Part III.B.3) 

24 

3. Enhanced Phosphorus Removal Standards - All construction projects identified 
in Table 2 of Appendix B that are located in the watersheds identified in 
Appendix C shall prepare a SWPPP that includes post-construction stormwater 
management practices designed in conformance with the applicable sizing 
criteria in Part I.C.2. b., c. or d. of this permit and the performance criteria, 
Enhanced Phosphorus Removal Standards included in the Design Manual. At a 
minimum, the post-construction stormwater management practice component 
of the SWPPP shall include items 2.a - 2.f. above. 
 

C. Required SWPPP Components by Project Type 

 

Unless otherwise notified by the Department, owners or operators of construction 

activities identified in Table 1 of Appendix B are required to prepare a SWPPP that only 

includes erosion and sediment control practices designed in conformance with Part 

III.B.1 of this permit. Owners or operators of the construction activities identified in Table 

2 of Appendix B shall prepare a SWPPP that also includes post-construction stormwater 

management practices designed in conformance with Part III.B.2 or 3 of this permit.  

 

Part IV. INSPECTION AND MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. General Construction Site Inspection and Maintenance Requirements 

 

1. The owner or operator must ensure that all erosion and sediment control 

practices (including pollution prevention measures) and all post-construction 

stormwater management practices identified in the SWPPP are inspected and 

maintained in accordance with Part IV.B. and C. of this permit. 

 

2. The terms of this permit shall not be construed to prohibit the State of New 

York from exercising any authority pursuant to the ECL, common law or federal 

law, or prohibit New York State from taking any measures, whether civil or 

criminal, to prevent violations of the laws of the State of New York or protect 

the public health and safety and/or the environment. 

 

B. Contractor Maintenance Inspection Requirements 
 

1. The owner or operator of each construction activity identified in Tables 1 and 2 

of Appendix B shall have a trained contractor inspect the erosion and sediment 

control practices and pollution prevention measures being implemented within 

the active work area daily to ensure that they are being maintained in effective 

operating condition at all times. If deficiencies are identified, the contractor shall 



(Part IV.B.1) 

25 

begin implementing corrective actions within one business day and shall 

complete the corrective actions in a reasonable time frame. 

 

2. For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been temporarily 

suspended (e.g. winter shutdown) and temporary stabilization measures have 

been applied to all disturbed areas, the trained contractor can stop conducting 

the maintenance inspections. The trained contractor shall begin conducting the 

maintenance inspections in accordance with Part IV.B.1. of this permit as soon 

as soil disturbance activities resume. 

 

3. For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been shut down 
with partial project completion, the trained contractor can stop conducting the 
maintenance inspections if all areas disturbed as of the project shutdown date 
have achieved final stabilization and all post-construction stormwater 
management practices required for the completed portion of the project have 
been constructed in conformance with the SWPPP and are operational.  
 

C. Qualified Inspector Inspection Requirements 
 

The owner or operator shall have a qualified inspector conduct site inspections in 
conformance with the following requirements: 
 
[Note: The trained contractor identified in Part III.A.6. and IV.B. of this permit cannot 

conduct the qualified inspector site inspections unless they meet the qualified inspector 

qualifications included in Appendix A. In order to perform these inspections, the trained 

contractor would have to be a: 

▪ licensed Professional Engineer, 

▪ Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC), 

▪ New York State Erosion and Sediment Control Certificate Program holder 

▪ Registered Landscape Architect, or 

▪ someone working under the direct supervision of, and at the same company as, 

the licensed Professional Engineer or Registered Landscape Architect, provided 

they have received four (4) hours of Department endorsed training in proper 

erosion and sediment control principles from a Soil and Water Conservation 

District, or other Department endorsed entity]. 

 

1. A qualified inspector shall conduct site inspections for all construction activities 

identified in Tables 1 and 2 of Appendix B, with the exception of:  

 

a. the construction of a single family residential subdivision with 25% or less 

impervious cover at total site build-out that involves a soil disturbance of 

one (1) or more acres of land but less than five (5) acres and is not located 



(Part IV.C.1.a) 

26 

in one of the watersheds listed in Appendix C and not directly discharging to 

one of the 303(d) segments listed in Appendix E; 

 

b. the construction of a single family home that involves a soil disturbance of 

one (1) or more acres of land but less than five (5) acres and is not located 

in one of the watersheds listed in Appendix C and not directly discharging to 

one of the 303(d) segments listed in Appendix E;  

 

c. construction on agricultural property that involves a soil disturbance of one 

(1) or more acres of land but less than five (5) acres; and 

 

d. construction activities located in the watersheds identified in Appendix D 

that involve soil disturbances between five thousand (5,000) square feet 

and one (1) acre of land. 

 

2. Unless otherwise notified by the Department, the qualified inspector shall 

conduct site inspections in accordance with the following timetable: 

 

a. For construction sites where soil disturbance activities are on-going, the 

qualified inspector shall conduct a site inspection at least once every seven 

(7) calendar days. 

 

b. For construction sites where soil disturbance activities are on-going and the 

owner or operator has received authorization in accordance with Part II.D.3 

to disturb greater than five (5) acres of soil at any one time, the qualified 

inspector shall conduct at least two (2) site inspections every seven (7) 

calendar days. The two (2) inspections shall be separated by a minimum of 

two (2) full calendar days. 

 

c. For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been 

temporarily suspended (e.g. winter shutdown) and temporary stabilization 

measures have been applied to all disturbed areas, the qualified inspector 

shall conduct a site inspection at least once every thirty (30) calendar days. 

The owner or operator shall notify the DOW Water (SPDES) Program 

contact at the Regional Office (see contact information in Appendix F) or, in 

areas under the jurisdiction of a regulated, traditional land use control MS4, 

the regulated, traditional land use control MS4 (provided the regulated, 

traditional land use control MS4 is not the owner or operator of the 

construction activity) in writing prior to reducing the frequency of 

inspections.



(Part IV.C.2.d) 

27 

d. For construction sites where soil disturbance activities have been shut down 

with partial project completion, the qualified inspector can stop conducting 

inspections if all areas disturbed as of the project shutdown date have 

achieved final stabilization and all post-construction stormwater 

management practices required for the completed portion of the project 

have been constructed in conformance with the SWPPP and are 

operational. The owner or operator shall notify the DOW Water (SPDES) 

Program contact at the Regional Office (see contact information in Appendix 

F) or, in areas under the jurisdiction of a regulated, traditional land use 

control MS4, the regulated, traditional land use control MS4 (provided the 

regulated, traditional land use control MS4 is not the owner or operator of 

the construction activity) in writing prior to the shutdown. If soil disturbance 

activities are not resumed within 2 years from the date of shutdown, the 

owner or operator shall have the qualified inspector perform a final 

inspection and certify that all disturbed areas have achieved final 

stabilization, and all temporary, structural erosion and sediment control 

measures have been removed; and that all post-construction stormwater 

management practices have been constructed in conformance with the 

SWPPP by signing the “Final Stabilization” and “Post-Construction 

Stormwater Management Practice” certification statements on the NOT. The 

owner or operator shall then submit the completed NOT form to the address 

in Part II.B.1 of this permit. 

 

e. For construction sites that directly discharge to one of the 303(d) segments 

listed in Appendix E or is located in one of the watersheds listed in 

Appendix C, the qualified inspector shall conduct at least two (2) site 

inspections every seven (7) calendar days. The two (2) inspections shall be 

separated by a minimum of two (2) full calendar days. 

 

3. At a minimum, the qualified inspector shall inspect all erosion and sediment 

control practices and pollution prevention measures to ensure integrity and 

effectiveness, all post-construction stormwater management practices under 

construction to ensure that they are constructed in conformance with the 

SWPPP, all areas of disturbance that have not achieved final stabilization, all 

points of discharge to natural surface waterbodies located within, or 

immediately adjacent to, the property boundaries of  the construction site, and 

all points of discharge from the construction site. 

 

4. The qualified inspector shall prepare an inspection report subsequent to each 

and every inspection. At a minimum, the inspection report shall include and/or 

address the following:



(Part IV.C.4.a) 

28 

a. Date and time of inspection; 

 

b. Name and title of person(s) performing inspection; 

 

c. A description of the weather and soil conditions (e.g. dry, wet, saturated) at 

the time of the inspection; 

 

d. A description of the condition of the runoff at all points of discharge from the 

construction site. This shall include identification of any discharges of 

sediment from the construction site. Include discharges from conveyance 

systems (i.e. pipes, culverts, ditches, etc.) and overland flow; 

 

e. A description of the condition of all natural surface waterbodies located 

within, or immediately adjacent to, the property boundaries of the 

construction site which receive runoff from disturbed areas. This shall 

include identification of any discharges of sediment to the surface 

waterbody; 

 

f. Identification of all erosion and sediment control practices and pollution 

prevention measures that need repair or maintenance; 

 

g. Identification of all erosion and sediment control practices and pollution 

prevention measures that were not installed properly or are not functioning 

as designed and need to be reinstalled or replaced; 

 

h. Description and sketch of areas with active soil disturbance activity, areas 

that have been disturbed but are inactive at the time of the inspection, and 

areas that have been stabilized (temporary and/or final) since the last 

inspection; 

 

i. Current phase of construction of all post-construction stormwater 

management practices and identification of all construction that is not in 

conformance with the SWPPP and technical standards; 

 

j. Corrective action(s) that must be taken to install, repair, replace or maintain 

erosion and sediment control practices and pollution prevention measures; 

and to correct deficiencies identified with the construction of the post-

construction stormwater management practice(s); 

 

k. Identification and status of all corrective actions that were required by 

previous inspection; and



(Part IV.C.4.l) 

29 

l. Digital photographs, with date stamp, that clearly show the condition of all 

practices that have been identified as needing corrective actions. The 

qualified inspector shall attach paper color copies of the digital photographs 

to the inspection report being maintained onsite within seven (7) calendar 

days of the date of the inspection. The qualified inspector shall also take 

digital photographs, with date stamp, that clearly show the condition of the 

practice(s) after the corrective action has been completed. The qualified 

inspector shall attach paper color copies of the digital photographs to the 

inspection report that documents the completion of the corrective action 

work within seven (7) calendar days of that inspection. 

 

5. Within one business day of the completion of an inspection, the qualified 

inspector shall notify the owner or operator and appropriate contractor or 

subcontractor identified in Part III.A.6. of this permit of any corrective actions 

that need to be taken. The contractor or subcontractor shall begin implementing 

the corrective actions within one business day of this notification and shall 

complete the corrective actions in a reasonable time frame. 

 

6. All inspection reports shall be signed by the qualified inspector. Pursuant to 

Part II.D.2. of this permit, the inspection reports shall be maintained on site with 

the SWPPP.  

 

Part V. TERMINATION OF PERMIT COVERAGE 
 

A. Termination of Permit Coverage 
 

1. An owner or operator that is eligible to terminate coverage under this permit 

must submit a completed NOT form to the address in Part II.B.1 of this permit. 

The NOT form shall be one which is associated with this permit, signed in 

accordance with Part VII.H of this permit. 

 

2. An owner or operator may terminate coverage when one or more the following 

conditions have been met: 

 

a. Total project completion - All construction activity identified in the SWPPP 

has been completed; and all areas of disturbance have achieved final 

stabilization; and all temporary, structural erosion and sediment control 

measures have been removed; and all post-construction stormwater 

management practices have been constructed in conformance with the 

SWPPP and are operational;



(Part V.A.2.b) 

30 

b. Planned shutdown with partial project completion - All soil disturbance 

activities have ceased; and all areas disturbed as of the project shutdown 

date have achieved final stabilization; and all temporary, structural erosion 

and sediment control measures have been removed; and all post-

construction stormwater management practices required for the completed 

portion of the project have been constructed in conformance with the 

SWPPP and are operational; 

 

c. A new owner or operator has obtained coverage under this permit in 

accordance with Part II.F. of this permit. 

 

d. The owner or operator obtains coverage under an alternative SPDES 

general permit or an individual SPDES permit. 

 

3. For construction activities meeting subdivision 2a. or 2b. of this Part, the owner 

or operator shall have the qualified inspector perform a final site inspection 

prior to submitting the NOT. The qualified inspector shall, by signing the “Final 

Stabilization” and “Post-Construction Stormwater Management Practice 

certification statements on the NOT, certify that all the requirements in Part 

V.A.2.a. or b. of this permit have been achieved. 

 

4. For construction activities that are subject to the requirements of a regulated, 

traditional land use control MS4 and meet subdivision 2a. or 2b. of this Part, the 

owner or operator shall have the regulated, traditional land use control MS4 

sign the “MS4 Acceptance” statement on the NOT in accordance with the 

requirements in Part VII.H. of this permit. The regulated, traditional land use 

control MS4 official, by signing this statement, has determined that it is 

acceptable for the owner or operator to submit the NOT in accordance with the 

requirements of this Part. The regulated, traditional land use control MS4 can 

make this determination by performing a final site inspection themselves or by 

accepting the qualified inspector’s final site inspection certification(s) required 

in Part V.A.3. of this permit. 

 

5. For construction activities that require post-construction stormwater 

management practices and meet subdivision 2a. of this Part, the owner or 

operator must, prior to submitting the NOT, ensure one of the following: 

 

a. the post-construction stormwater management practice(s) and any right-of-

way(s) needed to maintain such practice(s) have been deeded to the 

municipality in which the practice(s) is located, 



(Part V.A.5.b) 

31 

b. an executed maintenance agreement is in place with the municipality that 

will maintain the post-construction stormwater management practice(s), 

 

c. for post-construction stormwater management practices that are privately 

owned, the owner or operator has a mechanism in place that requires 

operation and maintenance of the practice(s) in accordance with the 

operation and maintenance plan, such as a deed covenant in the owner or 

operator’s deed of record, 

 

d. for post-construction stormwater management practices that are owned by 

a public or private institution (e.g. school, university, hospital), government 

agency or authority, or public utility; the owner or operator has policy and 

procedures in place that ensures operation and maintenance of the 

practices in accordance with the operation and maintenance plan. 

 

Part VI. REPORTING AND RETENTION RECORDS 

 

A. Record Retention 

 

The owner or operator shall retain a copy of the NOI, NOI  

Acknowledgment Letter, SWPPP, MS4 SWPPP Acceptance form and any inspection 

reports that were prepared in conjunction with this permit for a period of at least five (5) 

years from the date that the Department receives a complete NOT submitted in 

accordance with Part V. of this general permit.  

 

B. Addresses 

 

With the exception of the NOI, NOT, and MS4 SWPPP Acceptance form (which must 

be submitted to the address referenced in Part II.B.1 of this permit), all written 

correspondence requested by the Department, including individual permit applications, 

shall be sent to the address of the appropriate DOW Water (SPDES) Program contact 

at the Regional Office listed in Appendix F. 

 

Part VII. STANDARD PERMIT CONDITIONS 

 

A. Duty to Comply 

 

The owner or operator must comply with all conditions of this permit.  All contractors 

and subcontractors associated with the project must comply with the terms of the 

SWPPP. Any non-compliance with this permit constitutes a violation of the Clean Water 



(Part VII.A) 

32 

Act (CWA) and the ECL and is grounds for an enforcement action against the owner or 

operator and/or the contractor/subcontractor; permit revocation, suspension or 

modification; or denial of a permit renewal application. Upon a finding of significant non-

compliance with this permit or the applicable SWPPP, the Department may order an 

immediate stop to all construction activity at the site until the non-compliance is 

remedied. The stop work order shall be in writing, shall describe the non-compliance in 

detail, and shall be sent to the owner or operator. 

 

If any human remains or archaeological remains are encountered during excavation, 

the owner or operator must immediately cease, or cause to cease, all construction 

activity in the area of the remains and notify the appropriate Regional Water Engineer 

(RWE).  Construction activity shall not resume until written permission to do so has been 

received from the RWE. 

 

B. Continuation of the Expired General Permit 

 

This permit expires five (5) years from the effective date. If a new general permit is not 
issued prior to the expiration of this general permit, an owner or operator with coverage 
under this permit may continue to operate and discharge in accordance with the terms 
and conditions of this general permit, if it is extended pursuant to the State 
Administrative Procedure Act and 6 NYCRR Part 621, until a new general permit is 
issued.  
 

C. Enforcement 

 

Failure of the owner or operator, its contractors, subcontractors, agents and/or assigns 

to strictly adhere to any of the permit requirements contained herein shall constitute a 

violation of this permit. There are substantial criminal, civil, and administrative penalties 

associated with violating the provisions of this permit.  Fines of up to $37,500 per day 

for each violation and imprisonment for up to fifteen (15) years may be assessed 

depending upon the nature and degree of the offense. 

  

D. Need to Halt or Reduce Activity Not a Defense 

 

It shall not be a defense for an owner or operator in an enforcement action that it would 

have been necessary to halt or reduce the construction activity in order to maintain 

compliance with the conditions of this permit.



(Part VII.E) 

33 

E. Duty to Mitigate 

 

The owner or operator and its contractors and subcontractors shall take all reasonable 

steps to minimize or prevent any discharge in violation of this permit which has a 

reasonable likelihood of adversely affecting human health or the environment. 

 

F. Duty to Provide Information  

 

The owner or operator shall furnish to the Department, within a reasonable specified 
time period of a written request, all documentation necessary to demonstrate eligibility 
and any information to determine compliance with this permit or to determine whether 
cause exists for modifying or revoking this permit, or suspending or denying coverage 
under this permit, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this permit. The NOI, 
SWPPP and inspection reports required by this permit are public documents that the 
owner or operator must make available for review and copying by any person within five 
(5) business days of the owner or operator receiving a written request by any such 
person to review these documents. Copying of documents will be done at the 
requester’s expense. 
 

G. Other Information 

 

When the owner or operator becomes aware that they failed to submit any relevant 

facts, or submitted incorrect information in the NOI or in any of the documents required 

by this permit , or have made substantive revisions to the SWPPP (e.g. the scope of the 

project changes significantly, the type of post-construction stormwater management 

practice(s) changes, there is a reduction in the sizing of the post-construction 

stormwater management practice, or there is an increase in the disturbance area or 

impervious area), which were not reflected in the original NOI submitted to the 

Department, they shall promptly submit such facts or information to the Department 

using the contact information in Part II.A. of this permit. Failure of the owner or operator 

to correct or supplement any relevant facts within five (5) business days of becoming 

aware of the deficiency shall constitute a violation of this permit. 

 
H. Signatory Requirements 

 
1. All NOIs and NOTs shall be signed as follows: 

 

a. For a corporation these forms shall be signed by a responsible corporate 

officer. For the purpose of this section, a responsible corporate officer 

means: 



(Part VII.H.1.a) 

34 

(i) a president, secretary, treasurer, or vice-president of the corporation in 

charge of a principal business function, or any other person who 

performs similar policy or decision-making functions for the 

corporation; or  

 

(ii) the manager of one or more manufacturing, production or operating 

facilities, provided the manager is authorized to make management 

decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility including 

having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital investment 

recommendations, and initiating and directing other comprehensive 

measures to assure long term environmental compliance with 

environmental laws and regulations; the manager can ensure that the 

necessary systems are established or actions taken to gather complete 

and accurate information for permit application requirements; and 

where authority to sign documents has been assigned or delegated to 

the manager in accordance with corporate procedures; 

 

b. For a partnership or sole proprietorship these forms shall be signed by a 

general partner or the proprietor, respectively; or 

 

c. For a municipality, State, Federal, or other public agency these forms shall 

be signed by either a principal executive officer or ranking elected official. 

For purposes of this section, a principal executive officer of a Federal 

agency includes: 

 

(i) the chief executive officer of the agency, or 

 

(ii) a senior executive officer having responsibility for the overall 

operations of a principal geographic unit of the agency (e.g., Regional 

Administrators of EPA). 

 

2. The SWPPP and other information requested by the Department shall be 

signed by a person described in Part VII.H.1. of this permit or by a duly 

authorized representative of that person. A person is a duly authorized 

representative only if: 

 

a. The authorization is made in writing by a person described in Part VII.H.1. 

of this permit; 

 

b. The authorization specifies either an individual or a position having 

responsibility for the overall operation of the regulated facility or activity, 

such as the position of plant manager, operator of a well or a well field,



(Part VII.H.2.b) 

35 

superintendent, position of equivalent responsibility, or an individual or 

position having overall responsibility for environmental matters for the 

company. (A duly authorized representative may thus be either a named 

individual or any individual occupying a named position) and, 

 

c. The written authorization shall include the name, title and signature of the 

authorized representative and be attached to the SWPPP. 

 

3. All inspection reports shall be signed by the qualified inspector that performs 

the inspection. 

 

4. The MS4 SWPPP Acceptance form shall be signed by  the principal executive 

officer or ranking elected official from the regulated, traditional land use control 

MS4, or by a duly authorized representative of that person. 

 

It shall constitute a permit violation if an incorrect and/or improper signatory 

authorizes any required forms, SWPPP and/or inspection reports. 

 

I. Property Rights 
 

The issuance of this permit does not convey any property rights of any sort, nor any 

exclusive privileges, nor does it authorize any injury to private property nor any invasion 

of personal rights, nor any infringement of Federal, State or local laws or regulations. 

Owners or operators must obtain any applicable conveyances, easements, licenses 

and/or access to real property prior to commencing construction activity. 

 

J. Severability 
 

The provisions of this permit are severable, and if any provision of this permit, or the 

application of any provision of this permit to any circumstance, is held invalid, the 

application of such provision to other circumstances, and the remainder of this permit 

shall not be affected thereby. 

 

K. Requirement to Obtain Coverage Under an Alternative Permit 
 

1. The Department may require any owner or operator authorized by this permit to 

apply for and/or obtain either an individual SPDES permit or another SPDES 

general permit. When the Department requires any discharger authorized by a 

general permit to apply for an individual SPDES permit, it shall notify the 

discharger in writing that a permit application is required. This notice shall 



  (Part VII.K.1) 

36 

include a brief statement of the reasons for this decision, an application form, 

a statement setting a time frame for the owner or operator to file the 

application for an individual SPDES permit, and a deadline, not sooner than 

180 days from owner or operator receipt of the notification letter, whereby the 

authorization to discharge under this general permit shall be terminated. 

Applications must be submitted to the appropriate Permit Administrator at the 

Regional Office. The Department may grant additional time upon 

demonstration, to the satisfaction of the Department, that additional time to 

apply for an alternative authorization is necessary or where the Department 

has not provided a permit determination in accordance with Part 621 of this 

Title. 

 

2. When an individual SPDES permit is issued to a discharger authorized to 

discharge under a general SPDES permit for the same discharge(s), the 

general permit authorization for outfalls authorized under the individual 

SPDES permit is automatically terminated on the effective date of the 

individual permit unless termination is earlier in accordance with 6 NYCRR 

Part 750. 

 

L. Proper Operation and Maintenance 
 

The owner or operator shall at all times properly operate and maintain all facilities and 

systems of treatment and control (and related appurtenances) which are installed or 

used by the owner or operator to achieve compliance with the conditions of this permit 

and with the requirements of the SWPPP. 

 

M. Inspection and Entry 
 

The owner or operator shall allow an authorized representative of the Department, 

EPA, applicable county health department, or, in the case of a construction site which 

discharges through an MS4, an authorized representative of the MS4 receiving the 

discharge, upon the presentation of credentials and other documents as may be 

required by law, to: 

1. Enter upon the owner’s or operator's premises where a regulated facility or 

activity is located or conducted or where records must be kept under the 

conditions of this permit; 

 

2. Have access to and copy at reasonable times, any records that must be kept 

under the conditions of this permit; and 



  (Part VII.M.3) 

37 

3. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities or equipment (including monitoring 

and control equipment), practices or operations regulated or required by this 

permit. 

 

4. Sample or monitor at reasonable times, for purposes of assuring permit 

compliance or as otherwise authorized by the Act or ECL, any substances or 

parameters at any location. 

 
N. Permit Actions 

 
This permit may, at any time, be modified, suspended, revoked, or renewed by the 
Department in accordance with 6 NYCRR Part 621. The filing of a request by the 
owner or operator for a permit modification, revocation and reissuance, termination, a 
notification of planned changes or anticipated noncompliance does not limit, diminish 
and/or stay compliance with any terms of this permit. 

 

O. Definitions 
 

Definitions of key terms are included in Appendix A of this permit. 
 

P. Re-Opener Clause  
 
1. If there is evidence indicating potential or realized impacts on water quality 

due to any stormwater discharge associated with construction activity covered 

by this permit, the owner or operator of such discharge may be required to 

obtain an individual permit or alternative general permit in accordance with 

Part VII.K. of this permit or the permit may be modified to include different 

limitations and/or requirements. 

 

2. Any Department initiated permit modification, suspension or revocation will be 

conducted in accordance with 6 NYCRR Part 621, 6 NYCRR 750-1.18, and 6 

NYCRR 750-1.20.  

 
Q. Penalties for Falsification of Forms and Reports 

 
In accordance with 6NYCRR Part 750-2.4 and 750-2.5, any person who knowingly 
makes any false material statement, representation, or certification in any application, 
record, report or other document filed or required to be maintained under this permit, 
including reports of compliance or noncompliance shall, upon conviction, be punished 
in accordance with ECL §71-1933 and or Articles 175 and 210 of the New York State 
Penal Law.



  (Part VII.R) 

38 

R. Other Permits 
 

Nothing in this permit relieves the owner or operator from a requirement to obtain any 

other permits required by law. 



   

39 

APPENDIX A – Acronyms and Definitions 

 
Acronyms 

APO – Agency Preservation Officer 

BMP – Best Management Practice 
CPESC – Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control 
Cpv – Channel Protection Volume 
CWA – Clean Water Act (or the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §1251 et 
seq) 
DOW – Division of Water 
EAF – Environmental Assessment Form 
ECL - Environmental Conservation Law 
EPA – U. S. Environmental Protection Agency 
HSG – Hydrologic Soil Group 
MS4 – Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System 
NOI – Notice of Intent 
NOT – Notice of Termination 
NPDES – National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
OPRHP – Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Places 
Qf – Extreme Flood 
Qp – Overbank Flood 
RRv – Runoff Reduction Volume 
RWE – Regional Water Engineer 
SEQR – State Environmental Quality Review 
SEQRA - State Environmental Quality Review Act 
SHPA – State Historic Preservation Act 
SPDES – State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
SWPPP – Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
TMDL – Total Maximum Daily Load 
UPA – Uniform Procedures Act 
USDA – United States Department of Agriculture 
WQv – Water Quality Volume 

 

  



  Appendix A 

40 

Definitions 

All definitions in this section are solely for the purposes of this permit. 
Agricultural Building – a structure designed and constructed to house farm 
implements, hay, grain, poultry, livestock or other horticultural products; excluding any 
structure designed, constructed or used, in whole or in part, for human habitation, as a 
place of employment where agricultural products are processed, treated or packaged, 
or as a place used by the public. 
 
Agricultural Property –means the land for construction of a barn, agricultural building, 
silo, stockyard, pen or other structural practices identified in Table II in the “Agricultural 
Management Practices Catalog for Nonpoint Source Pollution in New York State” 
prepared by the Department in cooperation with agencies of New York Nonpoint Source 
Coordinating Committee (dated June 2007). 
 
Alter Hydrology from Pre to Post-Development Conditions - means the post-
development peak flow rate(s) has increased by more than 5% of the pre-developed 
condition for the design storm of interest (e.g. 10 yr and 100 yr).  
 
Combined Sewer - means a sewer that is designed to collect and convey both 
“sewage” and “stormwater”. 
 
Commence (Commencement of) Construction Activities - means the initial 
disturbance of soils associated with clearing, grading or excavation activities; or other 
construction related activities that disturb or expose soils such as demolition, stockpiling 
of fill material, and the initial installation of erosion and sediment control practices 
required in the SWPPP. See definition for “Construction Activity(ies)” also. 
 
Construction Activity(ies) - means any clearing, grading, excavation, filling, demolition 
or stockpiling activities that result in soil disturbance. Clearing activities can include, but 
are not limited to, logging equipment operation, the cutting and skidding of trees, stump 
removal and/or brush root removal. Construction activity does not include routine 
maintenance that is performed to maintain the original line and grade, hydraulic 
capacity, or original purpose of a facility. 
 
Construction Site – means the land area where construction activity(ies) will occur. 
See definition for “Commence (Commencement of) Construction Activities” and “Larger 
Common Plan of Development or Sale” also. 
 
Dewatering – means the act of draining rainwater and/or groundwater from building 
foundations, vaults or excavations/trenches. 
 
Direct Discharge (to a specific surface waterbody) - means that runoff flows from a 
construction site by overland flow and the first point of discharge is the specific surface 
waterbody, or runoff flows from a construction site to a separate storm sewer system 



  Appendix A 

41 

and the first point of discharge from the separate storm sewer system is the specific 
surface waterbody. 
 
Discharge(s) - means any addition of any pollutant to waters of the State through an 
outlet or point source. 
 
Embankment –means an earthen or rock slope that supports a road/highway. 
 
Endangered or Threatened Species – see 6 NYCRR Part 182 of the Department’s 
rules and regulations for definition of terms and requirements. 
 
Environmental Conservation Law (ECL) - means chapter 43-B of the Consolidated 
Laws of the State of New York, entitled the Environmental Conservation Law. 
 
Equivalent (Equivalence) – means that the practice or measure meets all the 
performance, longevity, maintenance, and safety objectives of the technical standard 
and will provide an equal or greater degree of water quality protection. 
 
Final Stabilization - means that all soil disturbance activities have ceased and a 
uniform, perennial vegetative cover with a density of eighty (80) percent over the entire 
pervious surface has been established; or other equivalent stabilization measures, such 
as permanent landscape mulches, rock rip-rap or washed/crushed stone have been 
applied on all disturbed areas that are not covered by permanent structures, concrete or 
pavement. 
 
General SPDES permit - means a SPDES permit issued pursuant to 6 NYCRR Part 
750-1.21 and Section 70-0117 of the ECL authorizing a category of discharges. 
 
Groundwater(s) - means waters in the saturated zone. The saturated zone is a 
subsurface zone in which all the interstices are filled with water under pressure greater 
than that of the atmosphere. Although the zone may contain gas-filled interstices or 
interstices filled with fluids other than water, it is still considered saturated.  
 
Historic Property – means any building, structure, site, object or district that is listed on 
the State or National Registers of Historic Places or is determined to be eligible for 
listing on the State or National Registers of Historic Places. 
 
Impervious Area (Cover) - means all impermeable surfaces that cannot effectively 
infiltrate rainfall. This includes paved, concrete and gravel surfaces (i.e. parking lots, 
driveways, roads, runways and sidewalks); building rooftops and miscellaneous 
impermeable structures such as patios, pools, and sheds. 
 
Infeasible – means not technologically possible, or not economically practicable and 
achievable in light of best industry practices. 
 



  Appendix A 

42 

Larger Common Plan of Development or Sale - means a contiguous area where 
multiple separate and distinct construction activities are occurring, or will occur, under 
one plan. The term “plan” in “larger common plan of development or sale” is broadly 
defined as any announcement or piece of documentation (including a sign, public notice 
or hearing, marketing plan, advertisement, drawing, permit application, State 
Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) environmental assessment form or other 
documents, zoning request, computer design, etc.) or physical demarcation (including 
boundary signs, lot stakes, surveyor markings, etc.) indicating that construction 
activities may occur on a specific plot. 
 
For discrete construction projects that are located within a larger common plan of 
development or sale that are at least 1/4 mile apart, each project can be treated as a 
separate plan of development or sale provided any interconnecting road, pipeline or 
utility project that is part of the same “common plan” is not concurrently being disturbed. 
 
Minimize – means reduce and/or eliminate to the extent achievable using control 
measures (including best management practices) that are technologically available and 
economically practicable and achievable in light of best industry practices. 
 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer (MS4) - a conveyance or system of conveyances 
(including roads with drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, curbs, gutters, 
ditches, man-made channels, or storm drains): 
 

(i) Owned or operated by a State, city, town, borough, county, parish, district, 
association, or other public body (created by or pursuant to State law) having 
jurisdiction over disposal of sewage, industrial wastes, stormwater, or other 
wastes, including special districts under State law such as a sewer district, 
flood control district or drainage district, or similar entity, or an Indian tribe or 
an authorized Indian tribal organization, or a designated and approved 
management agency under section 208 of the CWA that discharges to 
surface waters of the  State; 

(ii) Designed or used for collecting or conveying stormwater; 
(iii) Which is not a combined sewer; and 
(iv) Which is not part of a Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW) as defined 

at 40 CFR 122.2. 
 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) - means the national 
system for the issuance of wastewater and stormwater permits under the Federal Water 
Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act). 
 
Natural Buffer –means an undisturbed area with natural cover running along a surface 
water (e.g. wetland, stream, river, lake, etc.).  
 
New Development – means any land disturbance that does not meet the definition of 
Redevelopment Activity included in this appendix. 



  Appendix A 

43 

 
New York State Erosion and Sediment Control Certificate Program – a certificate 
program that establishes and maintains a process to identify and recognize individuals 
who are capable of developing, designing, inspecting and maintaining erosion and 
sediment control plans on projects that disturb soils in New York State. The certificate 
program is administered by the New York State Conservation District Employees 
Association. 
 
NOI Acknowledgment Letter - means the letter that the Department sends to an 
owner or operator to acknowledge the Department’s receipt and acceptance of a 
complete Notice of Intent. This letter documents the owner’s or operator’s authorization 
to discharge in accordance with the general permit for stormwater discharges from 
construction activity.  
 
Nonpoint Source - means any source of water pollution or pollutants which is not a 
discrete conveyance or point source permitted pursuant to Title 7 or 8 of Article 17 of 
the Environmental Conservation Law (see ECL Section 17-1403). 
 
Overbank –means flow events that exceed the capacity of the stream channel and spill 
out into the adjacent floodplain.  
 
Owner or Operator - means the person, persons or legal entity which owns or leases 
the property on which the construction activity is occurring;  an entity that has 
operational control over the construction plans and specifications, including the ability to 
make modifications to the plans and specifications; and/or an entity that has day-to-day 
operational control of those activities at a project that are necessary to ensure 
compliance with the permit conditions.  
 
Performance Criteria – means the design criteria listed under the “Required Elements”  
sections in Chapters 5, 6 and 10 of the technical standard, New York State Stormwater 
Management Design Manual, dated January 2015. It does not include the Sizing 
Criteria (i.e. WQv, RRv, Cpv, Qp and Qf ) in Part I.C.2. of the permit. 
 
Point Source - means any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but 
not limited to any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container, 
rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, vessel or other floating craft, or 
landfill leachate collection system from which pollutants are or may be discharged. 
 
Pollutant - means dredged spoil, filter backwash, solid waste, incinerator residue, 
sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, 
radioactive materials, heat, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, sand and industrial, 
municipal, agricultural waste and ballast discharged into water; which may cause or 
might reasonably be expected to cause pollution of the waters of the state in 
contravention of the standards or guidance values adopted as provided in 6 NYCRR 
Parts 700 et seq . 



  Appendix A 

44 

 
Qualified Inspector - means a person that is knowledgeable in the principles and 
practices of erosion and sediment control, such as a licensed Professional Engineer, 
Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC), Registered 
Landscape Architect, New York State Erosion and Sediment Control Certificate 
Program  holder or other Department endorsed individual(s).  
 
It can also mean someone working under the direct supervision of, and at the same 
company as, the licensed Professional Engineer or Registered Landscape Architect, 
provided that person has training in the principles and practices of erosion and sediment 
control. Training in the principles and practices of erosion and sediment control means 
that the individual working under the direct supervision of the licensed Professional 
Engineer or Registered Landscape Architect has received four (4) hours of Department 
endorsed training in proper erosion and sediment control principles from a Soil and 
Water Conservation District, or other Department endorsed entity. After receiving the 
initial training, the individual working under the direct supervision of the licensed 
Professional Engineer or Registered Landscape Architect shall receive four (4) hours of 
training every three (3) years.  
 
It can also mean a person that meets the Qualified Professional qualifications in 
addition to the Qualified Inspector qualifications.  
 
Note: Inspections of any post-construction stormwater management practices that 
include structural components, such as a dam for an impoundment, shall be performed 
by a licensed Professional Engineer. 
 
Qualified Professional - means a person that is knowledgeable in the principles and 
practices of stormwater management and treatment, such as a licensed Professional 
Engineer, Registered Landscape Architect or other Department endorsed individual(s). 
Individuals preparing SWPPPs that require the post-construction stormwater 
management practice component must have an understanding of the principles of 
hydrology, water quality management practice design, water quantity control design, 
and, in many cases, the principles of hydraulics. All components of the SWPPP that 
involve the practice of engineering, as defined by the NYS Education Law (see Article 
145), shall be prepared by, or under the direct supervision of, a professional engineer 
licensed to practice in the State of New York. 
 
Redevelopment Activity(ies) – means the disturbance and reconstruction of existing 
impervious area, including impervious areas that were removed from a project site within 
five (5) years of preliminary project plan submission to the local government (i.e. site plan, 
subdivision, etc.).   
 
 
Regulated, Traditional Land Use Control MS4 - means a city, town or village with 
land use control authority that is authorized to discharge under New York State DEC’s 



  Appendix A 

45 

SPDES General Permit For Stormwater Discharges from Municipal Separate 
Stormwater Sewer Systems (MS4s) or the City of New York’s Individual SPDES Permit 
for their Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (NY-0287890).  
 
Routine Maintenance Activity - means construction activity that is performed to 
maintain the original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, or original purpose of a facility, 
including, but not limited to: 
 

▪ Re-grading of gravel roads or parking lots, 
▪ Cleaning and shaping of existing roadside ditches and culverts that maintains 

the approximate original line and grade, and hydraulic capacity of the ditch, 
▪ Cleaning and shaping of existing roadside ditches that does not maintain the 

approximate original grade, hydraulic capacity and purpose of the ditch if the 
changes to the line and grade, hydraulic capacity or purpose of the ditch are 
installed to improve water quality and quantity controls (e.g. installing grass 
lined ditch), 

▪ Placement of aggregate shoulder backing that stabilizes the transition between 
the road shoulder and the ditch or embankment, 

▪ Full depth milling and filling of existing asphalt pavements, replacement of 
concrete pavement slabs, and similar work that does not expose soil or disturb 
the bottom six (6) inches of subbase material, 

▪ Long-term use of equipment storage areas at or near highway maintenance 
facilities, 

▪ Removal of sediment from the edge of the highway to restore a previously 
existing sheet-flow drainage connection from the highway surface to the 
highway ditch or embankment, 

▪ Existing use of Canal Corp owned upland disposal sites for the canal, and 
▪ Replacement of curbs, gutters, sidewalks and guide rail posts.  

 
Site limitations – means site conditions that prevent the use of an infiltration technique 
and or infiltration of the total WQv. Typical site limitations include: seasonal high 
groundwater, shallow depth to bedrock, and soils with an infiltration rate less than 0.5 
inches/hour. The existence of site limitations shall be confirmed and documented using 
actual field testing (i.e. test pits, soil borings, and infiltration test) or using information 
from the most current United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) Soil Survey for 
the County where the project is located. 
 
Sizing Criteria – means the criteria included in Part I.C.2 of the permit that are used to 
size post-construction stormwater management control practices. The criteria include; 
Water Quality Volume (WQv), Runoff Reduction Volume (RRv), Channel Protection 
Volume (Cpv), Overbank Flood (Qp), and Extreme Flood (Qf).  
 
State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (SPDES) - means the system 
established pursuant to Article 17 of the ECL and 6 NYCRR Part 750 for issuance of 
permits authorizing discharges to the waters of the state. 



  Appendix A 

46 

 
Steep Slope – means land area designated on the current United States Department of 
Agriculture (“USDA”) Soil Survey  as Soil Slope Phase “D”, (provided the map unit name 
is inclusive of slopes greater than 25%) , or Soil Slope Phase E or F, (regardless of the 
map unit name), or a combination of the three designations.  
 
Streambank – as used in this permit, means the terrain alongside the bed of a creek or 
stream. The bank consists of the sides of the channel, between which the flow is confined. 
 
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) – means a project specific report, 
including construction drawings, that among other things: describes the construction 
activity(ies), identifies the potential sources of pollution at the construction site; describes 
and shows the stormwater controls that will be used to control the pollutants (i.e. erosion 
and sediment controls; for many projects, includes post-construction stormwater 
management controls); and identifies procedures the owner or operator will implement to 
comply with the terms and conditions of the permit. See Part III of the permit for a 
complete description of the information that must be included in the SWPPP. 
 
Surface Waters of the State - shall be construed to include lakes, bays, sounds, 
ponds, impounding reservoirs, springs, rivers, streams, creeks, estuaries, marshes, 
inlets, canals, the Atlantic ocean within the territorial seas of the state of New York and 
all other bodies of surface water, natural or artificial, inland or coastal, fresh or salt, 
public or private (except those private waters that do not combine or effect a junction 
with natural surface  waters), which are wholly or partially within or bordering the state 
or within its jurisdiction. Waters of the state are further defined in 6 NYCRR Parts 800 to 
941. 
 
Temporarily Ceased – means that an existing disturbed area will not be disturbed 
again within 14 calendar days of the previous soil disturbance. 
 
Temporary Stabilization - means that exposed soil has been covered with material(s) 
as set forth in the technical standard, New York Standards and Specifications for 
Erosion and Sediment Control, to prevent the exposed soil from eroding. The materials 
can include, but are not limited to, mulch, seed and mulch, and erosion control mats 
(e.g. jute twisted yarn, excelsior wood fiber mats). 
 
Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) - A TMDL is the sum of the allowable loads of a 
single pollutant from all contributing point and nonpoint sources. It is a calculation of the 
maximum amount of a pollutant that a waterbody can receive on a daily basis and still 
meet water quality standards, and an allocation of that amount to the pollutant's 
sources. A TMDL stipulates wasteload allocations (WLAs) for point source discharges, 
load allocations (LAs) for nonpoint sources, and a margin of safety (MOS). 
 
Trained Contractor - means an employee from the contracting (construction) company, 
identified in Part III.A.6., that has received four (4) hours of Department endorsed 



  Appendix A 

47 

training in proper erosion and sediment control principles from a Soil and Water 
Conservation District, or other Department endorsed entity. After receiving the initial 
training, the trained contractor shall receive four (4) hours of training every three (3) 
years. 
 
It can also mean an employee from the contracting (construction) company, identified in 
Part III.A.6., that meets the qualified inspector qualifications (e.g. licensed Professional 
Engineer, Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC), Registered 
Landscape Architect, New York State Erosion and Sediment Control Certificate 
Program  holder, or someone working under the direct supervision of, and at the same 
company as, the licensed Professional Engineer or Registered Landscape Architect, 
provided they have received four (4) hours of Department endorsed training in proper 
erosion and sediment control principles from a Soil and Water Conservation District, or 
other Department endorsed entity).     
 
The trained contractor is responsible for the day to day implementation of the SWPPP. 
 
Uniform Procedures Act (UPA) Permit - means a permit required under 6 NYCRR 
Part 621 of the Environmental Conservation Law (ECL), Article 70. 
 
Water Quality Standard - means such measures of purity or quality for any waters in 
relation to their reasonable and necessary use as promulgated in 6 NYCRR Part 700 et 
seq. 
 



   

48 

APPENDIX B – Required SWPPP Components by Project Type 

 

Table 1 

Construction Activities that Require the Preparation of a SWPPP That Only 

Includes Erosion and Sediment Controls 

The following construction activities that involve soil disturbances of one (1) or more acres of 

land, but less than five (5) acres: 

• Single family home not located in one of the watersheds listed in Appendix C or not directly 
discharging to one of the 303(d) segments listed in Appendix E 

• Single family residential subdivisions with 25% or less impervious cover at total site build-out and 
not located in one of the watersheds listed in Appendix C and not directly discharging to one of the 
303(d) segments listed in Appendix E 

• Construction of a barn or other agricultural building, silo, stock yard or pen. 

 

The following construction activities that involve soil disturbances between five thousand (5000) 

square feet and one (1) acre of land: 

All construction activities located in the watersheds identified in Appendix D that involve soil 
disturbances between five thousand (5,000) square feet and one (1) acre of land.   

 

The following construction activities that involve soil disturbances of one (1) or more acres of 

land: 

• Installation of underground, linear utilities; such as gas lines, fiber-optic cable, cable TV,                  
electric, telephone, sewer mains, and water mains   

• Environmental enhancement projects, such as wetland mitigation projects, stormwater retrofits and 
stream restoration projects 

• Pond construction 
• Linear bike paths running through areas with vegetative cover, including bike paths surfaced with an 

impervious cover 
• Cross-country ski trails and walking/hiking trails 
• Sidewalk, bike path or walking path projects, surfaced with an impervious cover, that are not part of 

residential, commercial or institutional development;  
• Sidewalk, bike path or walking path projects, surfaced with an impervious cover, that include 

incidental shoulder or curb work along an existing highway to support construction of the sidewalk, 
bike path or walking path.  

• Slope stabilization projects 
• Slope flattening that changes the grade of the site, but does not significantly change the runoff 

characteristics  

 

 

 



  Appendix B 

49 

Table 1 (Continued) CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES THAT REQUIRE THE PREPARATION OF A 

SWPPP  
THAT ONLY INCLUDES EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS 

The following construction activities that involve soil disturbances of one (1) or more acres of 

land: 

• Spoil areas that will be covered with vegetation 
•  Vegetated open space projects (i.e. recreational parks, lawns, meadows, fields, downhill ski trails) 

excluding projects that alter hydrology from pre to post development conditions,  
• Athletic fields (natural grass) that do not include the construction or reconstruction of impervious 

area and do not alter hydrology from pre to post development conditions 
• Demolition project where vegetation will be established, and no redevelopment is planned 
• Overhead electric transmission line project that does not include the construction of permanent 

access roads or parking areas surfaced with impervious cover  
• Structural practices as identified in Table II in the “Agricultural Management Practices Catalog for 

Nonpoint Source Pollution in New York State”, excluding projects that involve soil disturbances of 
greater than five acres and construction activities that include the construction or reconstruction of 
impervious area  

• Temporary access roads, median crossovers, detour roads, lanes, or other temporary impervious 
areas that will be restored to pre-construction conditions once the construction activity is complete 

 
 
 
 

 

  



  Appendix B 

50 

Table 2 

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES THAT REQUIRE THE PREPARATION OF A SWPPP THAT INCLUDES 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

The following construction activities that involve soil disturbances of one (1) or more acres of 

land: 

• Single family home located in one of the watersheds listed in Appendix C or directly discharging to 
one of the 303(d) segments listed in Appendix E 

• Single family home that disturbs five (5) or more acres of land 
• Single family residential subdivisions located in one of the watersheds listed in Appendix C or 

directly discharging to one of the 303(d) segments listed in Appendix E 
• Single family residential subdivisions that involve soil disturbances of between one (1) and five (5) 

acres of land with greater than 25% impervious cover at total site build-out  
• Single family residential subdivisions that involve soil disturbances of five (5) or more acres of land, 

and single family residential subdivisions that involve soil disturbances of less than five (5) acres 
that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale that will ultimately disturb five or more 
acres of land 

• Multi-family residential developments; includes duplexes, townhomes, condominiums, senior 
housing complexes, apartment complexes, and mobile home parks 

• Airports 
• Amusement parks 
• Breweries, cideries, and wineries, including establishments constructed on agricultural land   
• Campgrounds 
• Cemeteries that include the construction or reconstruction of impervious area (>5% of disturbed 

area) or alter the hydrology from pre to post development conditions 
• Commercial developments   
• Churches and other places of worship 
• Construction of a barn or other agricultural building (e.g. silo) and structural practices as identified in 

Table II in the “Agricultural Management Practices Catalog for Nonpoint Source Pollution in New 
York State” that include the construction or reconstruction of impervious area, excluding projects 
that involve soil disturbances of less than five acres.  

• Golf courses 
• Institutional development; includes hospitals, prisons, schools and colleges 
• Industrial facilities; includes industrial parks 
• Landfills 
• Municipal facilities; includes highway garages, transfer stations, office buildings, POTW’s, water 

treatment plants, and water storage tanks  
• Office complexes 
• Playgrounds that include the construction or reconstruction of impervious area 
• Sports complexes 
• Racetracks; includes racetracks with earthen (dirt) surface 
• Road construction or reconstruction, including roads constructed as part of the construction 

activities listed in Table 1   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

  



  Appendix B 

51 

Table 2 (Continued) 

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES THAT REQUIRE THE PREPARATION OF A SWPPP THAT INCLUDES 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

The following construction activities that involve soil disturbances of one (1) or more acres of 

land: 

• Parking lot construction or reconstruction, including parking lots constructed as part of the 
construction activities listed in Table 1  

• Athletic fields (natural grass) that include the construction or reconstruction of impervious area (>5% 
of disturbed area) or alter the hydrology from pre to post development conditions 

• Athletic fields with artificial turf 
• Permanent access roads, parking areas, substations, compressor stations and well drilling pads, 

surfaced with impervious cover, and constructed as part of an over-head electric transmission line 
project, wind-power project, cell tower project, oil or gas well drilling project, sewer or water main 
project or other linear utility project 

• Sidewalk, bike path or walking path projects, surfaced with an impervious cover, that are part of a 
residential, commercial or institutional development  

• Sidewalk, bike path or walking path projects, surfaced with an impervious cover, that are part of a  
highway construction or reconstruction project 

• All other construction activities that include the construction or reconstruction of impervious area or 
alter the hydrology from pre to post development conditions, and are not listed in Table 1   

 



   

52 

APPENDIX C – Watersheds Requiring Enhanced Phosphorus Removal 

       

Watersheds where owners or operators of construction activities identified in 

Table 2 of Appendix B must prepare a SWPPP that includes post-construction 

stormwater management practices designed in conformance with the Enhanced 

Phosphorus Removal Standards included in the technical standard, New York 

State Stormwater Management Design Manual (“Design Manual”). 

• Entire New York City Watershed located east of the Hudson River - Figure 1 
• Onondaga Lake Watershed - Figure 2 
• Greenwood Lake Watershed -Figure 3 
• Oscawana Lake Watershed – Figure 4 
• Kinderhook Lake Watershed – Figure 5 

 

 

 

 



  Appendix C 

53 

Figure 1 - New York City Watershed East of the Hudson 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  Appendix C 

54 

Figure 2 - Onondaga Lake Watershed 

  



  Appendix C 

55 

Figure 3 - Greenwood Lake Watershed 

 

 

 

 

 

  



  Appendix C 

56 

Figure 4 - Oscawana Lake Watershed 

 

  



  Appendix C 

57 

Figure 5 - Kinderhook Lake Watershed 

 

 

 



   

58 

APPENDIX D – Watersheds with Lower Disturbance Threshold 

 

Watersheds where owners or operators of construction activities that involve soil 

disturbances between five thousand (5000) square feet and one (1) acre of land 

must obtain coverage under this permit.  

 

Entire New York City Watershed that is located east of the Hudson River - See Figure 

1 in Appendix C 

 

 



 

59 

APPENDIX E – 303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) 
 
List of 303(d) segments impaired by pollutants related to construction activity (e.g. silt, sediment 

or nutrients). The list was developed using ”The Final New York State 2016 Section 303(d) List 

of Impaired Waters Requiring a TMDL/Other Strategy” dated November 2016. Owners or 

operators of single family home and single family residential subdivisions with 25% or less total 

impervious cover at total site build-out  that involve soil disturbances of one or more acres of 

land, but less than 5 acres, and directly discharge to one of the listed segments below shall 

prepare a SWPPP that includes post-construction stormwater management practices designed 

in conformance with the  New York State Stormwater Management Design Manual (“Design 

Manual”), dated January 2015. 

 

 

COUNTY WATERBODY POLLUTANT 

Albany Ann Lee (Shakers) Pond, Stump Pond Nutrients 

Albany Basic Creek Reservoir Nutrients 

Allegany Amity Lake, Saunders Pond Nutrients 

Bronx Long Island Sound, Bronx Nutrients 

Bronx Van Cortlandt Lake Nutrients 

Broome Fly Pond, Deer Lake, Sky Lake Nutrients 

Broome Minor Tribs to Lower Susquehanna (north) Nutrients 

Broome Whitney Point Lake/Reservoir Nutrients 

Cattaraugus Allegheny River/Reservoir Nutrients 

Cattaraugus Beaver (Alma) Lake Nutrients 

Cattaraugus Case Lake Nutrients 

Cattaraugus Linlyco/Club Pond Nutrients 

Cayuga Duck Lake Nutrients 

Cayuga Little Sodus Bay Nutrients 

Chautauqua Bear Lake Nutrients 

Chautauqua Chadakoin River and tribs Nutrients 

Chautauqua Chautauqua Lake, North Nutrients 

Chautauqua Chautauqua Lake, South Nutrients 

Chautauqua Findley Lake Nutrients 

Chautauqua Hulburt/Clymer Pond Nutrients 

Clinton Great Chazy River, Lower, Main Stem Silt/Sediment 

Clinton Lake Champlain, Main Lake, Middle Nutrients 

Clinton Lake Champlain, Main Lake, North Nutrients 

Columbia Kinderhook Lake Nutrients 

Columbia Robinson Pond Nutrients 

Cortland Dean Pond Nutrients 



303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) 

60 

Dutchess Fall Kill and tribs Nutrients 

Dutchess Hillside Lake Nutrients 

Dutchess Wappingers Lake Nutrients 

Dutchess Wappingers Lake Silt/Sediment 

Erie Beeman Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Ellicott Creek, Lower, and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Erie Ellicott Creek, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Green Lake Nutrients 

Erie Little Sister Creek, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Murder Creek, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Rush Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Scajaquada Creek, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Scajaquada Creek, Middle, and tribs Nutrients 

Erie Scajaquada Creek, Upper, and tribs Nutrients 

Erie South Branch Smoke Cr, Lower, and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Erie South Branch Smoke Cr, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Essex Lake Champlain, Main Lake, South Nutrients 

Essex Lake Champlain, South Lake Nutrients 

Essex Willsboro Bay Nutrients 

Genesee Bigelow Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Genesee Black Creek, Middle, and minor tribs Nutrients 

Genesee Black Creek, Upper, and minor tribs Nutrients 

Genesee Bowen Brook and tribs Nutrients 

Genesee LeRoy Reservoir Nutrients 

Genesee Oak Orchard Cr, Upper, and tribs Nutrients 

Genesee Tonawanda Creek, Middle, Main Stem Nutrients 

Greene Schoharie Reservoir Silt/Sediment 

Greene Sleepy Hollow Lake Silt/Sediment 

Herkimer Steele Creek tribs Silt/Sediment 

Herkimer Steele Creek tribs Nutrients 

Jefferson Moon Lake Nutrients 

Kings Hendrix Creek Nutrients 

Kings Prospect Park Lake Nutrients 

Lewis Mill Creek/South Branch, and tribs Nutrients 

Livingston Christie Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Livingston Conesus Lake Nutrients 

Livingston Mill Creek and minor tribs Silt/Sediment 

Monroe Black Creek, Lower, and minor tribs Nutrients 

Monroe Buck Pond Nutrients 

Monroe Cranberry Pond Nutrients 



303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) 

61 

Monroe Lake Ontario Shoreline, Western Nutrients 

Monroe Long Pond Nutrients 

Monroe Mill Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Monroe Mill Creek/Blue Pond Outlet and tribs Nutrients 

Monroe Minor Tribs to Irondequoit Bay Nutrients 

Monroe Rochester Embayment - East Nutrients 

Monroe Rochester Embayment - West Nutrients 

Monroe Shipbuilders Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Monroe Thomas Creek/White Brook and tribs Nutrients 

Nassau Beaver Lake Nutrients 

Nassau Camaans Pond Nutrients 

Nassau East Meadow Brook, Upper, and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Nassau East Rockaway Channel Nutrients 

Nassau Grant Park Pond Nutrients 

Nassau Hempstead Bay Nutrients 

Nassau Hempstead Lake Nutrients 

Nassau Hewlett Bay Nutrients 

Nassau Hog Island Channel Nutrients 

Nassau Long Island Sound, Nassau County Waters Nutrients 

Nassau Massapequa Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Nassau Milburn/Parsonage Creeks, Upp, and tribs Nutrients 

Nassau Reynolds Channel, west Nutrients 

Nassau Tidal Tribs to Hempstead Bay Nutrients 

Nassau Tribs (fresh) to East Bay Nutrients 

Nassau Tribs (fresh) to East Bay Silt/Sediment 

Nassau Tribs to Smith/Halls Ponds Nutrients 

Nassau Woodmere Channel Nutrients 

New York Harlem Meer Nutrients 

New York The Lake in Central Park Nutrients 

Niagara Bergholtz Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Niagara Hyde Park Lake Nutrients 

Niagara Lake Ontario Shoreline, Western Nutrients 

Niagara Lake Ontario Shoreline, Western Nutrients 

Oneida Ballou, Nail Creeks and tribs Nutrients 

Onondaga Harbor Brook, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Onondaga Ley Creek and tribs Nutrients 

Onondaga Minor Tribs to Onondaga Lake Nutrients 

Onondaga Ninemile Creek, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Onondaga Onondaga Creek, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Onondaga Onondaga Creek, Middle, and tribs Nutrients 



303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) 

62 

Onondaga Onondaga Lake, northern end Nutrients 

Onondaga Onondaga Lake, southern end Nutrients 

Ontario Great Brook and minor tribs Silt/Sediment 

Ontario Great Brook and minor tribs Nutrients 

Ontario Hemlock Lake Outlet and minor tribs Nutrients 

Ontario Honeoye Lake Nutrients 

Orange Greenwood Lake Nutrients 

Orange Monhagen Brook and tribs Nutrients 

Orange Orange Lake Nutrients 

Orleans Lake Ontario Shoreline, Western Nutrients 

Orleans Lake Ontario Shoreline, Western Nutrients 

Oswego Lake Neatahwanta Nutrients 

Oswego Pleasant Lake Nutrients 

Putnam Bog Brook Reservoir Nutrients 

Putnam Boyd Corners Reservoir Nutrients 

Putnam Croton Falls Reservoir Nutrients 

Putnam Diverting Reservoir Nutrients 

Putnam East Branch Reservoir Nutrients 

Putnam Lake Carmel Nutrients 

Putnam Middle Branch Reservoir Nutrients 

Putnam Oscawana Lake Nutrients 

Putnam Palmer Lake Nutrients 

Putnam West Branch Reservoir Nutrients 

Queens Bergen Basin Nutrients 

Queens Flushing Creek/Bay Nutrients 

Queens Jamaica Bay, Eastern, and tribs (Queens) Nutrients 

Queens Kissena Lake Nutrients 

Queens Meadow Lake Nutrients 

Queens Willow Lake Nutrients 

Rensselaer Nassau Lake Nutrients 

Rensselaer Snyders Lake Nutrients 

Richmond Grasmere Lake/Bradys Pond Nutrients 

Rockland Congers Lake, Swartout Lake Nutrients 

Rockland Rockland Lake Nutrients 

Saratoga Ballston Lake Nutrients 

Saratoga Dwaas Kill and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Saratoga Dwaas Kill and tribs Nutrients 

Saratoga Lake Lonely Nutrients 

Saratoga Round Lake Nutrients 

Saratoga Tribs to Lake Lonely Nutrients 



303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) 

63 

Schenectady Collins Lake Nutrients 

Schenectady Duane Lake Nutrients 

Schenectady Mariaville Lake Nutrients 

Schoharie Engleville Pond Nutrients 

Schoharie Summit Lake Nutrients 

Seneca Reeder Creek and tribs Nutrients 

St.Lawrence Black Lake Outlet/Black Lake Nutrients 

St.Lawrence Fish Creek and minor tribs Nutrients 

Steuben Smith Pond Nutrients 

Suffolk Agawam Lake Nutrients 

Suffolk Big/Little Fresh Ponds Nutrients 

Suffolk Canaan Lake Silt/Sediment 

Suffolk Canaan Lake Nutrients 

Suffolk Flanders Bay, West/Lower Sawmill Creek Nutrients 

Suffolk Fresh Pond Nutrients 

Suffolk Great South Bay, East Nutrients 

Suffolk Great South Bay, Middle Nutrients 

Suffolk Great South Bay, West Nutrients 

Suffolk Lake Ronkonkoma Nutrients 

Suffolk Long Island Sound, Suffolk County, West Nutrients 

Suffolk Mattituck (Marratooka) Pond Nutrients 

Suffolk Meetinghouse/Terrys Creeks and tribs Nutrients 

Suffolk Mill and Seven Ponds Nutrients 

Suffolk Millers Pond Nutrients 

Suffolk Moriches Bay, East Nutrients 

Suffolk Moriches Bay, West Nutrients 

Suffolk Peconic River, Lower, and tidal tribs Nutrients 

Suffolk Quantuck Bay Nutrients 

Suffolk Shinnecock Bay and Inlet Nutrients 

Suffolk Tidal tribs to West Moriches Bay Nutrients 

Sullivan Bodine, Montgomery Lakes Nutrients 

Sullivan Davies Lake Nutrients 

Sullivan Evens Lake Nutrients 

Sullivan Pleasure Lake Nutrients 

Tompkins Cayuga Lake, Southern End Nutrients 

Tompkins Cayuga Lake, Southern End Silt/Sediment 

Tompkins Owasco Inlet, Upper, and tribs Nutrients 

Ulster Ashokan Reservoir Silt/Sediment 

Ulster Esopus Creek, Upper, and minor tribs Silt/Sediment 

Warren Hague Brook and tribs Silt/Sediment 



303(d) Segments Impaired by Construction Related Pollutant(s) 

64 

Warren Huddle/Finkle Brooks and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Warren Indian Brook and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Warren Lake George Silt/Sediment 

Warren Tribs to L.George, Village of L George Silt/Sediment 

Washington Cossayuna Lake Nutrients 

Washington Lake Champlain, South Bay Nutrients 

Washington Tribs to L.George, East Shore Silt/Sediment 

Washington Wood Cr/Champlain Canal and minor tribs Nutrients 

Wayne Port Bay Nutrients 

Westchester Amawalk Reservoir Nutrients 

Westchester Blind Brook, Upper, and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Westchester Cross River Reservoir Nutrients 

Westchester Lake Katonah Nutrients 

Westchester Lake Lincolndale Nutrients 

Westchester Lake Meahagh Nutrients 

Westchester Lake Mohegan Nutrients 

Westchester Lake Shenorock Nutrients 

Westchester Long Island Sound, Westchester (East) Nutrients 

Westchester Mamaroneck River, Lower Silt/Sediment 

Westchester Mamaroneck River, Upper, and minor tribs Silt/Sediment 

Westchester Muscoot/Upper New Croton Reservoir Nutrients 

Westchester New Croton Reservoir Nutrients 

Westchester Peach Lake Nutrients 

Westchester Reservoir No.1 (Lake Isle) Nutrients 

Westchester Saw Mill River, Lower, and tribs Nutrients 

Westchester Saw Mill River, Middle, and tribs Nutrients 

Westchester Sheldrake River and tribs Silt/Sediment 

Westchester Sheldrake River and tribs Nutrients 

Westchester Silver Lake Nutrients 

Westchester Teatown Lake Nutrients 

Westchester Titicus Reservoir Nutrients 

Westchester Truesdale Lake Nutrients 

Westchester Wallace Pond Nutrients 

Wyoming Java Lake Nutrients 

Wyoming Silver Lake Nutrients 
 

 



 

65 

APPENDIX F – List of NYS DEC Regional Offices 
 
 

Region 
COVERING THE 

FOLLOWING COUNTIES: 

 
DIVISION OF 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

PERMITS (DEP)         
PERMIT ADMINISTRATORS 

 

DIVISION OF WATER 

(DOW)                            
WATER (SPDES) PROGRAM 

1 NASSAU AND SUFFOLK 

 
50 CIRCLE ROAD                               

STONY BROOK, NY  11790                  

TEL. (631) 444-0365 
 

50 CIRCLE ROAD                                

STONY BROOK, NY  11790-3409        

TEL. (631) 444-0405 

2 
BRONX, KINGS, NEW YORK, 
QUEENS AND RICHMOND 

 
1 HUNTERS POINT PLAZA,                    
47-40 21ST ST.                                   
LONG ISLAND CITY, NY  11101-5407    

TEL. (718) 482-4997 
 

1 HUNTERS POINT PLAZA,                      
47-40 21ST ST.                                     
LONG ISLAND CITY, NY  11101-5407 

TEL. (718) 482-4933 

3 
DUTCHESS, ORANGE, PUTNAM, 
ROCKLAND, SULLIVAN, ULSTER 

AND WESTCHESTER 

 
21 SOUTH PUTT CORNERS ROAD    

NEW PALTZ, NY  12561-1696            

TEL. (845) 256-3059 
 

100 HILLSIDE AVENUE, SUITE 1W  

WHITE PLAINS, NY 10603                    

TEL. (914) 428 - 2505 

4 

 
ALBANY, COLUMBIA, 
DELAWARE, GREENE, 
MONTGOMERY, OTSEGO, 
RENSSELAER, SCHENECTADY 

AND SCHOHARIE 
 

1150 NORTH WESTCOTT ROAD   

SCHENECTADY, NY  12306-2014        

TEL. (518) 357-2069 

1130 NORTH WESTCOTT ROAD 

SCHENECTADY, NY  12306-2014         

TEL. (518) 357-2045       

5 

CLINTON, ESSEX, FRANKLIN, 
FULTON, HAMILTON, 
SARATOGA, WARREN AND 

WASHINGTON 

 
1115 STATE ROUTE 86,  PO BOX 296 

RAY BROOK, NY  12977-0296          

TEL. (518) 897-1234 
 

232 GOLF COURSE ROAD 

WARRENSBURG, NY 12885-1172    TEL. 
(518) 623-1200 

6 
HERKIMER, JEFFERSON, 
LEWIS, ONEIDA AND 
ST. LAWRENCE 

 
STATE OFFICE BUILDING           
317 WASHINGTON STREET 
WATERTOWN, NY  13601-3787 
TEL. (315) 785-2245 
 

STATE OFFICE BUILDING            
207 GENESEE STREET           
UTICA, NY  13501-2885     TEL. (315) 
793-2554 

7 

 
BROOME, CAYUGA, 
CHENANGO, CORTLAND, 
MADISON, ONONDAGA, 
OSWEGO, TIOGA AND 
TOMPKINS 
 

615 ERIE BLVD. WEST   
SYRACUSE, NY  13204-2400     
TEL. (315) 426-7438 

615 ERIE BLVD. WEST    
SYRACUSE, NY  13204-2400      
TEL. (315) 426-7500 

8 

 
CHEMUNG, GENESEE, 
LIVINGSTON, MONROE, 
ONTARIO, ORLEANS, 
SCHUYLER, SENECA, 
STEUBEN, WAYNE AND 
YATES 
 

6274 EAST AVON-LIMA 
ROADAVON, NY  14414-9519    
TEL. (585) 226-2466 

6274 EAST AVON-LIMA RD.    
AVON, NY 14414-9519                 
TEL. (585) 226-2466 

9 

 

ALLEGANY, 
CATTARAUGUS, 
CHAUTAUQUA, ERIE, 
NIAGARA AND WYOMING 
 

270 MICHIGAN AVENUE  
BUFFALO, NY  14203-2999        
TEL. (716) 851-7165 

270 MICHIGAN AVENUE        
BUFFALO, NY 14203-2999          
TEL. (716) 851-7070 

 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 15 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B  
Notice of Intent 
 

 



NOI for coverage under
Stormwater General Permit for
Construction Activity
version 1.31

(Submission #: HPB-81WH-2JX20, version 1)

Details

Originally Started By Camie Jarrell

Submission ID HPB-81WH-2JX20

Submission Reason New

Status Draft
Active Steps Form Submitted

Form Input

Owner/Operator Information

Owner/Operator Name (Company/Private Owner/Municipality/Agency/Institution,
etc.)
Borrego

Owner/Operator Contact Person Last Name (NOT CONSULTANT)
Smith

Owner/Operator Contact Person First Name
Brandon

Owner/Operator Mailing Address
NONE PROVIDED

City
NONE PROVIDED

State
NONE PROVIDED



Zip
NONE PROVIDED

Phone
6038199693

Email
bsmith@borregosolar.com

Federal Tax ID
NONE PROVIDED

Project Location

Project/Site Name
Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project

Street Address (Not P.O. Box)
411 Reynolds Road

East

City/Town/Village (THAT ISSUES BUILDING PERMIT)
Town of Glen

NY

Zip
12072

4

MONTGOMERY

Name of Nearest Cross Street
NONE PROVIDED

Distance to Nearest Cross Street (Feet)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

Tax Map Numbers Section-Block-Parcel
NONE PROVIDED

Side of Street

State

DEC Region

County

Project In Relation to Cross Street



Tax Map Numbers
NONE PROVIDED

1. Coordinates

Provide the Geographic Coordinates for the project site. The two methods are: 
- Navigate to the project location on the map (below) and click to place a marker and
obtain the XY coordinates. 
- The "Find Me" button will provide the lat/long for the person filling out this form. Then pan
the map to the correct location and click the map to place a marker and obtain the XY
coordinates.

Navigate to your location and click on the map to get the X,Y coordinates
42.87348528278413,-74.32267725733367

Project Details

NONE PROVIDED

3. Select the predominant land use for both pre and post development conditions.

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

3a. If Single Family Subdivision was selected in question 3, enter the number of
subdivision lots.
NONE PROVIDED

4. In accordance with the larger common plan of development or sale, enter the total
project site acreage, the acreage to be disturbed and the future impervious area
(acreage)within the disturbed area.  

*** ROUND TO THE NEAREST TENTH OF AN ACRE. ***

Total Site Area (acres)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Area to be Disturbed (acres)
NONE PROVIDED

Existing Impervious Area to be Disturbed (acres)
NONE PROVIDED

2. What is the nature of this project?

Pre-Development Existing Landuse

Post-Development Future Land Use



Future Impervious Area Within Disturbed Area (acres)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

6. Indicate the percentage (%) of each Hydrologic Soil Group(HSG) at the site.

A (%)
NONE PROVIDED

B (%)
NONE PROVIDED

C (%)
NONE PROVIDED

D (%)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

8. Enter the planned start and end dates of the disturbance activities.

Start Date
NONE PROVIDED

End Date
NONE PROVIDED

9. Identify the nearest surface waterbody(ies) to which construction site runoff will
discharge.
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

Other Waterbody Type Off Site Description
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

5. Do you plan to disturb more than 5 acres of soil at any one time?

7. Is this a phased project?

9a. Type of waterbody identified in question 9?

9b. If "wetland" was selected in 9A, how was the wetland identified?

10. Has the surface waterbody(ies in question 9 been identified as a 303(d) segment
in Appendix E of GP-0-20-001?



NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If No, skip question 13.

NONE PROVIDED

If Yes, what is the acreage to be disturbed?
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

16. What is the name of the municipality/entity that owns the separate storm sewer
system?
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

Required SWPPP Components

11. Is this project located in one of the Watersheds identified in Appendix C of GP-0-
20-001?

12. Is the project located in one of the watershed areas associated with AA and AA-
S classified waters?

13. Does this construction activity disturb land with no existing impervious cover
and where the Soil Slope Phase is identified as an E or F on the USDA Soil Survey?

14. Will the project disturb soils within a State regulated wetland or the protected
100 foot adjacent area?

15. Does the site runoff enter a separate storm sewer system (including roadside
drains, swales, ditches, culverts, etc)?

17. Does any runoff from the site enter a sewer classified as a Combined Sewer?

18. Will future use of this site be an agricultural property as defined by the NYS
Agriculture and Markets Law?

19. Is this property owned by a state authority, state agency, federal government or
local government?

20. Is this a remediation project being done under a Department approved work
plan? (i.e. CERCLA, RCRA, Voluntary Cleanup Agreement, etc.)



NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If you answered No in question 22, skip question 23 and the Post-construction
Criteria and Post-construction SMP Identification sections.

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

SWPPP Preparer
NONE PROVIDED

Contact Name (Last, Space, First)
NONE PROVIDED

Mailing Address
NONE PROVIDED

City
NONE PROVIDED

State
NONE PROVIDED

Zip
NONE PROVIDED

Phone
NONE PROVIDED

Email
NONE PROVIDED

Download SWPPP Preparer Certification Form
Please take the following steps to prepare and upload your preparer certification form: 

1) Click on the link below to download a blank certification form 
2) The certified SWPPP preparer should sign this form 

21. Has the required Erosion and Sediment Control component of the SWPPP been
developed in conformance with the current NYS Standards and Specifications for
Erosion and Sediment Control (aka Blue Book)?

22. Does this construction activity require the development of a SWPPP that
includes the post-construction stormwater management practice component (i.e.
Runoff Reduction, Water Quality and Quantity Control practices/techniques)?

23. Has the post-construction stormwater management practice component of the
SWPPP been developed in conformance with the current NYS Stormwater
Management Design Manual?

24. The Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) was prepared by:



3) Scan the signed form 
4) Upload the scanned document
Download SWPPP Preparer Certification Form

Please upload the SWPPP Preparer Certification
NONE PROVIDED
Comment
NONE PROVIDED

Erosion & Sediment Control Criteria

NONE PROVIDED

26. Select all of the erosion and sediment control practices that will be employed on
the project site:

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

Other
NONE PROVIDED

Post-Construction Criteria

* IMPORTANT: Completion of Questions 27-39 is not required if response to
Question 22 is No.

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

25. Has a construction sequence schedule for the planned management practices
been prepared?

Temporary Structural

Biotechnical

Vegetative Measures

Permanent Structural

27. Identify all site planning practices that were used to prepare the final site
plan/layout for the project.

27a. Indicate which of the following soil restoration criteria was used to address the
requirements in Section 5.1.6("Soil Restoration") of the Design Manual (2010
version).

http://www.dec.ny.gov/docs/water_pdf/swpppcert.pdf


28. Provide the total Water Quality Volume (WQv) required for this project (based on
final site plan/layout). (Acre-feet)
NONE PROVIDED

29. Post-construction SMP Identification
Use the Post-construction SMP Identification section to identify the RR techniques (Area
Reduction), RR techniques(Volume Reduction) and Standard SMPs with RRv Capacity
that were used to reduce the Total WQv Required (#28). 

Identify the SMPs to be used by providing the total impervious area that contributes runoff
to each technique/practice selected. For the Area Reduction Techniques, provide the total
contributing area (includes pervious area) and, if applicable, the total impervious area that
contributes runoff to the technique/practice. 

Note: Redevelopment projects shall use the Post-Construction SMP Identification section
to identify the SMPs used to treat and/or reduce the WQv required. If runoff reduction
techniques will not be used to reduce the required WQv, skip to question 33a after
identifying the SMPs.

30. Indicate the Total RRv provided by the RR techniques (Area/Volume Reduction)
and Standard SMPs with RRv capacity identified in question 29. (acre-feet)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If Yes, go to question 36. If No, go to question 32.

32. Provide the Minimum RRv required based on HSG. [Minimum RRv Required =
(P) (0.95) (Ai) / 12, Ai=(s) (Aic)] (acre-feet)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If Yes, go to question 33.
Note: Use the space provided in question #39 to summarize the specific site limitations
and justification for not reducing 100% of WQv required (#28). A detailed evaluation of the
specific site limitations and justification for not reducing 100% of the WQv required (#28)
must also be included in the SWPPP.  

If No, sizing criteria has not been met; therefore, NOI can not be processed. SWPPP
preparer must modify design to meet sizing criteria.  

33. SMPs
Use the Post-construction SMP Identification section to identify the Standard SMPs and, if
applicable, the Alternative SMPs to be used to treat the remaining total WQv (=Total WQv
Required in #28 - Total RRv Provided in #30).  

31. Is the Total RRv provided (#30) greater than or equal to the total WQv required
(#28)?

32a. Is the Total RRv provided (#30) greater than or equal to the Minimum RRv
Required (#32)?



Also, provide the total impervious area that contributes runoff to each practice selected. 

NOTE: Use the Post-construction SMP Identification section to identify the SMPs used on
Redevelopment projects.

33a. Indicate the Total WQv provided (i.e. WQv treated) by the SMPs identified in
question #33 and Standard SMPs with RRv Capacity identified in question #29.
(acre-feet)
NONE PROVIDED

Note: For the standard SMPs with RRv capacity, the WQv provided by each practice = the
WQv calculated using the contributing drainage area to the practice - provided by the
practice. (See Table 3.5 in Design Manual)

34. Provide the sum of the Total RRv provided (#30) and the WQv provided (#33a).
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If Yes, go to question 36.  

If No, sizing criteria has not been met; therefore, NOI can not be processed. SWPPP
preparer must modify design to meet sizing criteria.

36. Provide the total Channel Protection Storage Volume (CPv required and
provided or select waiver (#36a), if applicable.

CPv Required (acre-feet)
NONE PROVIDED

CPv Provided (acre-feet)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

37. Provide the Overbank Flood (Qp) and Extreme Flood (Qf) control criteria or
select waiver (#37a), if applicable.

Overbank Flood Control Criteria (Qp)

Pre-Development (CFS)
NONE PROVIDED

Post-Development (CFS)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Extreme Flood Control Criteria (Qf)

35. Is the sum of the RRv provided (#30) and the WQv provided (#33a) greater than
or equal to the total WQv required (#28)?

36a. The need to provide channel protection has been waived because:



Pre-Development (CFS)
NONE PROVIDED

Post-Development (CFS)
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If Yes, Identify the entity responsible for the long term Operation and Maintenance
NONE PROVIDED

39. Use this space to summarize the specific site limitations and justification for not
reducing 100% of WQv required (#28). (See question #32a) This space can also be
used for other pertinent project information.
NONE PROVIDED

Post-Construction SMP Identification

Runoff Reduction (RR) Techniques, Standard Stormwater Management Practices
(SMPs) and Alternative SMPs
Identify the Post-construction SMPs to be used by providing the total impervious area that
contributes runoff to each technique/practice selected. For the Area Reduction
Techniques, provide the total contributing area (includes pervious area) and, if applicable,
the total impervious area that contributes runoff to the technique/practice.

RR Techniques (Area Reduction)

Round to the nearest tenth

Total Contributing Acres for Conservation of Natural Area (RR-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Conservation of Natural Area (RR-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Acres for Sheetflow to Riparian Buffers/Filter Strips (RR-2)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Sheetflow to Riparian Buffers/Filter Strips
(RR-2)
NONE PROVIDED

37a. The need to meet the Qp and Qf criteria has been waived because:

38. Has a long term Operation and Maintenance Plan for the post-construction
stormwater management practice(s) been developed?



Total Contributing Acres for Tree Planting/Tree Pit (RR-3)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Tree Planting/Tree Pit (RR-3)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Acres for Disconnection of Rooftop Runoff (RR-4)
NONE PROVIDED

RR Techniques (Volume Reduction)

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Disconnection of Rooftop Runoff (RR-4)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Vegetated Swale (RR-5)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Rain Garden (RR-6)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Stormwater Planter (RR-7)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Rain Barrel/Cistern (RR-8)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Porous Pavement (RR-9)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Green Roof (RR-10)
NONE PROVIDED

Standard SMPs with RRv Capacity

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Infiltration Trench (I-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Infiltration Basin (I-2)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Dry Well (I-3)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Underground Infiltration System (I-4)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Bioretention (F-5)
NONE PROVIDED



Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Dry Swale (O-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Standard SMPs

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Micropool Extended Detention (P-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Wet Pond (P-2)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Wet Extended Detention (P-3)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Multiple Pond System (P-4)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Pocket Pond (P-5)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Surface Sand Filter (F-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Underground Sand Filter (F-2)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Perimeter Sand Filter (F-3)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Organic Filter (F-4)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Shallow Wetland (W-1)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Extended Detention Wetland (W-2)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Pond/Wetland System (W-3)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Pocket Wetland (W-4)
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Acres for Wet Swale (O-2)
NONE PROVIDED

Alternative SMPs (DO NOT INCLUDE PRACTICES BEING USED FOR
PRETREATMENT ONLY)



Total Contributing Impervious Area for Hydrodynamic
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Area for Wet Vault
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Area for Media Filter
NONE PROVIDED

"Other" Alternative SMP?
NONE PROVIDED

Total Contributing Impervious Area for "Other"
NONE PROVIDED

Provide the name and manufaturer of the alternative SMPs (i.e. proprietary
practice(s)) being used for WQv treatment.

Note: Redevelopment projects which do not use RR techniques, shall use questions
28, 29, 33 and 33a to provide SMPs used, total WQv required and total WQv
provided for the project.

Manufacturer of Alternative SMP
NONE PROVIDED

Name of Alternative SMP
NONE PROVIDED

Other Permits

NONE PROVIDED

If SPDES Multi-Sector GP, then give permit ID
NONE PROVIDED

If Other, then identify
NONE PROVIDED

NONE PROVIDED

If "Yes," then indicate Size of Impact, in acres, to the nearest tenth
NONE PROVIDED

40. Identify other DEC permits, existing and new, that are required for this
project/facility.

41. Does this project require a US Army Corps of Engineers Wetland Permit?



42. If this NOI is being submitted for the purpose of continuing or transferring
coverage under a general permit for stormwater runoff from construction activities,
please indicate the former SPDES number assigned.
NONE PROVIDED

MS4 SWPPP Acceptance

NONE PROVIDED

If No, skip question 44

NONE PROVIDED

MS4 SWPPP Acceptance Form Download
Download form from the link below. Complete, sign, and upload.
MS4 SWPPP Acceptance Form

MS4 Acceptance Form Upload
NONE PROVIDED
Comment
NONE PROVIDED

Owner/Operator Certification

Owner/Operator Certification Form Download
Download the certification form by clicking the link below. Complete, sign, scan, and
upload the form.
Owner/Operator Certification Form (PDF, 45KB)

Upload Owner/Operator Certification Form
NONE PROVIDED
Comment
NONE PROVIDED

Status History

User Processing Status
8/25/2021 5:27:26 PM Camie Jarrell Draft

43. Is this project subject to the requirements of a regulated, traditional land use
control MS4?

44. Has the "MS4 SWPPP Acceptance" form been signed by the principal executive
officer or ranking elected official and submitted along with this NOI?

http://www.dec.ny.gov/docs/water_pdf/swpppaccept.pdf
http://www.dec.ny.gov/docs/water_pdf/constnoioocert.pdf


Processing Steps

Step Name Assigned To/Completed By Date Completed
Form Submitted
Under Review DAVID GASPER



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 16 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C  
NYSDEC Acknowledgement Letter (to be 
added upon receipt) 
 

 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 17 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D  
County Soil Reports 
 

 



United States
Department of
Agriculture

A product of the National
Cooperative Soil Survey,
a joint effort of the United
States Department of
Agriculture and other
Federal agencies, State
agencies including the
Agricultural Experiment
Stations, and local
participants

Custom Soil Resource 
Report for

Montgomery 
County, New 
York

Natural
Resources
Conservation
Service

August 25, 2021



Preface
Soil surveys contain information that affects land use planning in survey areas. 
They highlight soil limitations that affect various land uses and provide information 
about the properties of the soils in the survey areas. Soil surveys are designed for 
many different users, including farmers, ranchers, foresters, agronomists, urban 
planners, community officials, engineers, developers, builders, and home buyers. 
Also, conservationists, teachers, students, and specialists in recreation, waste 
disposal, and pollution control can use the surveys to help them understand, 
protect, or enhance the environment.

Various land use regulations of Federal, State, and local governments may impose 
special restrictions on land use or land treatment. Soil surveys identify soil 
properties that are used in making various land use or land treatment decisions. 
The information is intended to help the land users identify and reduce the effects of 
soil limitations on various land uses. The landowner or user is responsible for 
identifying and complying with existing laws and regulations.

Although soil survey information can be used for general farm, local, and wider area 
planning, onsite investigation is needed to supplement this information in some 
cases. Examples include soil quality assessments (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/
portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/) and certain conservation and engineering 
applications. For more detailed information, contact your local USDA Service Center 
(https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs) or your NRCS State Soil 
Scientist (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053951).

Great differences in soil properties can occur within short distances. Some soils are 
seasonally wet or subject to flooding. Some are too unstable to be used as a 
foundation for buildings or roads. Clayey or wet soils are poorly suited to use as 
septic tank absorption fields. A high water table makes a soil poorly suited to 
basements or underground installations.

The National Cooperative Soil Survey is a joint effort of the United States 
Department of Agriculture and other Federal agencies, State agencies including the 
Agricultural Experiment Stations, and local agencies. The Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS) has leadership for the Federal part of the National 
Cooperative Soil Survey.

Information about soils is updated periodically. Updated information is available 
through the NRCS Web Soil Survey, the site for official soil survey information.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its 
programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, 
and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, 
sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or a 
part of an individual's income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not 
all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require 

2

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/
https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?cid=nrcs142p2_053951
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?cid=nrcs142p2_053951


alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, 
audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice 
and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of 
Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or 
call (800) 795-3272 (voice) or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity 
provider and employer.

3



Contents
Preface.................................................................................................................... 2
How Soil Surveys Are Made..................................................................................5
Soil Map.................................................................................................................. 8

Soil Map................................................................................................................9
Legend................................................................................................................10
Map Unit Legend................................................................................................ 11
Map Unit Descriptions.........................................................................................11

Montgomery County, New York.......................................................................13
ApB—Appleton silt loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes.......................................... 13
AtC—Arnot channery silt loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes, rocky.................... 14
AvB—Arnot-Angola channery silt loams, 3 to 8 percent slopes.................. 16
AZF—Arnot-Rock outcrop association, very steep..................................... 18
Fo—Fonda mucky silty clay loam................................................................19
LaC—Lansing silt loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes.......................................... 21

References............................................................................................................23

4



How Soil Surveys Are Made
Soil surveys are made to provide information about the soils and miscellaneous 
areas in a specific area. They include a description of the soils and miscellaneous 
areas and their location on the landscape and tables that show soil properties and 
limitations affecting various uses. Soil scientists observed the steepness, length, 
and shape of the slopes; the general pattern of drainage; the kinds of crops and 
native plants; and the kinds of bedrock. They observed and described many soil 
profiles. A soil profile is the sequence of natural layers, or horizons, in a soil. The 
profile extends from the surface down into the unconsolidated material in which the 
soil formed or from the surface down to bedrock. The unconsolidated material is 
devoid of roots and other living organisms and has not been changed by other 
biological activity.

Currently, soils are mapped according to the boundaries of major land resource 
areas (MLRAs). MLRAs are geographically associated land resource units that 
share common characteristics related to physiography, geology, climate, water 
resources, soils, biological resources, and land uses (USDA, 2006). Soil survey 
areas typically consist of parts of one or more MLRA.

The soils and miscellaneous areas in a survey area occur in an orderly pattern that 
is related to the geology, landforms, relief, climate, and natural vegetation of the 
area. Each kind of soil and miscellaneous area is associated with a particular kind 
of landform or with a segment of the landform. By observing the soils and 
miscellaneous areas in the survey area and relating their position to specific 
segments of the landform, a soil scientist develops a concept, or model, of how they 
were formed. Thus, during mapping, this model enables the soil scientist to predict 
with a considerable degree of accuracy the kind of soil or miscellaneous area at a 
specific location on the landscape.

Commonly, individual soils on the landscape merge into one another as their 
characteristics gradually change. To construct an accurate soil map, however, soil 
scientists must determine the boundaries between the soils. They can observe only 
a limited number of soil profiles. Nevertheless, these observations, supplemented 
by an understanding of the soil-vegetation-landscape relationship, are sufficient to 
verify predictions of the kinds of soil in an area and to determine the boundaries.

Soil scientists recorded the characteristics of the soil profiles that they studied. They 
noted soil color, texture, size and shape of soil aggregates, kind and amount of rock 
fragments, distribution of plant roots, reaction, and other features that enable them 
to identify soils. After describing the soils in the survey area and determining their 
properties, the soil scientists assigned the soils to taxonomic classes (units). 
Taxonomic classes are concepts. Each taxonomic class has a set of soil 
characteristics with precisely defined limits. The classes are used as a basis for 
comparison to classify soils systematically. Soil taxonomy, the system of taxonomic 
classification used in the United States, is based mainly on the kind and character 
of soil properties and the arrangement of horizons within the profile. After the soil 

5



scientists classified and named the soils in the survey area, they compared the 
individual soils with similar soils in the same taxonomic class in other areas so that 
they could confirm data and assemble additional data based on experience and 
research.

The objective of soil mapping is not to delineate pure map unit components; the 
objective is to separate the landscape into landforms or landform segments that 
have similar use and management requirements. Each map unit is defined by a 
unique combination of soil components and/or miscellaneous areas in predictable 
proportions. Some components may be highly contrasting to the other components 
of the map unit. The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way 
diminishes the usefulness or accuracy of the data. The delineation of such 
landforms and landform segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, onsite 
investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous areas.

Soil scientists make many field observations in the process of producing a soil map. 
The frequency of observation is dependent upon several factors, including scale of 
mapping, intensity of mapping, design of map units, complexity of the landscape, 
and experience of the soil scientist. Observations are made to test and refine the 
soil-landscape model and predictions and to verify the classification of the soils at 
specific locations. Once the soil-landscape model is refined, a significantly smaller 
number of measurements of individual soil properties are made and recorded. 
These measurements may include field measurements, such as those for color, 
depth to bedrock, and texture, and laboratory measurements, such as those for 
content of sand, silt, clay, salt, and other components. Properties of each soil 
typically vary from one point to another across the landscape.

Observations for map unit components are aggregated to develop ranges of 
characteristics for the components. The aggregated values are presented. Direct 
measurements do not exist for every property presented for every map unit 
component. Values for some properties are estimated from combinations of other 
properties.

While a soil survey is in progress, samples of some of the soils in the area generally 
are collected for laboratory analyses and for engineering tests. Soil scientists 
interpret the data from these analyses and tests as well as the field-observed 
characteristics and the soil properties to determine the expected behavior of the 
soils under different uses. Interpretations for all of the soils are field tested through 
observation of the soils in different uses and under different levels of management. 
Some interpretations are modified to fit local conditions, and some new 
interpretations are developed to meet local needs. Data are assembled from other 
sources, such as research information, production records, and field experience of 
specialists. For example, data on crop yields under defined levels of management 
are assembled from farm records and from field or plot experiments on the same 
kinds of soil.

Predictions about soil behavior are based not only on soil properties but also on 
such variables as climate and biological activity. Soil conditions are predictable over 
long periods of time, but they are not predictable from year to year. For example, 
soil scientists can predict with a fairly high degree of accuracy that a given soil will 
have a high water table within certain depths in most years, but they cannot predict 
that a high water table will always be at a specific level in the soil on a specific date.

After soil scientists located and identified the significant natural bodies of soil in the 
survey area, they drew the boundaries of these bodies on aerial photographs and 

Custom Soil Resource Report

6



identified each as a specific map unit. Aerial photographs show trees, buildings, 
fields, roads, and rivers, all of which help in locating boundaries accurately.

Custom Soil Resource Report

7



Soil Map
The soil map section includes the soil map for the defined area of interest, a list of 
soil map units on the map and extent of each map unit, and cartographic symbols 
displayed on the map. Also presented are various metadata about data used to 
produce the map, and a description of each soil map unit.

8



9

Custom Soil Resource Report
Soil Map

47
46

81
0

47
46

87
0

47
46

93
0

47
46

99
0

47
47

05
0

47
47

11
0

47
47

17
0

47
46

81
0

47
46

87
0

47
46

93
0

47
46

99
0

47
47

05
0

47
47

11
0

47
47

17
0

554990 555050 555110 555170 555230 555290 555350 555410 555470 555530

554990 555050 555110 555170 555230 555290 555350 555410 555470 555530

42°  52' 30'' N
74

° 
 1

9'
 3

6'
' W

42°  52' 30'' N

74
° 
 1

9'
 1

1'
' W

42°  52' 18'' N

74
° 
 1

9'
 3

6'
' W

42°  52' 18'' N

74
° 
 1

9'
 1

1'
' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 18N WGS84
0 100 200 400 600

Feet
0 35 70 140 210

Meters
Map Scale: 1:2,600 if printed on A landscape (11" x 8.5") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Map Unit Polygons

Soil Map Unit Lines

Soil Map Unit Points

Special Point Features
Blowout

Borrow Pit

Clay Spot

Closed Depression

Gravel Pit

Gravelly Spot

Landfill

Lava Flow

Marsh or swamp

Mine or Quarry

Miscellaneous Water

Perennial Water

Rock Outcrop

Saline Spot

Sandy Spot

Severely Eroded Spot

Sinkhole

Slide or Slip

Sodic Spot

Spoil Area

Stony Spot

Very Stony Spot

Wet Spot

Other

Special Line Features

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 
1:24,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause 
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil 
line placement. The maps do not show the small areas of 
contrasting soils that could have been shown at a more detailed 
scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map 
measurements.

Source of Map: Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL: 
Coordinate System: Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator 
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts 
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the 
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more 
accurate calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as 
of the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area: Montgomery County, New York
Survey Area Data: Version 18, Jun 11, 2020

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 
1:50,000 or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed: Oct 7, 2013—Nov 9, 
2016

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were 
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background 
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor 
shifting of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Custom Soil Resource Report

10



Map Unit Legend

Map Unit Symbol Map Unit Name Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

ApB Appleton silt loam, 3 to 8 
percent slopes

0.4 2.6%

AtC Arnot channery silt loam, 8 to 
15 percent slopes, rocky

0.5 3.1%

AvB Arnot-Angola channery silt 
loams, 3 to 8 percent slopes

9.9 66.6%

AZF Arnot-Rock outcrop association, 
very steep

2.8 18.9%

Fo Fonda mucky silty clay loam 1.0 6.6%

LaC Lansing silt loam, 8 to 15 
percent slopes

0.3 2.2%

Totals for Area of Interest 14.8 100.0%

Map Unit Descriptions
The map units delineated on the detailed soil maps in a soil survey represent the 
soils or miscellaneous areas in the survey area. The map unit descriptions, along 
with the maps, can be used to determine the composition and properties of a unit.

A map unit delineation on a soil map represents an area dominated by one or more 
major kinds of soil or miscellaneous areas. A map unit is identified and named 
according to the taxonomic classification of the dominant soils. Within a taxonomic 
class there are precisely defined limits for the properties of the soils. On the 
landscape, however, the soils are natural phenomena, and they have the 
characteristic variability of all natural phenomena. Thus, the range of some 
observed properties may extend beyond the limits defined for a taxonomic class. 
Areas of soils of a single taxonomic class rarely, if ever, can be mapped without 
including areas of other taxonomic classes. Consequently, every map unit is made 
up of the soils or miscellaneous areas for which it is named and some minor 
components that belong to taxonomic classes other than those of the major soils.

Most minor soils have properties similar to those of the dominant soil or soils in the 
map unit, and thus they do not affect use and management. These are called 
noncontrasting, or similar, components. They may or may not be mentioned in a 
particular map unit description. Other minor components, however, have properties 
and behavioral characteristics divergent enough to affect use or to require different 
management. These are called contrasting, or dissimilar, components. They 
generally are in small areas and could not be mapped separately because of the 
scale used. Some small areas of strongly contrasting soils or miscellaneous areas 
are identified by a special symbol on the maps. If included in the database for a 
given area, the contrasting minor components are identified in the map unit 
descriptions along with some characteristics of each. A few areas of minor 
components may not have been observed, and consequently they are not 
mentioned in the descriptions, especially where the pattern was so complex that it 

Custom Soil Resource Report

11



was impractical to make enough observations to identify all the soils and 
miscellaneous areas on the landscape.

The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way diminishes the 
usefulness or accuracy of the data. The objective of mapping is not to delineate 
pure taxonomic classes but rather to separate the landscape into landforms or 
landform segments that have similar use and management requirements. The 
delineation of such segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, however, 
onsite investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous 
areas.

An identifying symbol precedes the map unit name in the map unit descriptions. 
Each description includes general facts about the unit and gives important soil 
properties and qualities.

Soils that have profiles that are almost alike make up a soil series. Except for 
differences in texture of the surface layer, all the soils of a series have major 
horizons that are similar in composition, thickness, and arrangement.

Soils of one series can differ in texture of the surface layer, slope, stoniness, 
salinity, degree of erosion, and other characteristics that affect their use. On the 
basis of such differences, a soil series is divided into soil phases. Most of the areas 
shown on the detailed soil maps are phases of soil series. The name of a soil phase 
commonly indicates a feature that affects use or management. For example, Alpha 
silt loam, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is a phase of the Alpha series.

Some map units are made up of two or more major soils or miscellaneous areas. 
These map units are complexes, associations, or undifferentiated groups.

A complex consists of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas in such an intricate 
pattern or in such small areas that they cannot be shown separately on the maps. 
The pattern and proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat similar 
in all areas. Alpha-Beta complex, 0 to 6 percent slopes, is an example.

An association is made up of two or more geographically associated soils or 
miscellaneous areas that are shown as one unit on the maps. Because of present 
or anticipated uses of the map units in the survey area, it was not considered 
practical or necessary to map the soils or miscellaneous areas separately. The 
pattern and relative proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat 
similar. Alpha-Beta association, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

An undifferentiated group is made up of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas 
that could be mapped individually but are mapped as one unit because similar 
interpretations can be made for use and management. The pattern and proportion 
of the soils or miscellaneous areas in a mapped area are not uniform. An area can 
be made up of only one of the major soils or miscellaneous areas, or it can be made 
up of all of them. Alpha and Beta soils, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

Some surveys include miscellaneous areas. Such areas have little or no soil 
material and support little or no vegetation. Rock outcrop is an example.

Custom Soil Resource Report

12



Montgomery County, New York

ApB—Appleton silt loam, 3 to 8 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2w5ht
Elevation: 260 to 1,740 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 31 to 57 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 41 to 50 degrees F
Frost-free period: 100 to 190 days
Farmland classification: Prime farmland if drained

Map Unit Composition
Appleton and similar soils: 80 percent
Minor components: 20 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Appleton

Setting
Landform: Drumlins, ridges, till plains
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Calcareous loamy lodgment till derived from limestone, 

sandstone, and shale

Typical profile
Ap - 0 to 8 inches: silt loam
E - 8 to 16 inches: loam
Bt - 16 to 30 inches: gravelly silt loam
C1 - 30 to 54 inches: gravelly loam
C2 - 54 to 79 inches: gravelly loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 3 to 8 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Somewhat poorly drained
Runoff class: Very high
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to 

moderately high (0.01 to 1.42 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 6 to 18 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Calcium carbonate, maximum content: 40 percent
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Moderate (about 8.4 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 3w
Hydrologic Soil Group: B/D
Ecological site: F101XY013NY - Moist Till
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

13



Minor Components

Conesus
Percent of map unit: 7 percent
Landform: Till plains, drumlins, hills
Landform position (two-dimensional): Shoulder, summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Convex
Hydric soil rating: No

Lyons
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Drainageways, depressions
Landform position (two-dimensional): Toeslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Concave
Hydric soil rating: Yes

Darien
Percent of map unit: 4 percent
Landform: Drainageways, till plains
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope, summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Churchville
Percent of map unit: 4 percent
Landform: Till plains, lake plains
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope, rise, talf
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

AtC—Arnot channery silt loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes, rocky

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 9tnq
Elevation: 1,000 to 1,800 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 38 to 44 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 45 to 48 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 170 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Arnot and similar soils: 75 percent

Custom Soil Resource Report

14



Minor components: 25 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Arnot

Setting
Landform: Ridges, hills, benches
Landform position (two-dimensional): Shoulder
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest
Down-slope shape: Convex
Across-slope shape: Convex
Parent material: Loamy till derived mainly from acid sandstone, siltstone, and 

shale

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 7 inches: channery silt loam
H2 - 7 to 16 inches: channery silt loam
H3 - 16 to 20 inches: unweathered bedrock

Properties and qualities
Slope: 8 to 15 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 10 to 20 inches to lithic bedrock
Drainage class: Well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Very low (0.00 to 0.00 

in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Very low (about 1.8 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 4e
Hydrologic Soil Group: D
Ecological site: F140XY023NY - Shallow Till Uplands
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Lordstown
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Angola
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Unnamed soils
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Manlius
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Tuller
Percent of map unit: 4 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

15



Rock outcrop
Percent of map unit: 1 percent
Hydric soil rating: Unranked

AvB—Arnot-Angola channery silt loams, 3 to 8 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 9tns
Elevation: 620 to 1,800 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 38 to 44 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 45 to 48 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 170 days
Farmland classification: Farmland of statewide importance

Map Unit Composition
Arnot and similar soils: 50 percent
Angola and similar soils: 30 percent
Minor components: 20 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Arnot

Setting
Landform: Ridges, hills, benches
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest
Down-slope shape: Convex
Across-slope shape: Convex
Parent material: Loamy till derived mainly from acid sandstone, siltstone, and 

shale

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 7 inches: channery silt loam
H2 - 7 to 16 inches: channery silt loam
H3 - 16 to 20 inches: unweathered bedrock

Properties and qualities
Slope: 3 to 8 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 10 to 20 inches to lithic bedrock
Drainage class: Well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Very low (0.00 to 0.00 

in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Very low (about 1.8 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 3s

Custom Soil Resource Report

16



Hydrologic Soil Group: D
Ecological site: F140XY023NY - Shallow Till Uplands
Hydric soil rating: No

Description of Angola

Setting
Landform: Till plains, benches, ridges
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Loamy till derived mainly from shale and siltstone

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 9 inches: silt loam
H2 - 9 to 24 inches: silty clay loam
R - 24 to 28 inches: weathered bedrock

Properties and qualities
Slope: 3 to 8 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 20 to 40 inches to lithic bedrock
Drainage class: Somewhat poorly drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Very low (0.00 to 0.00 

in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 6 to 18 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Calcium carbonate, maximum content: 1 percent
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Low (about 4.1 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 3w
Hydrologic Soil Group: D
Ecological site: F101XY013NY - Moist Till
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Tuller
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Hornell
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Brockport
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Varick
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Depressions
Hydric soil rating: Yes

Custom Soil Resource Report

17



AZF—Arnot-Rock outcrop association, very steep

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 9tnt
Elevation: 1,000 to 1,800 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 38 to 44 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 45 to 48 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 170 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Arnot and similar soils: 50 percent
Rock outcrop: 30 percent
Minor components: 20 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Arnot

Setting
Landform: Benches, ridges, hills
Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Side slope
Down-slope shape: Convex
Across-slope shape: Convex
Parent material: Loamy till derived mainly from acid sandstone, siltstone, and 

shale

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 7 inches: channery silt loam
H2 - 7 to 16 inches: channery silt loam
H3 - 16 to 20 inches: unweathered bedrock

Properties and qualities
Slope: 35 to 60 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 10 to 20 inches to lithic bedrock
Drainage class: Well drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Very low (0.00 to 0.00 

in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Very low (about 1.8 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 7s
Hydrologic Soil Group: D
Ecological site: F140XY023NY - Shallow Till Uplands
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

18



Description of Rock Outcrop

Typical profile
H1 - 0 to 60 inches: unweathered bedrock

Properties and qualities
Slope: 35 to 60 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: 0 inches to lithic bedrock
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Very low (0.00 to 0.00 

in/hr)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 7s
Hydric soil rating: Unranked

Minor Components

Lordstown
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Nassau
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Tuller
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Manlius
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Fo—Fonda mucky silty clay loam

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 9tpn
Elevation: 50 to 650 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 38 to 44 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 45 to 48 degrees F
Frost-free period: 110 to 170 days
Farmland classification: Not prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Fonda and similar soils: 75 percent
Minor components: 25 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Custom Soil Resource Report

19



Description of Fonda

Setting
Landform: Depressions
Landform position (two-dimensional): Toeslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Concave
Parent material: Clayey glaciolacustrine deposits

Typical profile
O - 0 to 3 inches: muck
H1 - 3 to 9 inches: mucky silty clay loam
H2 - 9 to 17 inches: silty clay
H3 - 17 to 37 inches: silty clay
H4 - 37 to 60 inches: silty clay

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 3 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Very poorly drained
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to 

moderately high (0.06 to 0.20 in/hr)
Depth to water table: About 0 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: Frequent
Calcium carbonate, maximum content: 15 percent
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: High (about 10.1 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 5w
Hydrologic Soil Group: C/D
Hydric soil rating: Yes

Minor Components

Madalin
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Depressions
Hydric soil rating: Yes

Palms
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Landform: Swamps, marshes
Hydric soil rating: Yes

Rhinebeck
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Hudson
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Churchville
Percent of map unit: 5 percent
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

20



LaC—Lansing silt loam, 8 to 15 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2w3mh
Elevation: 330 to 2,130 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 31 to 57 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 41 to 50 degrees F
Frost-free period: 100 to 190 days
Farmland classification: Farmland of statewide importance

Map Unit Composition
Lansing and similar soils: 85 percent
Minor components: 15 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Lansing

Setting
Landform: Till plains, drumlins, hills
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit, shoulder, backslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest, side slope
Down-slope shape: Convex
Across-slope shape: Convex
Parent material: Calcareous loamy lodgment till derived from limestone, 

sandstone, and shale

Typical profile
Ap - 0 to 8 inches: silt loam
E - 8 to 13 inches: gravelly silt loam
Bt/E - 13 to 21 inches: gravelly silt loam
Bt1 - 21 to 28 inches: gravelly silt loam
Bt2 - 28 to 39 inches: gravelly silt loam
C - 39 to 79 inches: gravelly loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 8 to 15 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Well drained
Runoff class: Medium
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to 

moderately high (0.01 to 1.42 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Calcium carbonate, maximum content: 40 percent
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Moderate (about 8.2 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): None specified
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 3e

Custom Soil Resource Report

21



Hydrologic Soil Group: B
Ecological site: F101XY012NY - Till Upland
Hydric soil rating: No

Minor Components

Conesus
Percent of map unit: 8 percent
Landform: Till plains, drumlins, hills
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit, shoulder
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Convex
Hydric soil rating: No

Kendaia
Percent of map unit: 3 percent
Landform: Till plains, drumlins
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Appleton
Percent of map unit: 2 percent
Landform: Drumlins, till plains
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Base slope
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Hydric soil rating: No

Danley
Percent of map unit: 1 percent
Landform: Hills, till plains, drumlinoid ridges
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest
Down-slope shape: Convex
Across-slope shape: Convex
Hydric soil rating: No

Wassaic
Percent of map unit: 1 percent
Landform: Till plains, benches, ridges
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Crest
Down-slope shape: Convex
Across-slope shape: Convex
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

22



References
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). 
2004. Standard specifications for transportation materials and methods of sampling 
and testing. 24th edition.

American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). 2005. Standard classification of 
soils for engineering purposes. ASTM Standard D2487-00.

Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of 
wetlands and deep-water habitats of the United States. U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service FWS/OBS-79/31.

Federal Register. July 13, 1994. Changes in hydric soils of the United States.

Federal Register. September 18, 2002. Hydric soils of the United States.

Hurt, G.W., and L.M. Vasilas, editors. Version 6.0, 2006. Field indicators of hydric 
soils in the United States.

National Research Council. 1995. Wetlands: Characteristics and boundaries.

Soil Survey Division Staff. 1993. Soil survey manual. Soil Conservation Service. 
U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 18. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262 

Soil Survey Staff. 1999. Soil taxonomy: A basic system of soil classification for 
making and interpreting soil surveys. 2nd edition. Natural Resources Conservation 
Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 436. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577 

Soil Survey Staff. 2010. Keys to soil taxonomy. 11th edition. U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580 

Tiner, R.W., Jr. 1985. Wetlands of Delaware. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and 
Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control, Wetlands 
Section.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of 
Engineers wetlands delineation manual. Waterways Experiment Station Technical 
Report Y-87-1.

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National forestry manual. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/
home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National range and pasture handbook. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/
detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084 

23

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084


United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National soil survey handbook, title 430-VI. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
2006. Land resource regions and major land resource areas of the United States, 
the Caribbean, and the Pacific Basin. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 
296. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053624 

United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service. 1961. Land 
capability classification. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 210. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf 

Custom Soil Resource Report

24

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053624
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053624
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf


 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 18 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E  
Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
Certifications 
 

 



 
 

STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN 
411 REYNOLDS ROAD WIND PROJECT, TOWN OF GLEN 

BORREGO SOLAR 
 

Owner/Operator’s Certification Statement 
 
"I hereby certify that I understand and agree to comply with the terms and conditions of the SWPPP and 
agree to implement any corrective actions identified by the qualified inspector during a site inspection.  I 
also understand that the owner or operator must comply with the terms and conditions of the most 
current version of the New York State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("SPDES") general permit 
for stormwater discharges from construction activities and that it is unlawful for any person to cause or 
contribute to a violation of water quality standards.  Furthermore, I understand that certifying false, 
incorrect or inaccurate information is a violation of the referenced permit and the laws of the State of 
New York and could subject me to criminal, civil and/or administrative proceedings." 
 

____________________________________________________ 
Owner/Operator’s Name 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Address 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Phone Number  
 
____________________________________________________ 
Owner/Operator’s Representative Name and Title 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Representative Signature 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Date 
 
 

  



 
 

STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN 
411 REYNOLDS ROAD WIND PROJECT, TOWN OF GLEN 

BORREGO SOLAR 
Contractor’s Certification Statement 

 
"I hereby certify that I understand and agree to comply with the terms and conditions of the SWPPP and 
agree to implement any corrective actions identified by the qualified inspector during a site inspection.  I 
also understand that the owner or operator must comply with the terms and conditions of the most 
current version of the New York State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("SPDES") general permit 
for stormwater discharges from construction activities and that it is unlawful for any person to cause or 
contribute to a violation of water quality standards.  Furthermore, I understand that certifying false, 
incorrect or inaccurate information is a violation of the referenced permit and the laws of the State of 
New York and could subject me to criminal, civil and/or administrative proceedings." 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Contractor’s Name 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Address 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Phone Number  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Contractor’s Representative Name and Title 

 
__________________________________________________ ________________________________ 
Representative Signature     Date 

 
 
Identify the specific elements of the SWPPP the contractor/subcontractor is responsible for: 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  



 
 

STORMWATER POLLUTION PREVENTION PLAN 
411 REYNOLDS ROAD WIND PROJECT, TOWN OF GLEN 

BORREGO SOLAR 
 

Subcontractor’s Certification Statement 
 
"I hereby certify that I understand and agree to comply with the terms and conditions of the SWPPP and 
agree to implement any corrective actions identified by the qualified inspector during a site inspection.  I 
also understand that the owner or operator must comply with the terms and conditions of the most 
current version of the New York State Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("SPDES") general permit 
for stormwater discharges from construction activities and that it is unlawful for any person to cause or 
contribute to a violation of water quality standards.  Furthermore, I understand that certifying false, 
incorrect or inaccurate information is a violation of the referenced permit and the laws of the State of 
New York and could subject me to criminal, civil and/or administrative proceedings." 
 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Subcontractor’s Name 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Address 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Phone Number  
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Subcontractor’s Representative Name and Title 

 
__________________________________________________ ________________________________ 
Representative Signature     Date 

 
 
Identify the specific elements of the SWPPP the contractor/subcontractor is responsible for: 
 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
*Copy this page as needed for additional subcontractors 

 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 19 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F  
Stormwater Calculations and Modeling 
Results 



Version 1.8
Last Updated: 11/09/2015

Total Water Quality Volume Calculation
WQv(acre-feet) = [(P)(Rv)(A)] /12

No
Design Point: 1

P= 1.00 inch

Catchment 
Number

Total Area
(Acres)

Impervious Area
(Acres)

Percent 
Impervious

%
Rv

WQv
(ft 3 )

Description

1 1.00 0.25 25% 0.28 998 Dry Swale

2 1.99 0.49 25% 0.27 1,962 Filter Strips

3 0.95 0.23 24% 0.27 924 Filter Strips

4 0.32 0.12 38% 0.39 450 Dry Swale

5
6
7
8
9

10
Subtotal (1-30) 4.26 1.09 26% 0.28 4,334 Subtotal 1

Total 4.26 1.09 26% 0.28 4,334 Initial WQv

Total 
Contributing 

Area

Contributing 
Impervious Area

(Acre) (Acre)
0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00

2.94 0.72

0.00 0.00

2.94 0.72

Total Area
(Acres)

Impervious Area
(Acres)

Percent 
Impervious

%

Runoff 
Coefficient

Rv

WQv
(ft 3 )

4.26 1.09 26% 0.28 4,334
-2.94 -0.72

1.32 0.37 28% 0.30 1,448

0.00

1.32 0.37 28% 0.30 1,448

2,886

Technique

minimum 10,000 sfConservation of Natural Areas 

WQv reduced by Area 
Reduction techniques

Adjusted WQv after Area 
Reduction and Rooftop 
Disconnect

Subtract Area

Disconnection of Rooftops

WQv adjusted after Area 
Reductions

Identify Runoff Reduction Techniques By Area

Breakdown of Subcatchments

Is this project subject to Chapter 10 of the NYS Design Manual (i.e. WQv is equal to post-
development 1 year runoff volume)?......................................................................................

"<<Initial WQv"

Recalculate WQv after application of Area Reduction Techniques

Riparian Buffers
maximum contributing length 75 feet to 
150 feet

Up to 100 sf directly connected impervious 
area may be subtracted per tree

Tree Planting

Filter Strips

Total

Manually enter P, Total Area and Impervious Cover.

Notes



Runoff Reduction Techiques/Standard 
SMPs

Total 
Contributing 

Area 

Total 
Contributing 
Impervious 

Area

WQv 
Reduced 

(RRv)

WQv 
Treated

(acres) (acres) cf cf
Conservation of Natural Areas RR-1 0.00 0.00

Sheetflow to Riparian Buffers/Filter 
Strips

RR-2 2.94 0.72

Tree Planting/Tree Pit RR-3 0.00 0.00
Disconnection of Rooftop Runoff RR-4 0.00

Vegetated Swale RR-5 0.00 0.00 0
Rain Garden RR-6 0.00 0.00 0

Stormwater Planter RR-7 0.00 0.00 0
Rain Barrel/Cistern RR-8 0.00 0.00 0
Porous Pavement RR-9 0.00 0.00 0

Green Roof (Intensive & Extensive) RR-10 0.00 0.00 0
Infiltration Trench I-1 0.00 0.00 0 0
Infiltration Basin I-2 0.00 0.00 0 0

Dry Well I-3 0.00 0.00 0 0
Underground Infiltration System I-4

Bioretention & Infiltration Bioretention F-5 0.00 0.00 0 0

Dry swale O-1 1.32 0.37 1276 172
Micropool Extended Detention (P-1) P-1

Wet Pond (P-2) P-2
Wet Extended Detention (P-3) P-3

Multiple Pond system (P-4) P-4
Pocket Pond (p-5) P-5

Surface Sand filter (F-1) F-1
Underground Sand filter (F-2) F-2

Perimeter Sand Filter (F-3) F-3
Organic Filter (F-4 F-4

Shallow Wetland (W-1) W-1
Extended Detention Wetland (W-2 W-2

Pond/Wetland System (W-3) W-3
Pocket Wetland (W-4) W-4

Wet Swale (O-2) O-2

→ 2.94 0.72 2886

→ 0.00 0.00 0

→ 1.32 0.37 1276 172

→ 0.00 0.00 0

→ 4.26 1.09 4,162 172

Totals by Volume Reduction
Totals by Standard SMP w/RRV

Totals by Standard SMP
Totals ( Area + Volume + all SMPs)

Runoff Reduction Volume and Treated volumes
St

an
da

rd
 S

M
Ps

 w
/R

Rv
 

Ca
pa

ci
ty

St
an

da
rd

 S
M

Ps
  

Ar
ea

/V
ol

um
e 

Re
du

ct
io

n

Totals by Area Reduction



Minimum RRv

Soil Group Acres S
A 55%
B 40%
C 30%
D 4.26 20%

Total Area 4.26

S = 0.20
Impervious = 1.09 acre
Precipitation 1 in

Rv 0.95
Minimum RRv 752 ft3

0.02 af

Enter the Soils Data for the site

Calculate the Minimum RRv



Dry Swale Worksheet
Design Point: 1

Catchment 
Number

Total Area
(Acres)

Impervious 
Area

(Acres)

Percent 
Impervious

%
Rv

WQv
(ft 3 )

Precipitation
(in)

Description

1 1.00 0.25 0.25 0.28 998.25 1.00 Dry Swale

0.00 25% 0.28 998

100 ft 3

Bottom Width 3 ft

Side Slope 
(X:1)

4 Okay

Longitudinal 
Slope

0% Okay

Flow Depth 1.5 ft

Top Width 15 ft
Area 13.50 sf
Minimum 
Length

67 ft

Actual Length 410 ft
End Point 
Depth check

0.50 Okay

Storage 
Capacity

5,635 ft 3

D

Yes

RRv 998 ft 3

Volume 
Treated

0 ft 3

Volume 
Directed 

0 ft 3

Volume √ Okay

Runoff Reduction

Runnoff Reduction equals 40% in HSG A and B and 20% in HSG C 
and D up to the WQv

This volume is directed another practice

Is the Dry Swale contributing flow to another 
practice?

Select Practice

Soil Group (HSG)

Other/Standard SMP

Enter Site Data For Drainage Area to be Treated by Practice

Calculate Available Storage Capacity
Pretreatment (10% of WQv)

Design with a bottom width no greater than eight feet to avoid 
potential gullying and channel braiding, but no less than two feet

Channels shall be designed with moderate side slopes (flatter 
than 3:1) for most conditions. 2:1 is the
absolute maximum side slope

Maximum longitudinal slope shall be 4%

Maximum ponding depth of one foot at the mid-point of the 
channel, and a maximum depth of 18" at the end point of the 
channel (for storage of the WQv)

A maximum depth of 18" at the end point of the channel (for 
storage of the WQv)

Pretreatment Technique

Enter Impervious Area Reduced 
by Disconnection of Rooftops

<<WQv after adjusting for 
Disconnected Rooftops

Pretreatment Provided 

Check to be sure that channel is long enough to store WQv

This is the difference between the WQv calculated and the runoff 
reduction achieved in the swale

TW

p

BW



Dry Swale Worksheet

Design Point: 1

Catchment 
Number

Total Area
(Acres)

Impervious 
Area

(Acres)

Percent 
Impervious

%
Rv

WQv
(ft 3 )

Precipitation
(in)

Description

4 0.32 0.12 0.38 0.39 450.12 1.00 Dry Swale

0.00 38% 0.39 450

45 ft 3

Bottom Width 2 ft

Side Slope 
(X:1)

2.5 Okay

Longitudinal 
Slope

4% Okay

Flow Depth 1.25 ft

Top Width 8.25 ft
Area 6.41 sf
Minimum 
Length

63 ft

Actual Length 210 ft
End Point 
Depth check

0.50 Okay

Storage 
Capacity

1,390 ft 3

D

No

RRv 278 ft 3

Volume 
Treated

172 ft 3

Volume 
Directed 

0 ft 3

Volume √ Okay

Runnoff Reduction equals 40% in HSG A and B and 20% in HSG C 
and D up to the WQv

Soil Group (HSG)

This is the difference between the WQv calculated and the runoff 
reduction achieved in the swale

Runoff Reduction

Enter Site Data For Drainage Area to be Treated by Practice

Enter Impervious Area Reduced 
by Disconnection of Rooftops

<<WQv after adjusting for 
Disconnected Rooftops

Pretreatment Provided Pretreatment Technique
Pretreatment (10% of WQv)

Calculate Available Storage Capacity

A maximum depth of 18" at the end point of the channel (for 
storage of the WQv)

This volume is directed another practice

Check to be sure that channel is long enough to store WQv

Is the Dry Swale contributing flow to another 
practice?

Select Practice

Design with a bottom width no greater than eight feet to avoid 
potential gullying and channel braiding, but no less than two feet

Channels shall be designed with moderate side slopes (flatter 
than 3:1) for most conditions. 2:1 is the
absolute maximum side slope

Maximum longitudinal slope shall be 4%

Maximum ponding depth of one foot at the mid-point of the 
channel, and a maximum depth of 18" at the end point of the 
channel (for storage of the WQv)

TW

p

BW



Filter Strip
Design Point: 1

Catchment 
Number

Total Area
(Acres)

Impervious 
Area

(Acres)

Percent 
Impervious

%
Rv

WQv
(ft 3 )

Precipitation
(in)

Description

2 1.99 0.49 0.25 0.27 1962.02 1.00 Filter Strips

No Y/N

Yes Y/N

Yes Y/N

Yes Y/N

No Y/N
Yes Y/N
Yes Y/N
level 

spreader
1 %
2 %
6 %

50 ft

20 ft

130 ft

D

60 ft

Yes

1.99

0.49

TRUE

Boundary Spreader?
Boundary Zone?

Specify how sheet flow will be ensured.
level spreader shall be used for buffer 
slopes ranging from 3-15%

Slope of first 10 feet of Filter Strip 2% maximum

Gravel Diaphram at top
25 feet of level grass

Average contributing slope 3% maximum unless a level spreader is 

Overall Slope 8% maximum

Contributing Length of Pervious Areas (PC) 150 ft maximum

Contributing  Length of Impervious areas 
(IC)

Enter Site Data For Drainage Area to be Treated by Practice

Design Elements
Is another area based practice applied to 
this area?

 

Is area protected from compaction from 
heavy equipment during construction?

Small Area of Impervious Area & close to 
source?
Composte Amendments?

Amended Soils & Dense Turf Cover? 

75 ft maximum

Maximum PC Contributing Length for 
combination of PC & IC

Subtract Acres from total Area

Subtract Acres from total Impervious Area

Soil Group (HSG)

Filter Strip Width

50 ft minimum for slopes 0-8%
75 ft minimum for slopes 8-12%
100 ft minimum for slopes 12-15%
HSG C or D increase by 15-20%

Are All Criteria for Filter Strips in Section 
5.3.2 met?

Area Reduction Adjustments



Filter Strip
Design Point: 1

Catchment 
Number

Total Area
(Acres)

Impervious 
Area

(Acres)

Percent 
Impervious

%
Rv

WQv
(ft 3 )

Precipitation
(in)

Description

3 0.95 0.23 0.24 0.27 923.84 1.00 Filter Strips

No Y/N

No Y/N

Yes Y/N

Yes Y/N

No Y/N
Yes Y/N
Yes Y/N

Gravel road

2 %

2 %
6 %

70 ft
20 ft

130 ft

D

60 ft

Yes

0.95

0.23

TRUE

Are All Criteria for filter strips in Section 
5.3.2 met?

Subtract Acres from total Area

Subtract Acres from total Impervious Area

Maximum PC Contributing Length for 
combination of PC & IC
Soil Group (HSG)

Filter Strip Width

50 ft minimum for slopes 0-8%
75 ft minimum for slopes 8-12%
100 ft minimum for slopes 12-15%
HSG C or D increase by 15-20%

Area Reduction Adjustments

Overall Slope 8% maximum
Contributing Length of Pervious Areas (PC) 150 ft maximum
Contributing  Length of Impervious areas 75 ft maximum

Specify how sheet flow will be ensured.
level spreader shall be used for buffer 
slopes ranging from 3-15%

Average contributing slope 
3% maximum unless a level spreader is 
used.

Slope of first 10 feet of Filter Strip 2% maximum

Composte Amendments?
Boundary Spreader? Gravel Diaphram at top
Boundary Zone? 25 feet of level grass

Amended Soils & Dense Turf Cover? 
Is area protected from compaction from 
heavy equipment during construction?
Small Area of Impervious Area & close to 
source?

Enter Site Data For Drainage Area to be Treated by Practice

Design Elements
Is another area based practice applied to 
this area?

 



                        WinTR-55 Current Data Description

                         --- Identification Data ---

User:     Cristobald                             Date:        28/01/2022
Project:  BorregoSolar_reynolds                  Units:       English
SubTitle: PostDevelopmentV2                      Areal Units: Acres
State:    New York
County:   Montgomery NRCC-B
Filename: C:\Users\CDelgado\Desktop\PostDevelopmentV2_test.w55

                             --- Sub-Area Data ---

Name           Description              Reach        Area(ac)     RCN     Tc  
------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw            south west               Outlet          20.99       80    .11       
nw            north west               Outlet          38.97       82    0.342     
ne            north east               Outlet          30.05       82    0.1       

Total area: 90.01 (ac)

                             --- Storm Data  --

                   Rainfall Depth by Rainfall Return Period

   2-Yr        5-Yr        10-Yr       25-Yr       50-Yr       100-Yr      1-Yr
   (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   2.48        3.01         3.5        4.27        4.96        5.77        2.16     

Storm Data Source:              Montgomery NRCC-B County, NY  (NRCS)
Rainfall Distribution Type:     Type NR_B
Dimensionless Unit Hydrograph:  <standard>

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PostDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                                  Storm Data

                   Rainfall Depth by Rainfall Return Period

   2-Yr        5-Yr        10-Yr       25-Yr       50-Yr       100-Yr      1-Yr
   (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   2.48        3.01         3.5        4.27        4.96        5.77        2.16     

Storm Data Source:              Montgomery NRCC-B County, NY  (NRCS)
Rainfall Distribution Type:     Type NR_B
Dimensionless Unit Hydrograph:  <standard>

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PostDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                             Watershed Peak Table

 Sub-Area           Peak Flow by Rainfall Return Period
 or Reach      10-Yr    100-Yr      1-Yr
Identifier     (cfs)     (cfs)     (cfs)
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------
SUBAREAS
sw             49.73    106.87     19.56

nw             64.71    136.18     26.54

ne             79.21    163.97     33.29

REACHES

OUTLET        173.55    367.62     69.92

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PostDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                       Hydrograph Peak/Peak Time Table

 Sub-Area       Peak Flow and Peak Time (hr) by Rainfall Return Period
 or Reach      10-Yr    100-Yr      1-Yr
Identifier     (cfs)     (cfs)     (cfs)
            (hr)      (hr)      (hr)      
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------
SUBAREAS
sw             49.73    106.87     19.56
           12.13     12.12     12.13

nw             64.71    136.18     26.54
           12.26     12.26     12.26

ne             79.21    163.97     33.29
           12.12     12.12     12.13

REACHES

OUTLET        173.55    367.62     69.92

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PostDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                            Sub-Area Summary Table

 Sub-Area   Drainage     Time of     Curve   Receiving     Sub-Area
Identifier    Area    Concentration  Number    Reach      Description
              (ac)        (hr)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw              20.99     0.110        80     Outlet    south west               
nw              38.97     0.342        82     Outlet    north west               
ne              30.05     0.100        82     Outlet    north east               

Total Area:   90.01 (ac)

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PostDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                    Sub-Area Time of Concentration Details

 Sub-Area      Flow            Mannings's    End     Wetted               Travel
Identifier/   Length    Slope      n        Area    Perimeter   Velocity   Time 
               (ft)    (ft/ft)             (sq ft)    (ft)      (ft/sec)   (hr)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw        
  SHALLOW       1110   0.0300     0.050                                    0.110

                                                 Time of Concentration       .11
                                                                        ========

nw        
  SHALLOW       2143   0.0120     0.050                                    0.337
  CHANNEL         90   0.0160     0.012      0.20      1.00     5.000      0.005

                                                 Time of Concentration     0.342
                                                                        ========

ne        
  SHALLOW        500   0.2700     0.050                                    0.017

                                                 Time of Concentration       0.1
                                                                        ========

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PostDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                  Sub-Area Land Use and Curve Number Details

 Sub-Area                                           Hydrologic   Sub-Area   Curve
Identifier           Land Use                          Soil        Area     Number
                                                      Group        (ac)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw        Gravel (w/ right-of-way)                      D            .3       91 
          Industrial                                    D            .2       93 
          Pasture, grassland or range         (good)    D         18.79       80 
          Woods - grass combination           (fair)    D           1.7       82 

          Total Area / Weighted Curve Number                      20.99       80 
                                                                  =====       ==

nw        Gravel (w/ right-of-way)                      D            .7       91 
          Industrial                                    D            .8       93 
          Pasture, grassland or range         (good)    D           2.6       80 
          Woods - grass combination           (fair)    D         34.87       82 

          Total Area / Weighted Curve Number                      38.97       82 
                                                                  =====       ==

ne        Woods - grass combination           (fair)    D         30.05       82 

          Total Area / Weighted Curve Number                      30.05       82 
                                                                  =====       ==

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:40 PM 



                        WinTR-55 Current Data Description

                         --- Identification Data ---

User:     Cristobald                             Date:        28/01/2022
Project:  BorregoSolar_reynolds                  Units:       English
SubTitle: PreDevelopmentV2                       Areal Units: Acres
State:    New York
County:   Montgomery NRCC-B
Filename: C:\Users\CDelgado\Desktop\PreDevelopmentV2_test.w55

                             --- Sub-Area Data ---

Name           Description              Reach        Area(ac)     RCN     Tc  
------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw            south west               Outlet          20.99       80    .11       
nw            north west               Outlet          38.97       82    0.337     
ne            north east               Outlet          30.05       82    0.1       

Total area: 90.01 (ac)

                             --- Storm Data  --

                   Rainfall Depth by Rainfall Return Period

   2-Yr        5-Yr        10-Yr       25-Yr       50-Yr       100-Yr      1-Yr
   (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   2.48        3.01         3.5        4.27        4.96        5.77        2.16     

Storm Data Source:              Montgomery NRCC-B County, NY  (NRCS)
Rainfall Distribution Type:     Type NR_B
Dimensionless Unit Hydrograph:  <standard>

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PreDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                                  Storm Data

                   Rainfall Depth by Rainfall Return Period

   2-Yr        5-Yr        10-Yr       25-Yr       50-Yr       100-Yr      1-Yr
   (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)        (in)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
   2.48        3.01         3.5        4.27        4.96        5.77        2.16     

Storm Data Source:              Montgomery NRCC-B County, NY  (NRCS)
Rainfall Distribution Type:     Type NR_B
Dimensionless Unit Hydrograph:  <standard>

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PreDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                             Watershed Peak Table

 Sub-Area           Peak Flow by Rainfall Return Period
 or Reach      10-Yr    100-Yr      1-Yr
Identifier     (cfs)     (cfs)     (cfs)
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------
SUBAREAS
sw             49.73    106.87     19.56

nw             64.71    136.18     26.54

ne             79.21    163.97     33.29

REACHES

OUTLET        173.55    367.62     69.92

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PreDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                       Hydrograph Peak/Peak Time Table

 Sub-Area       Peak Flow and Peak Time (hr) by Rainfall Return Period
 or Reach      10-Yr    100-Yr      1-Yr
Identifier     (cfs)     (cfs)     (cfs)
            (hr)      (hr)      (hr)      
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------
SUBAREAS
sw             49.73    106.87     19.56
           12.13     12.12     12.13

nw             64.71    136.18     26.54
           12.26     12.26     12.26

ne             79.21    163.97     33.29
           12.12     12.12     12.13

REACHES

OUTLET        173.55    367.62     69.92

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PreDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                            Sub-Area Summary Table

 Sub-Area   Drainage     Time of     Curve   Receiving     Sub-Area
Identifier    Area    Concentration  Number    Reach      Description
              (ac)        (hr)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw              20.99     0.110        80     Outlet    south west               
nw              38.97     0.337        82     Outlet    north west               
ne              30.05     0.100        82     Outlet    north east               

Total Area:   90.01 (ac)

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PreDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                    Sub-Area Time of Concentration Details

 Sub-Area      Flow            Mannings's    End     Wetted               Travel
Identifier/   Length    Slope      n        Area    Perimeter   Velocity   Time 
               (ft)    (ft/ft)             (sq ft)    (ft)      (ft/sec)   (hr)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw        
  SHALLOW       1110   0.0300     0.050                                    0.110

                                                 Time of Concentration       .11
                                                                        ========

nw        
  SHALLOW       2143   0.0120     0.050                                    0.337

                                                 Time of Concentration     0.337
                                                                        ========

ne        
  SHALLOW        500   0.2700     0.050                                    0.017

                                                 Time of Concentration       0.1
                                                                        ========

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



Cristobald                   BorregoSolar_reynolds
                               PreDevelopmentV2
                      Montgomery NRCC-B County, New York

                  Sub-Area Land Use and Curve Number Details

 Sub-Area                                           Hydrologic   Sub-Area   Curve
Identifier           Land Use                          Soil        Area     Number
                                                      Group        (ac)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------
sw        Pasture, grassland or range         (good)    D         19.19       80 
          Woods - grass combination           (fair)    D           1.8       82 

          Total Area / Weighted Curve Number                      20.99       80 
                                                                  =====       ==

nw        Pasture, grassland or range         (good)    D            .9       80 
          Woods - grass combination           (fair)    D         38.07       82 

          Total Area / Weighted Curve Number                      38.97       82 
                                                                  =====       ==

ne        Woods - grass combination           (fair)    D         30.05       82 

          Total Area / Weighted Curve Number                      30.05       82 
                                                                  =====       ==

WinTR-55, Version 1.00.10 Page  1 28/01/2022 1:49:15 PM 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix G  
Construction Duration Inspection Form 
 

 



November 2016            Page F.4              New York State Standards and Specifications 
          For Erosion and Sediment Control 

II. CONSTRUCTION DURATION INSPECTIONS 
 
a. Directions: 
 
Inspection Forms will be filled out during the entire construction phase of the project. 
 
Required Elements: 
 
1) On a site map, indicate the extent of all disturbed site areas and drainage pathways. Indicate site 

areas that are expected to undergo initial disturbance or significant site work within the next 14-day 
period; 

2) Indicate on a site map all areas of the site that have undergone temporary or permanent 
stabilization; 

3) Indicate all disturbed site areas that have not undergone active site work during the previous 14-day 
period; 

4) Inspect all sediment control practices and record the approximate degree of sediment accumulation 
as a percentage of sediment storage volume (for example, 10 percent, 20 percent, 50 percent); 

5) Inspect all erosion and sediment control practices and record all maintenance requirements such as 
verifying the integrity of barrier or diversion systems (earthen berms or silt fencing) and 
containment systems (sediment basins and sediment traps). Identify any evidence of rill or gully 
erosion occurring on slopes and any loss of stabilizing vegetation or seeding/mulching. Document 
any excessive deposition of sediment or ponding water along barrier or diversion systems. Record 
the depth of sediment within containment structures, any erosion near outlet and overflow 
structures, and verify the ability of rock filters around perforated riser pipes to pass water; and  

6) Immediately report to the Operator any deficiencies that are identified with the implementation of 
the SWPPP. 



November 2016            Page F.5              New York State Standards and Specifications 
          For Erosion and Sediment Control 

CONSTRUCTION DURATION INSPECTIONS         Page 1 of ______  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SITE PLAN/SKETCH   
 
 
_________________________________________     ____________________________________  
Inspector (print name)                                                Date of Inspection  
  
________________________________________       ____________________________________  
Qualified Inspector (print name)                            Qualified Inspector Signature         
 
The above signed acknowledges that, to the best of his/her knowledge, all information provided on the 
forms is accurate and complete. 



November 2016            Page F.6              New York State Standards and Specifications 
          For Erosion and Sediment Control 

CONSTRUCTION DURATION INSPECTIONS             Page 2 of ______  
 
Maintaining Water Quality 
 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is there an increase in turbidity causing a substantial visible contrast to natural conditions at the 

outfalls? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is there residue from oil and floating substances, visible oil film, or globules or grease at the 

outfalls? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] All disturbance is within the limits of the approved plans. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Have receiving lake/bay, stream, and/or wetland been impacted by silt from project? 
 
Housekeeping 

 
1. General Site Conditions 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is construction site litter, debris and spoils appropriately managed? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Are facilities and equipment necessary for implementation of erosion and sediment control in 

working order and/or properly maintained? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is construction impacting the adjacent property? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is dust adequately controlled? 
 
2. Temporary Stream Crossing 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Maximum diameter pipes necessary to span creek without dredging are installed. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed non-woven geotextile fabric beneath approaches. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is fill composed of  aggregate (no earth or soil)? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Rock on approaches is clean enough to remove mud from vehicles & prevent sediment from 

entering stream during high flow. 
 
3. Stabilized Construction Access 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Stone is clean enough to effectively remove mud from vehicles. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed per standards and specifications? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Does all traffic use the stabilized entrance to enter and leave site? 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is adequate drainage provided to prevent ponding at entrance? 
 
Runoff Control Practices 

 
1. Excavation Dewatering 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Upstream and downstream berms (sandbags, inflatable dams, etc.) are installed per plan. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Clean water from upstream pool is being pumped to the downstream pool. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Sediment laden water from work area is being discharged to a silt-trapping device. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Constructed upstream berm with one-foot minimum freeboard. 
 
 
 
 



November 2016            Page F.7              New York State Standards and Specifications 
          For Erosion and Sediment Control 

CONSTRUCTION DURATION INSPECTIONS             Page 3 of ______  
 
Runoff Control Practices (continued) 
 
2. Flow Spreader 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed per plan. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Constructed on undisturbed soil, not on fill, receiving only clear, non-sediment laden flow. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Flow sheets out of level spreader without erosion on downstream edge. 
 
3. Interceptor Dikes and Swales  
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed per plan with minimum side slopes 2H:1V or flatter. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Stabilized by geotextile fabric, seed, or mulch with no erosion occurring. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Sediment-laden runoff directed to sediment trapping structure 
 
4. Stone Check Dam 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Is channel stable? (flow is not eroding soil underneath or around the structure). 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Check is in good condition (rocks  in place and no permanent pools behind the structure).   
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Has accumulated sediment been removed?. 
 
5. Rock Outlet Protection 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed per plan. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed concurrently with pipe installation. 
 
Soil Stabilization 
 
1. Topsoil and Spoil Stockpiles 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Stockpiles are stabilized with vegetation and/or mulch.  
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Sediment control is installed at the toe of the slope. 
 
2. Revegetation 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Temporary seedings and mulch have been applied to idle areas. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] 4 inches minimum of topsoil has been applied under permanent seedings 
 
Sediment Control Practices 
 
1. Silt Fence and Linear Barriers 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed on Contour, 10 feet from toe of slope (not across conveyance channels). 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Joints constructed by wrapping the two ends together for continuous support. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Fabric buried 6 inches minimum. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Posts are stable, fabric is tight and without rips or frayed areas. 
Sediment accumulation is ___% of design capacity. 
 



November 2016            Page F.8              New York State Standards and Specifications 
          For Erosion and Sediment Control 

 
CONSTRUCTION DURATION INSPECTIONS             Page 4 of ______  
 
Sediment Control Practices (continued) 

 
2. Storm Drain Inlet Protection (Use for Stone & Block; Filter Fabric; Curb; or, Excavated; Filter Sock or 

Manufactured practices) 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Installed concrete blocks lengthwise so open ends face outward, not upward. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Placed wire screen between No. 3 crushed stone and concrete blocks. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Drainage area is 1acre or less. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Excavated area is 900 cubic feet.  
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Excavated side slopes should be 2:1. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] 2” x 4” frame is constructed and structurally sound.  
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Posts 3-foot maximum spacing between posts. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Fabric is embedded 1 to 1.5 feet below ground and secured to frame/posts with staples at max 8-

inch spacing.  
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Posts are stable, fabric is tight and without rips or frayed areas. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Manufactured insert fabric is free of tears and punctures. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Filter Sock is not torn or flattened and fill material is contained within the mesh sock. 
Sediment accumulation ___% of design capacity. 
 
3. Temporary Sediment Trap 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Outlet structure is constructed per the approved plan or drawing. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Geotextile fabric has been placed beneath rock fill. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Sediment trap slopes and disturbed areas are stabilized. 
Sediment accumulation is ___% of design capacity. 
 
4. Temporary Sediment Basin 
Yes No NA 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Basin and outlet structure constructed per the approved plan. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Basin side slopes are stabilized with seed/mulch. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Drainage structure flushed and basin surface restored upon removal of sediment basin facility. 
[ ]   [ ]   [ ] Sediment basin dewatering pool is dewatering at appropriate rate. 
Sediment accumulation is ___% of design capacity. 
 
 
Note: Not all erosion and sediment control practices are included in this listing. Add additional pages 

to this list as required by site specific design.  All practices shall be maintained in accordance 
with their respective standards.   
 
Construction inspection checklists for post-development stormwater management practices can 
be found in Appendix F of the New York Stormwater Management Design Manual. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix H  
Notice of Termination 



New York State Department of Environmental Conservation 

Division of Water 

625 Broadway, 4th Floor 

Albany, New York 12233-3505 

      *(NOTE: Submit completed form to address above)*  
 

NOTICE OF TERMINATION for Storm Water Discharges Authorized 

 under the SPDES General Permit for Construction Activity  

Please indicate your permit identification number: NYR ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___  

I.  Owner or Operator Information 

1. Owner/Operator Name: 

2. Street Address: 

3. City/State/Zip: 

4. Contact Person: 4a.Telephone: 

4b. Contact Person E-Mail: 

II.  Project Site Information 

5. Project/Site Name: 

6. Street Address: 

7. City/Zip: 

8. County: 

III.  Reason for Termination  

9a. □ All disturbed areas have achieved final stabilization in accordance with the general permit and 

SWPPP.   *Date final stabilization completed (month/year):                                                                                  

9b. □ Permit coverage has been transferred to new owner/operator.  Indicate new owner/operator’s 

permit identification number: NYR  ___ ___ ___ ___ ___ ___    

          (Note: Permit coverage can not be terminated by owner identified in I.1. above until new 
owner/operator obtains coverage under the general permit)  

9c. □ Other (Explain on Page 2) 

IV.  Final Site Information: 

10a. Did this construction activity require the development of a SWPPP that includes post-construction                             
stormwater management practices?    □ yes  □ no      ( If no, go to question 10f.)            

10b. Have all post-construction stormwater management practices included in the final SWPPP been 
constructed?          □ yes  □ no    (If no, explain on Page 2)  

10c. Identify the entity responsible for long-term operation and maintenance of practice(s)? 
 
                                                                                                                                                                            

  

 Page 1 of  3 



NOTICE OF TERMINATION for Storm Water Discharges Authorized under the  

SPDES General Permit for Construction Activity - continued 
 

10d. Has the entity responsible for long-term operation and maintenance been given a copy of the                                    
operation and maintenance plan required by the general permit?    □ yes     □ no 

10e. Indicate the method used to ensure long-term operation and maintenance of the post-construction 
stormwater management practice(s): 
      □ Post-construction stormwater management practice(s) and any right-of-way(s) needed to 
maintain practice(s) have been deeded to the municipality. 
      □ Executed maintenance agreement is in place with the municipality that will maintain the 
post-construction stormwater management practice(s).  
      □ For post-construction stormwater management practices that are privately owned, a mechanism 
is in place that requires operation and maintenance of the practice(s) in accordance with the operation 
and maintenance plan, such as a deed covenant in the owner or operator’s deed of record.  
      □ For post-construction stormwater management practices that are owned by a public or private 
institution (e.g. school, university or hospital), government agency or authority, or public utility; policy and 
procedures are in place that ensures operation and maintenance of the practice(s) in accordance with the 
operation and maintenance plan.  

10f. Provide the total area of impervious surface (i.e. roof, pavement, concrete, gravel, etc.) constructed 
within the disturbance area?                                                                                                                             
(acres) 

11. Is this project subject to the requirements of a regulated, traditional land use control MS4?    □ yes     
□ no 
      (If Yes, complete section VI - “MS4 Acceptance” statement 

V.  Additional Information/Explanation:   
      (Use this section to answer questions 9c. and 10b., if applicable) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VI.  MS4 Acceptance - MS4 Official (principal executive officer or ranking elected official) or Duly 

Authorized Representative (Note: Not required when 9b. is checked -transfer of coverage)  

I have determined that it is acceptable for the owner or operator of the construction project identified in 
question 5 to submit the Notice of Termination at this time. 

Printed Name: 

Title/Position:   

Signature:  Date: 

 
 

 Page 2 of  3 



NOTICE OF TERMINATION for Storm Water Discharges Authorized under the  

SPDES General Permit for Construction Activity - continued 
 

VII.  Qualified Inspector Certification - Final Stabilization: 

I hereby certify that all disturbed areas have achieved final stabilization as defined in the current version 
of the general permit, and that all temporary, structural erosion and sediment control measures have 
been removed. Furthermore, I understand that certifying false, incorrect or inaccurate information is a 
violation of the referenced permit and the laws of the State of New York and could subject me to 
criminal, civil and/or administrative proceedings. 

Printed Name: 

Title/Position: 

Signature: Date: 

VIII.  Qualified Inspector Certification - Post-construction Stormwater Management Practice(s): 

I hereby certify that all post-construction stormwater management practices have been constructed in 
conformance with the SWPPP. Furthermore, I understand that certifying false, incorrect or inaccurate 
information is a violation of the referenced permit and the laws of the State of New York and could 
subject me to criminal, civil and/or administrative proceedings. 

Printed Name: 

Title/Position:           

Signature: Date: 

IX.  Owner or Operator Certification  

I hereby certify that this document was prepared by me or under my direction or supervision. My 
determination, based upon my inquiry of the person(s) who managed the construction activity, or those 
persons directly responsible for gathering the information, is that the information provided in this 
document is true, accurate and complete. Furthermore, I understand that certifying false, incorrect or 
inaccurate information is a violation of the referenced permit and the laws of the State of New York and 
could subject me to criminal, civil and/or administrative proceedings. 

Printed Name: 

Title/Position: 

 
Signature: 

 
Date: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(NYS DEC Notice of Termination - January 2015) 

 Page 3 of  3 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix I  
Project Drawings (11 x 17) 
 

 

 

 

 





























 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 (5) | Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 23 
 

 

 
 

 

 

ghd.com    The Power of Commitment 
 

http://www.ghd.com/


 
 

 

Decommissioning 
Plan  
411 Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project, 
Town of Glen, Montgomery County, NY 

Borrego Solar 

February 08, 2022 
 

  

   The Power of Commitment 



  The Power of Commitment 
 

 

 

 

GHD 337 
285 Delaware Avenue, Suite 500 
Buffalo, New York 14202, United States 
T  +1 716 856 2142  |  F +1 716 856 2160  |  E info-northamerica@ghd.com  |  ghd.com 
 

Printed date 2/8/2022 4:00:00 PM 

Last saved date February 08, 2022 

File name https://projects-
northamerica.ghd.com/sites/na04_02/propborregosolarwind/ProjectDocs/11227527-RPT-411 
Reynolds Road_Glen-Decommissioning Plan.docx 

Author Mel Gates 

Project manager Camie Jarrell 

Client name Borrego Solar 

Project name Borrego Solar Wind Projects 

Document title Decommissioning Plan  |  411 Reynolds Road Wind Energy Project, Town of Glen, 
Montgomery County, NY 

Revision version Rev 02 

Project number 11227527 

  

Document status 

Status 
Code 

Revision Author Reviewer Approved for issue  

Name Signature Name Signature  Date 

S3 00 Mel Gates Camie 
Jarrell  

   

S4 00    David 
Britton  

8/31/2021 

S3 01 Mel Gates Camie 
Jarrell  

   

S4 01    Dave 
Britton  

12/14/2021 

S4 02 Mel Gates Camie 
Jarrell  

David 
Britton  

1/11/2022 

 

© GHD 2022 

This document is and shall remain the property of GHD. The document may only be used for the purpose for which it 
was commissioned and in accordance with the Terms of Engagement for the commission. Unauthorized use of this 
document in any form whatsoever is prohibited. 

http://www.ghd.com/


GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  i 
 

Contents 

1. 411 Reynolds Road Wind Project 1 
1.1 Purpose of this report 1 
1.2 Scope and limitations 1 
1.3 System Description 1 
1.4 Decommissioning Sequence 1 

2. Wind Turbines 1 
2.1 Wind Turbine Decommissioning 1 

3. Wind Turbine Foundations 3 
3.1 Wind Turbine Foundation Decommissioning 3 
3.2 Wind Turbine Grounding System 3 

4. Access Roads 4 
4.1 Typical Access Road Construction Details 4 
4.2 Access Road Decommissioning 4 

5. Crane Pads 5 
6. Overhead and Underground Electric 5 

6.1 Wires and Poles Typical Installation 5 
6.2 Overhead Wires and Poles Decommissioning 5 

7. Earthwork and Topsoil Restoration 5 
8. Summary of Decommissioning Costs 6 

Table index 
Table 2.1 Wind Turbine Decommissioning 3 
Table 3.1 Wind Turbine Foundation Decommissioning 3 
Table 4.1 Access Road Decommissioning 4 
Table 4.2 Aggregate Salvage Values Removed 5 
Table 7.1 Earthwork and Topsoil Restoration 6 
 
 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  1 
 

1. 411 Reynolds Road Wind Project 

1.1 Purpose of this report 
This report summarizes the specific project components that will be removed, the costs associated with their removal 
and, where applicable, their associated salvage value. This report also provides overall unit costs (per turbine) for 
decommissioning the 411 Reynolds Road Wind Project (Project). 

1.2 Scope and limitations 
This report: has been prepared by GHD for Borrego Solar and may only be used and relied on by Borrego Solar for 
the purpose agreed between GHD and Borrego Solar as set out in our Master Services Agreement. 

GHD otherwise disclaims responsibility to any person other than Borrego Solar arising in connection with this report. 
GHD also excludes implied warranties and conditions, to the extent legally permissible. 

The services undertaken by GHD in connection with preparing this report were limited to those specifically detailed in 
the report and are subject to the scope limitations set out in the report.  

The opinions, conclusions and any recommendations in this report are based on conditions encountered and 
information reviewed at the date of preparation of the report. GHD has no responsibility or obligation to update this 
report to account for events or changes occurring subsequent to the date that the report was prepared. 

1.3 System Description 
The proposed Project is a wind energy facility located in the Town of Glen, Montgomery County, New York. In general, 
the Project facilities will be comprised of one wind turbine, overhead and underground electrical collection system, 
access road, and associated facilities. 

1.4 Decommissioning Sequence 
Should the Project be decommissioned, the following facilities would require removal and the associated disposal of 
materials and equipment: 

– Wind turbines 
– Foundations 
– Access roads 
– Overhead and underground electrical system 

2. Wind Turbines 

2.1 Wind Turbine Decommissioning 
Properly maintained wind turbines typically have a life expectancy of 20 to 25 years. At the end of the Project life, 
depending on market conditions and project viability, the wind turbines may be “re-powered” or upgraded with more 
efficient turbines and equipment. However, if not upgraded, or if the turbines are non-operational for an extended 
period of time (such that there is no expectation of their returning to operation), they will need to be decommissioned. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  2 
 

For the basis of this estimate, a Vestas Model V150, 4.3 MW turbine was used for the calculation of unit weights for 
the salvage values of the equipment and materials. The turbine has a hub height of 120 meters (394 feet) and blade 
length of 75 meters (246 feet) for a total tip height of 195 meters (640 feet). The turbine, along with the tower and 
associated components, will have resulting salvage values after decommissioning and removal of the units. 

It is anticipated that decommissioning and removal of the wind turbine would consist of de-powering of the units and 
disconnection of electrical systems prior to removal of the turbine. A lattice boom crane would be required for 
disassembly of the tower, nacelle, blades, and components. A secondary crane would be required to move the 
components around the site and loading onto trucks for disposal. After the tower sections, hub, nacelle, and blades 
have been lowered to the ground, a supplemental labor crew would cut the steel sections to sizes that can be loaded 
on trucks for disposal or salvage depending on the component.  

The major components of the wind turbines (tower, nacelle, hub, and blades) are modular items that allow for ease of 
construction and disassembly during decommissioning or replacement. The tower is comprised of approximately 
275 tons (250 metric tons) of painted steel structure. The hub is comprised of approximately 35 tons (31.7 metric tons) 
of cast iron/steel. Both the tower and the hub have the potential to be salvaged for scrap value. The nacelle has an 
overall unit weight of approximately 120 tons (108.5 metric tons) and is constructed of a combination of steel, copper, 
composite materials, and various other materials. Portions of the components within the nacelle and generators, along 
with overhead aluminum wires, have the potential to be salvaged for scrap value. 

Scrap metal prices historically fluctuate with existing market conditions. The current salvage value for scrap #1 heavy 
melt steel (HMS) is approximately $440.00 per US ton. Salvage values for #3 copper materials (CU 88 percent to 
90 percent) currently average $7,680 per US ton ($3.84/lb.). Salvage values for aluminum wire currently average 
$1.07 per pound. The salvage unit values for scrap steel, copper and aluminum are estimated based on current 
commodity prices. The commodity market prices used in the above estimate were obtained from Scrap Monster and 
various other sources in August 2021 (August 2021 prices). 

For the purpose of this decommissioning plan, it is assumed that the tower and nacelle will yield approximately 
70 percent steel materials of which 75 percent of the available steel materials are adequate to process for salvage. 
Since the hub assembly is a cast iron/steel manufactured unit, it is anticipated that the hub assembly will yield 
100 percent salvageable metallic materials. Copper salvage estimates were derived by assuming 10 percent of the 
total nacelle weight consists of copper bearing materials. Overhead aluminum power transmission wires would be 
salvaged. Since the construction of the rotor/blades are predominantly non-metallic materials (fiberglass reinforced 
epoxy and carbon fibers), no salvageable value for the rotor/blades were used in the decommissioning cost estimate. 
This is considered a conservative salvage estimate. 

Based on the design of the wind farm incorporating one turbine, the total estimated steel salvage value for the tower, 
nacelle and hub assembly is estimated to be approximately $102,500. The total estimated copper salvage value is 
estimated to be approximately $92,160. The total estimated aluminum salvage value is estimated to be approximately 
$134. 

Petroleum, oils and/or lubricants (POL) contained in the wind turbine nacelle would require the removal and off-Site 
disposal during wind turbine decommissioning. Using currently estimated disposal costs, the costs anticipated for 
removal of POL from the nacelle and associated hauling fees to an approved off-Site disposal location, would be 
approximately $1,000 for each wind turbine. 

Based upon the anticipated total labor and equipment cost, including mobilization and demobilization, the estimated 
cost for dismantling of the turbines is outlined in Table 2.1 below. The cost estimate is based upon a two-day 
dismantling effort per turbine and includes costs for a lift crane, secondary crane, mobilization, demobilization, and 
associated labor costs. The estimate includes the costs associated with the transport of the turbine components from 
the Site to a recycling facility. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  3 
 

Table 2.1 Wind Turbine Decommissioning 

Turbine Decommissioning Unit Cost Unit 

Mobilization to Site – Assume 1 day $32,100 Per Turbine 

Turbine Removal/Dismantling  $53,200 Per Turbine 

Load/Transport Turbine Parts for Recycling $39,600 Per Turbine 

Removal/Disposal of POL $1,000 Per Turbine 

Total Estimated Cost for Turbine Removal $125,900 Total 

3. Wind Turbine Foundations 

3.1 Wind Turbine Foundation Decommissioning 
The target removal depth of the foundation is required to be a minimum of 3 feet below grade for foundations located 
in non-agricultural lands and a minimum of 4 feet below grade for foundations located in active agricultural lands. For 
the purpose of this estimate, all foundations were calculated for removal to a depth of 4 feet to prevent interference 
with future farming activities. The estimated cost of removing each foundation includes the costs associated with 
mobilization, demolition, backfill and disposal of material, and final site restoration as shown in Table 3.1.  

Table 3.1 Wind Turbine Foundation Decommissioning 

Turbine Foundation Decommissioning Unit Cost Unit 

Mobilization to Site – Assume 1 day $9,500 Per Foundation 

Concrete Demolition – Assume 3 days per Foundation $12,800 Per Foundation 

Disposal of Materials – Assume 1 day per Foundation $13,500 Per Foundation 

Total Estimated Cost for Foundation Removal $35,800 Total 

3.2 Wind Turbine Grounding System 
The grounding system for each wind turbine consists of a grounding ring of copper cable that runs in a circle around 
the edge of the foundation near the foundation bottom. This ring connects several copper grounding rods driven into 
the ground around the perimeter of the foundation. A typical foundation is constructed so that the bottom of the spread 
footer is approximately 10 to 12 feet below grade (a typical depth used for example purposes only). The copper 
grounding ring would be approximately 12 feet below grade and the grounding rods would be installed so that their 
highest point is also 12 feet below grade. Because all of these components are more than 4 feet below grade, removal 
will not be required. Additionally, there is no recognizable benefit to removing these components. For these reasons, 
removal of the wind turbine grounding system is not part of this decommissioning plan. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  4 
 

4. Access Roads 

4.1 Typical Access Road Construction Details 
Based on preliminary data, a total of approximately 3,600 square yards of access road is included under this Project. 
The access road is approximately 1,590 feet long, 20 feet wide and 13 inches thick constructed of stone.  

Typical access roads are constructed of a layer of geotechnical fabric and a final compacted course of gravel 
13 inches in thickness. The actual details of construction have not been finalized at the time of this report and may be 
modified during final design of the Project. 

4.2 Access Road Decommissioning 
The decommissioning of the access road will involve the removal and transportation of the aggregate materials off site 
for separating the salvageable aggregate material. It is possible the local township may accept this material without 
processing for their use; however, for the purpose of this report, it is assumed that all materials will be removed and 
hauled to a reprocessing site within a 20-mile, round-trip distance of the wind turbine. The decommissioning procedure 
would consist of utilizing a dozer to remove the gravel layer along with an excavator to load the gravel onto trucks for 
delivery to a processing facility. The work will also include the removal and proper disposal of the geotextile fabric. It is 
assumed that a large amount of the geotextile will be removed along with the aggregate and sorted at the off-site 
processing area to be disposed of in a nearby landfill. The estimate of access road decommissioning costs considers 
the current cost of hauling and excavation. The following unit price costs were used in the preparation of this estimate: 

– Geotextile fabric removal ($0.25 per square yard) 
– Geotextile fabric disposal ($150.00 per cubic yard) 
– Gravel aggregate removal and hauling ($18.00 per cubic yard) 

The salvage value of the access road materials is based upon the following assumptions: 

– 75 percent of the aggregate will be salvaged for reuse as aggregate base course gravel 
– Remaining material (25 percent) is suitable for general fill in non-structural fill areas 

Assuming the materials would be stockpiled at the process site and sold by the processor at a later date, the salvage 
values are as follows: 

– Reprocessed aggregate to be used as base course ($8.00 per cubic yard) 
– Remaining aggregate and sand to be used as general fill ($2.50 per cubic yard) 

The only scenario that could offer a lesser cost to remove and salvage the aggregate would be disposal at a nearby 
site that needed inert fill. For the purposes of this estimate, no consideration has been given to this option since no 
suitable site has been identified for disposal of the material. The estimated costs for access road removal and disposal 
are presented in the Table 4.1. 

Table 4.1 Access Road Decommissioning 

Access Road Removal Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost 

Gravel Course Access and Utility Road Removed (CY) 1,295 CY $18.00 /CY $23,310 

Geotextile Fabric Removal 3,600 SY $0.25/SY $900 

Geotextile Fabric Disposal 3 CY ± $150.00/CY $450 

Total   $24,660 

Use   $24,700 
  



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  5 
 

Table 4.2 presents the estimated salvage values obtained from the removal (reclaimed) of aggregate materials. 

Table 4.2 Aggregate Salvage Values Removed 

Removed Aggregate Salvage Values Quantity Unit Salvage Value Total Salvage Value 

Gravel Aggregate Course (reused) (CY) 975 CY $8.00/CY $7,800 

Aggregate (reprocessed as general fill) (CY) 320 CY $2.50/CY $800 

Total   $8,600 

Use   $8,600 

5. Crane Pads 
The crane pad will be constructed of gravel materials similar to the access road in the previous section and therefore, 
the quantities for decommissioning have been included above. All work for removal shall be conducted at the same 
time during decommissioning. 

6. Overhead and Underground Electric 

6.1 Wires and Poles Typical Installation 
Power collection wires will be installed in a combination of underground and overhead on poles. Overhead will be 
removed during decommissioning, but because underground components are installed a minimum 4 feet below grade 
in agricultural areas, removal will not be required. 

6.2 Overhead Wires and Poles Decommissioning 
As a part of decommissioning of this project, all overhead wires will be removed and salvaged as necessary. Power 
poles will be cut off and removed off site for disposal or potential salvage during decommissioning of the project. For 
the purposes of this report, associated wire salvage values have not been included as they are negligible, and no 
salvage value was included for removed poles. The labor and equipment cost for the removal of poles and wires is 
estimated at $5,000. 

7. Earthwork and Topsoil Restoration 
Once all the aboveground improvements and access roads are removed, the remaining work to complete the 
decommissioning of the site will consist of backfilling and grading the disturbed areas including the turbine foundation 
site and access roads. It is assumed that some existing materials and topsoil will be available at the site and reused 
on the site for restoration. It is estimated that approximately 1,050 cubic yards of material will be imported from off-site 
sources to supplement the fill available on the site for final site restoration. The estimated decommissioning cost for 
earthwork restoration is presented in Table 7.1. 



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  6 
 

Table 7.1 Earthwork and Topsoil Restoration 

Description Quantity (CY) Cost (per CY) Total Cost 

Earthwork Fill Materials 1,050 $13 $13,650 

Topsoil Materials 235 $18 $4,230 

Total   $17,880 

Use   $17,900 

8. Summary of Decommissioning Costs 
This estimate was developed using the various cost resources listed below: 

– R.S. Means 
– GHD historical data 
– Vendor quotes (where applicable) 
– Current/historic commodity prices 
– Estimator judgment 

The following is a summary of the total cost of decommissioning the turbine: 

Decommissioning Costs – 1 Each Vestas Model V150, 4.3 MW Wind Turbine 

Turbine Removal (included removal/disposal of POL in nacelle) $125,900 

Turbine Foundation Removal $35,800 

Access Road Removal $24,700 

Electrical Removal $5,000 

Earthwork and Topsoil Restoration $17,900 

Total Decommissioning Costs  $209,300 

Salvage Value – Wind Turbine 

Steel Salvage Value $102,500 

Copper Salvage Value $92,160 

Aluminum Salvage Value $134 

Aggregate Salvage Value $8,600 

Total Salvage Value  ($203,394) 

Salvage Value Net Decommissioning Costs  

Total Value $5,906 

Value per Turbine Use $6,000 

An inflation rate of 2 percent applied to the decommissioning costs of $209,300 over 20 years results in a 
recommendation for decommission security bond of $311,008. The estimated costs associated with decommissioning 
and restoration will be evaluated by an independent licensed engineer retained by the Applicant on a cycle beginning 
after the operations date of the wind farm and will be reviewed every 5 years thereafter for the life of the wind farm. A 
report summarizing the results of each review will be submitted to the Town Board. Any adjustment in the security 
value recommended by the engineer’s report will be made within 60 days of delivery of the report to the Town Board.  



 

GHD | Borrego Solar | 11227527 | Decommissioning Plan  7 
 

 

 
 

 

 

ghd.com    The Power of Commitment 
 

http://www.ghd.com/


 

REFERRAL FORM 

MONTGOMERY COUNTY PLANNING BOARD 
 

This Referral must be received SEVEN CALENDAR DAYS prior to the MCPB meeting date in order for it to be placed on the agenda.  
  
TO:   Montgomery County Planning Board,  
          Old County Courthouse, 
          PO Box 1500, Fonda, New York 12068 
          Phone: 518-853-8334    
          Fax: 518-853-8336 
 

        FROM: Municipal Board:______________________________ 
   Referring Officer:______________________________ 
   Mail original resolution to:_______________________ 
   ____________________________________________ 
   ____________________________________________

1. Applicant: _____________________________ 2. Site Address: _________________________________________ 

3. Tax Map Number(s): _______________________________________________  4. Acres: ___________________ 

5. Is the site currently serviced by public water?    Yes   No 

6. On-site waste water treatment is currently provided by:    Public Sewer or   Septic System 

7. Current Zoning: __________________________  8. Current Land Use: _________________________________ 

9. Project Description: ____________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

10. MCPB Jurisdiction: 

 Text Adoption or Amendment   Site is located within 500’ of: _________________________________ 

     a municipal boundary. 
     a State or County thruway/highway/roadway 
     an existing or proposed State or County park/recreation area 
     an existing or proposed County-owned stream or drainage channel 
     a State or County-owned parcel on which a public building or institution is situated 
     a farm operation within an Agricultural District (Incl. Ag data Statement) (does not apply to area variances) 
 

11. PUBLIC HEARING: Date:                     Time:                     Location:     

Referred Action(s) 
If referring multiple, related actions, please identify the referring municipal board if different from above. 

 
12.   Text Adoption or    Amendment  Referring Board: 

  Comprehensive Plan   Local Law      Zoning Ordinance       Other ____________________________ 

13.   Zone Change      Referring Board: 

Proposed Zone District: ___________________________________________  Number of Acres: _______________ 

Purpose of the Zone Change: ______________________________________________________________________ 

14.   Site Plan   Project Site Review   Referring Board: 

Proposed Improvements: __________________________________________________________________________ 

Proposed Use: __________________________________________________________________________________ 

Will the proposed project require a variance?   Yes    No  Type:    Area         Use 

 Specify: ____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Is a State of County DOT work permit needed?  If Yes :      State or       County    No 

 Specify: ____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Referral Number____________ 
assigned by the MCPB upon 

acceptance of  referral for review 

Town of Mohawk Zoning Bd Appeals
Chairman H Araujo/CEO S Waddle 

Town of Mohawk
Chairman Araujo and CEO Waddle
C/O Town Clerk: K Sullivan
PO Box 415, Fonda, New York 12068

Heather and Mike Hanson 837 Mohawk Drive, Fonda, New York 12068

36.-2-20 0.77

X

X

A- Agriculture 210 - 1 Family Dwelling

Construct a 16' addition to the existing house to add an additional bedroom and bathroom
House presently is 2 bedroom, the 3rd bedroom had been converted to an office space.
Septic system is 1000 Gallon capacity.

X State Highway NYS Rt 5, County Highway
                                            Mohawk Drive

X

02/17/2022 07:30 PM TOM Muni Building



 
15.     Special Permit     Referring Board: 

Section of local zoning code that requires a special permit for this use: ________________________________________ 

Will the proposed project require a variance?   Yes    No  Type:    Area    Use 

16. Variance      Referring Board: 

  Area    Use 

Section(s) of local zoning code to which the variance is being sought: _________________________________________ 

Describe how the proposed project varies from the above code section: ________________________________________ 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

SEQR Determination 

Action:      Finding: 

    Type I        Positive Declaration – Draft EIS 

    Type II        Conditional Negative Declaration 

    Unlisted Action       Negative Declaration 

    Exempt        No Finding (Type II Only) 

 

SEQR determination made by (Lead Agency): __________________________________  Date: _________________ 

 

REQUIRED MATERIAL 

Send 3 copies of a “Full Statement of the Proposed Action” which includes: 

All materials required by and submitted to the referring body as an application 
• If submitting site plans, please submit only 1 large set of plans, and 12 11x17 packets.  
• All material may be submitted digitally as well at http://www.mcbdc.org/planning-services/montgomery-county-

planning-board-referrals/ 
 

This referral, as required by GML §239 l and m, includes complete information, and supporting materials to assist the 
Montgomery County Planning Board (MCPB) in its review. Recommendations by MCPB shall be made to the Referring 
Body within thirty days of receipt of the Full Statement. 
 
 
__________________________________________________________________________  ______________________ 
Name, Title & Phone Number of Person Completing this Form              Transmittal Date 

 
 

X

TOM Zoning Law #1 2016 Agriculture Zone Sched A

Agricultural Zone Single Family Dwelling requires

20' side yard setback-Applicant has requested a relief of 12' and build to within 8' to 9' of property line

X

X

TOM Zoning Bd of Appeals 02/17/2022

Stanley F. Waddle, Building & Zoning Code Official 03/04/2022



This side to be completed by Montgomery County Planning. 
 

REFERRAL FORM 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY PLANNING BOARD  

 
 
TO:  
   
Receipt of 239-m referral is acknowledged on _________________. Please be advised that the 
Montgomery County Planning Board has reviewed the proposal stated on the opposite side of this 
form on ____________ and makes the following recommendation.  
 

 
 Approves  
 
 
 
 Approves (with Modification)  

 
 
 
 Disapproves:   

 
 

 
 No significant County-wide or inter-community input 

  
 
 

 Not subject to Planning Board review  
 
 
 

 Took no action   
 
 
 
 
Section 239-m of the General Municipal Law requires that within thirty days after final action by the 
municipality is taken; a report of the final action shall be filed with the County Planning Board. 
 
 
                  
        Date      Kenneth F. Rose, Director 

Montgomery County Dept. of Economic 
Development and Planning   

        



3/4/22, 2:26 PM Printer Friendly Report - Image Mate Online

https://ranger.co.montgomery.ny.us/IMO/report.aspx?file=&swiscode=273289&printkey=03600000020200000000&sitetype=res&siteNum=1 1/2

Matthew R Williams
 837 Mohawk Dr

 Fonda NY 12068

Carol F Williams
 837 Mohawk Dr
 Fonda NY 12068

Property Description Report For: 837 Mohawk Dr,
Municipality of Mohawk

No Photo Available

Status: Active
Roll Section: Taxable
Swis: 273289
Tax Map ID #: 36.-2-20
Property Class: 210 - 1 Family Res
Site: RES 1
In Ag. District: No
Site Property Class: 210 - 1 Family Res
Zoning Code: CONF - Conforming
Neighborhood Code: 27010

Land Assessment: 2021 - $13,300 Total Assessment: 2021 - $119,900
Total Acreage/Size: 0.77 School District: Fonda-Fultonville
Full Market Value: 2021 - $133,817 Legal Property Desc:
Deed Book: 2021 Deed Page: 92711
Grid East: 536869 Grid North: 1497735

Area

Living Area: 1,412 sq. ft. First Story Area: 1,412 sq. ft.
Second Story Area: 0 sq. ft. Half Story Area: 0 sq. ft.
Additional Story Area: 0 sq. ft. 3/4 Story Area: 0 sq. ft.
Finished Basement: 0 sq. ft. Number of Stories: 1

Structure

Building Style: Ranch Bathrooms (Full - Half): 1 - 0
Bedrooms: 3 Kitchens: 1
Fireplaces: 0 Basement Type: Partial
Porch Type: Porch-Enclosed Porch Area: 160.00
Basement Garage Cap: 0 Attached Garage Cap: 0.00 sq. ft.
Overall Condition: Normal Overall Grade: Average
Year Built: 1964   

Owners

Sales

Sale Date Price
Property
Class Sale Type Prior Owner

Value
Usable

Arms
Length

Addl.
Parcels

Deed
Book

Deed
Page

5/1/2021 $95,000 210 - 1
Family
Res

Land &
Building

Williams,
Matthew R

No No No 2021 92711

3/1/1984 $1 210 - 1
Family

Land
Only

Wicenciuk,
Matthew

Yes No No 441 221



3/4/22, 2:26 PM Printer Friendly Report - Image Mate Online

https://ranger.co.montgomery.ny.us/IMO/report.aspx?file=&swiscode=273289&printkey=03600000020200000000&sitetype=res&siteNum=1 2/2

Res

Utilities

Sewer Type: Private Water Supply: Private
Utilities: Electric Heat Type: Electric
Fuel Type: Electric Central Air: Yes

Improvements

Structure Size Grade Condition Year
Porch-enclsd 10 × 16 Average Normal 1980
Gar-1.0 det 30 × 28 Average Normal 1975
Patio-concr 876 sq ft Good Normal 1980
Gar-1.0 det 24 × 28 Average Normal 1995

Land Types

Type Size
Primary 0.77 acres

Special Districts for 2021

Description Units Percent Type Value
Mohawk fire 0 0 0

Exemptions

Year Description Amount Exempt % Start Yr End Yr V Flag H Code Own %
2021 VET WAR C $11,040 15 1991 0
2021 VET WAR T $17,985 15 1998 0
2021 VET WAR S $11,040 15 2019 0



Ó Ó

Ó Ó

EAST MAIN STREET

DIGIORGI ALLEY

CEMETERY STREET

BR
ID

GE
 S

TR
EE

T

AL
BA

NY
  B

US
H  

RO
AD

OLD TRAIL ROAD

ROAD
TRAIL

OLD

DRIVE

MOHAWK

)30

LANE
BUTLER

ROAD
OLD TRAIL

OLD
 TR

AIL R
OAD

BR
ID

GE
 S

TR
EE

T

SW
ITZ

ER
 H

ILL
 R

OA
D

OLD TRAIL ROAD

ROAD

TRAIL

OLD

¤5

¤5

¤5

¤5

RIVER

MOHAWK

N.Y.S.       BARGE      CANAL

CREEK

DANASCARA

54
08

62

52
88

63

54
08

46

52
88

47

14969391496915

15049391504915

15
0

100(S)
100(S)

100(S)
100

100
100

100

171

1.5 A(C)

525(S)13
0(S

)17
0(S

)

400(S)360(S)

155(S)

14
0(S

)

150
160

155(S)

64

64160

16017
0(S

)
15

5(S
)

16
0

16
0 165(S)

12
0(S

)12
0

21
521

5

165
295(S)
300165

2015(S)

280(S)

1640(S)

250 1950(S)

730(S)
790(S)

2030(S)

37 A(C)

310(S)
965

492.5

156 262 50300

1001.9

1651.2

466

650

180(S)

1566.7

121.3 A(C)

380(S)

815.3

1596.8

9.2 A

6.4 A

33.7 A(C)

10
5

10
5

6.3 A(C)

150
150

302.5

500

1361.1

1981.4

2181.4

77.3 A
12.9 A(C)

1270(S)

TOTAL 92.7 A(C)

3535(S)

120(S)

31
5(S

)

30
0(S

)

75.3 A(C)

1.4 A(C)

1.1 A(C)

2.2 A(C)
345

150

140
120

856.4

6.6 A

956.6

220(S)

40(S)

227.9

19
7(S

)

185(S)

18
0(S

)
62

9.4

55
0(S

)

376.4

1.1 A(C)

3.6 A

10.5 A

13.6 A(C)

10
0

222
203

150 49

132

1.6 A156
.8

79.
5

11
0

10
0

10
0

24
0

3151 A

39
0(S

)

10
0

19
1.7

21
5.7

22
5

243
.9

24
0

24
0

4.3 A(C)

1.1 A(C)2 A

2.1 A

1.9 A

5 A

3.8 A

3 A
40(S)

2.1 A(C)

4.2 A

48
1.2

21
5

15
1.4

198.9

154

15
0

211.8

196.1
196.1

150

14
8

50

14
7.9276.5

85(S)
121

156

35(S)

1.3 A

363.9

269
90

164
156

193.6

269.5

217.1

200120
100

232.5
211.3

100
314.4

375

1.4 A1.3 A(C)

195

125

129
273

250

5.3 A(C)

1.3 A(C)
1.2 A(C)

237 A(C)
 TOTAL

150
1 A

293

12
5

250 (S) 110
(S)

1.6 A(C)

150 150
150

258.4

150.6

1 A
1 A

190

3 A(C)

2.4 A
11.2 A(C)

1.2A(C)

TOTAL 17.9 A

300

386(S)
190

190

121.1A(C)
2.4A(C)

17
1.9

11 A(C)
2A(C)

20
026

0

1.3A

42
5

60

211.6
60

1 A

370.9

1.3A(C)

150

1149.8

28
6.4

150(S)
2.5 A(C)

15
0(S

)

120

2.3A

2.9A

225.4
316.6

6.9 A(C)
TOTAL

280(S)

230(S)

236

225
1 A

1.3 A(C)

905(S)

561.2 A
TOTAL

28
3.4 393

2.4 A
300

1.3 A

12.5 A

26.9 A(C)

994.1

355.8

141.5
125(S)

58

31
5(S

)

14

06

09

07.1

07.2

06.203.1

02

18

19
15.2

20
2223

24

28

28

28
29

33

31

32

35
36

37

24.2

25

26
24.1202

06

4645

23

19.214
15

31

30
29

34

01
03

04

07

08

09
05

1009

04

05

0302

06.12

01.1

01.1

01.1

15.12

01.1

01.1

06.131

06.132

01.1

0207
08

04.204.111 04.12 13

34.11

34.12
34.2

05.11 05.11

06.112

05.12
06.111

47

12
13

11 18
19.1

21
20 36

35

08.1

08.2 17.117.1

39

38

05.11

51

52

05.11

50
44

40.2
40.11

40.122

40.121

CONRAIL

OF       FONDA

VILLAGE

GLEN
MOHAWK

OF
OF

TOWN
TOWN

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2 MC
AD

#2

MC
AD

#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2
MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

R2

R1

R4

R5

190190 60

60

04.112

20

20 275

294
45

255

30
400

MCAD#2

MCAD#2MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2 MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

15 17
0(S

)

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2MCAD#2 MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2
MCAD#2

MC
AD

#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2

MCAD#2
MCAD#2

MCAD#2

11.1 A

92

25.3

200(S) 235

594(S)

2 A 2 A
02 03

01.1

205(S)

12
5

R7

R7

R7

04
2 A

01.1

01.2
1.5 A

FONDA-FULTONVILLE
CENTRAL SCHOOL

036.00

021.00

036.00

053.00

037.00

035.00

022.00

035.16

020.00

035.12

021.00

053.00

036.13

053.00

035.15

036.00

036.00SPECIAL DISTRICTSMAP PREPARED BY: Revision Table
Date Changes MadeMade by

LEGEND

TAX MAP BLOCK NUMBER

SCHOOL DISTRICT LINE CALCULATED ACREAGE
DEED ACREAGE
SCALED DIMENSION
DEED DIMENSION

7.5 A (c)
7.5 A 

22.5 (s)

150

PROPERTY LINE

TOWN VILLAGE CITY

ORIGINAL LOT LINE

RAILROADBLOCK LIMIT

PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY

PRIVATE RIGHT OF WAY

SECTION LINE HYDROLOGY

DENOTES COMMON OWNER

FIRE DISTRICT
AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT

MONUMENT LOCATOR
COORDINATE LOCATOR

SCH

F

MCAD#3

These maps are intended 
for tax administration 
only, and not for the 
conveyance of property.

Map Date: Mar 13, 2020

SECT NO. TAX MAP
TOWN OF MOHAWK

¥
MONTGOMERY COUNTY, NEW YORK

1 inch = 400 feet

SHEET INDEX

MONTGOMERY COUNTY 
Real Property Tax Service Agency

Christine DePasquale, Director 0 200 400 600 800100
Feet

Date Changes MadeMade by AG:      MCAD2    Montg co agri dist 2

FIRE:    FD002    Mohawk Fire

SCHOOL:  273289   Fonda-Fultonville

020.00 021.00 022.00

037.00

053.00

035.00
7/17/2019   MB         2020 UPDATES
2/13/2019   CD         2019 UPDATES
12/20/2018  CD         2019 UPDATES
5/3/2016    CD         2017 UPDATES
12/21/2015  CD         2016 UPDATES

10/9/2014   CD         2015 UPDATES
7/13/2012   CD         2013 UPDATES
5/3/2011    CD         2012 UPDATES
12/20/2010  CD         2011 UPDATES



3/4/22, 2:24 PM 837 Mohawk Dr - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/place/837+Mohawk+Dr,+Fonda,+NY+12068/@42.9444133,-74.3327959,129m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m5!3m4!1s0x89de8c18503aa3c1:0x23be5d31ba014abd!8m2!3d42.94455… 1/2















































































































































































































ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT (ADU) 

- Special Permitted Use in Low Density Neighborhood (LDN), Medium Density Neighborhood (MDN), and Medical 

Residential Neighborhood (MRN). (Requires Planning Commission approval.) 

- W/S/G user fees will be charged for the ADU 

A second dwelling unit within or added to a single-family dwelling, or within an accessory structure on the same lot as the 

principal building. Such dwelling shall be clearly accessory and incidental to the principal dwelling and intended for 

occupancy by family members. 

Chapter 250, Section 55 Additional requirements for certain special permit uses - Accessory dwelling units (ADU): 

The intent of these provisions is to allow for related family members to reside on the premises. When authorized 

by a special use permit, ADUs may be established under the following regulations. 

A. Only one ADU is allowed per single-family parcel. ADUs shall not be permitted on the same lot as a two-

family or multifamily dwelling. 

B. The property owner shall occupy the primary dwelling. An ADU must be occupied by family members related 

by blood or marriage, such as elderly parents or dependent adult children, or caregivers. 

C. The ADU shall be contained within the principal structure or within an accessory structure, such as a detached 

garage. ADUs may not be located in cellar areas, except where at least one wall of the ADU is at grade level 

with direct access to the outside. The ADU may not be its own structure. 

D. When an ADU is within or attached to the principal structure, only one entrance may face the front lot line. 

ADUs may not be accessed via a driveway separate from that serving the primary dwelling unit.  

E. An ADU may not exceed 40% of the floor area of the principal dwelling or 800 square feet of gross floor 

area, whichever is less. 

F. An ADU shall not have separate utility meters or services from the street. 

G. No home occupation, daycare, professional office, or renting of rooms shall be allowed in an ADU. 

H. Adequate parking shall be provided. 



































Page 1 of 10 

Full Environmental Assessment Form 
Part 2 - Identification of Potential Project Impacts 

Part 2 is to be completed by the lead agency.  Part 2 is designed to help the lead agency inventory all potential resources that could 
be affected by a proposed project or action.  We recognize that the lead agency=s reviewer(s) will not necessarily be environmental 
professionals.  So, the questions are designed to walk a reviewer through the assessment process by providing a series of questions that 
can be answered using the information found in Part 1.  To further assist the lead agency in completing Part 2, the form identifies the 
most relevant questions in Part 1 that will provide the information needed to answer the Part 2 question.  When Part 2 is completed, the 
lead agency will have identified the relevant environmental areas that may be impacted by the proposed activity.   

If the lead agency is a state agency and the action is in any Coastal Area, complete the Coastal Assessment Form before proceeding 
with this assessment. 
Tips for completing Part 2: 

• Review all of the information provided in Part 1.
• Review any application, maps, supporting materials and the Full EAF Workbook.
• Answer each of the 18 questions in Part 2.
• If you answer “Yes” to a numbered question, please complete all the questions that follow in that section.
• If you answer “No” to a numbered question, move on to the next numbered question.
• Check appropriate column to indicate the anticipated size of the impact.
• Proposed projects that would exceed a numeric threshold contained in a question should result in the reviewing agency

checking the box “Moderate to large impact may occur.”
• The reviewer is not expected to be an expert in environmental analysis.
• If you are not sure or undecided about the size of an impact, it may help to review the sub-questions for the general

question and consult the workbook.
• When answering a question consider all components of the proposed activity, that is, the Awhole action@.
• Consider the possibility for long-term and cumulative impacts as well as direct impacts.
• Answer the question in a reasonable manner considering the scale and context of the project.

1. Impact on Land
Proposed action may involve construction on, or physical alteration of,  NO  YES 
the land surface of the proposed site.  (See Part 1. D.1)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - j.  If “No”, move on to Section 2.

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may involve construction on land where depth to water table is
less than 3 feet.

E2d 9 9

b. The proposed action may involve construction on slopes of 15% or greater. E2f 9 9

c. The proposed action may involve construction on land where bedrock is exposed, or
generally within 5 feet of existing ground surface.

E2a 9 9

d. The proposed action may involve the excavation and removal of more than 1,000 tons
of natural material.

D2a 9 9

e. The proposed action may involve construction that continues for more than one year
or in multiple phases.

D1e 9 9

f. The proposed action may result in increased erosion, whether from physical
disturbance or vegetation removal (including from treatment by herbicides).

D2e, D2q 9 9

g. The proposed action is, or may be, located within a Coastal Erosion hazard area. B1i 9 9

h. Other impacts: _______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

Agency Use Only [If applicable]
Project :

Date :

FEAF 2019

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91690.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91690.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91704.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91709.html


Page 2 of 10 

2. Impact on Geological Features
The proposed action may result in the modification or destruction of, or inhibit 
access to, any unique or unusual land forms on the site (e.g., cliffs, dunes,   NO  YES 
minerals, fossils, caves).  (See Part 1. E.2.g) 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - c.  If “No”, move on to Section 3. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. Identify the specific land form(s) attached: ________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

E2g 9 9

b. The proposed action may affect or is adjacent to a geological feature listed as a
registered National Natural Landmark.
Specific feature: _____________________________________________________  

E3c 9 9

c. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

3. Impacts on Surface Water
The proposed action may affect one or more wetlands or other surface water  NO  YES 
 bodies (e.g., streams, rivers, ponds or lakes).  (See Part 1. D.2, E.2.h)  
If “Yes”, answer questions a - l.  If “No”, move on to Section 4. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may create a new water body. D2b, D1h 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in an increase or decrease of over 10% or more than a
10 acre increase or decrease in the surface area of any body of water.

D2b 9 9

c. The proposed action may involve dredging more than 100 cubic yards of material
from a wetland or water body.

D2a 9 9

d. The proposed action may involve construction within or adjoining a freshwater or
tidal wetland, or in the bed or banks of any other water body.

E2h 9 9

e. The proposed action may create turbidity in a waterbody, either from upland erosion,
runoff or by disturbing bottom sediments.

D2a, D2h 9 9

f. The proposed action may include construction of one or more intake(s) for withdrawal
of water from surface water.

D2c 9 9

g. The proposed action may include construction of one or more outfall(s) for discharge
of wastewater to surface water(s).

D2d 9 9

h. The proposed action may cause soil erosion, or otherwise create a source of
stormwater discharge that may lead to siltation or other degradation of receiving
water bodies.

D2e 9 9

i. The proposed action may affect the water quality of any water bodies within or
downstream of the site of the proposed action.

E2h 9 9

j. The proposed action may involve the application of pesticides or herbicides in or
around any water body.

D2q, E2h 9 9

k. The proposed action may require the construction of new, or expansion of existing,
wastewater treatment facilities.

 D1a, D2d 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91714.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91719.html


Page 3 of 10 

l. Other impacts: _______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

4. Impact on groundwater
The proposed action may result in new or additional use of ground water, or   NO  YES 
may have the potential to introduce contaminants to ground water or an aquifer. 
(See Part 1. D.2.a, D.2.c, D.2.d, D.2.p, D.2.q, D.2.t) 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - h.  If “No”, move on to Section 5.  

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may require new water supply wells, or create additional demand
on supplies from existing water supply wells.

D2c 9 9

b. Water supply demand from the proposed action may exceed safe and sustainable
withdrawal capacity rate of the local supply or aquifer.
Cite Source: ________________________________________________________

D2c 9 9

c. The proposed action may allow or result in residential uses in areas without water and
sewer services.

D1a, D2c 9 9

d. The proposed action may include or require wastewater discharged to groundwater. D2d, E2l 9 9

e. The proposed action may result in the construction of water supply wells in locations
where groundwater is, or is suspected to be, contaminated.

D2c, E1f, 
E1g, E1h 

9 9

f. The proposed action may require the bulk storage of petroleum or chemical products
over ground water or an aquifer.

D2p, E2l 9 9

g. The proposed action may involve the commercial application of pesticides within 100
feet of potable drinking water or irrigation sources.

E2h, D2q, 
E2l, D2c 

9 9

h. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________

9 9

5. Impact on Flooding
The proposed action may result in development on lands subject to flooding.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. E.2)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - g.  If “No”, move on to Section 6.

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may result in development in a designated floodway. E2i 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in development within a 100 year floodplain. E2j 9 9

c. The proposed action may result in development within a 500 year floodplain. E2k 9 9

d. The proposed action may result in, or require, modification of existing drainage
patterns.

D2b, D2e 9 9

e. The proposed action may change flood water flows that contribute to flooding. D2b, E2i, 
E2j, E2k 

9 9

f. If there is a dam located on the site of the proposed action, is the dam in need of repair,
or upgrade?

E1e 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91724.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91729.html


Page 4 of 10 

g. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

6. Impacts on Air
 NO  YES The proposed action may include a state regulated air emission source.   

(See Part 1. D.2.f., D.2.h, D.2.g) 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - f.  If “No”, move on to Section 7. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. If  the proposed action requires federal or state air emission permits, the action may
also emit one or more greenhouse gases at or above the following levels:

i. More than 1000 tons/year of carbon dioxide (CO2)
ii. More than 3.5 tons/year of nitrous oxide (N2O)
iii. More than 1000 tons/year of carbon equivalent of perfluorocarbons (PFCs)
iv. More than .045 tons/year of sulfur hexafluoride (SF6)
v. More than 1000 tons/year of carbon dioxide equivalent of

hydrochloroflourocarbons (HFCs) emissions
vi. 43 tons/year or more of methane

D2g 
D2g 
D2g 
D2g 
D2g 

D2h 

9
9
9
9
9

9

9
9
9
9
9

9

b. The proposed action may generate 10 tons/year or more of any one designated
hazardous air pollutant, or 25 tons/year or more of any combination of such hazardous
air pollutants.

D2g 9 9

c. The proposed action may require a state air registration, or may produce an emissions
rate of total contaminants that may exceed 5 lbs. per hour, or may include a heat
source capable of producing more than 10 million BTU=s per hour.

D2f, D2g 9 9

d. The proposed action may reach 50% of any of the thresholds in “a” through “c”,
above.

D2g 9 9

e. The proposed action may result in the combustion or thermal treatment of more than 1
ton of refuse per hour.

D2s 9 9

f. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

7. Impact on Plants and Animals
The proposed action may result in a loss of flora or fauna.  (See Part 1. E.2. m.-q.)  NO  YES 

  If “Yes”, answer questions a - j.  If “No”, move on to Section 8. 
Relevant 

Part I 
Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may cause reduction in population or loss of individuals of any
threatened or endangered species, as listed by New York State or the Federal
government, that use the site, or are found on, over, or near the site.

E2o 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in a reduction or degradation of any habitat used by
any rare, threatened or endangered species, as listed by New York State or the federal
government.

E2o 9 9

c. The proposed action may cause reduction in population, or loss of individuals, of any
species of special concern or conservation need, as listed by New York State or the
Federal government, that use the site, or are found on, over, or near the site.

E2p 9 9

d. The proposed action may result in a reduction or degradation of any habitat used by
any species of special concern and conservation need, as listed by New York State or
the Federal government.

E2p 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91734.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91739.html


Page 5 of 10 

e. The proposed action may diminish the capacity of a registered National Natural
Landmark to support the biological community it was established to protect.

E3c 9 9

f. The proposed action may result in the removal of, or ground disturbance in, any
portion of a designated significant natural community.
Source: ____________________________________________________________

E2n 9 9

g. The proposed action may substantially interfere with nesting/breeding, foraging, or
over-wintering habitat for the predominant species that occupy or use the project site. E2m 9 9

h. The proposed action requires the conversion of more than 10 acres of forest,
grassland or any other regionally or locally important habitat.
Habitat type & information source: ______________________________________
__________________________________________________________________

E1b 9 9

i. Proposed action (commercial, industrial or recreational projects, only) involves use of
herbicides or pesticides.

D2q 9 9

j. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

8. Impact on Agricultural Resources
The proposed action may impact agricultural resources.  (See Part 1. E.3.a. and b.)  NO  YES 
If “Yes”, answer questions a - h.  If “No”, move on to Section 9. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may impact soil classified within soil group 1 through 4 of the
NYS Land Classification System.

E2c, E3b 9 9

b. The proposed action may sever, cross or otherwise limit access to agricultural land
(includes cropland, hayfields, pasture, vineyard, orchard, etc).

E1a, Elb 9 9

c. The proposed action may result in the excavation or compaction of the soil profile of
active agricultural land.

E3b 9 9

d. The proposed action may irreversibly convert agricultural land to non-agricultural
uses, either more than 2.5 acres if located in an Agricultural District, or more than 10
acres if not within an Agricultural District.

E1b, E3a 9 9

e. The proposed action may disrupt or prevent installation of an agricultural land
management system.

El a, E1b 9 9

f. The proposed action may result, directly or indirectly, in increased development
potential or pressure on farmland.

C2c, C3, 
D2c, D2d 

9 9

g. The proposed project is not consistent with the adopted municipal Farmland
Protection Plan.

C2c 9 9

h. Other impacts: ________________________________________________________ 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91745.html


Page 6 of 10 

9. Impact on Aesthetic Resources
The land use of the proposed action are obviously different from, or are in  NO  YES 
sharp contrast to, current land use patterns between the proposed project and
a scenic or aesthetic resource.  (Part 1. E.1.a, E.1.b, E.3.h.)

  If “Yes”, answer questions a - g.  If “No”, go to Section 10. 
Relevant 

Part I 
Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. Proposed action may be visible from any officially designated federal, state, or local
scenic or aesthetic resource.

E3h 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in the obstruction, elimination or significant
screening of one or more officially designated scenic views.

E3h, C2b 9 9

c. The proposed action may be visible from publicly accessible vantage points:
i. Seasonally (e.g., screened by summer foliage, but visible during other seasons)
ii. Year round

E3h 
9
9

9
9

d. The situation or activity in which viewers are engaged while viewing the proposed
action is:
i. Routine travel by residents, including travel to and from work
ii. Recreational or tourism based activities

E3h 

E2q,  

E1c 9
9

9
9

e. The proposed action may cause a diminishment of the public enjoyment and
appreciation of the designated aesthetic resource.

 E3h 9 9

f. There are similar projects visible within the following distance of the proposed
project:

0-1/2 mile
½ -3  mile
3-5   mile
5+    mile

D1a, E1a, 
D1f, D1g 

9 9

g. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

10. Impact on Historic and Archeological Resources
The proposed action may occur in or adjacent to a historic or archaeological  NO  YES 
resource.  (Part 1. E.3.e, f. and g.)

If “Yes”, answer questions a - e.  If “No”, go to Section 11.
Relevant 

Part I 
Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

E3e 9 9

b. The proposed action may occur wholly or partially within, or substantially contiguous
to, an area designated as sensitive for archaeological sites on the NY State Historic
Preservation Office (SHPO) archaeological site inventory.

E3f 9 9

c. The proposed action may occur wholly or partially within, or substantially contiguous
to, an archaeological site not included on the NY SHPO inventory.
Source: ____________________________________________________________

E3g 9 9

a. The proposed action may occur wholly or partially within, or substantially contiguous 
to, any buildings, archaeological site or district which is listed on the National or 
State Register of Historical Places, or that has been determined by the Commissioner 
of the NYS Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation to be eligible for 
listing on the State Register of Historic Places.  

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91750.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91760.html


Page 7 of 10 

d. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

e.
If any of the above (a-d) are answered “Moderate to large impact may 
occur”, continue with the following questions to help support conclusions in Part 3:

i. The proposed action may result in the destruction or alteration of all or part
of the site or property.

ii. The proposed action may result in the alteration of the property’s setting or
integrity.

iii. The proposed action may result in the introduction of visual elements which
are out of character with the site or property, or may alter its setting.

E3e, E3g, 
E3f 

E3e, E3f, 
E3g, E1a, 
E1b 
E3e, E3f, 
E3g, E3h, 
C2, C3 

9

9

9

9

9

9

11. Impact on Open Space and Recreation
The proposed action may result in a loss of recreational opportunities or a  NO  YES 
reduction of an open space resource as designated in any  adopted
municipal open space plan.
(See Part 1. C.2.c, E.1.c., E.2.q.)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - e.  If “No”, go to Section 12. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may result in an impairment of natural functions, or “ecosystem
services”, provided by an undeveloped area, including but not limited to stormwater
storage, nutrient cycling, wildlife habitat.

D2e, E1b 
E2h,  
E2m, E2o, 
E2n, E2p 

9 9

b. The proposed action may result in the loss of a current or future recreational resource. C2a, E1c, 
C2c, E2q 

9 9

c. The proposed action may eliminate open space or recreational resource in an area
with few such resources.

C2a, C2c 
E1c, E2q 

9 9

d. The proposed action may result in loss of an area now used informally by the
community as an open space resource.

C2c, E1c 9 9

e. Other impacts: _____________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________

9 9

12. Impact on Critical Environmental Areas
The proposed action may be located within or adjacent to a critical  NO  YES 
environmental area (CEA).  (See Part 1. E.3.d)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - c.  If “No”, go to Section 13. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may result in a reduction in the quantity of the resource or
characteristic which was the basis for designation of the CEA.

E3d 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in a reduction in the quality of the resource or
characteristic which was the basis for designation of the CEA.

E3d 9 9

c. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91765.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91771.html


Page 8 of 10 

13. Impact on Transportation
The proposed action may result in a change to existing transportation systems.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. D.2.j)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - f.  If “No”, go to Section 14. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. Projected traffic increase may exceed capacity of existing road network. D2j 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in the construction of paved parking area for 500 or
more vehicles.

D2j 9 9

c. The proposed action will degrade existing transit access. D2j 9 9

d. The proposed action will degrade existing pedestrian or bicycle accommodations. D2j 9 9

e. The proposed action may alter the present pattern of movement of people or goods. D2j 9 9

f. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

14. Impact on Energy
The proposed action may cause an increase in the use of any form of energy.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. D.2.k)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - e.  If “No”, go to Section 15. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action will require a new, or an upgrade to an existing, substation. D2k 9 9

b. The proposed action will require the creation or extension of an energy transmission
or supply system to serve more than 50 single or two-family residences or to serve a
commercial or industrial use.

D1f, 
D1q, D2k 

9 9

c. The proposed action may utilize more than 2,500 MWhrs per year of electricity. D2k 9 9

d. The proposed action may involve heating and/or cooling of more than 100,000 square
feet of building area when completed.

D1g 9 9

e. Other Impacts: ________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________

15. Impact on Noise, Odor, and Light
The proposed action may result in an increase in noise, odors, or outdoor lighting.  NO  YES 
(See Part 1. D.2.m., n., and o.)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - f.  If “No”, go to Section 16. 

Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may produce sound above noise levels established by local
regulation.

D2m 9 9

b. The proposed action may result in blasting within 1,500 feet of any residence,
hospital, school, licensed day care center, or nursing home.

D2m, E1d 9 9

c. The proposed action may result in routine odors for more than one hour per day. D2o 9 9

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91776.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91781.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91786.html


Page 9 of 10 

d. The proposed action may result in light shining onto adjoining properties. D2n 9 9

e. The proposed action may result in lighting creating sky-glow brighter than existing
area conditions.

D2n, E1a 9 9

f. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

9 9

16. Impact on Human Health
The proposed action may have an impact on human health from exposure  NO  YES 
to new or existing sources of contaminants.  (See Part 1.D.2.q., E.1. d. f. g. and h.)
If “Yes”, answer questions a - m.  If “No”, go to Section 17. 

Relevant  
Part I 

Question(s) 

No,or 
small 

impact 
may cccur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action is located within 1500 feet of a school, hospital, licensed day
care center, group home, nursing home or retirement community.

E1d 9 9

b. The site of the proposed action is currently undergoing remediation. E1g, E1h 9 9

c. There is a completed emergency spill remediation, or a completed environmental site
remediation on, or adjacent to, the site of the proposed action.

E1g, E1h 9 9

d. The site of  the action is subject to an institutional control limiting the use of the 
property (e.g., easement or deed restriction).

E1g, E1h 9 9

e. The proposed action may affect institutional control measures that were put in place
to ensure that the site remains protective of the environment and human health.

E1g, E1h 9 9

f. The proposed action has adequate control measures in place to ensure that future
generation, treatment and/or disposal of hazardous wastes will be protective of the
environment and human health.

D2t 9 9

g. The proposed action involves construction or modification of a solid waste
management facility.

D2q, E1f 9 9

h. The proposed action may result in the unearthing of solid or hazardous waste. D2q, E1f 9 9

i. The proposed action may result in an increase in the rate of disposal, or processing, of
solid waste. 

D2r, D2s 9 9

j. The proposed action may result in excavation or other disturbance within 2000 feet of
a site used for the disposal of solid or hazardous waste. 

E1f, E1g 
E1h 

9 9

k. The proposed action may result in the migration of explosive gases from a landfill
site to adjacent off site structures.

E1f, E1g 9 9

l. The proposed action may result in the release of contaminated leachate from the
project site. 

D2s, E1f, 
D2r 

9 9

m. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91791.html


Page 10 of 10 
 

 
 
 
17. Consistency with Community Plans 
 The proposed action is not consistent with adopted land use plans.    NO   YES 
 (See Part 1. C.1, C.2. and C.3.)   
 If “Yes”, answer questions a - h.  If “No”, go to Section 18. 

 Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action’s land use components may be different from, or in sharp 
contrast to, current surrounding land use pattern(s).  

C2, C3, D1a 
E1a, E1b 

9 9 

b. The proposed action will cause the permanent population of the city, town or village 
in which the project is located to grow by more than 5%.  

C2 9 9 

c. The proposed action is inconsistent with local land use plans or zoning regulations. C2, C2, C3 9 9 

d. The proposed action is inconsistent with any County plans, or other regional land use 
plans. 

C2, C2 9 9 

e. The proposed action may cause a change in the density of development that is not 
supported by existing infrastructure or is distant from existing infrastructure. 

C3, D1c, 
D1d, D1f, 
D1d, Elb 

9 9 

f. The proposed action is located in an area characterized by low density development 
that will require new or expanded public infrastructure. 

C4, D2c, D2d 
D2j 

9 9 

g. The proposed action may induce secondary development impacts (e.g., residential or 
commercial development not included in the proposed action) 

C2a 9 9 

h. Other: _____________________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 9 9 

 
18. Consistency with Community Character 
  The proposed project is inconsistent with the existing community character.   NO   YES 
  (See Part 1. C.2, C.3, D.2, E.3) 
 If “Yes”, answer questions a - g.  If “No”, proceed to Part 3. 

 Relevant 
Part I 

Question(s) 

No, or 
small 

impact 
may occur 

Moderate 
to large 

impact may 
occur 

a. The proposed action may replace or eliminate existing facilities, structures, or areas 
of historic importance to the community. 

E3e, E3f, E3g 9 9 

b. The proposed action may create a demand for additional community services (e.g. 
schools, police and fire)  

C4 9 9 

c. The proposed action may displace affordable or low-income housing in an area where 
there is a shortage of such housing. 

C2, C3, D1f 
D1g, E1a 

9 9 

d. The proposed action may interfere with the use or enjoyment of officially recognized 
or designated public resources. 

C2, E3 9 9 

e. The proposed action is inconsistent with the predominant architectural scale and 
character. 

C2, C3 9 9 

f. Proposed action is inconsistent with the character of the existing natural landscape.  C2, C3 
E1a, E1b 
E2g, E2h 

9 9 

g. Other impacts: ______________________________________________________ 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 9 9 

  

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91799.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/91813.html





